I CHEVALIER =

Chevalier International Holdings Limited

HIEREERRLTE

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(RBEREFMKZZBRAE])

(Stock Code B35 : 25)

Annual Report 2024 ==

USHERING IN TOGETHER
¥ FEL7E ANEW CHAPTER

MRE




CONTENTS

H &

Vision, Mission and Core Values
Our Businesses

Financial Summary

Corporate Information

Project Highlights

CSR Highlights

Letter to Shareholders
Management Discussion and Analysis
Financial Review

Management Profile

Schedule of Major Properties

Corporate Governance Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Report of the Directors

Independent Auditor's Report

Index to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Consolidated Income Statement

Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of
Financial Position

Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity

Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

10
12
14
17
24
30
37
42
57
87
96
106
107

108

109

113

115

117

FRS - (e Rz OEE
RHE

R

EEREM

EHAA
CEMHEREEREY
BRRZ
BB M

B 75 R

EEEHN
ETEMERRK
TEEREAWE

BE e REREE
EExems

B AR E
AV BRRRS

fRadlER

BEERER

)

iR e M IRRMTE



2

VISION, MISSION AND CORE VALUES
FE= - o R MERE

Vision fE =

Be the most trusted business partner of our customers
and build together a brighter and sustainable future

RREFRAERNEEBH - &

LR R AT RHE R 2R

Mission {3 6

We strive to help build and upkeep the community and to
provide a high-quality living environment through a range
of comprehensive quality, efficient and high value-added
products and services for the varied needs and interests
of our divers customers. To ensure sustainability of our
business, we nurture our talents, invest in technology and
uphold our steadfast commitment to corporate governance
standards and sustainable business practices in an
ever-changing environment.

BMBARBNE  FR—ZHEENEE - SHER S
BORBEERBRTHARETBRBL TR K /|\
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Core Values #Z /\» B {H

Striving for Excellence &K &
Upholding Integrity BRSPS
Caring for Our People & & T

Sustainable Innovation AJ#4& 2l %T

» Maintaining Business Diversity #4135 %7%% 71t
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OUR BUSINESSES

Construction and Engineering
BEREWIE
e Lifts & Escalators
FHBE#E K BERAH
e Aluminium Windows & Curtain Walls
e MEE
* Building Construction
{b BFREE
e Civil Engineering & Infrastructure
TARTRRRER
Healthcare Investment ¢ Environmental Engineering
REEERE RRTR
* Electrical & Mechanical Engineering
* Senior Housing HWETR
ZERE > Bt SusEles Property Investment
* Medical Office fe2upedi YIRIRE
Buildings ,
BE N AR * Property Leasing

EE YEMES

Insurance &
I_l-' Investment @

= | reREE |/ =
= Property Development and Operations Em
WERRREE g |
e Property Development
MEER
Cold Storage & Logistics Others
* Co orage & Logis
RIE R R il
e Property Management e Enterprise & Network Solutions
MEERR ERBEATER
e Hotel Investment * Freight Logistics Services
BEEBIRE HEMIRRTE
e Lifestyle Restaurants & Bars
PRPAERE RTIE
Car Dealership H : Iéca%dmg
HERE -
* Travel Agency
i3 e
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
LR

2024 HIGHLIGHTS
—ENERE

REVENUE

TOTAL EQUITY
WA

RS

510,342 % 18,196 7

B
6.3% DECREASE FROM 2023* 14.9% INCREASE FROM 2023*
B_E_=F*T[£6.3% BB -=F*FF14.9%

NET ASSETS PER SHARE

DIVIDENDS PER SHARE
BREEFE

BRKRE

::0.20 3.4
e U, B B A on
47.4% DECREASE FROM 2023 6.1% DECREASE FROM 2023*
B ® = =F TH474% W R=B== 5 FH6.1%
(LOSS)/PROFIT
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE /\v s FOR THE YEAR

Bk (B8R &F l FE(BE) EF

HKS (1 23) HKS (323) million
B o JT ks BHET
210.2% DECREASE FROM 2023*

244.7% DECREASE FROM 2023*
BB =5 TH244.7% TOTAL NUMBER B-B-=F"T#2102%
OF EMPLOYEES

WMET AE

Approximately 3 600 Full Time Staff

SIMILARTO 2023
ot g R

*  Restated
&7
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEBE

(LOSS)/PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

EABRRREM(BE) EF

(HK$ million A& BET)

REVENUE

A
(HK$ million 8% E&E7T )

645 641
] -
o 8,634
_— _— _— 8,196 '
[ ] _— -_— []
—] 7134 — TR
-_— [ ] - - -
_— [ ] m—] [ ] _—
o L L 1 - ] —] [ ] [ ]
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_l - = —] [ ] _—
_— I
- [ ] —] [ ] _—
l - m —] [ ] _—
-— I
] _— ] m—] _— [ |
24 23 22 21 20 24 23 22 21 20
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (&%)
Year 17 Year 19
(LOSS)/EARNINGS AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
BR(EBER) BIARKRE BRRES
(HKS &) (HK$ million B#HEIT)
=0 (Loss)/earnings (E518) /Z7F] -®- Dividends &2
2.13 2.12 10.427 10,589
177 9,785 9,929
-— —-— — amm
_— - - = | ] _-— 9,072
- ] ] _— _—
- [ ] ] _— _—
038 Le-0-50 4055 1G85, 7]
W [ [
® ] ] _— -_— ] — — R |
- [ ] ] _— _—
- 1T
= [ ] ] ] ] ]
1] I
= - [ ] -_— _— _—
(1.23) _— ] -— _— _—
24 23 22 21 20 24 23 22 21 20
(Restated) (Restated)
(=& 5) (== 5)
Year 1 Year 15
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBEBE

SEGMENT REVENUE
ZRBA

6%
1
—-
\

5%
N

19% o

2024 2023 st

Tl 53% (Restated)
(&%)

9%

%
2% 6% 49,

E Construction and engineering a Property investment E Property development and operations

RN T2 MERE MEERNEE
D Healthcare investment ﬂ Car dealership Insurance and investment Others
RIGEBRE AERE R RIRE Hity

SEGMENT PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER FINANCE COSTS, NET
HBREM BB AR D BEF(FR)

2024 Y=

O OO0 0000 O 0 OO0 0 0

I. Subsidiaries l. Associates and joint ventures

BEARRAEDRE

8 X B

‘ CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

6




FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB E

The following is a summary of the total assets, total liabilities, results and other financial information of Chevalier

International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) as of year ended 31

March for the last five years.

THAETEREEARAR(ARR ) REMBAR (G [AKE DRBERFABE-A=T"RALFEZREE

BAE  FERHEGBMBERME -

2024 2023
Financial Information (HK$ million) EEER(GE¥BEET) —E-_NE | ZE==
(Restated)
(€<3=g7))
Total assets RAE 20,364 20,129 20,215 18,613 17,039
Total liabilities BeE 10,022 9,095 8,988 8,044 7,356
Total equity s 10,342 11,034 11,227 10,569 9,683
Non-controlling interests FEER B 557 607 638 640 611
Shareholders’ funds BREELES 9,785 10,427 10,589 9,929 9,072
Share capital A&
— in number (million shares) -HE(BEEKR) 302 302 302 302 302
—in value (HK$1.25 per share) - BE(ERBME1.257T) 377 377 377 377 377
Revenue A 8,196 7,134 8,634 7,353 6,381
(Loss)/profit attributable to AN B AR ER B
shareholders of the Company (18), % F (370) 258 645 641 533
Per Share Basis (HK$) BRFAE(BE)
(Loss)/earnings - basic (B18), /&7 - &R (1.23) 0.85 2.13 2.12 1.77
Dividends % & 0.20 0.38 0.50 0.55 0.52
Net assets value BEFE
— excluding non-controlling interests - TEIEFERE R 324 345 35.1 32.9 30.0
2023
—EgE=-=
HK$ million HK$ million
BEEET BEEET
(Restated)
Segment Revenue* FEUBA* (&=50)
[7] Construction and engineering [ EEREmIR 5,430 4,797
[ Property investment O mERE 192 186
[J Property development and operations O MEEEREE 661 588
[[] Healthcare investment [ REEEIEKE 956 920
[ Car dealership O "RERE 1,966 1,808
[ Insurance and investment 0 RERIZE 538 504
[] Others O Efh 592 654
Total Febc] 10,335 9,457
Segment Profit/(Loss) after finance costs, net* HIBRFEIIEE AEN D ERF, (EE)*
[ Construction and engineering [ EEEEEITRE 311 328
[ Property investment O mERE 86 217
[ Property development and operations 0O MEERREE (93) 137
[] Healthcare investment [ RIGEEERE (366) (161)
[ Car dealership O AERE (29) (63)
[J Insurance and investment 0 RERIEE 153 94
[ Others 0 Hfb (47) (7)
Total Febc] 15 545
* Included share of revenue/results of associates and joint ventures
BEMEHEATIREEREZIRA EE
HIEREEERAR

2024 3R

7



CORPORATE INFORMATION
EEEFR

CHAIRMAN EMERITUS
The late Dr. CHOW Yei Ching

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

Ms. KWAN Angelina Agnes

SECRETARY
Mr. MUI Chin Leung

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
and Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22nd Floor, Prince’s Building
Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Berkadia Commercial Mortgage LLC

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Shanghai Commercial Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

SOLICITORS

Appleby
Deacons
Mayer Brown
Robertsons

REGISTERED OFFICE

Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM 11
Bermuda
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

BEEFR
PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS FTELEEME
22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial Centre E
8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay NERERFE R
Hong Kong HimER L+ 8
Telephone: (852) 2318 1818 &S ¢ (852) 2318 1818
Facsimile: (852) 2757 5138 {5 : (852) 2757 5138
PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND FERBBEF
TRANSFER AGENT Bk
MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
4th Floor 4th Floor

North Cedar House
41 Cedar Avenue
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Standard Limited
17/F., Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong

SHARE LISTING

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 25

WEBSITE

http://www.chevalier.com

FINANCIAL CALENDAR

Announcement of Results
29 November 2023
26 June 2024

Interim Results
Final Results

Book Close Dates

15 to 18 December 2023
23 to 28 August 2024

11 to 12 September 2024

Interim Dividend
Annual General Meeting
Final Dividend

Annual General Meeting 28 August 2024

Payment of Dividends

Interim dividend of 22 December 2023
HK$0.06 per share
Final dividend of

HK$0.14 per share

20 September 2024

B B

RENMH
REAZAE

HiEBFAHY
T HAR B
BRBFRNE
RS

RRBFEXRE

KRB E
T HRAE

FRE0.067T

KRS

FHBH0.147T

North Cedar House
41 Cedar Avenue
Hamilton HM 12
Bermuda
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PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS
EHIEH

Elderly Housing Project “Chung Yuet Lau” at Jat Min Chuen
CERTB (i | RERIER
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Curtain wall project of
Three-Runway System

CHERGHERRBLIE
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PROJECT HIGHLIGHTS

Curtain wall project of
Townplace West Kowloon

Townplace West Kowloon

e L2

Curtain wall project
of Union Church

Hong Kong

Curtain wall project of

The Harmonie

BREFiE L2

~
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#
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CSR HIGHLIGHTS
TERHESEEHEY

PGGARI SWEAT L—lwl—' . ‘(7 ¢ o N
- ",m - ! . s DR STA
— & 2

I 04 - 2023

Staff participated in the WELL DUNK! Corporate Charity 3X3 Basketball
Tournament with the Group's support

BTHEAREBETH T2IN(HBIUMP ) ¥R Z3AETEFE

05 - 2023 W

The Group supported the Pitch Perfect Programme organised by
'Bro’g“?aj;ﬁir the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce

202 AEERRENDLE  XHEBEEE [T KBS

08 -2023

The Group presented the Chevalier Group
Scholarship to outstanding engineering
students from the Vocational Training Council
for the fifth year

AEEREFEDE HTEERES | TRE
JRBNESTRSE

Chevalier Cares hosted a summer carnival for the children at HKFWS Shun
Lee Integrated Family Service Centre with books collected from staff and
cleaned given to children in need

ELRLIETIRERERERMNSIENGERERBT LOEREFESIHNE
TRENEEBERRBETETERE

SHARE ‘ﬁ.,_O ; 09 ‘ 2023 I

The Group supported the “Future Step-Up” programme under Share for
Good of New World Development as a Strategic Partner

AEEURBEEHZED R ERE Share for GoodE B &
[ R R EEHS; |51 &

- 11-2023

Supported the Chevalier Cup Race Day for the 28th
consecutive year

BEE_T)\FEY [ RLRESH ]

12 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CSR HIGHLIGHTS
TEEEEEEHED

12 - 2023 |

Staff participated in the annual charity Lifewire Run with the Group's

: . ‘ _ support
EE '1‘- ; =

BTEAKENXF T2MEHR « EXREIFEAZH

N /2 T
g p as . TR ~

1 012024

The Group supported the Construction Industry Happy Run 2024 organised
by the Construction Industry Council

AEBEFREERES RN [BEXFMLE2024)]

The Group supported the Business Case Competition 2023/24

organised by the Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce as S - M
Case Sponsor [

AREBETEARE S HEBEES [2023/24 X FIFHE ] L

02.2024

Staff participated in the Community Chest Corporate Challenge 2024
with the Group's support

BETHEAKEXFE T2 [ AHmEEFRR2024 ]

‘,,5',, ‘ r_

i’ v—g | . =12 cnswmea (‘RcuP

. 03.2024

Chevalier Cares organised a day tour to the New Territories
for underprivileged seniors from Sham Shui Po with
YWCA - Chi Po Neighbourhood Elderly Centre

ELHTE THRESRERLEFEHEAHT LHE
FKSEEERE A~ A

Chevalier Cares visited the Evangelical Lutheran Church
Social Service — Hong Kong, Shan King Care and
Attention Home for the Elderly to prepare soft meals for
elders for birthday celebration

ELORIBTIRIGEBRBREEELEREINLSR
REEER - REBNRERRHALE

HtEBEEFARAD 13
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
R R Z B 1

CHEVALIER

HtE§
CHEVALER GROUP &=

Dear Shareholders, BAURE :

2023/24 was an extremely difficult financial year. The combined effect 131_/_@%ﬁ7%.§ﬁﬂ'~]5\7ﬂﬂlfﬁ§ ®
of rising inflation, high interest rates, tightening monetary policies, ﬁHETTiZt%ﬂ' GIES - BB
trade protectionism and geopolitical tensions hampered the recovery 2 HH5REIHRHE ﬁﬂﬂiiﬂl%’?ﬁf‘ﬁ
of the global economy. Additionally in Hong Kong, continued weak REBEFR  HEIET 1%?%@@%%*5& °
property market sentiment has impacted investor confidence and the EREB %ﬂﬂ%ﬁ RAFF BN -
undeniably lower cost of living and seemingly unending new attractions ETREZENEDL - B AL EIRE /élg’
just a short trip across by the border have hampered local consumer AR - 5Ji§f§575-7335 /éligf VB - B

spending. These, coupled with the unresolved labour shortage across AEMEATREMAOZEEHRTS
various sectors due to brain drain and an ageing population, remain EBP}HER - NARTERENA I
internal challenges that cannot be overlooked. B o

14 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
R R Z R 1

Increasing land and housing supply remains a high priority for Hong
Kong and the Government of the HKSAR has identified land for the
development of 308,000 residential units over the next 10 years and
estimated for over 7,000 hectares of land supply to be made available
by 2048. As mentioned in the 2023 Chief Executive Policy Address,
the Government of the HKSAR will expedite land production through
reclamation, the development of Northern Metropolis and introduction
of a pilot scheme for applying land premium standard rates for
agricultural land including those along railways access with the aim of
providing over 500,000 residential units.

Inadequate housing supply has been a long-standing problem in Hong
Kong. Since the promulgation of the Government policy in 2020 that
Modular Integrated Construction (“MiC") shall be adopted for new
Government building works above a certain total construction floor
area, the Government has further mandated for the construction of
light public housing by using MiC to enhance quantity, speed, efficiency
and quality, thereby shortening public housing wait time. To keep
pace with the Government's housing policies and the growing trend of
MiC and other innovative construction technologies, our construction
and engineering segment has incorporated the Full MiC solution and
Building Information Modelling (BIM) technology in our latest building
works. To resolve the labour shortage issue in our construction and
engineering segment, we have expanded our workforce through the
Labour Importation Scheme and nurtured local talent. Ensuring the
safety of workplace for our staff, especially at construction sites,
is crucial, so we have implemented the digital Smart Site Safety
System promoted by the Construction Industry Council at Government
project and at selected sites. We can reduce on-site manpower and
improve quality and cost efficiency by leveraging these construction
technologies.

The global economy’s uncertainties, elevated borrowing costs and
slow economic recovery have led to the continued sluggishness in
the Hong Kong real estate market. In response, the Government
has taken measures to ease property sale restrictions, suspended
mortgage stress tests and relaxed loan-to-value ratios. It is expected
that the implementation of the Top Talent Pass Scheme (“TTPS") will
also stimulate the property market recovery with overseas buyers’
restrictions lifted for TTPS buyers. However, the recovery speed of the
real estate market hinges on fundamental improvements, including the
success of the talent introduction scheme and possible end of rate hike.

Population ageing is a global trend due to longevity and declining birth
rates. This is expected to drive growing demand for quality elderly
healthcare services and become a key growth driver for the healthcare
industry. However, healthcare services providers face challenges
like workforce shortages, technological requirements and economic
factors like high interest rates. Notwithstanding the challenges ahead,
we see interests in the healthcare industry picking up in the US and
will prudently assess our options to maximise the interests of our
stakeholders.

Nt REEHRENEEENER 2
2 AEEFEBNEMERERKI0FE
[R308,000{EFEE MM i - FEFTEI =
TNFEE7,000% AER L E -

FRITHREE S = FhEERERL -
BERFEBNSEBESREREN  ER
kN RIRHERERESEREH
(RIEEERE T EN RN fHENRIT
2l AL FEEBB500,0001EE EELL -

FEHETE—EBERBFEERAURNE
R e EEAZ}TBA_7_7¢%|JEE& P EBK

4R 5E SIS AR ETFKFERBATEH
L:%IEZ\/,\%?H@#/\ C([MIC )R
g BZJT‘TE FERKFFHMICEE LR
BEHOANE - RmiEE - IBR - B 1R

g - ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ%@@ﬂ@ﬂ%%ﬁ o BBLE K
R EEBE « MiC M E b A #7325 4ir
MNERBY  SENEERBMIESE
EEHEEAK(FUll MIC)REHZREE
HiEEEBRBIMEMTEBERTAEE
T2 BERBEEREWK TR ELE
REMEE  SEBBEEER AL T
BEEEATF - AREEAMMAL - AEE
ERETHBELZS  LEEMBETER
%-ﬁmﬁﬁﬁa&ﬁimﬁEﬁLL%
HEHTHEBLLZ2EETHES -

R EERMAS A B AF ﬁ%gg
R AR ES o

EEAE RIS TR « BERA LR REE
EHSREESEASRMWEMSFER
e Al BUFKRIRZIEEE @ BIERE
PEEERS - HERIRIBEDIARKRE
RIBRLEL - BN - BUTHITEm AL BT
BEFEI([ =7 @A) - WEUES A4 @at
BN EBBEMEZRT - it
RIS EHETISER - AT - BHEMS
KB B SR EBURR K S| AA GBI E T
EmBen#REERAARE o

ARESWEREAFERFETE  AOE
(LR ABEERBE - ?Egﬂx%’g%%{%ﬁiﬁéﬁ
IR T RS RHERY - WK AREET
XENBERIERE N - A - RiEHE f@ﬁﬁfﬁ
HEREY ZIEE - D AFEE - &l
1'7&1¢ﬂﬂ SEELERZE - BEHEE

EEETEREE L (RIEEEENT K
IEE@H %.H_I%‘E\u:F'faﬁﬁﬁ LIE - &R
ERAFHENF =
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
B R 2 B

Our car dealership business in Mainland China and Canada have
seen improvements in sales. In Mainland China, there has been an
uninterrupted strong appetite for cars as a result of the government'’s
trade-in incentives and automaker subsidies. Similarly, relaxed loan
ratios in Canada have supported the post-pandemic automobile sector
recovery. The Group will proactively look into expanding the car
dealerships’ profile with new energy vehicles in Mainland China and
also in Canada.

Challenges, volatility and uncertainties remain for the Group in the year
ahead and the Group will closely monitor all factors and take appropriate
measures to adapt to the changing environment.

To align with the Government's strategy of increasing housing
supply in terms of quantity, speed, efficiency and quality, the Group
will continue to invest in innovative construction technologies and
apply the Smart Site Safety System to ensure site safety. We are
committed to nurturing young talents and contributing to the building
of a sustainable city. Through the participation in the newly launched
Vocational Professional Admission Scheme (VPAS) of the Vocational
Training Council, we will be offering internship opportunities to non-
local students during their two-year study in Hong Kong and will also
offer scholarships to selected students, aiming to join hands with the
industry to cultivate talents for the future development of Hong Kong.

With a solid financial position and healthy liquidity, and through
adopting a prudent financial approach, we are confident in maintaining
the stability and resilience of the Group for optimising returns for our
stakeholders. The Group is positive about Hong Kong's economic
recovery.

| would like to express our utmost appreciation and heartfelt gratitude
to the management team, shareholders, business partners for their
ongoing support and all staff who have worked relentlessly, with
steadfast effort, to overcome challenges during difficult times.

KUOK Hoi Sang
Chairman and Managing Director

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEEN WK D

The Group’s consolidated revenue increased from HK$7,134 million
(restated) for the year ended 31 March 2023 to HK$8,196 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024. Total segment revenue, which
includes the Group's share of revenue of associates and joint ventures,
increased to HK$10,335 million from HK$9,457 million (restated). Loss
after tax of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 amounted to
HK$323 million (2023: Profit after tax of HK$293 million (restated)). The
loss in the consolidated results was mainly due to the recognition of
(i) provision for properties under development; (ii) loss on investments
at fair value through profit or loss; (iii) impairment loss on goodwill; and
(iv) decrease in the fair value of certain investment properties as at 31
March 2024. Loss after tax attributable to the Company’s shareholders
for the year ended 31 March 2024 was HK$370 million (2023: profit
after tax attributable to the Company’s shareholders of HK$258 million
(restated)) which translates into a loss per share of HK$1.23 (2023:
earnings per share of HK$0.85 (restated)).

CONSTRUCTION AND ENGINEERING

The Construction and Engineering segment’s revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2024 reported an increase of 13.2% from HK$4,797
million to HK$5,430 million as compared to last year while the segment
profit before net finance costs recorded a drop of 6.1% from HK$327
million to HK$307 million as a result of the share of losses from the
Group's associates in the Mainland China.

The construction division successfully completed the Group's first
Modular Integrated Construction (“MiC") project, “Chung Yuet Lau”
in Sha Tin, a significant milestone in the Group’s MiC commitment in
Hong Kong. The 10-storey “Chung Yuet Lau”, owned by the Hong Kong
Housing Society, comprises 64 age-friendly and barrier-free units using
the Full MiC solution. Making good use of the innovative technologies
helped shorten the construction time compared to conventional
methods.

A joint venture company of Chevalier (Construction) Company Limited,
and China Railway Construction Group Co., Ltd., was awarded by
the HKSAR Government the contract for the design and construction
of three sites in the first batch of Light Public Housing project in
November 2023. The three projects are located at Yau Pok Road,
Yuen Long, Tuen Mun Area 3A and Choi Hing Road, Ngau Tau Kok
respectively. These projects will apply MiC and integrate with Building
Information Modelling (BIM) technology to construct over 6,300 units
(with internal floor area ranges from 13 to 31 square metres) and
ancillary facilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

The performance of the electrical and mechanical engineering (E&M)
division remained stable during the year under review. This division
secured contracts from renowned casinos and hotels for upgrading and
remodeling works for their villas and restaurant. Apart from traditional
mechanical, electrical and plumbing services, this division also provide
services including installing digital multiplex lighting for an interactive
and amusement centre.

The aluminium windows and curtain walls division recorded significant
improvement as the large-scale projects, notably the third runway at the
Hong Kong International Airport and the High Speed Rail West Kowloon
Terminus Development have entered into the installation stage.

Riding on the construction industry’s momentum, the building supplies
division continued to provide positive results during the reporting year.
During the year, this division secured contracts for custom design and
installation work of kitchen cabinets and fiberglass water tanks.

During the year, the environmental engineering division recorded
satisfactory performance, securing a contract from the Electrical and
Mechanical Services Department for the maintenance, modification and
installation works of electronic and E&M control systems for sewage
treatment facilities of the Drainage Services Department across
Kowloon, the New Territories and outlying islands.

The lift and escalator division maintained stable results during the
year under review. Apart from the design and installation of lifts and
escalators, this division also participated in the “Chung Yuet Lau”
project combining MiC modules with the Multi-trade Integrated
Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing (MiMEP) technology for the lift
system, lift shaft and plant room.

As at 31 March 2024, the total value of all outstanding construction and
engineering contracts for the Group amounted to HK$10,063 million.
Major contracts include:

1. Construction of light public housing at Tuen Mun, Yuen Long and
Ngau Tau Kok;

2. Construction of the extension of the operating theatre block for
Tuen Mun Hospital, New Territories;

3. Construction of a property development at THE SOUTHSIDE,
Package Five, Aberdeen Inland Lot No. 467, Wong Chuk Hang,
Hong Kong;

4. Electrical works for construction of Siu Ho Wan water treatment
works extension and Siu Ho Wan Raw Water Booster Pumping
Station;

5. Operations and maintenance of on-site chlorine generation plants
at Sha Tin, Pak Kong, Tuen Mun, Ma On Shan and Au Tau water
treatment works;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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6. LV Electrical and HVAC installation works for Basement, Podium
and Tower 3 of Galaxy Resort & Casino Phase 4 at Cotai, Macau;

7. Design, supply and installation of metal panel and external wall
cladding system for T2C of the Third Runway Concourse and Apron
Works of Hong Kong International Airport;

8. Design, supply and installation of curtain wall for a landmark
integrated project at Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11262;

9. Design, fabrication, supply and installation of Tower Facade for
Proposed Residential Development at TMTL 518, Castle Peak Road,
Castle Peak Bay Area 48, Tuen Mun, New Territories;

10. Design, supply and installation of kitchen cabinets for West Rail
Kam Sheung Road Station Package 1 property development at Lot
No. 1040 IN D.D. No. 103, Yuen Long, New Territories; and

11. Design, supply and installation of kitchen cabinets for Ho Man Tin
Station Package One property development at Northern Portion of
Kowloon Inland Lot No. 11264 located in Ho Man Tin, Kowloon.

PROPERTY INVESTMENT

The leasing business of this segment contribute reliable income to
the Group with property portfolios in Hong Kong, Mainland China,
Singapore, Canada and the United Kingdom. Segment revenue
increased by 3.2% from HK$186 million to HK$192 million as compared
to last year. However, segment profit before net finance costs reported
a year-on-year decline of 52.6% from HK$230 million to HK$109 million
due to fair value loss on certain investment properties comparing to last
year.

Investment properties portfolio, consisting mainly of offices and
warehouses in Hong Kong, attracted strong demand and maintained
stable occupancy providing reliable income.

The Group owns two Grade-A commercial/office buildings in prime
locations in London. One of the properties situated in the City of
London is multi-let to reputable institutions, with a weighted average
unexpired lease term of over six years. The other one situated at
Hammersmith Broadway is held for long-term investment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATIONS

The Property Development and Operations segment recorded an
increase in revenue from HK$588 million to HK$661 million. Increase
in segment revenue was mainly contributed by increased sales of
residential units of Phase Il of “Chevalier City” in Changchun, Mainland
China and "“Sablier” in Tai Kok Tsui, Hong Kong. Segment profit/(loss)
before net finance costs decreased from a profit of HK$128 million to a
loss of HK$104 million, representing a decline of 181.3%. The decrease
in segment profit was mainly due to the impairment of properties in
Hong Kong and the lower profit margins for certain projects.

During the year, the Group continued to actively market the remaining
residential units of “City Hub"” and “Sablier”, projects with the Urban
Renewal Authority, in which the Group owned 50% and 100% equity
interest, respectively. The Group also obtained the Occupation Permit
and the Certificate of Compliance for a residential development at
292A-D Prince Edward Road West, Ho Man Tin, Kowloon, and is
planning to market the units, subject to market conditions. In addition,
the Group is planning to develop residential units situated at 5 Hang Lok
Lane, Sha Tin with a site area of approximately 48,000 square feet.

Aligned with the Government's vision to develop the Northern
Metropolis into an international innovative and technology hub, the
Group plans to develop the site at On Kui Street, Fanling into a modern
industrial building of approximately 88,000 square feet with high-end
facilities with an “industry-driven and infrastructure-led” approach.

“Chevalier City"” is located near the Changchunxi Railway Station in
a developed community. Phase |Il comprises 10 residential blocks
with about 1,100 units totaling 100,000 square metres, with unit sizes
ranging from 36-125 square metres. Over 75% of Phase Ill units have
been sold since its launch. Construction of Phase V has commenced in
June 2022 and is to be completed by 1st quarter of 2025 as scheduled,
while schematic design for Phase IV is in progress.

The cold storage and logistics division remained stable although there
is contracted demand for pandemic-related services, slow growth
of the global economy and unexpected drop in consumer spending.
This division has recently completed the chiller and freezer facilities
upgrades in both of its cold storage warehouses to improve energy
efficiency and to achieve cost saving whilst at the same time contribute
to sustainable environment.

The property management division provides comprehensive services
to a portfolio of about 32 million square feet of commercial, industrial,
residential, shopping arcades and car parks. Leveraging its extensive
experience, this division will actively participate in tenders including the
Housing Bureau's Light Public Housing management project.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MERREREE

PEERENLEHBHRASREERERE
588 IBETTEBMG.61EIT - Z D EW
ABNMEETHERPERANBEERD [FH
WIEZHMRESXAEN [HE I FEE

L, (E18) MBS BB 288 TEAE
BAME1.04187T © TH181.3% - » %
AL EBHRRESWERERS TEE
i MR TR FTEK -

FAR - AEBEERRHEESSFIHEE0%
MR EEREE [2E | RS —EF
B100% =M [HE MRS FEEENMN -
B AEBMRAEAXEATER
292A-DSE M ERIEE BB AR
MEM  BEEMBRBIIRELTSE -
gEoh - REB IR IERT BB RIGHBEEL
48,000 F RN AELEESHR BEE

ao

AL o

REEBFKIL B S R ERKEREH
BER LS - AREF BN [EXS
B ZEgiTIaABERnEREHG
1 #88,000F 73 IR () 1t B B4 fR A AR B /=0 A
RIEMFRTERE

[BEW IR ERKARIMLE - BHBRE
Pl - E=HEEI10EEEET - REL
1,100{E (7 - AAEMEFE49100,000F 75
Ko BMEBENTI6E126F HK - B
EUR FoHEEEMUDEHATE% °
FRHHENZETIRER T - _F A5
I EAN—_ZE_AFEHEFTET  MEN
AR 5 2R ARGT R TR -

BERBHEAREOFRER - 2REE
BEWRE  BIMDHEHLERRD
B2RA BRI RREFIZE
HRPIERAI SR LR TR B R MY R R AE SR IR
RETTAR - WERTTRER s - EIERA
R R FERFEHER

YR EIEEBPIRIRELI 2008 F 5 RE
¥ TIEREZRT  BEUREESH
MEABERHEZENYEEERY - WX
EEMABEALSELR  #EE28ERE
ERBHAEERRBEFMRE -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EHEEN®R DM

HEALTHCARE INVESTMENT

The revenue of the Healthcare Investment segment recorded a year-
on-year revenue growth of 3.9% from HK$920 million to HK$956
million, mainly due to increased occupancy at senior housing facilities
in Oregon, USA. Segment loss before net finance costs deteriorated
as compared to last year from a loss of HK$112 million to a loss of
HK$329 million due to non-cash fair value loss on financial instrument
and impairment loss on goodwill which are in accordance with the
appropriate accounting standards. Although occupancy at the senior
housing facilities has improved, fixed and operating costs remained
high due to inflation. To enhance the performance of the Group's
healthcare investments, the Group will closely monitor changes in the
local economy, demographics and market conditions, and rebalance its
investment portfolios as appropriate.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group owned 28 senior housing facilities
across six States in the USA providing around 2,500 units/beds covering
a wide spectrum of services including independent living, assisted
living, memory care and skilled nursing. The Group has interests in
three medical office buildings located in New York, Pennsylvania and
Rhode Island comprising a total gross floor area of approximately
428,000 square feet.

The Group is operating a rehabilitation and wellness centre and
engaged in the development of Ventria Residence in Happy Valley,
Hong Kong. Ventria Residence, a private community centered
around holistic living, obtained its occupation permit in April 2024
and application for the Residential Care Homes for the Elderly
licence for the licensed section of the Residence is underway and is
expected to begin operations by the end of 2024. Ventria Residence
integrates modern living, medical and nursing care, gourmet dining and
recreational programs, enabling residents to pursue their passions and
lead purposeful lives in retirement.

With a professional management team and experienced medical
practitioners, we are confident that the rehabilitation centre can
provide customised, outcome-driven rehabilitation programs tailored to
patients’ specific needs.

CAR DEALERSHIP

In Mainland China, car dealership revenue increased from HK$1,808
million to HK$1,966 million, a year-on-year increase of 8.7%, due to
the increase in the sales volume. Due to the improvement of business
environment, segment loss before net finance costs recorded an
improvement from a loss of HK$56 million to a loss of HK$22 million as
compared to last year.

In Canada, the new government policies announced in late 2023 and
effective from early 2024 have boosted automobile sales, along with
solid consumer savings and population growth, despite expected
moderation as the economy slow down.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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INSURANCE AND INVESTMENT

The insurance and investment business is now a new independent
segment due to its significant contribution.

Revenue for the insurance and investment segment, which included
both the investment portfolios for the insurance business and the
Company, recorded an increase from HK$504 million (restated) to
HK$538 million, representing a growth of 6.7% as compared to last
year, benefiting from the employees’ compensation insurance business
derived from the large-scale residential and infrastructure projects in
Hong Kong, in addition to the contribution from the interest income,
and dividends from securities investment when compared to last year.
The Group will remain cautious in underwriting new business, maintain
prudent claims provisioning, enhance operational efficiency and provide
reliable services to customers.

The Group’s employees’ compensation insurance business continues
to make a significant contribution to the segment’s revenue. During
the period under review, the segment underwrote employees’
compensation insurance for several large projects.

Segment profit substantially increased from HK$73 million (restated) to
HK$114 million, representing a growth of 56.2%. Increase in segment
profit was mainly contributed by the underwriting profit, interest
income, dividends from securities investment and a reduction of fair
value loss on financial instruments when compared to last year.

To achieve steady return in the midst of higher-than-normal market
volatility across the world during the financial year 2023/24, the
investment portfolios of the insurance business and of the Company
invested in a combination of mostly fixed income securities that are
of investment grade which offer attractive yield and longer duration,
a portfolio of blue chip equities and several small size private fund
investments. The portfolios achieved an overall improved positive
return for the year including the unrealised mark to market movement
as of 31 March 2024. The Group’s investment policy is to deploy a
prudent approach to achieve a steady return over a longer time horizon.
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OTHERS

After taking out the revenue and contribution of the insurance and
investment business from this segment, the segment’s revenue
decreased from HK$654 million (restated) to HK$592 million,
representing a decline of 9.5% as compared to last year. Segment loss
before net finance costs recorded from a loss of HK$6 million (restated)
to a loss of HK$46 million due to unsatisfactory business performance.

The global economy downturn and geopolitical factors affected Hong
Kong's logistics industry throughout, while rising operational costs
due to inflation also impacted results. Notwithstanding we have been
successful in retaining our customers, our customers’ consumption
has decreased. To address the lack of demand, Chevalier AOC Freight
Express Holdings Limited expanded its services to transport Chinese
e-commerce merchandises globally and increased overseas agency
relationships.

Over the past year, the information and technology (“IT") division was
awarded projects by various HKSAR Government departments and
launched significant IT initiatives with entities such as SideBySide and
the Hong Kong Observatory. To share expertise in Natural Language
Processing (“NLP"”) and Artificial Intelligence (“Al"”) technologies,
the division joined the 18th Technology Forum organized by the
Office of the Government Chief Information Officer (OGCIO) to share
experiences in implementing NLP and innovative Al technologies.
This division continues to deliver digital transformation solutions and
is expanding into conversational artificial intelligence technologies.
The division aims to forge strategic partnerships to capitalise on
opportunities and provide tailored, comprehensive IT solutions to
support clients’ digital transformations.

Looking ahead, persistent global economic uncertainties and volatility,
together with unyielding high interest rate, pose headwinds. The
HKSAR Government has implemented measures to support the
economy, such as attracting talents and tourists to stimulate consumer
spending and sentiment, as well as measures to stabilise the property
market. The Group remains confident in Hong Kong's economy, given
the low tax rate, free trade and stable political environment and limited
government interference, and will continue, to adopt a pragmatic
mindset, implement measures to optimise resources in response to the
uncertainties ahead.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
1 %5 [0 R

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Revenue

Revenue of the Group increased from HK$7,134 million (restated) in
the year 2022/23 to HK$8,196 million in the year 2023/24. The increase
was mainly due to more revenue recognised from construction and
installation contracts and sale of motor vehicles.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased from HK$846 million (restated) in the year
2022/23 to HK$855 million in the year 2023/24 and gross profit margin
slightly decreased from 11.9% (restated) to 10.4%.

Other income

Other income of HK$93 million was recorded in the year 2023/24
(2022/23: HK$124 million). The decrease was mainly due to decrease in
COVID-19 related government subsidies by HK$41 million.

Other (losses)/gains, net

Other losses, net of HK$507 million were recorded in the year 2023/24
(2022/23: other gains, net of HK$25 million). This change was primarily
due to provision recognised for properties under development of
HK$191 million (2022/23: Nil), a larger net loss on investments at fair
value through profit or loss of HK$148 million (2022/23: a net loss on
investments at fair value through profit or loss of HK$14 million), a
smaller net increase in fair value of investment properties, by HK$3
million (2022/23: a net increase in fair value of investment properties,
by HK$104 million) and impairment loss on goodwill of HK$90 million
(2022/23: Nil).

Selling and distribution costs

Selling and distribution costs increased from HK$194 million in the
year 2022/23 to HK$199 million in the year 2023/24. The increase was
mainly due to increase in commission expense relating to the sales of
residential properties in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Share of results of associates

The Group’'s share of results of associates decreased from HK$174
million in the year 2022/23 to HK$170 million in the year 2023/24. The
decrease was mainly attributable to a bigger loss of the associates in
Mainland China under the lifts and escalators business.
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Share of results of joint ventures

The Group's share of results of joint ventures remains constant at a loss
of HK$49 million in both years 2023/24 and 2022/23 mainly due to fair
value loss on a joint venture's investment properties for both years.

Finance costs, net

Finance costs, net of HK$127 million were recorded in the year 2023/24
(2022/23: HK$85 million). Finance costs increased by HK$80 million
to HK$217 million (2022/23: HK$137 million), while finance income
increased by HK$38 million to HK$90 million (2022/23: HK$52 million),
mainly due to increase in interest rates.

Taxation

Taxation of HK$162 million in the year 2023/24 (2022/23: HK$154
million (restated)) was derived from the current tax expense of HK$110
million (2022/23: HK$93 million) and the deferred tax expense of HK$52
million (2022/23: HK$61 million (restated)). The increase in current tax
expense was mainly due to increase in taxable profits relating to air
conditioning, electrical and mechanical engineering business in Macau
and insurance business in Hong Kong, while the increase in deferred
tax expense was mainly due to fair value gain on certain investment
properties.

(Loss)/profit attributable to shareholders of the Company

Loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company in the
year 2023/24 was HK$370 million (2022/23: profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company of HK$258 million (restated)). Excluding
the net increase in fair value of investment properties of HK$3 million
(2022/23: HK$104 million) and government grants of HK$7 million
(2022/23: HK$48 million) in the year 2023/24, profit/(loss) attributable to
shareholders of the Company decreased from a profit of HK$106 million
(restated), to a loss of HK$380 million. The change was mainly due to
provision recognised for properties under development, a larger net
loss on investments at fair value through profit or loss and impairment
loss on goodwill recognised in the year 2023/24.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Investment properties

The carrying value of investment properties increased by HK$178
million to HK$4,943 million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$4,765
million) mainly due to transfer of properties from property, plant
and equipment and properties for sale, offset by foreign exchange
adjustment.

Property, plant and equipment

The carrying value of property, plant and equipment decreased by
HK$306 million to HK$2,744 million as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$3,050 million) which mainly resulted from depreciation and transfer
of properties and right-of-use assets to investment properties.

Goodwill

The carrying value of goodwill decreased by HK$91 million to HK$514
million as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$605 million), mainly due to the
impairment loss of HK$90 million (2023: Nil) recognised on goodwill
relating to senior housing business in the USA.

Interests in associates

Interests in associates consisted of interests in associates, including
goodwill, of HK$705 million (2023: HK$699 million) and non-current
portion of amount due from an associate of HK$36 million (2023: HK$22
million).

Interests in joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures consisted of interests in joint ventures,
including goodwill, of HK$697 million (2023: HK$820 million) and non-
current portion of amount due from a joint venture of HK$264 million
(2023: HK$264 million).

Properties under development

Properties under development increased by HK$8 million to HK$2,105
million (2023: HK$2,097 million) mainly representing development
costs incurred for property development projects in Hong Kong and
Changchun, Mainland China totalling HK$226 million (2023: HK$437
million) offset by provision recognised of HK$191 million (2023: Nil) and
exchange loss of HK$27 million (2023: HK$36 million).

Properties for sale

The decrease in properties for sale of HK$238 million to HK$770
million (2023: HK$1,008 million) was mainly due to sale of properties in
Changchun, Mainland China and Hong Kong and transfer of a property
in Changchun from properties for sale to investment properties.
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Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2024, bank balances and cash decreased to HK$2,472
million (2023: HK$2,503 million), of which 83.7% (2023: 77.1%) of
bank balances and cash were denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
United States dollar (“US dollar”) while 10.0% (2023: 15.0%) were
denominated in Renminbi.

Bank and other borrowings

Bank and other borrowings increased to HK$4,471 million as at 31
March 2024 (2023: HK$3,881 million) as a result of drawn down of bank
loans during the year. 80.5%, 10.7% and 6.5% of the balance as at
31 March 2024 (2023: 62.8%, 22.1% and 9.9%) were denominated in
Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and British Pound respectively.

The portion of the Group’s bank and other borrowings due within one
year or repayable on demand increased from 23.2% as at 31 March
2023 to 23.4% as at 31 March 2024.

Majority of the borrowings in Hong Kong, the USA and the United
Kingdom carry floating interest rates, most of which are based on Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate or
the Bank of England Base Rate.

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

As of 31 March 2024, the Group's net assets attributable to the
Company's shareholders amounted to HK$9,785 million, representing
a decrease of HK$642 million from the previous year's figure of
HK$10,427 million (restated). The decline was primarily due to a
loss attributable to the Company's shareholders of HK$370 million,
exchange difference on translation of operations of overseas
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures amounting to HK$180 million
and dividend payments of HK$103 million.

LEVERAGE RATIOS

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong
Kong, the USA and the United Kingdom.

As at 31 March 2024, of the Group’s total debt which amounted to
HK$4,471 million (2023: HK$3,881 million), HK$478 million (2023:
HK$859 million) was attributable to the senior housing business, of
which HK$478 million (2023: HK$794 million) was without recourse to
the Company.
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Analysis of the net debt is set out below:

REBZAEINNT

Unsecured: IR

— other business - HAh 5%
Secured: BEMA

— senior housing business - TER & G

— other business - HAh 5%
Total debt %@\%\i‘%

Bank balances and cash

Net debt

As at 31 March 2024, with the increase in bank and other borrowings,
total debt to equity ratio increased to 43.2% (2023: 35.2% (restated)),
which was expressed as a percentage of bank and other borrowings
over the Group's net assets of HK$10,342 million (2023: HK$11,034
million (restated)). Net debt to equity ratio increased to 19.3% (2023:
12.5% (restated)), which was expressed as a percentage of net bank
and other borrowings (representing total bank and other borrowings
net of bank balances and cash) over the Group’s net assets. Ratio of
total debt to total assets of HK$20,365 million (2023: HK$20,129 million
(restated)) increased from 19.3% (restated) to 22.0% as at 31 March
2024.

With the existing banking facilities and the recurring cash generation
from its operations, the Group has sufficient financial resources to meet
the funding requirements for its ongoing operations as well as its future
expansion.
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TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts conservative treasury policies in cash and financial
management. The Group's treasury activities are centralised in order to
achieve better risk control and minimise cost of funds. Cash is generally
placed in short-term deposits with majority denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, Renminbi or US dollar. The Group’s liquidity and financing
requirements are frequently reviewed. In anticipating new investments
or maturity of bank and other borrowings, the Group will consider new
financing while maintaining an appropriate level of gearing.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
INTEREST RATES

The major currencies used to operate the businesses are Hong Kong
dollar, Renminbi and US dollar. As at 31 March 2024, the Group had
arranged foreign currency forward contracts amounting to HK$42
million (2023: HK$70 million) to hedge part of its foreign currency risk
from various foreign currencies used for business operations. The
Group had no outstanding interest rate swap contract as at 31 March
2024 (2023: Nil).

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2024, bank and other borrowings of HK$942 million
(2023: HK$1,522 million) and other unutilised banking facilities were
secured by charges on investment properties of HK$601 million (2023:
HK$772 million), property, plant and equipment of HK$358 million
(2023: HK$1,110 million), investments at fair value through profit or
loss of HK$21 million (2023: HK$39 million), other non-current assets
of HK$33 million (2023: HK$12 million), inventories of HK$183 million
(2023: HK$265 million), debtors, contract assets, deposits paid and
prepayments of HK$65 million (2023: HK$138 million) and deposits at
bank of HK$142 million (2023: HK$136 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities are set out in note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

COMMITMENTS

Details of the commitments are set out in note 43 to the consolidated
financial statements. The commitments are to be financed by
borrowings and internal funds.
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MR. KUOK HOI SANG MH, Executive Director, Chairman and
Managing Director, chairman of the Executive Committee and the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee,
aged 74, joined Chevalier Group in 1972. He is also a director of
certain companies of the Group. Mr. Kuok has extensive experience
in business development and is responsible for the strategic planning
and management of the operations of lift and escalator, building
construction, building supplies, aluminium windows and curtain walls,
electrical and mechanical engineering, civil engineering, property
investment and development as well as investment projects of
Chevalier Group. Mr. Kuok is the President of The Hong Kong Real
Property Federation, the Honorable Founding President of Registered
Specialist Trade Contractors Federation, the President of The Lift
and Escalator Contractors Association, the Chairman of the Hong
Kong — China Branch of The International Association of Elevator
Engineers, Vice President of The Hong Kong Federation of Electrical
and Mechanical Contractors Limited and a Registered Lift and Escalator
Engineer in Hong Kong.

Mr. Kuok has served on a number of the Boards and Committees of
the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region,
including the Lift and Escalator Safety Advisory Committee as well as
the Written Examination Committee of the Electrical and Mechanical
Services Department for registration of lift engineers and escalator
engineers. Mr. Kuok was awarded the Medal of Honour by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2016
for his dedicated public service, particularly for his contributions to the
development of the electrical and mechanical services industry. He was
also a member of the Guangzhou Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference from the 9th to 12th sessions and the
Election Committee of the Chief Executive of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.
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MR. TAM KWOK WING MH, Executive Director, Deputy Managing
Director and a member of the Executive Committee, aged 63, joined
Chevalier Group in 1986. He is also a director of certain companies of
the Group. Mr. Tam is responsible for the operations of cold storage and
logistics; insurance services; property investment and development;
property management; and travel agency businesses.

Mr. Tam holds a Bachelor Degree in Laws from Peking University of
the People’'s Republic of China; a Master of Arts Degree from City
University of Hong Kong; and a Postgraduate Diploma in Corporate
Administration from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Tam is
a Fellow Member of each of the Chartered Institute of Arbitrators; the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors; the Chartered Governance
Institute in the United Kingdom; and The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute. Mr. Tam is also a Chartered Member of the
Chartered Institute of Housing in the United Kingdom.

At present, Mr. Tam is the Chairman of the Hong Kong Federation of
Insurers and a Councillor of the General Insurance Council. He also
sits as a member on the Property Management Services Authority.
In addition, he is a Past President of The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute, and a Past President and Council Member of the
Hong Kong Association of Property Management Companies. He is also
currently a member of the fifth-term Election Committee of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region.

Mr. Tam has been appointed as the Honorary Vice Consul of the
Kingdom of Bahrain to Hong Kong. He also serves as the Secretary
General of the Hong Kong Bahrain Business Association. He was also a
Standing Committee Member of the 13th Changchun Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference.

MR. HO CHUNG LEUNG, Executive Director and a member of the
Executive Committee, aged 74, joined Chevalier Group in 1985. He is
also a director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible
for the internal audit of the Group. Mr. Ho is a Fellow Member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom and a Member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

MR. MA CHI WING, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 55, joined Chevalier Group in 1993. He is also a
director of certain companies of the Group. He is responsible for the
human resources and general administration of the Group. Mr. Ma has
extensive experience in project management and is currently in charge
of the healthcare investment, car dealership, hotel investment and
trading businesses of the Group. Mr. Ma holds a Master’s degree in
Business Administration from The University of Warwick in the United
Kingdom, a Bachelor’'s degree in International Business Studies from
City University of Hong Kong, a Corporate Finance Certificate from
University of California, Berkeley in the United States of America, and a
Professional Certificate in China Construction from Tsinghua University,
Mainland China.
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MISS LILY CHOW, Executive Director and a member of the Executive
Committee, aged 61, joined Chevalier Group in 1990. She is also a
director of certain companies of the Group. She is responsible for
strategic planning and business development of the Group. Miss
Chow holds a Bachelor's degree in Arts from the University of British
Columbia in Canada. Miss Chow is a Honorary Chairman of Ladies’
Committee of The Chinese General Chamber of Commerce, an Affairs
Consultant, Permanent Honorary President, Honorary President, and
member of General Committee of All-China Women's Federation Hong
Kong Delegates Association, the Hong Kong non-voting member of
the All China Women's Federation, a member of Equal Opportunities
Commission, Chairperson of Assessment Committee of the Equal
Opportunities (Sexual Orientation) Funding Scheme and a Court
Member of City University of Hong Kong. She is currently a member
of the fifth-term Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. She is also a member of the 13th Zhejiang
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. Miss Chow is the daughter of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching,
Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and a sister of Mr. Chow Vee
Tsung, Oscar, Non-Executive Director of the Company.

MR. CHOW VEE TSUNG, OSCAR, Non-Executive Director, aged
50, joined Chevalier Group in 2000. He is also a director of certain
companies of the Group. He holds a Master’s degree in Engineering
from The University of Oxford in the United Kingdom. Mr. Chow is
currently a General Committee Member of The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong and a Court Honorary Member of The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Chow is the Honorary Consul of the
Kingdom of Bahrain in Hong Kong and currently the Chairman of Hong
Kong Bahrain Business Association. He is a member of the fifth-term
Election Committee of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
He was also a member of the Shanghai Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference. Mr. Chow is the son of the
late Dr. Chow Yei Ching, Chairman Emeritus of the Company, and a
brother of Miss Lily Chow, Executive Director of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
BEEEN

PROFESSOR THE HONOURABLE POON CHUNG KWONG, GBM,
GBS, OBE, JP, PhD, DSc, Independent Non-Executive Director and
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, aged 84, joined the
Company in 2012. Professor Poon obtained a Bachelor of Science
(Honours) degree from the University of Hong Kong, a Doctor of
Philosophy degree and a Higher Doctor of Science degree from the
University of London in the United Kingdom. He was a Postdoctoral
Fellow at the California Institute of Technology and University of
Southern California in the United States of America and University
of Toronto in Canada. He also held the Honorary Degree of Doctor
of Humanities from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2009.
Professor Poon is currently the Chairman of Virya Foundation Limited
(a registered non-profit charitable organisation). He is an Emeritus
Professor and the President Emeritus of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University and had devoted 40 years of his life to advancing university
education in Hong Kong before he retired in January 2009 from his 18-
year presidency at The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Professor
Poon was appointed a Non-official Justice of the Peace in 1989 and
received the OBE award in 1991, the Gold Bauhinia Star award in 2002,
and the “Leader of the Year Awards 2008 (Education)”. He was also
awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2023. In addition, Professor Poon
was appointed as a member of the Legislative Council (1985-1991) and
a member of the National Committee of the Chinese People's Political
Consultative Conference (1998-2013).

Professor Poon is an independent non-executive director and member
of corporate governance committee of Henderson Land Development
Company Limited, and an independent non-executive director, member
of board audit and risk committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of The Hong Kong and China Gas Company
Limited. All of those companies are public companies listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
BEBEN

MR. IRONS SZE BBS, JP, Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee, aged 62, joined the Company in
2016. Mr. Sze graduated with a Bachelor’'s degree in Science from
University of Wisconsin-La Crosse, the United States of America in
1985. Mr. Sze has extensive experience in investment and corporate
management. Mr. Sze is an independent non-executive director,
member of each of the audit committee and remuneration committee
of Continental Holdings Limited, an independent non-executive
director, chairman of the remuneration committee and member of the
audit committee of Best Mart 360 Holdings Limited, an independent
non-executive director, and member of each of the audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of Redco Healthy
Living Company Limited, an independent non-executive director, and
member of each of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of Forward Fashion (International) Holdings
Company Limited, and an independent non-executive director of
Tongda Group Holdings Limited. He has resigned as an independent
non-executive director, chairman of nomination committee, and
member of each of the audit committee and remuneration committee
of Jianzhong Construction Development Limited on 21 November
2023. He has also resigned as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of nomination committee and member of audit committee of
ST International Holdings Company Limited on 5 December 2023. All
of the above mentioned companies are listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Sze is also an executive director of a private
company, Hang Tung Resources Holding Limited and holds directorship
in various private companies.

Mr. Sze is a Standing Member of the 14th National Committee of
the Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference, a Standing
Committee Member of the Beijing Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, the Permanent
Honorary Chairman of the HKCPPCC (Provincial) Association Limited,
the Permanent Honorary President of The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong, the Chairman of the Mainland Business
Advisory Committee of the Hong Kong Trade Development Council,
the Deputy Secretary General of the Hong Kong Coalition, a Council
member of the Hong Kong Repertory Theatre Limited, a member of
Labour Advisory Board under Labour Department, and a Court Member
of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He was also elected as a
member of Election Committee of the Chief Executive of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region in 2016. Mr. Sze was appointed as
a Justice of the Peace and awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2011
and 2015 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
EEREBHN

MR. SUN LELAND LI HSUN, Independent Non-Executive Director and
a member of the Audit Committee, aged 62, joined the Company in
2019. Mr. Sun obtained his Master’s degree in Business Administration
from the UCLA Anderson School of Business, the United States of
America in 1986. Mr. Sun is the Founder and Chief Executive Officer
of Pan Asian Mortgage Company Limited, an innovative non-banking
financial services company specialising in residential mortgage
financing in Hong Kong since 2001. Mr. Sun serves on the Market
Development Committee, FSDC (Financial Services Development
Council) of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region since 2021.

Mr. Sun was elected as a member of Election Committee of the Chief
Executive of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2017.
He was also appointed by the Financial Secretary of the Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region as the first Chief
Operating Officer of The Hong Kong Mortgage Corporation Limited in
1997. Previously, he was a Senior Managing Director of Bear Stearns
Asia Limited and an Executive Director of Goldman Sachs (Asia) LLC.
Mr. Sun was also the President of The American Club Hong Kong
and member of the Executive Committee (Treasurer) and Board of
Governors of the American Chamber of Commerce in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT PROFILE
BEBEN

MS. KWAN ANGELINA AGNES, Independent Non-Executive
Director and chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of each
of the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee,
aged 58, joined the Company in 2023. Ms. Kwan holds a Master of
Laws from Harvard Law School in the United States of America, a
Master of Business Administration from Pepperdine University in the
United States of America, a Bachelor of Laws from a joint programme
organised by University of Hong Kong, School of Professional and
Continuing Education and Manchester Metropolitan University in the
United Kingdom, and a Bachelor of Finance and Accounting from the
University of Southern California in the United States of America.
She is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Accountants of Australia and New
Zealand.

Ms. Kwan is currently the Chief Executive Officer of Stratford Finance
Limited, a Senior Advisor of IMC Asia Pacific Limited, the Chair of the
Women's Foundation and a Member of the Education and Development
Committee of Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute. She also
serves on a number of Hong Kong Government-appointed Boards and
charities including as a Member of New Business Committee of the
Financial Services Development Council, a Member of Betting Duty
Appeal Board under Home and Youth Affairs Bureau of The Government
of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and a Board Director of
the Ebenezer School for the Blind.

Ms. Kwan has held the Senior Advisor, Group Chief Operating Officer
and Group Chief Risk Officer roles at the HashKey Group. She was also
a Member of the Board of Trustees of the Lord Wilson Heritage Trust
and the Women's Commission. Ms. Kwan was the Head of Regulatory
Compliance in Listing and Regulatory Affairs Division of the Hong
Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and a Director of Supervision
of Markets Division and a Director of the Enforcement Division
of Securities and Futures Commission. She also previously held
directorate positions with international digital asset exchanges, Cantor
Fitzgerald, CLSA and was also a Member of Administrative Appeals
Board and a Council Member for Carbon Neutrality and Sustainable
Development of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

ETEYER

Particulars of major properties held by the Group as at the date of this

report are as follows:

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN

USE

Location

b B

Hong Kong &&

Units 1011 to 1019 on 10th Floor,
19th to 23rd Floors and one-third
interest in 201 car parking spaces of
Chevalier Commercial Centre,

8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay

NEEERRE\FEIEEF L
TE—ZFT——ZF"ZF-NE-
THEZT=ZBRE=97—%xn
2201 & B8 AL

Chevalier Warehouse Building,
3 On Fuk Street, On Lok Tsuen, Fanling
MaERERZEBE=FHETEERE

29-33 Tsing Yi Road, Tsing Yi
EXREXRE_TNE=T=5%

8 Kwai Hei Street, Kwai Chung
RS\ 5R

124-130 Kwok Shui Road and
79-85 Yau Ma Hom Road, Kwai Chung
TR B - THNE—B=1T%
KO+ 2N\ RR

20 Shek O Road
FORE 155

Unit 801 on 8th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial
Building, 23-29 Pak Tin Par Street,
Tsuen Wan

TEARBH _t=E_Th%
RETEAENENZT—F

Usage
Az

Commercial and carpark

BRRIEES

Industrial

HEE

Industrial

T

Cold storage warehouse
REEE

Cold storage warehouse
REBEE

Residential

=

Industrial

T

AEBRAREAHZEBZYERFINM

T 8

() FEREWE BRYHE

Approximate
gross floor area*

EEEEOE*
sq. ft. FAR

174,600

118,300

253,500

380,000

427,500

5,300

20,400

The Group’s
interest

AW PTG
%

100

100

87.5

75

75

100

45
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
EFEY =R

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN
USE (CONTINUED)

() FEREWE BRAWEE)

Approximate The Group’s

Location Usage gross floor area* interest
ih 2h ik EEEROR* AEB LR
sq. ft. TR %
Unit 802 on 8th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial Industrial 20,700 100
Building, 23-29 Pak Tin Par Street, S
Tsuen Wan
ZEAHBH -+ ===+ 1%
RETERE/ENZE_E
Mainland China FE At
LEBTRERLREE ARWAN N Residential, shop and 142,600 80
carpark
TF=x - wHkiEES
RETHAEREER RS Commercial 129,500 100
Elii]
Singapore 03
Chevalier House, 23 Genting Road, Industrial 106,500 100
Singapore 349481 I
The Blue Building, 10 Genting Road, Industrial 16,900 100
Singapore 349473 T
United States of America =R 4 RE
430 East Grand Avenue, Industrial/WWarehouse 37,000 100
South San Francisco, CA 94080 I%/RBE
13258 Nelson Avenue, City of Industry, Industrial/Warehouse 31,400 100
Los Angeles, CA 91746 I%/BE
1530, 1560, 1570 & 1590 Poplar Drive, Senior housing 33,600 100
Medford, Oregon 97504 ZE &
1700 Montana Drive, Charlotte, Senior housing 34,400 100
North Carolina 28216 ZERE
8425 Aspi Blvd NE, Moses Lake WA 98837 Senior housing 50,900 100
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

FEYEX

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN

USE (CONTINUED)

Location

b 26

535 U.S 1568 W Yanceyville, NC 27379

3060 SE Stark Street, Portland, OR 97214

6031 Cheyenne Avenue, Las Vegas, NV 89108

1001 Main Street, Buffalo, Erie Country,
New York 14203

455 Toll Gate Road — Building 3 Warwick,
Kent Country, Rhode Island 02886

455 West Woodview Road West Grove,
Chester Country, Pennsylvania 193390

United Kingdom 3

1-3 Hammersmith Broadway, Hammersmith,
London

30 King Street, London

Canada & X

838 Hamilton Street, Vancouver,
B.C., V6B 6A2

4334-4340 Kingston Road, Ontario,
M1E 2M8

14535-14583 Yonge Street, Aurora,
Ontario, L4G 6L1

Usage
A&

Senior housing

R ®

Senior housing

ZERE

Senior housing

wERE

Medical office building
BENAEANE

Medical office building
U YNEUN

Medical office building
BEBNAETAE

Commercial

[l

Commercial

i

Hotel
B

Office and workshop
for automobile
dealership

RERERHIHAE
NI%

Office and workshop
for automobile
dealership

RERERH AT
RI%

() FEREWE BRWEE)

Approximate
gross floor area*

EEEBROE*
sq. ft. FAR

38,300

150,500

109,100

296,600

62,700

68,800

29,400%*

35,600%*

66,000

20,200

25,000

The Group's
interest

AEBE G ER
%

98.6

100

100

JVr
%/\

1)
LS
4

Jvr
%/\

o>
i3
e

JV*

np
i}
B>
HE

100

100

100

100

100

HEEREEERAR
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SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES
EEYFR

(1) HELD AS INVESTMENT PROPERTIES/PROPERTIES FOR OWN
USE (CONTINUED)

Location Usage

i Bh A%

Thailand %=

Chevalier House, Office premise and
540 Bamrungmuang Road, showroom
Debsirin Sub-district, WAERERYE

Pomprab District, Bangkok Metropolis

(11) PROPERTIES FOR SALE

Location

i 25

Hong Kong &8

Sablier, 8 Fuk Chak Street, Tai Kok Tsui, Kowloon
BEAABEEHENRME

City Hub, 8 Kowloon City Road,
44 Chi Kiang Street and 6 Kowloon City Road,
Ma Tau Kok, Kowloon
NBEFEANTEWB /5K - AT HE -+ &
AR: 2 AN b=

Mainland China F Bl R ib

RETHREREBHE - 2HIR3H - 240 AT ERL -
322{E{FE B K57 E R BN

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

() FEREWE BRAWEE)

Approximate
gross floor area*

EEHEEAOE*
sq. ft. FAR

21,300

(N FEWE

Approximate
gross floor area*

EEEBQE*
sq. ft. AR

21,000

5,200

764,300

The Group'’s
interest

KM IEER
%

100

The Group's
interest

RE MW PTG
%

100

JV#
E

oy
18
B>

100



SCHEDULE OF MAJOR PROPERTIES

FEYEX

()PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Location

ok

Hong Kong &8

292A-D Prince Edward Road West,
Ho Man Tin, Kowloon

NEAXAATFER-G LT -A-DF

5 Hang Lok Lane, Shatin
DHELEERS

Fanling Sheung Shui Town Lot
No. 245, On Kui Street, Fanling
WaEZEENEKIHRE-—N TR

Mainland China H Bl At

RENHER

*  Excluding carparks

i Excluding the floor areas of basements, carparks, public amenities and

resettlement buildings

Stage of
completion

TIEE

In progress
TiR#EfTH

In progress

TR#ETH

In progress

Ti2tfTH

In progress

TR#ETH

Expected date
of completion

HEitwIAH

2024
—T_mF

2027

T

2027
“T 4

2024 to 2027

“TCNER
T EF

" The Group has 95% interest in the Medical Office buildings

** Net floor area is adopted for United Kingdom properties

#  The Group has 50% interest in City Hub

(BRI
Estimated
gross floor
Approximate area after The Group's
Major usage site area completion* interest
wEIH  TEREME rx5E
TERZ [ER=EIE BEBER Pt
sq. ft. FAR  sq. ft. FAR %
Residential 7,800 39,200 100
F=E
Residential 47,900 124,600 100
FE
Industrial 17,600 87,800 100
I%
Residential and 1,131,800 2,714,500 100
commercial
EERER
* TEEEFEERS
- TEEMTE - FE%  AEEEREE

* %

BEZEEAE

AEEREBRMAEABAS ZNATH
L 5o

HREYE R A FEEEE

AEEFAREFD 2 +HEm

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
S RERBE

The Board is committed to a high standard of corporate governance
practices and business ethics in the firm belief that they are essential
for promoting and maintaining investors’ confidence and maximising
shareholders’ returns. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of stakeholders, comply with regulatory requirements, and to fulfil its
commitment to excellence in corporate governance.

The Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix C1 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) sets out: (a) the mandatory requirements for
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and (b) the principles of
good corporate governance, that is, the code provisions on a “comply or
explain” basis and certain recommended best practices. The Company
is in compliance with the code provisions of the CG Code except for the
following deviations:

Code Provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
person. The Chairman is responsible for overseeing the Board while the
Managing Director is responsible for managing the Group's businesses.
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang serves as both the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. The Board believes that with Mr. Kuok's
comprehensive knowledge in the history of various business segments,
and his extensive experience in the operation of the Group, vesting the
roles of both Chairman and Managing Director in Mr. Kuok provides
the Company with strong and consistent leadership and facilitates the
implementation and execution of the Group’s business strategies which
is in the best interest of the Company.

Code Provision C.1.6 stipulates that the independent non-executive
directors and other non-executive directors should attend general
meetings to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of the Company’s shareholders. Mr. Yang Chuen Liang, Charles, an
Independent Non-Executive Director was unable to attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28 August 2023 due to other
commitments.

THE BOARD

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and collectively,
must act in good faith and in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders. The Board sets the Group’s overall objectives
and strategies, monitors and evaluates its operating and financial
performance and reviews the corporate governance standard of the
Company. It also decides on matters such as annual and interim results,
notifiable transactions, director appointments or re-appointments, and
distribution of dividend and accounting policies.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERME

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Group. The insurance coverage will be
reviewed on an annual basis.

Where a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest
in a matter to be considered by the Board which has been determined
by the Board to be material, the matter shall be dealt with by a physical
board meeting instead of a written resolution. Independent non-
executive directors who, and whose close associates, have no material
interest in the transaction should be present at that board meeting.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Executive
Directors, one Non-Executive Director and four Independent Non-
Executive Directors as set out below:

Executive Directors

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Director
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Professor POON Chung Kwong
Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

Ms. KWAN Angelina Agnes

Management profile of the Company is set out on pages 30 to 36.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other except that Mr.
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar, Non-Executive Director of the Company is a
brother of Miss Lily Chow, an Executive Director of the Company.

During the year, the Company received two written confirmations from
each of the Directors to update their biographical details and to disclose
the number and nature of offices held in the other public companies or
organisations and other significant commitments.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The Board meets at least four times a year. At least 14 days' notice
is given to all Directors before each meeting and all Directors are
given an opportunity to include matters for discussion. An agenda and
accompanying board papers are sent in full to all Directors at least three
days before the intended date of a meeting. Management provides all
Directors with monthly updates giving a balanced and understandable
assessment of the Company’s performance, financial position and
prospects in sufficient detail to enable them to make informed
decisions and discharge their duties under Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of
the Listing Rules. The Chairman also encourages all Directors to voice
their concerns on each agenda item and allow sufficient time for all
issues to be discussed by Directors. The Company Secretary records
the details of matters considered, the concerns raised by the Board
and the decisions reached, and is responsible for keeping the minutes
of Board meetings or meetings of Board Committee. All minutes are
open for inspection at reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director. Draft minutes of meetings and final versions of minutes are
sent to Directors for their comments and record, respectively, within a
reasonable time after each meeting. During the year under review, the
Board held five meetings.

Pursuant to Code Provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant. The Company also provides reading
materials and updates to the Directors on the latest developments and
changes to the Listing Rules, applicable laws and regulations relating to
directors’ duties and responsibilities.

During the year under review, the Company arranged a seminar titled
“Qverview of White Collar Crimes” for the Directors. Directors’ training
is an ongoing process and all Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses at the Company's expenses. Directors have
provided their records of continuous professional development received
to the Company Secretary of the Company for records as appropriate.
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

The attendance of Directors at each meeting and training is set out in
the table below:

EEE(H)
BEFERGRMMEIHERDT

Meetings Attended/Held Attended
BELRE/BTRH seminars/
Received
Audit Remuneration  Nomination General reading
Directors Board Committee Committee ~ Committee Meeting materials
HEMHE/
- Exg ENZES FHZES REZES kEAE BRHEER
Executive Directors
HTEE
Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director) 5/5 - n n n v
BEERE(FEREFLHE)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director) 5/5 = = = 1 v
BERTE (BIEFLLE)
Mr. HO Chung Leung 5/5 - - - " v
fRRTE
Mr. MA Chi Wing 5/5 - - - n %
BERAE
Miss Lily CHOW 5/5 - - - i v
R/ ME
Non-Executive Director
FHTEE
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar 5/5 - - - "N v
FERE
Independent Non-Executive Directors
BUHHITEE
Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles® 0/2 17 0N Al 0N 4
HER L
Professor POON Chung Kwong 5/5 313 n n n v
RRAHE
Mr. Irons SZE 5/5 313 - - " v
it
Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun 5/5 3/3 - - 1 4
AVE ik
Ms. KWAN Angelina Agnes® 313 2(2 - - - v
ey e
a Retired as an Independent Non-Executive Director, ceased to be the a RZZEZ=FNAZ+N\BREBILIEH
chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration TEZ  NTBEEAEZRZESERE  H
Committee and Nomination Committee with effect from 28 August 2023 MEZEBgRIEEZESKENBG
b Appointed an Independent Non-Executive Director, the chairman of the b RZE—=FNAZ+NBEZEAEBEL

Audit Committee and a member of both the Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee with effect from 28 August 2023

FRTES BRZEEIR  FHEE
EMREREBENE

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R

45



46

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERME

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

During the year under review, the Chairman held a meeting with all
Independent Non-Executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive directors play an important role in the Board
by virtue of their independence and their diverse skills and experience.
Throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company met at all
times the requirements of the Listing Rules to have at least three
independent non-executive directors or representing at least one-third
of the Board and with at least one independent non-executive director
possessing appropriate accounting and financial management expertise
and professional qualifications.

In respect of the re-election of an independent non-executive director
who has served more than nine years at the annual general meeting,
the re-election of such independent non-executive director will be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by the shareholders at
the annual general meeting. The circular to shareholders will include
their biographical details, the reason why the Board considers that they
are still independent and should be re-elected.

The Company received from each of the Independent Non-Executive
Directors annual confirmation of independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board assessed their independence
and concluded that all the Independent Non-Executive Directors
are independent. The Company has identified its Independent Non-
Executive Directors as such in all its corporate communications to the
shareholders.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board shall have power to appoint any person as a director either
to fill a vacancy or for expansion of the Board. The Company has set
up a Nomination Committee for formulating a nomination policy for
consideration by the Board and making recommendations to the Board
on the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors. All
candidates must also meet the standards as set forth in Rules 3.08
and 3.09 of the Listing Rules. A candidate who is to be appointed as an
independent non-executive director should also meet the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Every newly appointed Director will receive a tailored induction on
appointment to ensure appropriate understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and full awareness of director’s
responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

In accordance with the Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of the
Company, all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-
election at annual general meetings of the Company. New directors
appointed by the Board during the year are required to retire and submit
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting or general
meeting immediately following their appointments. Further, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors, or, if their number
is not a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third are required to retire from office by rotation and a Director
shall retire at no later than the third annual general meeting since such
Director’s last re-election or appointment.

Ms. Kwan Angelina Agnes, Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang, Miss Lily Chow and
Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar shall retire from office at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Wednesday,
28 August 2024 (the “AGM") in accordance with the Amended and
Restated Bye-Laws of the Company. All the retiring Directors, being
eligible, shall offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has five Board Committees, namely Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee, Environmental,
Social and Governance Committee and Executive Committee and all of
them report to the Board.

Written terms of reference, which describe the authority and duties
of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee, have been adopted and posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange, and are regularly reviewed and
updated by the Board. The Directors and each Committee have access
to the advice of the management and Company Secretary, and they
may also able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is responsible for, among others, reviewing
the nature and scope of audit performed by external auditors and
their appointments, reviewing the Group’s financial information and
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting system, risk management and
internal control systems, and reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the internal audit function. It is also responsible for reviewing the
interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending them
to the Board for approval. Ms. Kwan Angelina Agnes, Independent
Non-Executive Director, is the chairman of the committee. She has
extensive experience in financial reporting and controls. Other
members include the remaining Independent Non-Executive
Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong, Mr. Irons Sze and
Mr. Sun Leland Li Hsun.

The Audit Committee held three meetings during the year ended 31
March 2024. During the year, they reviewed with the management the
Whistle-Blower Policy, the accounting policies and practices adopted
by the Group, and discussed the auditing, financial reporting, as well
as the risk management, internal control systems and the financial
reporting matters including the unaudited condensed consolidated
interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2023, and reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2024 at the Audit Committee meeting held
on 20 June 2024. They also reviewed and approved the engagement of
external auditors for providing non-audit services, the remuneration in
respect of audit and non-audit services provided by external auditors,
risk management and internal control systems and the effectiveness of
the internal audit function.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board based on the Company's policy and
structure on the remuneration for all Directors of the Company, and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy for approval by the Board. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the operation model where it has the
responsibility, powers and discretion to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management, and makes recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors. The
Remuneration Committee currently comprises two Independent Non-
Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong (chairman
of the committee) and Ms. Kwan Angelina Agnes; and one Executive
Director, namely Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang.

The Remuneration Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2024 to review the remuneration packages paid to Directors for
the year ended 31 March 2024. Details of Directors’ emoluments and
five highest pay individuals are set out in note 40 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing and making
recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning
for directors, in particular the chairman and the managing director. The
Nomination Committee has the responsibility to consider and identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members, and select or
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships. The Nomination Committee discusses and
reviews annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and
agrees on measurable objectives for achieving diversity of the Board
and makes relevant recommendations to the Board for adoption with
reference to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. The Nomination
Committee currently comprises one Executive Director, namely
Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the committee) and two Independent
Non-Executive Directors, namely Professor Poon Chung Kwong
and Ms. Kwan Angelina Agnes.

The Nomination Committee held a meeting during the year ended 31
March 2024 to review the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assess the independence of the Independent Non-Executive Directors,
recommend the re-election of retiring directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy in August 2017. The aim of
this policy is to set out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board
of Directors. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
diversity in the Board. The Nomination Committee will discuss and
agree annually measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the
Board and recommend them to the Board for adoption.

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with diversity
with respect to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture,
independence, age, gender, race and length of services. The
Nomination Committee will monitor the implementation of the policy
from time to time with a view to enhancing the Board’'s performance.
The Nomination Committee will review the policy periodically and
amend it as appropriate to ensure its continued effectiveness. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any proposed changes to the Board for consideration
and approval.

During the reporting year, 20% of Directors of the Company and
over 30% of total workforce of the Group were female. Maintaining
gender diversity remains a challenge to the Group, especially for
the construction and engineering segment. The Group reviews its
compensation and benefits programmes regularly to ensure that its
compensation and benefits packages remain competitive.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a Nomination Policy in November 2018. The aim
of this policy is to assist the Nomination Committee in identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and select and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
for directorship, for the appointment or re-appointment of directors
and succession planning for directors, in particular the chairman and
the managing director. The Nomination Committee shall consider the
following criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

Essence: The proposed candidate shall possess high ethical
standards, good character, and act with integrity.

Availability: The proposed candidate should be able to devote time
to understand the affairs of the Company in order to enable him/her
to make value-added contributions to the Board.

Qualification, expertise and experience: The proposed candidate
shall have ascertained qualification, expertise and experience in
an area of business or public affairs in line with the Company’s
corporate strategy.

Diversity: The diversity of the Board will be considered including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
race, skills, knowledge, religion, industry and professional
experience and length of service in accordance with the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company.

Additional criteria are required for assessing the independence of the
proposed independent non-executive director as appropriate:

Independence: Comply with the independence requirements set
under the Listing Rules.

Time commitment: Ensure that sufficient time can be devoted
to discharge the duties/responsibilities as independent non-
executive directors. For independent non-executive directors who
hold directorships in seven or more listed companies, the Board
will need to be satisfied that the proposed candidate can devote
sufficient time to the Board. The Nomination Committee will
consider the following factors which can affect the individual’s time
commitment to the Company:

1. whether at the time of nomination the Company is undergoing
a period of particularly increased activity, such as an acquisition

or takeover;

2. the frequency of having to chair the Board and/or the
committee(s);

3. being multiple members of committees;
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NOMINATION POLICY (CONTINUED)

4. whether the candidate is a chief executive officer or full-time
executive director of another listed issuer; and

5. whether the candidate is an independent non-executive director
for multiple boards and the number of significant commitments
at government or non-profit making bodies.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating to its
recommendation of candidates to stand for re-election at any general
meeting. This policy shall be reviewed on a continuous basis and, when
necessary, can be revised by the Board from time to time.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“"ESG") Committee
was established with written terms of reference adopted during the
year. The ESG Committee is responsible for identifying, monitoring,
overseeing and reviewing the Group's ESG matters. It identifies and
assesses issues that are material to the Group and its stakeholders,
sets targets to evaluate the Group's ESG performance and actions to
be taken, prepares ESG reports, identifies relevant climate changes
risks and opportunities and make improvement recommendations
and strategies to the Board. It reviews the Task Force on Climate-
Related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) target annually and monitors the
Group's progress. The ESG Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Tam
Kwok Wing, Executive Director, with representatives from relevant
departments and business units.

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for
implementing business strategies and managing the daily operations
of the Group's business to an Executive Committee which was
established in 1991. Written terms of reference, which describe the
authority and duties of the Executive Committee, have been adopted
and are regularly reviewed and updated by the Board. In view of
the setting up of the ESG Committee was set up in March 2024,
ESG related duties were removed from the terms of reference of
the Executive Committee which terms were revised on 26 March
2024. Members of the Executive Committee comprise five Executive
Directors, namely Messrs Kuok Hoi Sang (chairman of the committee),
Tam Kwok Wing, Ho Chung Leung, Ma Chi Wing and Miss Lily Chow.

RABGR(#)
4. BFRBARGAS —LWMEITAN
ITHRBHIERATES &

5. REAREGREEIZHEEFTSNE
MIFAITESARBTHIEE T
BEHNZIREAERE -

B G 1 (G MRS RIE AR AR R
K@ti%@&Z%ﬁ%ﬁt#ﬁ%%%

o RBE RS WERBH S
F e

RE HEREARZES
FRRE HERER(IERE L2k
ERDEEERY YRBEARESD
IR MHEREREESATRA -
E*?ﬁ CEENMBEEASEMNRE e
MEREH - ZZ BEH M EHAE
EREFBOHEEZNZHE KT EENFT
HAREEIRE - L2 RE RSB FERE
18 BHERE LS RERBRE - &5

#E B B SRU 1R 5 5 [ i N 458 X 11 FE SO R
B - 2Z B 8FREEAKENRIRARM

B {E B E TR/ VE(TCFD) B Z R EEE
HERBRL -RE HEREARZEESR
HATESERLLEETIER  £88
RE AR FIMESEMRE -

HITEE®
EZCERBER - NAN—FRILZHTE
BeaEHTASERmERKELEEEER
BEBEE  EZABESESBENTEE
EHRECHEN ﬁﬁﬁ%@ﬁ/’\*ﬁﬂ%
ﬁ&%%ﬁ ERNIRE  HEeRERLZES
ERZZEZMF =B - I%ﬁﬂ?%
QH&TE%EIWJ%%% g & E A A B R
R ZEPFE=A _‘f'/\EH"Eij‘Az
uT $ﬁﬁ§,\ SHILBELE(ZES
&) Rk RBELAE - /%/\_, it
%E&HﬂHT NERAITEFFTARK o

HiEBREEFRAR
2024 1

51



B¢

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TEERRSE

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE (CONTINUED)

The principal corporate governance functions of the Executive
Committee is to assist the Board and the Chairman in developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance on assurance the compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, reviewing and monitoring of training and code
of conduct applicable to employees and Directors, and also reviewing
the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature and
extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives, and ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains
appropriate and effective risk management and internal control
systems and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. The
Board is also responsible for overseeing the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems.
The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage, rather than eliminate, risks of
failure in operating systems or in achievement of the Group's business
objectives.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, conducts a review of
the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems, which covers all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls, on an annual basis.
It also considers the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Group's
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting function. Significant
issues in the management letters from both internal and external
auditors (if any) will be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee
to ensure that prompt remedial action is taken. All recommendations
will be properly followed up to ensure they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time.

Under the enterprise risk management framework, policies and
procedures are in place to identify, assess, manage, control and report
risks. Such risks include strategic, credit, operational (administrative
system, human resources, tangible assets and reputation), market,
liquidity, legal and regulatory risks. Exposure to these risks is
continuously monitored by the Board through the Audit Committee.

The internal control system includes a defined management structure
with specified limits of authority. The Board has clearly defined the
authorities and key responsibilities of each division to ensure adequate
checks and balances. The internal control system has been designed to
safeguard the Group's assets against unauthorised use or disposition,
to ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records for producing
reliable financial information; and to ensure compliance with applicable
laws, regulations and industry standard.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL (CONTINUED)

During the year under review, there were no major issue but areas
for improvement identified by the Audit Committee, and the internal
auditor has taken appropriate measures for improvement. The Board is
of the view that the risk management and internal control systems in
place for the year and up to the date of issuance of the annual report is
effective and adequate.

The Company's Internal Audit Department monitors the Group's
internal governance and strives to provide objective assurance to the
Board that appropriate, adequate and effective risk management and
internal control systems are in place. It has unrestricted access to
review all aspects of the Group’s activities and internal controls. It also
conducts special audits of areas of concern identified by management
or the Audit Committee. The Internal Audit Department adopts a risk-
based audit approach. It conducts independent risk assessment, at
least on an annual basis, to determine all key risk have been properly
identified and assessed in accordance with the Risk Management
Policy and Procedure, as well as the existing risk control and treatment
measures are effective. All audit reports are circulated to the Audit
Committee and key management. The Internal Audit Department is also
responsible for following up the implementation of recommendations
and corrective actions.

The Board has in place a Whistle-Blower Policy for employees, and
those who deal with the Company such as the Company’s customers
and suppliers, to raise concerns in confidence regarding possible
improprieties within and in any matter relating to the Group. The
Board has also developed the Anti-Corruption, Business Gift and
Entertainment Policy to implement anti-corruption practices and to carry
out the Company's business fairly with honesty and integrity.

DIRECTORS" AND AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2024,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and
of the Group's financial performance and cash flows. In preparing the
consolidated financial statements, the Directors have adopted generally
accepted accounting standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments and estimates
that are fair and reasonable and prepared the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. The Auditor of the Company
acknowledge their reporting responsibilities in the Independent
Auditor’s Report on the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2024 as set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 96 to 105.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION AND AUDITOR RELATED MATTERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the fees paid/payable to the auditors
in respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by the auditors
to the Group were as follows:

Nature of services

REEMERZEMERER
BHE—_Z-_NE=A=1+—HItHBEE
R FhANE B AT IR 2 R B IR B
RSB S, TR RSB S a0 T -

Amount (HK$°000)

R HE SH(B¥TR)
Audit services — PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the 8,913
ZE ARG worldwide network of PricewaterhouseCoopers
BERUKEG TR ST R E B R S RkE R TR
WE R ET P
— other auditors 8,996
H b 1% 1AM
Non-audit services —  PricewaterhouseCoopers and other firms of the 446
IEAZ AR TS worldwide network of PricewaterhouseCoopers
BEROKEGRTANES TR BN E SRUKERIK
BEER O EBAT
— other auditors 3,018
H At 1% 2L A

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuer (the “Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules. Following a specific enquiry of all Directors,
each of the Directors confirmed that he/she has complied with the
Model Code throughout the year.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company,
who reports to the Chairman and has day-to-day knowledge of the
Company’s affairs. During the year under review, the Company
Secretary had duly complied with the relevant professional training
requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Convening a special general meeting

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right
of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. The requisition
must be signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposited at the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) themselves, or
any of them representing more than one half of the total voting rights
of all of them, may themselves convene a meeting, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
said date.

Putting enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by
addressing them to the Company Secretary and deposit the same at
the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong or by e-mail to
ccd_enquiry@chevalier.com.

Putting forward proposals at general meeting

Shareholders can submit a written requisition to move a resolution at
the general meeting. The number of shareholders shall represent not
less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all the shareholders
having at the date of the requisition a right to vote at the general
meeting, or shall not be less than one hundred shareholders.

The written requisition must state the resolution, accompanied by
a statement with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at the general meeting.
It must also be signed by all of the shareholders concerned and be
deposited at Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong for
the attention of the Company Secretary.

The shareholders concerned must deposit a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving the notice of the
resolution and circulating the statement submitted by the shareholders
concerned under applicable laws and rules.

The procedures for shareholders of the Company to propose a person
for election as a director is posted on the website of the Company.
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INVESTOR AND SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS

The Company recognises the importance of transparency and timely
disclosure of corporate information, which enables shareholders to
make the most informed investment decisions. To ensure an ongoing
dialogue with shareholders and investors, the Board has in place
Shareholders’ Communication Policy setting out a various channels of
communication, with the objective to maintain close communications
with shareholders and investors. The Policy is posted on the Company's
website and subject to regular review by the Board in order to ensure
that the policy remains effective.

The Company provides extensive information of the Group to its
shareholders and the public through the publication of interim and
annual reports, circulars, notices and announcements. Information
released by the Company to the website of the Stock Exchange is also
posted on the Company’s website at http://www.chevalier.com. The
Company’'s website offers timely corporate announcements, press
releases and other business information.

The Board welcomes the views of shareholders on matters affecting
the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’ meetings to
communicate any concerns they might have and provide comments
and suggestions to the Board directly. The general meetings of the
Company provide the best opportunity for exchange of views between
the Board and shareholders. The Chairman of the Board as well as
chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committees or,
in their absence, other members of the respective committees, and
where applicable, the independent board committee and auditor, are
available to answer questions at general meeting. Separate resolutions
are proposed at general meetings on each substantially separate issue,
including the re-election of individual Directors. All resolutions put
forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll and details of the
poll voting procedures will be explained to shareholders at general
meetings. The poll results will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a Dividend Policy in November 2018 in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the Amended
and Restated Bye-Laws of the Company. The aim of this policy is
to establish the parameters for the Board of the Company when
they make decision on the declaration or recommendation of the
dividend. It also allows shareholders of the Company to participate in
the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to
capture future growth opportunities. This policy shall be reviewed on
continuous basis, and when necessary, and can be revised by the Board
from time to time.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the reporting period, no amendment had been made to the
Memorandum of Association and Amended and Restated Bye-Laws of
the Company.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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INTRODUCTION “=
This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report (“Report") W HEAEEMBRREMNIRE 2 RER
is prepared by the Group. Unless otherwise stated, the information (TEBE -HEeRER)BRE(THRE]) -
and data contained in this Report cover the period from 1 April 2023 AR AR - ARG PR E R R EUE @%

to 31 March 2024. The Group has varied business operations in Hong
Kong and other countries. Due to the differences in reporting standards
across regions and given our main operations remain in Hong Kong,
this Report only covers our subsidiaries’ operations in Hong Kong. The
scope and boundaries of reporting remained the same compared to the
previous reporting year.

Sustainability is essential to the Group’s development, as well as for the
overall viability of our business and for the benefit of the community.
The Board is responsible for setting the overall objectives and
strategies of the Group, overseeing the ESG issues, while monitoring
and evaluating its operating and financial performance, and reviewing
its corporate governance standards. The Board delegated its power to
oversee, review and monitor the Group's ESG policies and practices
to the ESG Committee which was established during the year to
handle ESG-related matters. The ESG Committee ensures that relevant
information is in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide provided
in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) and makes recommendations to the Board on
significant decisions and findings.

In preparation for the compliance with climate-related disclosures under
the Listing Rules which will come into effect in 2025, we have engaged
an ESG consultant to identify the climate risks and opportunities
relevant to our Group and are currently conducting a materiality
assessment exercise to identify and introduce the mitigation strategies
for any identified climate-related physical and transitional risks. The
climate-related disclosures are based on the recommendations from
the Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures (“TCFD")
which is a global sustainability reporting standards developed by The
Financial Stability Board (FSB).

The Group is committed to a high standard of corporate social
responsibility and has strictly complied with relevant laws and
regulations reporting during the year under review. This Report is
prepared in accordance with the four reporting principles as set out in
the ESG Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules:

(i) Materiality: The Group communicated with various stakeholders
to identify material issues, please refer to the
“Stakeholders Engagement” for more details;

(i) Quantitative:  The raw data used for formulating the KPls are
sourced from the statistics of relevant departments;
(iii) Balance: This Report is prepared in an impartial and equitable
manner to present our performance; and

(iv) Consistency:  Unless otherwise stated, the preparation method of
this Report is substantially consistent with the last

reporting year.
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

The Group believes that communication with its stakeholders helps
the Group gain a better understanding of their needs, expectations and
concerns which in turn enables us to attain sustainable development in
economic, environmental and social terms. The table below shows how
we communicate with our key stakeholders.

FHESHE
AEEIGE - BERHEBREDNEF
WTRESOES  MBRMT - HmE
AEBELE BERAS T AEATS
ERE - FRHLEERTERHENE
B -

Stakeholders Needs, expectations and concerns | Communication channels
& FXR - HEREE BERE

Shareholders and e Return on investments o
investors & [l 7R
fRER KR IEEE e Corporate strategy and .
governance
TERBERER J

Employees e Compensation and benefits o

(= 3 B K 4% )

e (Career development o
opportunities
BEEE#E
e QOccupational health and safety °
BEREREZS
[ ]
[ ]
[ ]
Sub-contractors e Effective project management o
DB BRHIER B
e Occupational health and safety °
BERERREZS
e FEthical business practices °
RRBREER
e Sub-contractors assessment o
criteria
P EIEE .
Suppliers e |ong-term relationship o
HRER REIGERAR
e Ethical business practices o
FFBRER
e Supplier assessment criteria o
e R AT IR 2E
General public and e Environmental issues o
community IRIR A
N E e Community participation o
P g

Company website

NGIF b

Interim and annual reports
PHIRFEHmE

Annual general meeting

BREBFRE

Announcements, notices of meetings,
circulars

NE - BERBE BN

Social media platforms

HREEBF &

Employee activities

EEES

Corporate newsletter, email updates, and
intranet

REEERT) - E I AN R A B A

In-house training programmes
AES=EEe!

Job performance reviews and appraisals
TERIRAZ RATHE

Regular meetings/training sessions
EHEE EIIRE

Social media platforms

HREETAE

Training sessions

BEFIERTE

Health, safety and environment committee
2R RERIRFELEE®

Regular operation meetings

TEHEESE

Audits and assessments

Bz &ETHE

Social media platforms

MHREBTE

Procurement processes
RERRE

Regular review and assessment
E BRI MRt AL

Social media platforms
HREETAE

Company website

NSIE

Volunteer community work
# Tt AR
Sponsorships and donations
CEUNSEEE

Social media platforms
RRERTE
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

We regularly conduct materiality assessments to identify the material
ESG issues most relevant to our business and stakeholders. During
the year, we conducted a materiality assessment that identified 19
material ESG issues, with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide of
the Listing Rules and the actual business situations of the Group. The
Group invites internal and external stakeholders (including directors,
employees, suppliers, subcontractors, customers and business
partners) to participate in an online survey to understand their concerns
and expectations for the Group, so as to identify and evaluate relevant
ESG issues, and ensuring that we incorporate the material risks and
opportunities for consideration.

Materiality Matrix

High &
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Corporate Governance

1 Strategy for environmental, social and governance goals and
performance

2 Measures for anti-money laundering and anti-corruption

3 Protection of company confidential information, intellectual
property and data privacy security

Importance to Internal Stakeholders
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MATERIALITY ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Materiality Matrix (continued)
Environmental Protection

4 Management and control of greenhouse gases and emissions of air
pollutant

5 Measures for waste disposal and reduction

6 Energy consumption and measures to improve energy efficiency
7 Water consumption and measures for water conservation

8 Green building construction and facilities investment

9 Combating climate change and its impacts

Operating Practices
10 Impact of the supply chain on the environment

11 Environmental considerations when procuring goods and services
12 Customer service quality and procedures of handling complaints

Employment
13 Employee compensation and benefits

14 Diversified and professional training and development plans

15 Occupational health and safety management measures to provide a
safe and healthy working environment to all employees

16 Diversity and equal opportunities
17 Talent attraction and retention

Community Investment

18 Participate in or organise community services to promote social
development

19 Sponsor academic and cultural activities to cultivate young talents

With reference to the materiality matrix, among the 19 materiality
issues, three were identified as material this year by our stakeholders
and Directors, including intellectual property and data protection,
occupational health and safety management measures, and employee
compensation and benefits. The results of materiality assessment have
been presented to the Board for discussion and verification.
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B HEREARS

(A) SOCIAL

Employment and Labour Practices
Employment and Labour Standards

To attract, develop and retain qualified employees, the Group offers
professional development opportunities and a healthy working
environment for all employees. In addition, we have implemented
equal opportunity employment practices.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of approximately 3,600
full-time employees globally. Below is an analysis of the Group's
Hong Kong workforce by employment type, gender and age group,
and employee turnover rate by gender and age group.
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Workforce by employment type, gender and age group
REREL  MBRFRANEINHNEIAHY

Gender Age Group
A F iR 4H Bl
Total Male Female 30 or below 31-50 51 or above
st S M 30K EA T 31-505% 51BR A L
Full-time &8 2,001 1,327 674 263 749 989
Part-time F& 8% 33 18 15 1 3 29
Total #5+ 2,034 1,345 689 264 752 1,018

Employee turnover rate by gender

BUupE s HEERKLR

Employee turnover rate by age group

5 BAA R 815 W IR BT K L

Male
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42 1%

31-50
31-507%

40.3%

2
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30 or below

30 AT

64.0%

51 or above
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

Maintaining gender diversity is a challenge to the Group, especially
for the construction and engineering segment. During the year,
male employees make up over 65% of the total workforce. The
highest turnover rate of employees falls in the age category of 30 or
below who have all left at their own accord.

The Group provides competitive remuneration packages and
benefits programmes for employees, regularly reviews its
compensation and benefits packages, including its medical
scheme, health check programmes, travel insurance, training
subsidies and retirement benefits. In addition, we also conduct
annual review of our pay and benefits packages based on
employees’ duties and responsibilities, remuneration benchmark
in the industry and the prevailing market conditions. We also have
an established annual Long Service Award and Retirement Award
to recognise and express our gratitude to long-serving employees
for their dedication and support. We believe that employees are
always the most valuable assets of the Company, and the Group
is keen on recruiting outstanding talents. The Group participated in
the Mainland Recruitment Program organised by the Development
Bureau to attract young talents from the Greater Bay Area during
the year. In addition, we have strengthened recruitment through
different channels, including participated in the Cyberport Career
Fair 2024, campus recruitment organised by various universities
and colleges, and providing summer internship program
opportunities. We dedicate every effort to attracting talents from
various industries through different recruitment opportunities to
reinforce job seekers’ and fresh graduates’ understanding and
knowledge of the Group.

We promote the physical and mental health of our employees.
During the year under review, the Group has organised various
interest classes, workshops and sports activities to support a
healthy work-life balance and to build our employees’ sense of
belonging. The Group supported their participation in various
charity-run sports and marathon activities including Charity Walk
2023 - Explore Science with SEN Students, SPS Charity Walk
& Carnival 2023, Lifewire Run 2023 - Tsing Yi Promenade, The
Community Chest Corporate Challenge 2024, Construction Industry
Happy Run 2024 and Shanghai Commercial Pok Oi Cycle For
Millions 2024. In addition, we are attentive to the needs of working
mothers and the lactation room provides a comfortable and private
environment for working mothers. The Chevalier Staff Recreation
Centre also provides employees with a place to rest, relax and
socialise. To strengthen communication with our employees and
to keep them updated on the Group's latest developments, we
also share the latest information of the Group on the Company's
website, intranet, social media platforms, and regularly distribute
corporate newsletters and emails to all employees.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE-HERERBRE

(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Employment and Labour Standards (continued)

The Group advocates a community spirit that thrives on mutual
respect and equal opportunities. The Group complies strictly to
equal opportunities legislation, such as the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance, Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination
Ordinance and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance. To ensure
diversity and equality, we recruit, remunerate and promote
employees based on their experience, skills and performance,
without prejudice to age, race, disability, gender or family status.
We promote workplace diversity and convey anti-discrimination
messages to all employees in the Human Resources Policies
and orientation handbook. The Group has also pledged to adopt
the “Code of Practice against Discrimination in Employment on
the Ground of Sexual Orientation” to oppose any form of sexual
orientation discrimination. In addition, the Group is strongly
committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations, the
recruitment process includes due diligence on the candidates’
identity and employment eligibility, prohibit the employment of any
child or forced labour.

The Group upholds high standards of business ethics and promotes
good personal conduct of its employees. Our Human Resources
Policies and Procedures Manual covers the Personal Conduct and
Staff Conduct Code, which is published on the intranet of the
Company to ensure our staff members are well aware of the Policy.

Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to safeguarding the health
and safety of all employees and strongly abides by relevant laws
and regulations. We regularly monitor our workplace hygiene and
staff facilities. To ensure a high standard of occupational safety, the
Group has stringent guidelines for employees who are assigned to
work on construction sites to minimise and prevent exposure to
occupational hazards. Safety and health care trainings are provided
from time to time to newcomers and relevant personnel at our
construction sites so as to enhance their awareness of safety in
a working environment. Moreover, we offer, and it is mandatory
for our colleagues on sites to use, special personal protection
equipment such as safety helmets, ear plugs, dust masks, goggles
and safety shoes.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Health and Safety (continued)

Given the increasing number of extreme heat days due to climate
change, the property management division has set up “Heatstroke
Prevention Work Plan” for frontline staff who needs to perform
outdoor work. The said work plan includes risk assessment,
preventive and control measures, and work/rest arrangements
in times of Heat Stress at Work Warning, and recognition and
treatment of heat-related illnesses. In addition, the property
management division will also provide cool drinking water, sun
protection equipment such as wide-brimmed hats, cooling towels,
and sun protection sleeves to frontline staff when necessary,
in order to reduce the likelihood of heatstroke during work. Our
building construction division has also developed diverse heat
stress relief measures for its construction sites, which have been
recognised by the industry sector.

Occupational Health and Safety Committee

Our property management division has obtained the OHSAS 18001
recognition for its compliance with occupational health and safety
requirements since 2006. We have also obtained the ISO 45001
accreditation since 2020 which recognises the standard of our
safety requirements not only of our staff, but also including the
standard of our contractors. Requirement of risk assessment to be
conducted before commencement of work is added in the tender
documents to minimise occupational health and safety risks. Head
office and selected sites are audited periodically by the British
Standards Institution for renewal of the certificates. We have a
Safety Committee which consists of property management staff
members from head office and site level operation staff which
formulates site safety measures and policies. Regular meetings
are scheduled every three months for post-implementation review
of audited sites, as well as information exchange on accidents
or injuries for other managed sites to follow suit. In addition, our
property management division endeavours to promote various
sponsorship schemes held by Occupational Safety & Health Council
to enhance the personal protective equipment and safety at work
for front line staff and aims to reduce the risk of injury.

Site Safety Subgroup

Our construction and engineering colleagues ensure site safety
inspections are carried out on a regular basis and any finding of
major breaches and unsafe condition are rectified promptly. The
site safety subgroup comprising representatives from our project
companies and subcontractors, held operation meetings frequently.
We are committed to ensuring construction site safety for
everyone. During the year under review, no work related fatalities
was recorded.
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RR -HERERRE

(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Health and Safety (continued)
Site Safety Subgroup (continued)

(A) #t& (&)

ERESE TERGE)
RERZE(H)

w2/ (&)

Occupational Health and Safety
BERERZER

2024 2023 2022
—E_UE —E-=HF —E_—

case(s) case(s) case(s)
= % = % = %
Total numbers of
work related
fatalities 0 0 0 0 0
HTERER
BN AR ER
case(s) day(s) case(s) day(s) case(s) day(s)
R H = = =
Lost days
due to work injury 33 3,035.5 43 4,062.5 27 2,810.0
ETISEATIER S

The Group has placed strong emphasis on and is committed to
maintaining construction site safety standards. In order to maintain
the high level of safety awareness of our employees, during the
year, we invited the chairman of the Construction Industry Council
("CIC") to share insights on construction site safety with over 100
colleagues from divers engineering business units of the Group, to
highlight to them the importance of their roles and to remind them
of their responsibility for their own personal and also colleagues’
safety. In addition, in response to the CIC's appeal, a “Stand Down
Day” aimed at conveying the safety messages and reminding our
frontline workers of the importance of safety, was held at various
construction and engineering sites of the Group.

The construction industry has been strongly promoting and
developing the application of various innovative technologies in
recent years, aimed at improving efficiency and management of the
construction process. Our building construction division increased
investment in research and development and has been actively
exploring the application of the Building Information Modelling
(“BIM") and Modular Integrated Construction (“MiC") technology,
and has built a strong BIM team to enhance the competitiveness of
the Group. Using digital technology to simulate and display building
models, it improves operational efficiency and provides efficient
support for the daily operation and safety management of projects.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Employment and Labour Practices (continued)
Development and Training

The professional development and personal development of
our employees are vital to the Group’'s sustainable growth. We,
therefore, encourage our employees to enhance their professional
knowledge and abilities through training programmes. The Group
nominates employees to attend appropriate internal and external
training programmes from time to time. Our training programmes
range from professional and technical training to personal
development skills. During the year, the Group also held a team-
building workshop for nominated staff members. Participants
from different business units and supporting departments of the
Group met with their peers and participants built a rapport through
exercises which required time management, communication and
problem-solving skills. The Group also provides education subsidies
for eligible employees to encourage employee to further develop
their work related skills and broaden their knowledge.

We strive to cultivate future talents. The Group has actively
participated in Vocational Training Council apprenticeship
programme since the 1990s to provide young people with on-
the-job training and employment opportunity in the construction
industry. So far over 450 apprentices have undertaken the Group's
apprenticeship, covering building construction, quantity surveying,
building services, land surveying and the like. In addition, during the
year, the Group also supported in the “Future Step-Up"” programme
under the “Share for Good"”, a large-scale crowd donation platform
of New World Development Company Limited, and collaborated
with the business community, welfare sector and the Government
to provide comprehensive career guidance and diverse internship
opportunities to young people from Small Group Homes, enabling
them to plan for the future at an early stage and to cultivate next-
gen talents.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED) (A) & (48)
Employment and Labour Practices (continued) EBEEEESIER(E)
Development and Training (continued) BRRIEI(E)
Percentage of employees trained Percentage of employees trained
by gender by employee category
BrMREsNZIEET DL REEEMNEINZIEETSLL

Male Managerial Supervisory

B D IR D FER
E Female D General/Operational Staff

g —fBIEET

Average training hours completed per employee by gender

BEMRED  BEREETHZ N FIIRE

Unit 2024
B —®=nF

Male Es | hours /J\B§ 4.89

Female e hours /J\EF 5.19

Average training hours completed per employee by employee category

BEREEERE D SREETKZINFIRH

2024

—EB-mEF
Managerial FESER hours /)N 4.54
Supervisory FEH hours /]NiF 4.67
General/Operational Staff —MRIEE T hours /J\iF 5.03
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices
Supply Chain Management

The Group carefully selects qualified suppliers and subcontractors
to ensure that the entire production process is in line with our
standards and rules. We not only require our new suppliers and
subcontractors to submit all relevant documents for review, we
will also stipulate in the tender documents that the project must
undergo a risk assessment to minimise the risk of accidents. We
regularly carry out inspections, reviews and assessments of their
ability and quality, as well as the environmental and occupational
safety and health management systems. When necessary, the
department heads will arrange a face-to-face interview. If they are
not eligible, the supplier or subcontractors will be removed from
the approved list to ensure that our list of approved suppliers and
subcontractors are capable of performing at a satisfactory level.

The Group upholds fair operating practices in its relationship with
suppliers and subcontractors through an efficient procurement
system. We have also adopted systems for competitive tendering
and for suppliers’ and subcontractors’ performance monitoring
and reporting. The Group conducts regular reviews of the terms
and conditions of supply contracts and subcontracts between the
Group and our suppliers and subcontractors which enables the
development of effective and strong partnerships. Such reviews
cover the potential enhancement of social, ethical, environmental
and gender equality criteria in supply contracts and subcontracts.
As part of our daily operation, we encourage the sourcing of
environmentally friendly products and promote eco-friendly
practices to the entire supply chain.

Product Responsibility

The Group recognises that good customer and after-sales services
are keys to the long-term success of the Group. In order to cater for
prompt response in meeting with the needs of our customers, the
Group has set up customer service teams for its different business
units to handle customers’ queries efficiently.

The Group respects the privacy of personal data and has developed
policies on the collection and usage of personal data. Review and
revision of these policies are carried out to ensure its effectiveness
and compliance with relevant laws.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)
Product Responsibility (continued)

Since the Group is a customer-focused organisation, its
environmental engineering division and cold storage and logistics
division commit to making every effort to achieve customer
satisfaction through continual improvement of our quality
management system in accordance with the requirements of ISO
9001:2015. The environmental engineering division has a quality
policy statement which serves as a guideline to its team. The cold
storage and logistics division has been implementing stringent
receiving disinfection procedures, which have been recognised by
the Government and the industry sector.

Our freight logistics division provides the highest standard of
logistic services to meet customers’ stringent requirements. It
is the first Hong Kong based global logistics service provider to
be awarded the Centre of Excellence for Independent Validators
in Pharmaceutical Logistics (CEIV Pharma), accredited by the
International Air Transport Association (IATA).

For our property management division, management of this division
discusses issues with supervisors and members of the Safety
Committee, and regularly provides updates to supervisors and/or
person-in-charge for maintaining the recognition of ISO 9001, ISO
14001, OHSAS 18001/ISO 45001 or to fulfil statutory requirements.
Supervisors are reminded to regularly review existing contractors’
terms and take necessary precautionary measures whenever
applicable.

Customers’ needs and satisfaction have always been the priorities
of the Group. Our information technology related businesses
provide comprehensive order processing, fulfilment and back
office services to consumers. Our customer service centre
provides a wide range of information and assistance to answer
customers’ inquiries and to offer repair and maintenance services
to consumers.

Intellectual property rights are our Company's vital assets, as
such, we have exercised our utmost endeavours to safeguard our
intellectual property rights and interests. The Group has also in
place certain procedures and safeguards, such as a Data Protection
Policy, to protect customers’ information from unauthorised
access, usage and leakage and to maintain their privacy. In addition,
all employees must respect copyrighted work, the Group is strongly
committed to compliance with relevant laws and regulations.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Operating Practices (continued)
Anti-Corruption

The Group upholds the highest standards of governance and ethics
and has in place a sound corporate governance system, including
but not limited to anti-corruption, business gifts and entertainment,
conflict of interest and data protection. The corporate governance
policies assure the adoption of standard procedures across the
Group and provides guidelines, and the Anti-Corruption, Business
Gifts and Entertainment Policy spells out the Group’s position in
relation to these issues clearly. The Group has a Whistle-Blower
Policy to provide channels for employees to raise concerns and
define a way to handle these concerns. All reports are confidential
to ensure the whistle-blowers are protected against victimisation.
In addition, the Group regularly invites the Hong Kong Independent
Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC"”) to provide related
training for staff members taking into consideration the nature of
and the different needs of our various business units. The Group
has arranged an online staff training this year which was provided
by ICAC. Relevant information was also arranged for the Board
to update and improve the standard of business ethics. Our new
staff orientation training also contains the topics of anti-corruption
and such policies are also made available to staff members in the
course of their execution of duties. During the year under review,
no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against the Company or its employees was reported.

During the year, several construction and engineering business
units of the Group participated in the “Construction Industry
Integrity Charter 2.0" jointly launched by the Development Bureau,
the ICAC and the CIC to implement an integrity management
system and enhance integrity.

Community
Community Investment

The Chevalier Group is unwavering in its dedication to advancing
corporate social responsibility and contributing to the welfare of the
community. We actively participate in various community services,
sponsor charitable endeavours, support educational programmes,
foster cultural and sports activities, and initiate environmental
protection projects. Additionally, we encourage our passionate
employees to join our volunteer team and contribute to spreading
goodwill in the community.

Our dedication and efforts in supporting the community have
garnered recognition. We have received the 10 Years Plus Caring
Company Logo awarded by the Hong Kong Council of Social Service
since 2011, reaffirming the Group's continuous effort to build a
caring community.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community (continued)
Community Investment (continued)

To support critical healthcare needs, the Chevalier Group co-
organised the annual Chevalier Blood Donation Day with the Hong
Kong Red Cross, in response to its appeal for blood donation to
replenish inventories for patients in need.

Education and Culture

Education holds great significance for the Chevalier Group,
while the cultivation of talent in Hong Kong is our foremost
priority. In 1998, the Group established the Chevalier Culture &
Education Foundation to foster cultural, academic, and educational
exchanges between Hong Kong and other countries to support
this commitment. To further support this cause, the “Chevalier
Scholarship Scheme for Employees’ Children” was introduced
in 2008. This initiative aims to assist the children of the Group's
employees in pursuing undergraduate studies locally in Hong Kong
or overseas universities while also encouraging them to unlock
their full potential. To date, a total of 21 children of employees have
benefited from this programme.

During the review period, the Chevalier Group has actively
partnered with various organisations, placing a particular focus
on youth development. One notable initiative was the “Future
Step-Up"” programme in collaboration with Share for Good,
New World Development Company Limited's large-scale crowd
donation platform, as a Strategic Partner. The Programme
provided comprehensive career guidance and diverse internship
opportunities to 100 young individuals from Small Group Homes,
enabling them to plan for their future at an early stage and
increase upward mobility. Striving to nurture young talent within
the construction industry, the Chevalier Group Scholarship for
full-time students in the Engineering Discipline of the Vocational
Training Council has been established since 2018. During the
review period, 40 outstanding engineering students were awarded
the Scholarship totalling HK$1 million in recognition of their
exceptional academic performance and dedication to advancing
their professional knowledge. To date, 200 students have benefited
from this scholarship programme. Additionally, a summer internship
programme was organised by the Chevalier Group, offering five
students from the City University of Hong Kong the chance to have
a taste of the daily operations of business units and supporting
department of the Group. We also gladly pledged our support to the
2023/24 Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Business Case
Competition as a Case Sponsor by offering real-life business cases
to over 400 university students to showcase their exceptional talent
and creativity. By participating in this competition, these young
individuals had the opportunity to apply their theoretical knowledge
to real-world business scenarios, fostering their critical thinking and
problem-solving skills.
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(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community (continued)
Community Investment (continued)
Education and Culture (continued)

To enhance the younger generation’s understanding of works
of property management, our property management division
responded to the Education Bureau's (EDB) “Business-School
Partnership Programme"” by organising workplace experience
activities for senior secondary school students. These activities
included visits to control rooms, building patrols, etc. By learning
beyond the confines of the classroom, students gained a wider
perspective of the commercial world and first-hand experience in
property management challenges, preparing them for a smooth
transition into the workplace.

Our steadfast dedication to fostering the development of local
arts and culture reflects our strong endorsement of the creative
community. As a Platinum Sponsor for Opera Hong Kong for over
seven years, we actively contribute to the progress and promotion
of the performing arts. The Chevalier Group also extended its
continuous support to the Hong Kong Chronicles Institute, assisting
in the compilation and publication of the Hong Kong Chronicles.
This significant endeavour captures the historical, economic,
cultural, social, and geographical evolution of Hong Kong from
ancient times, ensuring the preservation of our city's rich heritage
and traditions.

Sports and Environment

The Group is a long-time patron of the Hong Kong Jockey Club’s
Chevalier Cup Race Day and has sponsored the event for 28
consecutive years.

To showcase our dedication to social responsibility, we also
participated in a wide range of charitable sports activities, including
The Community Chest Corporate Challenge 2024, the Suicide
Prevention Services Charity Walk & Carnival 2023, “WELL DUNK!"
Charity Corporate 3x3 Basketball Tournament 2023 and Shanghai
Commercial Pok Oi Cycle for Millions 2023, etc. With the Group's
support and the active participation of our staff in these sports
initiatives, we demonstrated our unwavering commitment to social
responsibility, community engagement, wellness promotion and
charitable causes.
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RE-HERERBRE

(A) SOCIAL (CONTINUED)

Community (continued)
Community Investment (continued)
Sports and Environment (continued)

In addition to remaining a Silver member of the WWF-Hong Kong
Corporate Membership Programme 2023-2024, the Chevalier
Group has reinforced its commitment to sustainability during the
review period. The Group obtained a landmark Green and Social
Loan in Hong Kong from the HSBC GBA Sustainability Fund,
which was the first of its kind issued by the Fund in Hong Kong.
The loan proceeds is used to finance the construction of a co-
living accommodation that strives to meet the best practice of
BEAM Plus Platinum Certification, thus contributing to a green
environment. Meanwhile, the Group's subsidiary, Chevalier
(Construction) Company Limited has been the first construction
company in Asia to implement the S-Carbon digital carbon
management platform, which allows the Company to better
understand its suppliers’ greenhouse gas emissions levels and
encourages suppliers to work with the Company in reducing carbon
emissions. Chevalier Insurance Company Limited also pledged
its support to the Insurance Industry Climate Charter, supporting
Hong Kong's transition to a low-carbon economy and implementing
concrete actions against climate change under the Charter.

Volunteering

The Group actively fulfills its corporate social responsibility by
contributing to society through its corporate volunteer team -
“Chevalier Cares” and donations. During the year under review,
the Group launched various volunteer service activities to help the
disadvantaged communities and work towards building an even
more harmonious and inclusive society. We once again worked
closely with different non-profit organisations such as Evangelical
Lutheran Church of Hong Kong, Hong Kong Young Women's
Christian Association, Wai Ji Christian Service, and Hong Kong
Family Welfare Society to co-organise multiple volunteer activities.
These activities served various groups, including the elderly,
children with special education needs, mentally challenged persons
and low-income families, providing services to those in need. The
volunteer team contributed nearly 713 hours of voluntary work for
the aforementioned events during the year.
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (B) IRIB

Emissions

During the year, the Group recorded carbon emissions mainly
from its cold storage and logistics business. Please refer to the
table below which sets out the Group’s total carbon emissions, by
category, for the year.

Greenhouse gas emissions

29587

FA - AEEBRSOBRERELENR
BEHRBEEMYREL BEALSE
EIZERE D ARFE AR NE -
nﬁ/FﬁTﬁ

BERBHK

Tonnes of CO:ze
—HbxEE ()

Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions HE : ERREREIR 2,5620.55
Scope 2: Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions #5[E2 : LR R =R EHEN 5,581.36
Scope 3: Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions  #[E3 : AR =R N 51.24
Total greenhouse gas emissions MERBHREE 8,153.15

The carbon emission under scope 1 came from the consumption
of fuel used for the operation of our construction sites and our
corporate motor vehicles. Scope 2 covers carbon emissions
generated by the electricity purchased by our construction sites
and the cold storage and logistics business, and is the largest
carbon emissions of the Group, representing over 60% of the
total recorded greenhouse gas emissions. Electricity is also used
for air-conditioners and lighting of headquarter offices and other
workplaces.

To facilitate the Group's sustainable development strategy, the
cold storage and logistics business completed the chiller and
freezer facilities upgrades in both of its cold storage warehouses
in October last year, significantly decreasing greenhouse gas
emissions generated by the consumption of refrigerants. The Group
has also incorporated electric vehicles into our fleet to reduce our
carbon footprint.

Greenhouse gas emissions also came from our corporate motor
vehicles and trucks. In general, the key air pollutants generated
include nitrogen oxides (NO,), sulphur oxides (SO,), and respiratory
suspended particles (also known as Particulate Matter (“PM")).

Air emissions

Type of Air Pollutants ERSRYHER

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) AA/LWINO,)
Sulphur oxides (SO,) HEE(S0,)
Particulate Matter (PM) TR (PM)

& [E1 WK BERROR B R SR AR SE VR AT
BARRELERE  UWRAEBENARFA
B o HE2RERE BEMBRLEE
ERYMREREENE ﬁzwﬁﬁﬂz
WAREEEERZRER  (EF
RSB EEIE60% ° EajjJT
BB A = K B b B T i 5 92

M ERRBATH ©

RIEEASENAIFEERGE - <R
BMEERYBEBNEAFI0ATEK
TEREAEMLRE KR RZEF
& RIER A EE AR RL Bl E L
ZREREHEN AEBFEHEEHE
MAEBAER - AR DR E R ©

BERBHEMAKRERARAERR
B —RME EENFTEZRS
P2 K] ;‘Eﬁb%ﬂﬁ%(Nox) maE it
11 (SOx) & & F FE AL (TR 18 /3 RE KL )

(TPM1))
Emissions (kg)
BEHE(FR)

1,5649.74

REHK

2.35
115.04
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

Emissions (continued)
Air emissions (continued)

Waste is generated mainly from the disposal of materials from our
construction sites and the disposal of papers. All wastes are non-
hazardous and have been properly disposed of. The total amount of
waste generated is set out in the table below:

(B) R3% (&)

s (&)

REHEK(E)
BEYMELTERAREDBOMH R
MKREE - MEENMHIBESHEDZ
ZRE - MRILFAELNEMAE

Waste
Unit 2024
Category Al By 113
Construction wastes SRR tonnes M§ 23,831.00
Construction wastes intensity BEEHTE tonnes/project I,/ 78 B 1,036.13
Waste papers REHR tonnes ME 27.46

During the year under review, the Group did not violate any laws
and regulations in relation to emissions.

Nevertheless, we have implemented various energy saving
measures to help reduce our carbon emissions (please refer to the

“The Environment and Natural Resources” below).

Use of Resources

Our commitment to protect the environment is well reflected by our
continuous efforts in promoting green measures and awareness in
all business practices. During the year, resources consumed by the
Group are listed in the table below:

CIEEFR - AEEIWEEREGRAYER
EEDER AR -

AW SEEERSEAEREE - X
W BB R AR BE R (R 2B Tt [BRIB R
RAREIR])

BRER
SEHRBRENEAFERBRE
TERR PRER 1B M IR IR TG 1E M B Al P 15 A
FERDRB - FR - NEBHEED
BRFIINTE

Category

Electricity consumption EEE kWh T EL 13,938,911.00
Electricity intensity HEEERE kWh/project T E 4, 1A H 663,757.67
Water consumption FEKE ms 37 75 K 62,501.00
Water intensity FKERE m3/project 32 K, THH 4,464.36
Paper consumption FERE tonnes M@ 38.13

We have implemented various energy saving measures to help
reduce our resources consumption (please refer to the “The
Environment and Natural Resources” below).

SECERSEAEREE - AEBIM
LERBFE(FBLHE T XAlE [3RE
RRAER]) °

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group recognises the importance of saving energy, fully
utilising resources and preventing pollution. We are determined to
contribute to the sustainability of the environment by minimising
pollution that may be caused by the business cycle thereby
mitigating our impacts on the environment. We also strive to do our
best in our daily operations to help achieve the core corporate social
responsibility goals. The following are our targets:

e on carbon emissions: engage in green upgrading works and
increase green refurbishment investment to minimise carbon
footprint;

e on electricity consumption: increase investment in
environmental technology to promote sustainable usage, and
formulate a waste management plan and replace high energy
consumptions; and

e on waste reduction: formulate waste management and
recycling plan for promoting educating advocating sustainable
waste management practice.

During the year, we have established recycling stations in our
offices to collect recyclable materials such as paper, metal, and
plastic. Food waste processors were also installed in pantry
areas to reduce food waste. Additionally, we engaged recyclers
to regularly collect waste papers for recycling and arranged
environmental contractor to recycle and dispose of electronic waste
such as computer monitor and printers, and to collect used ink
cartridges and toner cartridges for recycling. To minimise waste
generation and improve energy efficiency, we replaced the old and
high energy-consumption lamps in office (such as halogen lamps
and T8 fluorescent tubes) with high-efficiency LED lights. Beyond
waste recycling management, we are gradually implementing
a paperless work model in our operations. This includes
promoting the use of electronic devices and encouraging online
dissemination of company information. These efforts demonstrate
our commitment to sustainable practices and environmental
stewardship.

We have implemented various energy-saving measures to reduce
energy consumption, including the installation of occupancy
and motion sensor and daylight sensor, the purchase of energy-
efficient appliances, and the retrofitting of electronic timers to
reduce electricity usage during non-office hours. To promote the
development of renewable energy in Hong Kong, several properties
under the Group have participated in the Feed-in Tariff (FiT) Scheme
and have installed renewable energy systems.
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

The Group is committed to the research and development of the
“Full MiC" solution. We place great emphasis on the improvement
and innovation of various technologies in order to improve
construction efficiency and quality of our construction projects. The
Group completed its first Full MiC elderly housing project - “Chung
Yuet Lau” at Jat Min Chuen in Sha Tin, representing a significant
milestone in our commitment to advancing MiC development in
Hong Kong. This project utilised a new building material “high
strength lightweight concrete” which greatly reduces the weight
of construction components in the “Steel-Concrete Hybrid-MiC”
module, reducing the wall weight of the building components by
40%. By leveraging MiC technology to customise the Electrical
and Mechanical and other components manufactured offsite at
workshops, we saved approximately 30% of construction time
compared to traditional building methods. This approach helps to
reduce on-site construction time, minimise dust and noise pollution,
and aligns better with sustainable development principles.

We are continuously improving construction technologies such as
Multi-trade Integrated Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing (MiMEP)
and MiC Lift, and we are applying MiC technology to another
significant project, Light Public Housing (LPH). This enables the first
batch of LPH to become Hong Kong's first Steel Full MiC high-rise
construction project expediting the construction of LPH safely.

In order to align with the goal of sustainable development, the
Group has adopted measures including noise control, waste water
discharge, dust control, and controlled chemical waste disposal
in its construction and engineering businesses. Some of our
group companies have obtained the ISO 14001 and ISO 50001
certifications, which also demonstrate our commitment to
environmental protection and energy management.
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(B) ENVIRONMENTAL (CONTINUED)

The Environment and Natural Resources (continued)

Our property management division has obtained the ISO 14001
certification since 2006 and is committed to enhancing
environmental awareness and promoting various recycling activities
through its managed estates. Activities were held for recycling
and for promoting green living lifestyle for residents and tenants
of properties managed by the Group in order to build a vibrant
sustainable community together with the residents. Housing
estates under the management of this division has actively
participated in different recycling activities organised by the
Environmental Protection Department which all demonstrated our
endeavour to promote environmental awareness and green living
lifestyle. In addition to waste recycling, the property management
division is also committed to promoting energy conservation.
During the year, several housing estates under its management
received Gold Award of “Top Saving in 2023" in the “Summer
Saver Rebate Programme” organised by CLP Power Hong Kong
Limited in recognition of their achievements in saving energy.

Apart from participating in environmental protection activities
organised by various organisations, the property management
division has also developed a platform of “Online Approval
System”, which has been fully implemented at the head office
and all managed sites. All procurement, service agreements
or maintenance works requisition forms can be submitted and
approved through this system. This not only enhances work
efficiency, but also effectively reduces the use of paper, keeping
pace with the new trend of paperless office.

Our insurance division also responded to the Hong Kong Federation
of Insurers’ call to sign up for the “Insurance Industry Climate
Charter”, actively addressing climate change and contributing to
the collective efforts for a sustainable future. During the year, we
continued to collaborate with our third-party consultant to actively
assess and develop climate change strategies and measures
based on the recommendations of TCFD, and to understand the
operational and financial impacts of different climate scenarios on
our businesses. At the same time, we conducted climate scenario
analysis in line with TCFD recommendations, considering potential
impacts on various business areas and developing plans to mitigate
and adapt to climate change. Additionally, we performed macro
assessments to identify climate-related risks associated with our
assets and operations and set various sustainability targets. We
are exploring ways to develop a climate change reporting that
aligns with TCFD recommendations. We will continue to monitor
the development of Government policies in our ESG efforts and
use our best endeavours to ensure that effective measures can be
established and implemented in a timely manner to comply with
relevant TCFD disclosure reporting requirements in the coming
year.
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CONTENT INDEX

KPls
BRENEE

A. Environmental
A BE

BRBX MR

RiE HEREAR

HESDRBRSIR

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

BRBRM (B  HEREAKERS) AR

Section/Remarks
B fEa

Aspect A1
BHEA

General disclosure

—REE

KPIAT.1
BREMERALY

KPIA1.2
RAREMIRIRAT.2

KPIA1.3
BAREMIERA1S

KPIAT.4
BRIEMIERAL4

KPI A1.5
FRIARMIRIRA1S

Emissions

958

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BRERRBZERBEN  MKRLIINOES BEREZREEYNE
EENBERETHETAREATENAREERANNER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

B kAR e -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit
of production volume, per facility).

ER(EE) ReRMEZ (BE2)RERBHNE A E) R(NER)
*F(ZZIJLA#EE B - BRRMEE) o

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate,
intensity (e.qg. per unit of production volume, per facility).
PESEERENEE A E) R (ER)ZE (N BES B -
HRiEE) o

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
ESEZEENAE UBE) R(NER)RE(NAGEEEN - &
BRI E) o

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.

WRATUMBHER B R AR ELA BRERRAOSR -

Emissions

797187

Emissions

19587

Emissions

79187

No hazardous waste was produced.

TEELRERRY -

Emissions

97187

The Environment and Natural Resources

BRERRRER

HEEREEERAR
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B HRREARS

KPls
BRENER
KPIA1.6

FRENIEIRALE

Aspect A2
BEA2

General disclosure

—RRE

KPI A2.1
BREMIERA2.1

KPI A2.2
PRERIRIRA2.2

KPIA2.3
PRIERMIRIRA2.3

KPI A2.4
FRIEMIERA2.4

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements | Section/Remarks
BRBRM (RE  HEREREERD) AT B BT

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, ~ Emissions; The Environment and Natural
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve  Resources

them. R - RERARABR
HRRBEEEREZRENN L A LARER R RAEE

FLERARRAOFER -

Use of resources

ERER

Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water and  The Environment and Natural Resources
other raw materials. RERRAER
BRUERER(DEER  KREMEME)BRR o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas  Use of Resources
or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production  &/RER

volume, per facility).

RENEASNERR/SHEHR(NE  fsib) EE(UTETRER
FEREE(WNAGESEN - BBEHIMEHE) o

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production  Use of Resources
volume, per facility). BIRGER
BREKERRE(MNSESEN - §RERMEHE) o

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to  The Environment and Natural Resources
achieve them. RERRAER
WAV MEEREANG B ERAEIEL ARG SR -

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit It is not a major issue for our business.
for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve (& JEAREE LKA F ERIE -

them.

HASKEVERAOR A B ERERE - ARV MAK G B ERAE

LR BRARRAOFER -

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KPIs Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements | Section/Remarks
BRENEE BRBRM (RE  HEREREERD) AT B BT

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if ~ Our operation does not involve significant
BREBIEEA2D applicable, with reference to per unit produced. use of packaging material.
HlmPrABRM RN EE (NS R(NER) BEEEMLE - SENEETSRAEBEABENH -

Aspect A3 The environment and natural resources

EEA3 BRERRARER

General disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the  The Environment and Natural Resources
—RRE environment and natural resources. RERRAER

REZTABRERAREREREAY EORE -

KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment ~ The Environment and Natural Resources
AR EIRIZA3.1 and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them. BERARER
HREBEDHRERARERNEAZ EREANER BB ENT
ijj o
Aspect A4 Climate Change
EBHEA4 RIEE (L
General disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related ~ The Environment and Natural Resources
—RIRE issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.  RENKXAER

HAREHDERAIEEHETAELFENEARKRBZTEORR

KPI'A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have  The Environment and Natural Resources
ARIERIEIEAL T impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions RENKAER
taken to manage them.

HAEERAREHETAELYENEARKNERSE - LEHTH -

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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KPIs
BRENEE
B. Social

B. 4%

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BRBRM (RE  HEREREERD) AT

Section/Remarks
BB

Employment and Labour Practices

EERSIEH
Aspect B1 Employment
EHB1 5

General disclosure

—RRE

KPIB1.1
FRIEMIERB1.1

KPIB1.2
PARIERMIEIRB1.2

Aspect B2
[EEB2

General disclosure
—fRE

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits
and welfare.

BREMEFE BRRER TESH - RE TERE Zxl-
REBAREMFBERENOEE - RETHETAREAYENIER
EERROINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or
part-time), age group and geographical region.

RUER - BRER(D2BIRE)  FRANRMRIDMESAH -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.
RIER - FRARKEREIDHIERRALE -

Health and safety
I rheea

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
ABRREZ2TEREIREEEHLBENGENHRETHET
ABEAYENABZEENRGINER -

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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(B R 5 TER
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EfR RS TER

Employment and Labour Standards
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RE -dE8RERKRE

KPls
BRENER

KPI B2.1
PR NEIRB2.1

KPI B2.2
BRIEWIEIZER2.2

KPIB2.3
BAIAMIEIRB23

Aspect B3
[EEB3

General disclosure

—RKE

KPI B3.1
FARIEMIERB3.1

KPI B3.2
BRI NIE1RB3.2

Aspect B4
B4

General disclosure

—RKE

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past
three years including the reporting year.

BEZF(BRERFR) FRTURNABRILE -

Lost days due to work injury.

AIBBAIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and
how they are implemented and monitored.

WRARANBERRER 21 AREBRTRERNE -

Development and training

BR R

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging
duties at work. Description of training activities.

AERMERET TEREMNARRKENRE - WlEIED -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee
category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RERIREEER(NSRERE +RERES)EASNKIIEERS
5 @

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

BHRIRERERNED - BRESTHIINTFIRE -

Labour standards
BT kA

Information on:

the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.
BRMIEETHRHSTORRERETHRTARTEAY ENEBER
RABIEVERS o

Health and Safety
BERZZ

Health and Safety
ERERZZ

Health and Safety
ERkZZ

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements | Section/Remarks
BRBRM (RE  HEREREERD) AT B BT

Development and Training

BRRIE

Development and Training

BRI

Development and Training

BRRIE

Employment and Labour Standards

EfR RS TR

HEEREEERAR
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KPIs Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements | Section/Remarks
BRENEE BRBRM (RE  HEREREERD) AT B BT

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid ~ Employment and Labour Standards
RREMIEIEBA child and forced labour. EfERS TR

it R ERNERARECET RAHST -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when Employment and Labour Standards
B mIERBA2 discovered. BB R T %8

HRARRERBERRRRARERARRO SR -

Operating Practices

B2l
Aspect B5 Supply chain management
JEEB5 HEgE R
General disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply ~ Supply Chain Management
—HRE chain. HEHER
BRBRERNRE R SRBRECE -
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Not applicable
PR EWIRIEBS. g S S WEEREE - NEH
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of ~ Supply Chain Management
BRIENIEEB5.2 suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how they are  ffE{#E 2
implemented and monitored.
HAARREAREENEN RERNTABEMNEEREE KR
BEHNNRTRERL % -
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social ~ Supply Chain Management
BRIENIEER5.3 risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and ~ ££JESEE 2

monitored.
HWEBRANEEETERGORERAERROEN - ARAEHRT
RERFE o
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KPls
BRENER

KPI B5.4
B RMIE1RBE.4

Aspect B6
[EEB6

General disclosure

—RKE

KPI B6.1
AR IR 1RB6.1

KPI B6.2
RASRAANIEIRB6.2

KPI B6.3
FARARIRIRB6.3

KPI B6.4
FARIEMIERB6.4

KPI B6.5
RSB AIEIRB6.5

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements | Section/Remarks
BRBRM (RE  HEREREERD) AT B BT

Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable ~ Supply Chain Management
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are  {EfEFE IR

implemented and monitored.

HRERERERRRELARRERRRENEL - AREBRITR

BEENE-

Product responsibility
EmEE

Information on: Product Responsibility
the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that EmRE T

have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and safety,

advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and

services provided and methods of redress.
BRMREEMNRENRERELZS  BE  RERLESEURENR
HENBRRETHETAREAZBOEBEERATINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for ~ Not applicable
safety and health reasons. TEA
EERRERERARTRLT 2 BRFIEMMABERNA AL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how  Product Responsibility
they are dealt with. EmET
BREMRNE MR RGO FEE DA REL 7% -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting  Product Responsibility
intellectual property rights. EmAT
i g R R R AR EREROER

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Not applicable
Rl E ERTAEREREKER - TER

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, how  Product Responsibility
they are implemented and monitored. EmRf

HHEEEHRERALRECR - URERRTRERTE -

HEEREEERAR
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KPls
BRENER

Aspect B7
EB7

General disclosure
—BEE

Hong Kong Stock Exchange ESG Reporting Guide Requirements | Section/Remarks
BRBRM (RE  HEREREERD) AT B BT

Anti-corruption
R&S

Information on: Anti-Corruption
the policies; and compliance with relevant laws and regulations that & E)5

have a significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,

fraud and money laundering.

BREMILER 9% RFRARBNBRRETHETABEAYE
HREENRBINER -

KPI'B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought — During the year, no such cases were
BRENIEIERT. against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the  reported.
outcomes of the cases. FR - WERERSRERR -
RERANEETASEESREVEEENR T FARENHA RF
DRER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, — Anti-Corruption
BRENIEIERT .2 how they are implemented and monitored. RES
WS RERERES  WRBERTRERRE o
KPI'B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. ~ Anti-Corruption
A KiEEeT3 HLER R 8 TIREORASE &S5
Community
it
Aspect B8 Community investment
[EEBS HERE

General disclosure
—fRE

KPI B8.1
s MIE1EBs.1

KPI B8.2
AR B AIE1RR8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the ~ Community Investment
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities #HREEE

take into consideration the communities” interests.
ARNHRZERTREEMEMREENRRASKEDHEERMRE

MEREVBIR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, ~ Community Investment
labour needs, health, culture, sport). HEEE
ETERER(0YE REEE  SIFK BE UL #E) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. Community Investment
EEIERABAER(NSERER) o HRRE

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ESEWRE

The Board presents to shareholders their annual report together with
the audited financial statements of the Company and of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the Group are construction and engineering,
property investment, property development and operations, healthcare
investment, car dealership, insurance and investment and others. Other
ancillary and supporting businesses of principal subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures that are integrated with the main businesses of the
Group are shown on pages 280 to 288.

The Group's revenue and results for the year ended 31 March
2024, analysed by operating segments, are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the businesses of the Group during the year, particulars
of important events affecting the Group that have occurred subsequent
to the year ended 31 March 2024 (if any), a description of principal
risks and uncertainties facing the Group and discussion on the Group’s
prospects are provided in the Letter to Shareholders on pages 14 to
16, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 17 to 23, Financial
Review on pages 24 to 29 and note 3 to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, discussions on the Group’s compliance with
relevant laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the
Group, relationships with its key stakeholders and environmental policy
are provided in the Corporate Governance Report and Environmental,
Social and Governance Report on pages 42 to 56 and pages 57 to 86,
respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 107. The Board
now recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK$0.14 (2023:
HK$0.28) per share payable in cash to shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Members of the Company on Thursday,
12 September 2024. Together with an interim dividend of HK$0.06
(2023: HK$0.10) per share paid on Friday, 22 December 2023, the total
dividends for the year amounted to HK$0.20 (2023: HK$0.38) per share.
Subject to the approval by shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting (the “AGM"), the proposed final dividend will be
payable in cash to shareholders on or about Friday, 20 September 2024.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
Register of Members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 23
August 2024 to Wednesday, 28 August 2024, both days inclusive,
during which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order
to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Standard Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday,
22 August 2024.

For determining entitlement to the proposed final dividend (subject
to the passing of an ordinary resolution by the shareholders of the
Company at the AGM), the Register of Members of the Company
will be closed from Wednesday, 11 September 2024 to Thursday, 12
September 2024, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer
of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed final
dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar
and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Standard Limited, 17/F., Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 10 September 2024.

SHARES ISSUED

Details of the shares issued by the Company during the year are set out
in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Movements in reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in note 36 and note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company’'s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to HK$1,915,324,000 (2023:
HK$3,448,208,000).

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Movements in investment properties of the Group during the year are
set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2024
are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY/FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial summary and financial review of the Group are shown on
pages 4 to 7 and on pages 24 to 29, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's revenue and purchases for the year attributable to the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers were less than 30%
respectively. None of the Directors, their respective close associates
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) or any shareholder (whom to the knowledge of the
Directors owns 5% or more of the issued share capital of the Company)
as at 31 March 2024 had any interest in the Group's five largest
customers and suppliers.

MAJOR PROPERTIES

Particulars of major properties of the Group as at 31 March 2024 are set
out on pages 37 to 41.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The Group employed approximately 3,600 full-time staff globally as at
31 March 2024. Total staff costs amounted to HK$1,521 million for the
year ended 31 March 2024. The remuneration policies of the Group are
reviewed periodically on the basis of the nature of job, market trend,
company performance and individual performance. Other staff benefits
include bonuses awarded on a discretionary basis, medical schemes
and retirement schemes.

The remuneration package of the Directors and the senior management
is based on their contribution to the performance of the Group and is
supervised by the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations of HK$2,076,700 to
charitable bodies.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Amended and Restated Bye-Laws although there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of Bermuda where the Company is
incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of the
Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company’'s Amended and Restated Bye-Laws, every
Director shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in
the execution of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has taken out insurance against the liability and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Group.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang (Chairman and Managing Director)
Mr. TAM Kwok Wing (Deputy Managing Director)

Mr. HO Chung Leung

Mr. MA Chi Wing

Miss Lily CHOW

Non-Executive Director
Mr. CHOW Vee Tsung, Oscar

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Chuen Liang, Charles (Retired on 28 August 2023)
Professor POON Chung Kwong

Mr. Irons SZE

Mr. SUN Leland Li Hsun

Ms. KWAN Angelina Agnes (Appointed on 28 August 2023)

In accordance with the Company’s Amended and Restated Bye-Laws,
Ms. Kwan Angelina Agnes, Mr. Kuok Hoi Sang, Miss Lily Chow and
Mr. Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar shall retire from office at the AGM and,
being eligible, may offer themselves for re-election. The non-executive
directors are subject to the same retirement requirements as the
executive directors. The biographical details of the Directors of the
Company as at the date of this report are set out in the “Management
Profile” section on pages 30 to 36.

DIRECTORS" MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Related Party Transactions”
in note 45 to the consolidated financial statements, no other
transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Company’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries was a party
or were parties and in which a director of the Company or his or her
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors have an interest in any business
constituting a competing business to the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEERE

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations,
within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"), which have
been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the
register to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO
or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in the Company - Shares

EERESTHRAEBZESES
RZZTE-_MF=ZA=+—H ' XRAFES
EHEESTBAEBERARRSHEBE EZE
(EERBBENFESTIEZFZS LKEEKS
([FBHREEED ) EXVE) 2 &K - 48
B S EEETESR D IRIEE %&%
iffwﬁﬂ%XV*B%7&%8"*B%D@$
%X%ZE ﬁ%@%ﬁﬁﬁftk
BHELHE MWMXWWE%@W%EZ
%mﬁﬁﬁ) EWLY ERARE-RE AV N/N
s E %&%f%ﬂ%%ﬂwﬁmﬁ%ﬁ
GreEmMAzERRAR iﬁﬁh
SFRIBRE AR T&H’é*“ﬁﬁzﬁ SR E
NN

AAFERS - RO

Numbers of ordinary shares held (Long Positions)

g ERROHE (FR)

Approximate

Personal Family percentage

Name of Directors Capacity interests interests Total of interest

EEH8 &4 BNz Rk my EEMA

0/0

Mr. KUOK Hoi Sang Beneficial owner 173,460 - 173,460 0.06
FgESLE BERFEAA

Mr. TAM Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 209,583 40,265 249,848 0.08
BT EnaA

Mr. HO Chung Leung Beneficial owner 40,000 - 40,000 0.01
Al RREE EREAA

Miss Lily CHOW

According to the disclosure of interests form filed by Miss Lily Chow, a
director of the Company, on 4 April 2023 (amendment to her disclosure
of interests form filed on 28 June 2021), 189,490,248 shares (62.76 %)
were held by her as one of the named executrixes of the Will dated
27 April 2009 of the late Dr. Chow Yei Ching (the “late Dr. Chow"),
and as one of the named executrixes of the Will dated 29 October
2015 (“2015 Will") of the late Dr. Chow, and both Wills are subject to
the determination of the High Court Probate Action HCAP 22/2019.
The Company has no comment on her capacity as named executrix
disclosed under the disclosure of interests forms however, it is noted
that there are references made by the Court of Appeal Hong Kong under
case reference CAMP 202/2021 [2023] HKCA 167 dated 8 February
2023 to the effect that any representation made by Miss Lily Chow to
third parties that she is acting in the capacity as an executrix would not
be correct after 29 June 2021 as Miss Lily Chow has stated in her court
pleading concerning the High Court Probate Action HCAP 22/2019 that
she does not intend to accept the office of executrixship of the 2015
Will pending the judgment in the said Action.
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DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company, no other person had interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which the Director was
taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in
the register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model
Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS® SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director offering for re-election at the AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within
one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract of significance concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into or subsisted
during the year.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes for the
benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined contribution
schemes which are registered under the Occupational Retirement
Schemes Ordinance (the “ORSO Schemes”) and Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes (the “MPF Schemes"”) established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December 2000. The ORSO
Schemes are funded by monthly contributions from both employees
and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to 7.5% of the employee’s
basic salary, depending on the length of service with the Group. For
members of the MPF Schemes, the Group contributes 5% of the
relevant payroll costs per employee, at a maximum of HK$1,500 per
month for the year ended 31 March 2024, to the mandatory contribution
of the MPF Schemes.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes in
countries or locations where the Group operates. The Group is
required to make defined contributions at rates calculated as a certain
percentage or sum of the monthly payroll.

The Group’s total contributions to these schemes charged to the
consolidated income statement during the year amounted to HK$37.40
million against which no forfeited contributions had been deducted.

Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company, the interests and short positions
of the persons or corporations in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company which have been disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

FTERR2ESER
RZZE-_WME=A=+—H0  gAQAE
ERESTHRABRA T ALTHEER
mﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%k@¢%%ﬁmmﬁ
BE R HAE GBI EXVENE2 KR35 EBEIIEX
ﬁ$£\\ﬁ&§§ ’ \naﬁEAZ’K j*ﬁ%un
%&Eﬁiﬂlﬂﬁﬂ%sseﬂﬂﬁfz <Rz
R NABIT ¢

Approximate

Number of ordinary shares percentage of
Substantial shareholders Capacity held (Long Positions) interest
FriFEiE R
FERR =47 REEE (&) EEMA
%
Dr. CHOW Yei Ching® (Deceased) Beneficial owner 189,490,248 62.76
JE IR E e (BEtE) BEHEAA
Ms. MIYAKAWA Michiko Interest of spouse 189,490,248* 62.76
BIESFRL BB R 2

@ Ms. Chow Wai Wai, Violet and Ms. Chow Vi Vi have each reported under
Part XV of the SFO that they have interest in the shares of the late Dr. Chow
each as an executrix of the estate of the late Dr. Chow and in addition, Ms.
Chow Wai Wai, Violet has also reported to have interests in 14,551,162
shares (held as to 104,607 shares as beneficial owner, and as to 14,446,555
shares through wholly-owned corporations) of the Company.

Miss Lily Chow has reported under Part XV of the SFO that she has interest
in the shares of the late Dr. Chow as an executrix of the estate of the late Dr.
Chow. According to the disclosure of interests form filed by Miss Lily Chow
on 4 April 2023 (amendment to her disclosure of interests form filed on
28 June 2021), 189,490,248 shares were held by her as one of the named
executrixes of the Will dated 27 April 2009 of the late Dr. Chow, and as one
of the named executrixes of the 2015 Will of the late Dr. Chow, and both
Wills are subject to the determination of the High Court Probate Action
HCAP 22/2019. The Company has no comment on her capacity as named
executrix disclosed under the disclosure of interests forms however, it is
noted that there are references made by the Court of Appeal Hong Kong
under case reference CAMP 202/2021 [2023] HKCA 167 dated 8 February
2023 to the effect that any representation made by Miss Lily Chow to third
parties that she is acting in the capacity as an executrix would not be correct
after 29 June 2021 as Miss Lily Chow has stated in her court pleading
concerning the High Court Probate Action HCAP 22/2019 that she does not
intend to accept the office of executrixship of the 2015 Will pending the
judgment in the said Action.

*  Under Part XV of the SFO, Ms. Miyakawa Michiko, the spouse of the late
Dr. Chow, is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of 189,490,248
shares held by the late Dr. Chow.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES
(CONTINUED)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to
the Directors and the chief executive of the Company, no other person
had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which were required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO, or, were directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the
nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all
circumstances at general meetings of the Company.

ARRANGEMENT FOR ACQUISITION OF SHARES OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company or any other body corporate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Company has adopted the applicable code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “"CG Code”)
contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules. In the opinion of
the Directors, the Company has complied with the code provisions
throughout the year ended 31 March 2024, except for the deviations
from code provision C.1.6 and C.2.1 of the CG Code which have already
been stated in the Corporate Governance Report of the Annual Report.
Detailed information on the Company’s corporate governance practices
is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to 56.

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Pursuant to Rule 13.51(B)(1) of the Listing Rules, changes in Directors’
biographical details since the date of the Company’s Interim Report
2023-2024 is set out as follows:

Mr. Irons Sze resigned as an independent non-executive director,
chairman of nomination committee, and member of each of the audit
committee and remuneration committee of Jianzhong Construction
Development Limited on 21 November 2023. He also resigned as
an independent non-executive director, chairman of the nomination
committee and member of the audit committee of ST International
Holdings Company Limited on 5 December 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change of Directors’
biographical details required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1)
of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Board, the percentage of the
Company’s share which is in the hands of the public exceeds 25% of
the Company’s total number of issued shares as at 26 June 2024, the
latest practicable date to ascertain such information prior to the issue of
this Annual Report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who shall retire and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

KUOK Hoi Sang

Chairman and Managing Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
1 M % BHEM RS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Chevalier International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 107 to 288, comprise:

e the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2024,

e the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

e the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

e the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

e the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

e the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BEITEBREEERQATRR

(RERZZMAK I BRAF])

=R
EMEETHRE

HIBREEER AR ATERB E2R])
FEMBARATHAE SEE)FIENE
107E288E MR & ISR » BIF

s RCZE_WE=A=+—BNEEM
BRRK

o BEROLFENRAYERES

s BEZHUIFEMNGAEEPER

s HEZRALFENGEEDZEEHEK

s BEZALFENKARESARER
K

s HAEMBHERME BREIEFK
REEMEREES -

BMHWER

BMRR  ZEERAMBERREREER
St AR RMMC(EAM B RELER)D
BEEmMHsRRT EEER_FT_NQ
FZA=T—HENEEUBRA LR EH#HE
ZHUEFENGAMBRALGEERDNR
B WEEREB(RAFEN) WRERE

RRNER

BZAPERBEBESHMRERMN(ER
BRTERD ETER o BRAIEZFEAT
AENEEESEARSE BT
EMBHRRAENET IBOPEE—F

BLFIHEE - RPMESHEEERERE
FiaE AR AINE TR IREER -

B

RIEFB SIS EMON(ERSETH
BERSFADUATERE TR - RABZL
K BEEE YEETTAFNEMEE
BEELE -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

e Revenue recognition from construction works;

e Valuation of investment properties;

e Recoverability of properties under development and properties for

sale; and

e |mpairment assessment of goodwill relating to certain senior
housing business in the United States of America.

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works

Refer to notes 4(g) and 6 to the Our procedures in relation to management'’s
consolidated financial statements recognition of revenue from construction

For the year ended 31 March e
2024, the Group recognised
revenue from construction works

of HK$3,886 million.

works included:

obtained an understanding of the
management's control procedures of
revenue recognition from construction
works and assessed the inherent risk of
material misstatement by considering
the degree of estimation uncertainty
and level of other inherent risk factors;

evaluated and tested, on a sample
basis, the key controls over the revenue
recognition from construction works;
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Revenue recognition from construction works (continued)

The recognition of revenue from
construction works involves a
high degree of management
judgement in relation to the
determination of estimated
total contract value, estimated
total contract costs, as well as
the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance
obligations. Some of the
construction works takes more
than one year to complete
during which the project scope
may change from time to time.
Management estimates the total
contract revenue and budgeted
cost at the commencement
of the contracts and regularly
reassesses these amounts
and the financial impact with
reference to the progress of
construction works.

Due to the existence of significant
management'’s judgement required
to determine the amount and
timing of revenue recognised from
construction works, we considered
it a key audit matter.

e in our testing of management's
estimation on the total construction
contract value, total construction costs
and the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance
obligations of each contract at the end
of the reporting period, we selected
a number of construction works on
a sample basis and performed the
following:

e discussed with management and
the respective project teams on the
progress of the projects;

e assessed management's
estimates in contract value and
construction costs with reference
to the supporting evidence such
as contracts with customers,
subcontractors and suppliers and
other correspondences;

e tested the construction costs
incurred for construction works
during the reporting period by
tracing to supporting documents
including architect’s certificates
issued to subcontractors and
invoices from subcontractors and
suppliers; and

e tested the value of work done to
architect’s certificates and other
correspondences as appropriate
and recalculated the progress
towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations based
on the latest management budget.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that management'’s judgement
and estimates in determining the amount
and timing of revenue recognised from the
construction works were supportable by the
available evidence.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 H AR
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED) BAREEIEIF(E)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed FEETEE R ET MR

the Key audit matter BETSHE

Valuation of investment properties RENENLE
Refer to notes 4(a), 8 and 14 Our procedures in relation to management's ERERAMT BMHUEREERKRE
to the consolidated financial valuation of investment properties included: WMERWiE4a) -8 MEMNFENRFE
statements 14 7=

The Group's investment
properties were carried at
HK$4,943 million as at 31 March
2024 and a net increase in
fair value of HK$3 million was
recognised in the consolidated
income statement. The Group's
investment property portfolio
comprises commercial,
residential and industrial
properties in the Mainland China,
Hong Kong and overseas.

Management has engaged
independent external valuers
to estimate the fair value of the
Group's investment properties as
at 31 March 2024 based on the
direct comparison approach and
income capitalisation approach,
where appropriate.

The valuation of investment
properties depends on certain
key assumptions that require
significant management
judgement, including
capitalisation rates, prevailing
market rents, comparable market
transactions and the adjustments
made.

Due to the existence of
significant management’s
judgement and assumptions used
in the valuation of investment
properties, we considered it a key
audit matter.

e obtained an understanding of the
management’'s processes of valuation
of the investment properties and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

e evaluated the independent valuers’
competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

e obtained the valuation reports and
discussed with the independent
external valuers to understand the
valuation methodologies and the
comparable market data used,;

e involved our internal valuation experts
to assess the appropriateness of
methodologies and the reasonableness
of the key assumptions used in the
valuation of a sample of properties
selected by comparing the data used
against the available market yields
for capitalisation rates, prevailing
market rents of leasing transactions
of comparable properties and recent
market transaction prices of properties
with comparable conditions and
locations, where appropriate; and

e checked the accuracy of input data, on a
sample basis, used by the independent
valuers including rental income by
agreeing them back to management'’s
records, historical information or other
supporting documents including key
terms of lease agreements and rental
income schedules.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that judgement and assumptions
used in management’'s valuation of
investment properties were supportable by
the available evidence.
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B M 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale

Refer to notes 4(e), 8, 24 and Our procedures in relation to management'’s
27 to the consolidated financial assessment on the recoverability of

statements

The Group had HK$2,105 million

and HK$770 million of properties o

under development and
properties for sale respectively
as at 31 March 2024. The
Group’s development properties
portfolio comprises completed
properties and properties under
development in the Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

Management assessed the
recoverability of properties under
development and properties
for sale based on an estimation
of the net realisable values
of the underlying properties
which involves analyses of
the current market prices of
comparable properties at similar
locations, and costs to be
incurred to complete and sell
the developments and where
applicable made reference to
the valuation report from the
independent external valuer.

properties under development and
properties for sale included:

obtained an understanding of the
management’s control procedures
of recoverability assessment of the
properties under development and
properties for sale and assessed the
inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation
uncertainty and level of other inherent
risk factors;

evaluated and tested, on a sample
basis, the key controls over the
property development cycle; and

assessed the reasonableness of key
assumptions used in management'’s
estimation of the net realisable values,
on a sample of properties selected,
including:

e compared estimated selling prices
to the contracted sales prices of
the underlying properties or to
recent market transaction prices
of comparable properties at similar
locations, where applicable;

e compared total costs to complete
and sell the properties to the latest
approved budgets and checked
those budgets to supporting
documents such as suppliers’
contracts.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B M 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Recoverability of properties under development and properties for sale

(continued)

Due to the existence of
estimation uncertainty and
management’'s judgement in
assessing the recoverability of
properties under development
and properties for sale, we
considered it a key audit matter.

e For property projects with independent
valuation reports,

e evaluated the independent valuer's
competence, capabilities and
objectivity;

e obtained the valuation report and
discussed with the independent
valuer to understand the valuation
methodologies and the comparable
market data used; and

e involved our internal valuation
experts to assess the
appropriateness of methodologies
and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuation
of a sample of properties selected
by comparing the data used
against the available recent market
transaction prices of properties
with comparable conditions and
locations.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that management'’s judgement
in assessing the recoverability of properties
under development and properties for sale
were supportable by the available evidence.
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B M 2B AR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed
the Key audit matter

Impairment assessment of goodwill relating to certain senior housing
business in the United States of America

Refer to notes 4(c), 8, 16 and
39 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group had HK$530 million
of goodwill (before current year
impairment charge) relating to
certain senior housing business in
the United States of America as
at 31 March 2024. Management
assessed whether goodwill has
suffered any impairment by
assessing recoverable amounts
of cash generating units (“CGU")
or groups of CGUs, being the
higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value-in-use thereof.

Out of the total amount of
goodwill, the estimated
recoverable amount in relation
to the group of CGUs with a
goodwill of HK$501 million was
determined based on value-in-
use calculations. Based on the
assessment, HK$84 million of
impairment was made for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

Management's value-in-
use calculations use cash
flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by
management which involve
the use of judgement applied
by management such as the
determination of revenue growth
rate, terminal growth rate and
discount rate.

Due to the existence of
estimation uncertainty and
management judgement in
the impairment assessment of
goodwill relating to certain senior
housing business in the United
States of America using value-in-
use calculations, we considered it
a key audit matter.

The procedures performed to assess the
methodologies and assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment
of goodwill are summarised below:

e obtained an understanding of
the management’s processes of
the impairment assessment and
assessed the inherent risk of material
misstatement by considering the
degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors;

e assessed the appropriateness of
methodologies used in preparing the
impairment assessment;

e agreed the input data to supporting
evidence on a sample basis such as
historical results and financial budgets
approved by management;

e assessed the reasonableness of
key assumptions such as revenue
growth rate, terminal growth rate and
discount rate applied by management
including comparing the current year
actual results with the prior year
forecast and comparing to available
market information, to assess the
reasonableness of management
forecasts; and

e performed sensitivity analysis on
the key assumptions adopted in the
impairment assessment to understand
the impact of reasonable changes
in assumptions on the recoverable
amounts.

Based on the procedures performed, we
considered that the assumptions used by
management in the impairment assessment
of goodwill based on value-in-use
calculations were supportable by available
evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chu Ho Kwan Raphael.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
A W&

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2024 2023
“ENEF —E=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
M BT T BT T
(Restated)
(&&&EY)
Revenue 'PN 6 8,196,207 7,134,302
Cost of sales SHERK AR (7,341,510) (6,288,035)
Gross profit EAH 854,697 846,267
Other income HA 7 92,783 124,195
Other (losses)/gains, net Hip(Ei8) ek - 258 8 (507,063) 25,231
Selling and distribution costs $HE RACSHR AN (199,262) (194,007)
Administrative expenses T (395,643) (394,993)
Operating (loss)/profit L (BR),EF (154,488) 406,693
Share of results of associates Fr{hBt & N e 28 18 169,739 173,859
Share of results of joint ventures Fi{ha &S 19 (49,127) (49,355)
(33,876) 531,197
Finance income B AU 9 89,706 52,454
Finance costs M%ER 9 (217,082) (137,212)
Finance costs, net BIISER - F5 9 (127,376) (84,758)
(Loss)/profit before taxation AR (R A 10 (161,252) 446,439
Taxation 18 11 (161,512) (153,784)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(EB) &F (322,764) 292,655
Attributable to: EiET
Shareholders of the Company NN 3 (370,390) 257,568
Non-controlling interests FEPE AR R = 47,626 35,087
(322,764) 292,655
(Loss)/earnings per share BR(ER) BA
— basic and diluted (HK$ per share)  —E KRS (GREE) 12 (1.23) 0.85

The notes on pages 117 to 288 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

e EEWE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive (expenses)/
income for the year

Items that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss

Exchange difference attributable
to non-controlling interests on
translation of operations of
overseas subsidiaries

Change in fair value of investments

at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Fair value surplus of property,
plant and equipment upon transfer
to investment properties

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange difference on translation of

operations of overseas subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures

Fair value adjustments on the
derivative financial instruments
designated as cash flow hedge

Other comprehensive expenses for
the year, net of tax

Total comprehensive expenses for
the year

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Note:

FE(BR),EF

FEHMEE (X)W

TEENBREEBRENIAR

BEFINTB R 2 EBY
IR PRE R Z INE
BER

F D f (B3I A B4 2 E 2
BB B E MDA EE

X - BEMRRBERERE
WMER 2 AAERR

HETEENBEZEENEE

BEBIIHE LR - BE QT
REELEZEBMELZ
SNEH B ERE

EERREMELPITE
MBI ANARBFE

FEEMEE N @ BRHIEZ

FEZEXHAR

e
AR ABE
SRR RS

ltems shown within other comprehensive (expenses)/income are disclosed net

of tax.

The notes on pages 117 to 288 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2024 2023
—EmF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Restated)

(&&&E5)

(322,764) 292,655
(13,606) (23,689)
4,061 (37,148)
13,940 30,632
(179,914) (295,166)
= (65)
(175,519) (325,436)
(498,283) (32,781)
(532,303) (44,216)
34,020 11,435
(498,283) (32,781)

MEE -

REMEE(ZH),MEHTR2IEB Ty RMNR

DASEES G

F117EE288B 2 HIE
RZHBREM -

iR MR



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

mmr:/ji%ﬂﬁZEEE

As at 31 March 2024

R-ZZE-_MF=A=+—H

As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—E-mE —ET-=F —E-F
=A=t+-A8 =H=+—H MA—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz BT T BETT BT T
(Restated) (Restated)
(E5) (s&E=5)
Non-current assets FRBEE
Investment properties REME 14 4,943,096 4,765,251 4,749,247
Property, plant and equipment M - BRE K& 15, 29(a) 2,743,653 3,049,930 3,377,007
Goodwill EES 16 513,831 605,419 634,564
Other intangible assets HivEFEE 17 19,668 19,667 26,955
Interests in associates /NI 3 18 741,397 720,543 676,946
Interests in joint ventures RELEZER 19 961,002 1,083,636 1,193,344
Investments at fair value through &2 4 (B AEHH
other comprehensive income 2HEREERE
’E 21 54,151 50,204 91,738
Investments at fair value through 2R EF|ABEE
profit or loss BREZIRE 22 871,908 943,012 750,707
Investments at amortised cost R AR 2
KE 23 209,492 214,113 101,800
Properties under development BRBYE 24 187,274 197,465 214,449
Deferred tax assets ELERIEEE 37 62,503 63,607 65,989
Amounts due from JE I FE 42 s e s R R
non-controlling interests 20 10,625 42,222 47,183
Reinsurance contract assets BRBRAEYGEE 33(b) 41,804 43,373 27,602
Other non-current assets HiIEReHEE 25 186,748 83,237 76,841
11,547,152 11,881,679 12,034,372

HEEREEERAR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

A BRI R

As at 31 March 2024
RZZE-_mME=A=+—H

As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—BoE S —B__F
=H=+—H =ZA=+—H MA—H
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
iz BETT BETT BT T
(Restated) (Restated)
(gE5) (s&E5)
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from associates FEMCE & A R)RRFR 18 30,907 19,015 25,242
Amounts due from joint ventures  JEWA EERN 19 135,894 109,649 102,263
Amounts due from eI R A A AR X
non-controlling interests 20 35,610 32,771 33,031
Investments at fair value BAREHABR
through profit or loss REZIE 22 839,894 615,241 484,665
Investments at amortised cost RE KA IR 2
rE 23 304,237 38,393 -
Inventories FE 26 222,572 297,841 304,138
Properties for sale FEYHE 27 770,019 1,008,031 1,086,268
Properties under development LRy 24 1,917,266 1,899,043 1,482,036
Debtors, contract assets, FEWERR - B4
deposits paid and prepayments BE  BAFH
e REANHE 28 1,996,842 1,697,291 1,634,215
Derivative financial instruments TEFKETA 30 - 796 65
Reinsurance contract assets ARBRENEE 33(b) 68,432 = 8,840
Prepaid tax SEURE 23,473 26,802 21,947
Bank balances and cash RITBEGF RS 31 2,472,257 2,502,637 2,667,092
8,817,403 8,247,510 7,849,802
Assets held-for-sale BELESE - = 2,913
8,817,403 8,247,510 7,852,715

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

4 A
7 N |

B HE AR O R

Note
iz
Current liabilities REEE
Amounts due to joint ventures BRERCERR 19
Amounts due to non-controlling FARE RN Fati b
interests 20
Derivative financial instruments TTHEMBIA 30
Creditors, bills payable, deposits JENBRRR - A
received, contract liabilities, =B BREA
accruals and provisions Ee  BRAE-
BIRE R KEE 32
Insurance contract liabilities RRELMAE 33(a)
Current income tax liabilities EHMEHAE
Bank and other borrowings RIT R EAE R 34
Lease liabilities HEBE 29(b)
Net current assets REEEFE
Total assets less current BEERTRBEE

liabilities

As at 31 March 2024

R-ZZE-_MF=A=+—H

As at As at As at

31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—E-NE —E-=F —E-—fF
=H=+—H —A=t+—H mA—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETT BT
(Restated) (Restated)

(&E7)) (& E7))

17,665 9,576 13,162
259,233 259,347 259,833
425 - 47
3,062,000 2,968,571 2,773,336
364,710 305,263 65,786
110,691 101,085 89,210
1,044,471 900,334 2,425,438
19,105 18,195 21,293
4,878,300 4,562,371 5,648,105
3,939,103 3,685,139 2,204,610
15,486,255 15,566,818 14,238,982
HtEABREEFRAR

2024 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R B ARR AR

As at 31 March 2024
RZTZME=A=+—8H

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Shareholders' funds
Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests

Insurance contract liabilities
Bank and other borrowings
Lease liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total equity and non-current
liabilities

Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2024 and signed on its

behalf by:

KUOK Hoi Sang
gt
Director

EE

The notes on pages 117 to 288 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.

BAK
AR
i

BRE®
Sy

BExE

FRBEE
ANE e

REeENAE
RITRE A {E
HEARE
BERBRE

BEERFERDEE

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

AR X

E

As at As at As at
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—E-mEF —EI=F —E-CF
=H=+—H =A=+—H” mA—H
Note HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FsE BT T BETT BT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&=7) (&=E=5)
35 377,411 377,411 377,411
36 9,407,178 10,049,462 10,229,546
9,784,589 10,426,873 10,606,957
557,747 606,889 637,218
10,342,336 11,033,762 11,244,175
20 270,193 254,225 239,187
33(a) 904,789 781,842 669,274
34 3,426,434 2,980,794 1,594,462
29(b) 63,157 78,026 87,941
37 479,346 438,169 403,943
5,143,919 4,533,056 2,994,807
15,486,255 15,566,818 14,238,982

KEEZeN S _WMENA-+/NHi#

o WHTIEERREE

HO Chung Leung
A RER
Director

EF

F117EE288H 2 W HIE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

CAERBBR

Restated at 1 April 2023

(Loss)/profit for the year

Change in fair value of investments
at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Fair value surplus of property, plant
and equipment upon transfer to
investment properties

Exchange difference on translation of

operations of overseas subsidiaries,

associates and joint ventures

Total comprehensive (expenses)/
income for the year

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Acquisition of additional interest
in a subsidiary from a
non-controlling interest

At 31 March 2024

R-B-=FNA-BAKEJ

FE(B1R),/ a7l
RARBEIAE 2 ERE
REZRENAAELZS

¥ BELREERERE

WERZ ARERR
BEBIIHEBAR - BELQF
FRELRIEBMELZ
SNEE S ERR
FER2E(ZH), K

Gt

BEREE

BN T IR S

A —FF R R 2 W — PR B
NRVEIMED

R-ZZB-WE=H=+—H

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to

FEih R
Shareholders Non-
of the controlling Total
Company interests equity
ERAERER FERER s
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETR BETR BETR
10,426,873 606,889 11,033,762
(370,390) 47,626 (322,764)
4,061 - 4,061
13,940 - 13,940
(179,914) (13,606) (193,520)
(532,303) 34,020 (498,283)
(102,656) - (102,656)
- (54,002) (54,002)
(7,325) (29,160) (36,485)
9,784,589 557,747 10,342,336
HimBEEARAR

2024 3R
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

Equity attributable to
FE(L R
Shareholders Non-
of the controlling Total
Company interests equity
iN/NE] )L 33 IR =S s
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEETIT BT IT BT T
At 1 April 2022, as previously R-ZE-_-“HIAF—H >
reported RER2H 10,589,375 637,218 11,226,593
Impact of initial adoption of BRI REERFEN TR
HKFRS 17 (note 2(a)(iv)) e 2 (i aE2(a)(iv) 17,582 - 17,582
Restated at 1 April 2022 R-ZE-—FNA—-HLKSJ 10,606,957 637,218 11,244,175
Profit for the year (restated) FERMN(EF) 257,568 35,087 292,655
Change in fair value of investments BAREHIAEM2EKE
at fair value through other REZRENARER
comprehensive income (37,148) = (37,148)
Fair value surplus of property, M - BERREEEE
plant and equipment upon transfer WREMER 7 AR ERS
to investment properties 30,595 37 30,632
Exchange difference on translation #EFINIB AT ~ B AT
of operations of overseas BREMEZEBREEZ
subsidiaries, associates and HNIE = 58
joint ventures (295,166) (23,689) (318,855)
Fair value adjustments on the EERARERELHFNITE
derivative financial instruments FHTENRALEAE
designated as cash flow hedge (65) = (65)
Total comprehensive (expenses)/ FE2A(ZE) Wk
income for the year (restated) (&) (44,216) 11,435 (32,781)
Dividends paid BRI E (135,868) = (135,868)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT IR R 2 A B
interests = (41,764) (41,764)
Restated at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=%=H=+—H
KES 10,426,873 606,889 11,033,762

The notes on pages 117 to 288 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
an\ Eﬁﬁl)lbié‘:{

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_NF=A=+—HILFE

2024 2023
—EB-EF —E-=fF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
ihg=2 BT T BT T
Operating activities R
Cash generated from operations RKEEEZRE 38(a) 30,160 213,933
Interest paid on bank overdrafts, RITBEX ~ — e ER
a non-controlling interest and ARIRIT R EAMERZ
bank and other borrowings BT & (177,511) (133,463)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEAEBZEHNFE (3,790) (4,058)
Profits tax paid BB TSR (99,581) (92,449)
Profits tax refunded FEFRR 4,923 8,981
Net cash used in operating ARKEXER CEEFEE
activities (245,799) (7,056)
Investing activities REEK
Interest received B U H & 85,177 52,454
Dividends received from BUE &R R 2 RS
associates 152,118 116,749
Dividends received from BEEEPEZRE
joint ventures 38,588 39,513
Additions to investment properties REIREWE (2,585) (85)
Purchases of property, BEYE  BERIE&E
plant and equipment (116,819) (162,851)
Proceeds from disposal of HEME  BMEMREZ
property, plant and equipment FriSsk18 11,865 11,232
Net cash inflow from disposal of HE—BLEREERZ
a senior housing business BHemAFRE 38(b) - 132,795
Purchases of other intangible EEEMEREE
assets (2,631) (1,947)
Advances to associates mEE N RIFIEZ BER (26,092) -
Repayments from associates KEHE AR ZBERE - 6,227
Advances to joint ventures AEETEEZER (26,486) (9,977)
Repayments from joint ventures KEEEEZBERIE 8,506 -
Proceeds from disposal of HEZ AR BT AEM
investments at fair value through PEWRREEZIREZ
other comprehensive income P18 3IR = 4,291
Increase in an investment at R HEK AR 2
amortised cost &ﬁiﬁﬁbﬂ (276,611) -
Decrease/(increase) in unpledged =@ A& B 2 EIE
bank deposits with original fETTTS_L/TA/JEZ L,/ (38h0)
maturity more than three months 394,032 (464,712)

Net cash from/(used in) investing HH (HAR)REXHK>
activities REeFHE 239,062 (276,311)

RTEMEMERAT 115
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

II/T EE%/)H:E%

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

Financing activities
Dividends paid

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests

Drawn down of bank and other
borrowings

Repayments of bank and other
borrowings

Payments of lease liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in pledged
bank deposits

Acquisition of additional interest
in a subsidiary from a
non-controlling interest

Net cash from/(used in) financing
activities

Increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Effect of changes in foreign
exchange rates

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

Analysis of balances of cash
and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash
Less: Pledged bank deposits

Unpledged bank deposits
with original maturity
more than three months

The notes on pages 117 to 288 are integral parts of these consolidated

financial statements.
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2024 2023

—E_OF —Eo=F

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B BT T ST T
(102,656) (135,868)

(46,816) (41,764)

2,786,168 4,415,477

(2,198,754) (4,508,804)

(16,151) (25,280)

(18,116) 137,499

(29,160) =

374,515 (158,740)

367,778 (442,107)

2,007,183 2,498,851
(22,180) (49,561)

2,352,781 2,007,183

31 2,472,257 2,502,637
(23,936) (5,702)
(95,540) (489,752)

2,352,781 2,007,183
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e RN

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chevalier International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a
public listed company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability.
The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and 22nd Floor, Chevalier Commercial
Centre, 8 Wang Hoi Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong respectively.
The Company has its shares listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding while
the activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 47 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar, which is the same as the functional currency of
the Company. The consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2024.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless
otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“"HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). These financial
statements also complied with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) and the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by
the revaluation of investment properties, investments at fair
value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI") and
financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative
financial instruments) at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVPL"), and the actuarial valuation of reinsurance contract
assets, insurance contract liabilities and long service payment
provision.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

—BER
HIBBREEBRAR(TART])
A—BAR LMW EBEREFMK
NSZERRAR c ARAFEMME
BRFELEMB 2D R A
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda & && 1L
BEERFESHRETEERL22E -
ERMREEHERIFAERA A
£

ARARZEBEBEAIREER  mE
TEMBRARZERING AT HBR
RWFE4AT -

WEEEPMERREEE5 - B
REIZNEEEEIER - NaR A B
RERZ-_ZE_MFNAZ+HEE
EEHERM -

EXRSHEESR
RENGEUMBREARABZIENS
ATHCREININT - BB B AN - it
EHRREHBERANZINZEFE -

(a) MREE
AEB 2GR BHRRDIRES
BEMAG([EEGFMA
2 Rk 2B EMEHRE LR
(TBEMBEREER R - it
EUBHHRRNTAEBB(RAK
BIN(FE6228) 2 WEREREE
BMEaRHMARDAES LWH
A2 ERBERE - WEHEM
KR THIRE L R AME I AR %L
YREREME BRAAEIIA
Hizms ([ RanBIIAR
2 EWRE ) RIEZIRE I Rz
[REFIABSE(RAIAEBEIA
B DREZUBEEMMBR
B(BETEMBIR)2EM
URBREEWEE  RRAKH
BEREREREEBEBER
BEfmEET -

REBEVWBREENFER &
EUBHmRERERAR LA
FHEE WEREEEENTA
SEEERZBRETEREH
B - SREMBBRMEARE T B
REBAHEBHEMEZRE » RE
EHHEAMBHRR]IFLBEARR
Kbt 2B

HiEBREEFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) MEE%E(H)

(i) New standard and amendments to standards that are
effective for the Group’s financial year beginning on 1
April 2023

The HKICPA has issued the following new standard and
amendments to standards for the financial year of the
Group beginning on 1 April 2023:

e HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
(amendments), “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

e HKAS 8 (amendments), “Definition of Accounting
Estimates”

e HKAS 12 (amendments), “Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction”

e HKAS 12 (amendments), “International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules”

e HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and February
2022 amendments to HKFRS 17), “Insurance
Contracts”

Except for the adoption of HKFRS 17 disclosed in note
2(a)(iv), the adoption of the above amendments to
standards neither have significant impact on the Group's
consolidated results and financial position nor any
substantial changes in the Group’s accounting policies and
the presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(ii) Amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective and have not been
early adopted by the Group

The following amendments to standards and interpretation
have been issued but are not yet effective for the financial
year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2023 and have not
been early adopted:

e HKAS 1 (amendments), “Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current” and “Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants” '

e HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 (amendments), “Supplier Finance
Arrangements” '

e HKAS 21 (amendments), “Lack of Exchangeability” 2

e HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (amendments), “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture” @

e HKFRS 16 (amendments), “Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback” !

e HK Int 5 (revised), “Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause” '

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

The Group anticipates that the application of the
amendments to standards and interpretation that have
been issued but are not yet effective may have no material
impact on the results of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

2 BEAEHBERES(HE)

(a) HmAEZ (M)
(iii) R EFMASEREE LR

(iii) New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications

120

of the abolition of the ORSO/MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism

In June 2022, the Government of the Hong Kong SAR
gazetted the Hong Kong Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May
2025 (the “Transition Date"”). Once the Amendment
Ordinance takes effect, an employer can no longer use
any of the accrued benefits derived from its mandatory
contributions to mandatory provident fund (“MPF") scheme
or certain portion of the accrued benefits derived from
its contribution to the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (“ORSQ") schemes to reduce the long service
payment (“LSP") in respect of an employee’s service
from the Transition Date (the abolition of the “offsetting
mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect of the service
before the Transition Date will be calculated based on
the employee’s monthly salary immediately before the
Transition Date and the years of service up to that date.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published the captioned
accounting guidance relating to the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism. In particular, the guidance indicates
that entities may account for the accrued benefits
derived from mandatory MPF contributions and ORSO
contributions that are expected to be used to reduce the
LSP payable to an employee as deemed contributions by
that employee towards the LSP.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has applied the above
HKICPA guidance and changed its accounting policy in
connection with its LSP liability.

The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not have a
material impact on the Group’s profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the Group's and the Company's
financial position as at 31 March 2023.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

&/ BESYHTRIRESH
HETEEEHNFHED

RZEZ_FA - BEF
RIFTIHR @ BT IR A #2022
F R KRR EEM (KB
ZHE) (B ET) & B Y ([ FT 15
Bl IER_ZE-_RFHR
A—B(&EH 8 ])8B4ER-
—BEETEN T AER - B
EAABEAERSIEATE
& ([BE® ]) 5T 258 6l 1E
HEAMEEER I
BRARFFELAES(TAES])
FrEIEREAN RE S
HETEH - UKEEE A E
#il B #E 52 4 &Y AR 7% T EE A A
KRS (TRERBES 1)
(HUH TSR H1 1) o ppoh -
| B R e RS T E A&
MEERG S HREEES
HIERIEEM AFHREEZ
BRI FEFH -

R_ZE-_=FtH FFEZ
=TAD A & gt BUH B ) IR
 EM g5t ES| o ZESIL
HIgL  EREAUNEEBES
FA R 1K 85 FE 5 R B A & BB AR
Bez BB R R
NEEHRHFNREERR A
EEHRPRBS AR o

A3 E ) [ MR EROH 5 % ) Y
BEE2k AKECDEARL
AEESHM RGNS
THERBRBEEEENR
HEedt xR -

B SH 8 0o i ) 3 4 Y AR S
HE-_ZT-_=F=A=+—
BIEFENBHEURAEE
EARRBR_BE-_=F=A4
=+ HYBRAEREKR

S 488
= °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) fmAEZ (M)
(iv) R EBUBHREEFE17

(iv) Summary of key changes in accounting policies

resulting from adoption of HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February 2022 amendments to HKFRS
17), “Insurance Contracts”

HKFRS 17 replaces HKFRS 4 “Insurance Contracts” for
the financial year of the Group beginning on 1 April 2023.
The Group has restated comparative information for 31
March 2023 and 1 April 2022 and applied the transitional
provisions in Appendix C to HKFRS 17. The nature of the
changes in accounting policies can be summarised as
follows:

(I)  Changes to classification and measurement

The adoption of HKFRS 17 did not change the
classification of the Group's insurance contracts.
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principles for the recognition and measurement of
insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts
held by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) Summary of key changes in accounting policies
resulting from adoption of HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February 2022 amendments to HKFRS
17), “Insurance Contracts” (continued)

(I)  Changes to classification and measurement (continued)

Under HKFRS 17, the Group's insurance contracts
issued and reinsurance contracts held are all
eligible to be measured by applying the Premium
Allocation Approach (“PAA”). The PAA simplifies the
measurement of insurance contracts in comparison
with the general model in HKFRS 17. The measurement
principles of the PAA differ from the ‘earned premium
approach’ used by the Group under HKFRS 4 in the
following key areas:

The liability for remaining coverage reflects
premiums received less deferred insurance
acquisition cash flows and less amounts
recognised in revenue for insurance services
provided.

Measurement of the liability for remaining
coverage includes an adjustment for the time value
of money and the effect of financial risk where
the premium due date and the related period of
services are more than 12 months apart.

Measurement of the liability for remaining
coverage involves an explicit evaluation of risk
adjustment for non-financial risk when a group of
contracts is onerous in order to calculate a loss
component (previously these may have formed part
of the unexpired risk reserve provision).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) Summary of key changes in accounting policies
resulting from adoption of HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February 2022 amendments to HKFRS
17), “Insurance Contracts” (continued)

(I)  Changes to classification and measurement (continued)

Measurement of the liability for incurred claims
(previously claims outstanding and incurred-but-
not reported (“IBNR") claims) is determined on a
discounted probability-weighted expected value
basis, and includes an explicit risk adjustment
for non-financial risk. The liability includes the
Group's obligation to pay other incurred insurance
expenses.

Measurement of the asset for remaining coverage
(reflecting reinsurance premiums paid for
reinsurance held) is adjusted to include a loss-
recovery component to reflect the expected
recovery of onerous contract losses where such
contracts reinsure onerous direct contracts.

Measurement of the asset for incurred claims is
now based on discounted cash flows based on
estimates for the timing and amount if expected
claims settlement cash flows and includes an
explicit risk adjustment for non-financial risk.

The Group capitalises insurance acquisition cash
flows for all product lines and allocates the acquisition
cash flows to groups of insurance contracts issued or
expected to be issued using a systematic and rational
basis.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEZ

“HFE=ZA=1+—HLLFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued)

(iv) Summary of key changes in accounting policies
resulting from adoption of HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February 2022 amendments to HKFRS
17), “Insurance Contracts” (continued)

(1)

(1)

Changes to classification and measurement (continued)

Insurance acquisition cash flows include those that are
directly attributable to a group and to future groups
that are expected to arise from renewals of contracts
in that group. Where such insurance acquisition cash
flows are paid (or where a liability has been recognised
applying another HKFRS standard) before the related
group of insurance contracts is recognised, an asset for
insurance acquisition cash flows is recognised. When
insurance contracts are recognised, the related portion
of the asset for insurance acquisition cash flows is
derecognised and subsumed into the measurement at
initial recognition of the insurance liability for remaining
coverage of the related group.

The Group’'s measurement of insurance and
reinsurance contracts is explained in note 2(q).

Changes to revenue recognition

Under HKFRS 4, insurance revenue was recognised at
the date of risk inception. Under HKFRS 17, insurance
revenue is systematically recognised on the basis of
the passage of time, with the exception that if the
expected pattern of the release of risk during the
coverage period differs significantly from the passage
of time, then the recognition is made on the basis
of the expected timing of incurred insurance service
expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) RBIEZE (&)

(iv) Summary of key changes in accounting policies (iv) R E BB REERE17
resulting from adoption of HKFRS 17 (including the w(EiE—_E-—EE+AR=
October 2020 and February 2022 amendments to HKFRS SEE_ANEEBBR
17), “Insurance Contracts” (continued) HERFE175 (BFTXR)) -

[REESH IEREFTBEN
FTESEHPE(E)

(Ill) Changes to presentation and disclosure

For presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, the Group aggregates insurance
contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held,
respectively and presents separately:

e Portfolios of insurance contracts issued that are
liabilities

e Portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are
assets

The portfolios referred to above are those established
at initial recognition in accordance with the HKFRS 17

requirements. Portfolios of insurance contracts issued
include any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows.

HKFRS 17 requires separate presentation of below as
disclosed in note 10:

e |nsurance revenue

e |nsurance service expenses

e Reinsurance income or expenses

e |nsurance finance income or expenses

e Reinsurance finance income or expenses

The Group provides disaggregated qualitative and
quantitative information about:

e Amounts recognised in its consolidated financial
statements from insurance contracts

e Significant judgements, and changes in those
judgements, when applying the standard
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)

(CONTINUED)

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) (a) MEE%E(H)

(iv) Summary of key changes in accounting policies
resulting from adoption of HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February 2022 amendments to HKFRS
17), “Insurance Contracts” (continued)

(IV) Transition

The Group has determined that reasonable and
supportable information was available for all contracts
in force at the transition date.

On transition date, 1 April 2022, the Group:

e has identified, recognised and measured each
group of insurance contracts as if HKFRS 17 had
always been applied

e derecognised any existing balances that would not
exist had HKFRS 17 always been applied

e recognised the resulting net difference in total
equity as follows:

As at
31 March
2022

—ZEF=-=
=A=+-8
HK$°000
BT 5

(As previously
reported)

(LA 23R)

Total equity B 11,226,593

(iv) R E B MR EERE17
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Impact of
initial
adoption of
HKFRS 17
ERMBHRE
ERIE175
R ERAH =F==
=E MA—H
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

(Restated)
(ZEF)

17,582 11,244,175
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation

(b) FREREER

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March 2024.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for the
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or
at the non-controlling interest’'s proportionate share in the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the carrying
value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date;
any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in accordance
with HKFRS 9, “Financial Instruments” (“HKFRS 9"”) with
the corresponding gain or loss recognised in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)
(CONTINUED)

(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

(b) FRERE ER(H)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred,
non-controlling interest recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the
subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in profit or loss.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
or losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result
in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions —
that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in
their capacity as owners. The difference between fair value of
any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the
carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposal to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest
in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at the date when
control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in
profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition,
any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted
by applicable HKFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(c) Goodwill/discount on acquisitions

(c) WBEEZHR TE

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary, an associate
or a joint venture, representing the excess of the consideration
transferred over the Group's interest in net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of the
acquiree at the date of acquisition. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis, either at the fair value or at the non-
controlling interest’s proportional share of the recognised
amount of acquiree’s net identifiable assets. If the Group
recognises non-controlling interest in the acquiree at fair value,
goodwill includes the portion attributable to the non-controlling
interest.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.
Goodwill arising on an acquisition of an associate or a joint
venture is included in the cost of the investment of the relevant
associate or joint venture.

Separately recognised goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if there is indication that goodwill
might be impaired. Goodwill on acquisitions of associates
and joint ventures is included in investments in respective
associates and joint ventures and is tested for impairment as
part of the overall balance. For the purposes of impairment
testing, separately recognised goodwill arising from an
acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant cash-generating
units (“CGUs"), or group of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the acquisition. A CGU or group of CGUs
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that the goodwill
may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the CGU or group of CGUs to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of
that financial year. When the recoverable amount of the CGU
or group of CGUs is less than the carrying amount of that, the
impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to that first, and then to the other assets
of that. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly
in profit or loss and is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, an associate or a joint
venture, the attributable amount of goodwill capitalised is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or loss on
disposal.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

Hz=-%

THFE=A=t+—RIFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(c)

(d)

Goodwill/discount on acquisitions (continued)

A discount on acquisition arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary, an associate or a joint venture represents the
excess of the share of net fair value of an acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of the
business combination and is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Contingent liabilities of an acquiree are recognised at the date
of the acquisition if the fair value of the contingent liabilities
can be measured reliably. Contingent liabilities are initially
measured at fair value at the date of acquisition.

Interests in associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights. The results and net assets of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements using the
equity method of accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise
the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the
investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements
in other comprehensive income of the investee in other
comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from
associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount
of the investment. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in an associate, any difference between the cost of
the associate and the Group's share of the net fair value of the
associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for
as goodwill. Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-
accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the
entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest
in the relevant associate. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the associates
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (e) & ZH

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or
more parties have joint control and over which none of the
participating parties has unilateral control.

Under HKFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”, investments in joint
arrangements are classified either as joint operations or joint
ventures, depending on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor.

Joint operations

Joint operations arise where the investors have rights to the
assets and obligations for the liabilities of an arrangement.
Investments in joint operations are accounted for such that
each joint operator recognises its assets (including its share
of any assets jointly held), its liabilities (including its share of
any liabilities incurred jointly), its revenue (including its share
of revenue from the sale of the output by the joint operation)
and its expenses (including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly). Each joint operator accounts for the assets and
liabilities, as well as revenue and expenses, relating to its
interest in the joint operation in accordance with the applicable
accounting policies.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. The
results and net assets of joint ventures are incorporated in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of
accounting.

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group's share of the post-acquisition profits
or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group's
share of movements in other comprehensive income of the
investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received
or receivable from joint ventures are recognised as a reduction
in the carrying amount of the investment. Upon the acquisition
of the ownership interest in a joint venture, any difference
between the cost of the joint venture and the Group's share of
the net fair value of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is accounted for as goodwill. Where the Group's share
of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds
its interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-
term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf
of the other entity.
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(e) Joint arrangements (continued)

(f)

Joint ventures (continued)

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its
joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the relevant joint venture. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the
joint ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial
liabilities at FVPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value
of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received or receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that had
been recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, is cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or
payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) MEIA(E)
(i) Financial assets (i) MKEE
Classification S

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

e those to be measured subsequently at FVOCI;

e those to be measured subsequently at FVPL; or

e those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms
of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss. For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investments at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not
at FVPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
Measurement (continued)

e Debtinstruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model for managing
the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
There are three measurement categories into which
the Group can classify its debt instruments:

— Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets, impairment losses,
foreign exchange gains and losses, and gain or loss
arising on derecognition are recognised directly in
profit or loss.

- FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of impairment
losses or reversals, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses which are recognised
in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified from equity to, and
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(i) Financial assets (continued)

Measurement (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

— FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or FVOCI are measured at FVPL.
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group's
management has elected to present fair value gains or
losses on equity investments in other comprehensive
income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair
value gains and losses to profit or loss following the
derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such
investments continue to be recognised in profit or
loss when the Group's rights to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL
are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRKNE

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) BIETE(E)

(i) Financial assets (continued) (i) BEEEGE)

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with debtors, deposits
paid, amounts due from associates, joint ventures and
non-controlling interests, debt investments measured
at amortised cost and bank balances and cash. The
impairment methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade debtors, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of
the trade debtors.

Impairment on financial assets measured at amortised cost
other than trade debtors is measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit losses,
depending on whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition. If a significant
increase in credit risk of a financial asset has occurred since
initial recognition, then impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss.

When there is a significant increase in credit risk or
the financial assets are not settled in accordance with
the terms stipulated in the agreements, management
considers these financial assets as under-performing or
non-performing and impairment is measured as lifetime
credit loss.

When management considers that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, the financial assets measured at
amortised cost will be written off.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) BT ER(E)
(i) ¥EEERKRATE

(ii) Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions
of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group's financial liabilities are
classified into financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The accounting
policies adopted in respect of financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at FVPL are financial liabilities held for
trading on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities
at FVPL are re-measured at fair value, with changes in fair
value recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including amounts due to joint
ventures and non-controlling interests, creditors, bills
payables, deposits received, lease liabilities and bank and
other borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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BE-_Z_NE=A=+—HBUILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured at their fair value at the end of each reporting
period. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair
value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a
hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being
hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:

e fair value hedges, which are hedges of the fair value of
recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment;
or

e cash flow hedges which are hedges of a particular risk
associated with the cash flows of recognised assets
and liabilities and highly probable forecast transactions.

At the inception of hedging, the Group documents the
economic relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, including whether changes in the cash flows
of the hedging instruments are expected to offset changes
in the cash flows of hedged items. The Group documents
its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking
its hedge transactions.

The fair values of various derivative financial instruments
designated in hedge relationship are disclosed in note 30
to the consolidated financial statements. Movements in
the hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity are shown in
note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The full
fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-
current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the
hedged item is more than twelve months; it is classified
as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity
of the hedged item is less than twelve months. Trading
derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_NF=A=+—HILFE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) BT E(E)
(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued) (iii) STE T ERE P EHH(FH)
(I) Cash flow hedge () Bz w27
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of WIEEWHFEERIELR
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow EREHHFZITET A

hedges is recognised in the hedging reserve within
equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When option contracts are used to hedge forecast
transactions, the Group designates only the intrinsic
value of the options as the hedging instruments.

Gains or losses relating to the effective portion of the
change in intrinsic value of the options are recognised
in the hedging reserve within equity. The changes in
the time value of the options that relate to the hedged
item (“aligned time value"”) are recognised within other
comprehensive income in the costs of hedging reserve
within equity.
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R e
When forward contracts are used to hedge forecast BiREA AR R A
transactions, the Group generally designates only the Rk AEBE—RER

change in fair value of the forward contract related to
the spot component as the hedging instrument. Gains
or losses relating to the effective portion of the change

HEVRE DB EE
HWRREEBEE /L
TR - BEHANAME

in the spot component of the forward contracts are D EBNR B RE DR
recognised in the hedging reserve within equity. The g %5 Bk B 18 P RE 2 N B 3
change in the forward element of the contract that TR ETER o YRR
relates to the hedged item (“aligned time value”) is HENAORFEEZEH)
recognised within other comprehensive income in the (IT—=EEE]) P&
costs of hedging reserve within equity. In some cases, AR SR R AR E

the entity may designate the full change in fair value of
the forward contract (including forward points) as the
hedging instrument. In such cases, the gains or losses
relating to the effective portion of the change in fair
value of the entire forward contract are recognised in
the hedging reserve within equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued)

(iii) Derivatives and hedging activities (continued)

(1)

(1)

Cash flow hedge (continued)

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the
periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss, as
follows:

—  Where the hedged item subsequently results in
the recognition of a non-financial asset (such as
inventory), both the deferred hedging gains and
losses and the deferred time value of the option
contracts or deferred forward points, if any, are
included within the initial cost of the asset. The
deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in
profit or loss as the hedged item affects profit or
loss (for example through cost of sales).

— The gain or loss relating to the effective portion
of the interest rate swaps hedging variable rate
borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within
finance costs at the same time as the interest
expense on the hedged borrowings.

When a hedging instrument expires, or is sold or
terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the
criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative deferred
gain or loss and deferred costs of hedging in equity
at that time remains in equity until the forecast
transaction occurs, resulting in the recognition of
a non-financial asset such as inventory. When the
forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur,
the cumulative gain or loss and deferred costs of
hedging that were reported in equity are immediately
reclassified to profit or loss.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for
hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of
these derivative financial instrument are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(f) Financial instruments (continued) (f) BT ER(E)

(iv) Offsetting financial instrument

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
where the Group currently has a legally enforceable right
to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The Group has also entered into
arrangements that do not meet the criteria for offsetting
but still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain
circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a
contract.

(g) Investment properties

Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group, is
classified as investment property.

Investment property comprises land and buildings held under
leases. Land held under lease is classified and accounted
for as investment property when the rest of the definition of
investment property is met.

Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including
related transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment
property is carried at fair value. Fair value is determined by
professional valuation conducted as at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the carrying amount
of the asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group and
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. All other repairs
and maintenance costs are expensed in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Changes in fair values are recognised in profit or loss as part of
the other (losses)/gains, net.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

Hz=-%

THFE=A=t+—RIFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(g)

(h)

Investment properties (continued)

[f an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it
is reclassified as property, plant and equipment, and its
fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost
for accounting purposes. If an item of property, plant and
equipment becomes an investment property because its use
has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying
amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer
is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property, plant and
equipment under HKAS 16, “Property, Plant and Equipment”.
Any resulting increase in the carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss to the
extent that it reverses a previous impairment loss, with any
remaining increase recognised directly to revaluation surplus
within equity. Any resulting decrease in the carrying amount
of the property, plant and equipment is charged to profit or
loss. Upon the subsequent disposal of investment property,
any revaluation reserve balance of the property, plant and
equipment is transferred to retained profits and is shown as a
movement in equity.

When an investment property undergoes a change in use,
evidenced by commencement of development with a view to
sale, the property is transferred to properties for sale at its fair
value at the date of change in use.

For a transfer from properties for sale to investment properties
that will be carried at fair value, any difference between the
fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount shall be recognised in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets initially measured
on a present value basis at the date at which the leased asset
is available for use by the Group. These are presented within
“Property, plant and equipment” in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(h) Property, plant and equipment (continued) (h) W%  BERRXEE)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are
incurred.

Leasehold land commences depreciation from the time when
the land interest becomes available for its intended use.
Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs or fair values less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives at the following rates per annum:

EREAMEBE AREENER
AEERANEE  BZEBEEZ
PRANBEW A SERT R - T e HE
BRAIABEERBEIIESE
BEERR(WER) - ARIA
BEEEENEMEMOKREER
WERAT R IERERR - EREHIA
EENMAREMEERRESE
B AR o

&+ B %t A s AT R E R
ERZzBRBITE - ETZ
HAT A A ERFRHAERER
AE S BERAKAARBEREER
RHREER T XEFEOR

Annual charge BEFE
Building Over the shorter of 20 to 50 years EF BN F205FE504F
or the remaining lease term S HFBp o HE
FHNEREE

Leasehold land Over the remaining lease term THE L LRIz FAEFHR
Leasehold improvements Over the remaining lease term HEMEREZRBp cHETH
Right-of-use assets Over the remaining lease term TREEE RIS ZBEFH
Machinery 10% 22 10%
Furniture, fixtures, 10% - 33"3% Rfh - HE - 10% - 33":%

office equipment, WAER

motor vehicles and - RBER

vessel frafn
Others 10% — 20% Hi 10% - 20%

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’'s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement of an asset
is determined as the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit
or loss.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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THFE=A=t+—RIFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(i)

(k)

Other intangible assets

On initial recognition, intangible assets acquired separately and
from business combinations are recognised at cost and at fair
value respectively. After initial recognition, intangible assets
with finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Intangible
assets with indefinite useful lives are carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses.

Gain or loss arising from derecognition of an intangible asset is
measured as the difference between the net disposal proceed
and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in
profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Development cost of properties
comprise prepaid lease payments, development expenditure
and borrowing costs capitalised.

The net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less selling expenses and costs to
completion.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in-first-out or weighted
average method. Net realisable value is determined on the
basis of anticipated sales proceeds in the ordinary course of
business less applicable selling expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(n

Properties for sale

Properties for sale are initially measured at the carrying amount
of the property at the date of reclassification from properties
under development. Subsequently, properties for sale are
carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities

Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group
obtains rights to receive consideration from the customer and
assumes performance obligations to transfer goods or provide
services to the customer.

The combination of those rights and performance obligations
gives rise to a net contract asset or a net contract liability
depending on the relationship between the remaining
rights and the performance obligations. An item of assets
is recognised as contract assets if a contract’'s cumulative
revenue recognised in profit or loss exceeds cumulative
payments made by customers. Conversely, an item of liabilities
is recognised as contract liabilities if a contract’s cumulative
payments made by customers exceeds the revenue recognised
in profit or loss.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment under the same
approach adopted for impairment assessment of trade debtors
(note 2(f)(i)). Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when
the Group transfers the goods or services to the customers and
therefore satisfied its performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a customer
are capitalised and presented as contract related assets, if the
Group expects to recover those costs, and are subsequently
amortised on a systematic basis that is consistent with the
transfer to the customers of the goods or services to which
the assets relate. The Group recognises an impairment loss in
profit or loss to the extent that carrying amount of the contract
related assets recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive less the costs
that relate directly to providing those goods or services that
have not been recognised as expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RRKNE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEZ
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(n) Assets held-for-sale

(o

~—

Non-current assets are classified as assets held-for-sale when
their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through
a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable.
They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use, except for assets such as deferred tax assets
and investment properties.

A remeasurement loss is recognised for any initial or
subsequent write-down of the asset to fair value less costs to
sell. A gain is recognised for any subsequent increase in fair
value less costs to sell of an asset, but not in excess of any
cumulative remeasurement loss previously recognised. A gain
or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the
non-current asset is recognised at the date of derecognition.

Non-current assets are not depreciated or amortised while they
are classified as held-for-sale.

Non-current assets classified as held-for-sale are presented
separately from the other assets in the consolidated statement
of financial position. Liabilities directly associated with non-
current assets classified as assets held-for-sale are presented
separately from the other liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks with original maturities up to three months
and bank overdrafts.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash and cash
equivalents.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(p) Provisions and contingencies

(p) BERIAREE

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can
be made. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed,
the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time
is recognised as interest expense.

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events that
is not recognised because it is not probable that an outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of obligation
cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a change
in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the outflow is
probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements when an inflow
of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually
certain, an asset is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEZ

“HFE=ZA=1+—HLLFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(q) Insurance contracts

(i)

(ii)

Insurance contracts - initial measurement

The Group applies the PAA to all the insurance contracts
that it issues and reinsurance contracts that it holds.

The Group does not apply the PAA if, at the inception of a
group of contracts, it expects significant variability in the
fulfilment cash flows that would affect the measurement
of the liability for the remaining coverage during the period
before a claim is incurred.

For all insurance contracts issued, the liability for remaining
coverage is not discounted to reflect the time value
of money and the effect of financial risk for premiums
received within one year of the coverage period. Where
facts and circumstances indicate that contracts are onerous
at initial recognition, the Group performs additional analysis
to determine if a net cash outflow is expected from the
contract. Such onerous contracts are separately grouped
from other contracts and the Group recognises a loss in
profit or loss for the net cash outflow, resulting in the
carrying amount of the liability for the group being equal to
the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component is established
by the Group for the liability for remaining coverage for
such onerous group depicting the losses recognised.

Reinsurance contracts held - initial measurement

The Group measures its reinsurance assets for a group of
reinsurance contracts that it holds on the same basis as
insurance contracts that it issues.

Where the Group recognises a loss on initial recognition
of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts or
when further onerous underlying insurance contracts are
added to a group, the Group establishes a loss-recovery
component of the asset for remaining coverage for a group
of reinsurance contracts held depicting the recovery of
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBI AR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_NF=A=+—HILFE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(q) Insurance contracts (continued)

(q) REEEH(H)
(i) FENBRBEN DK

(ii) Reinsurance contracts held - initial measurement

(continued)

The Group calculates the loss-recovery component by
multiplying the loss recognised on the underlying insurance
contracts and the percentage of claims on the underlying
insurance contracts the Group expects to recover from
the group of reinsurance contracts held. The Group uses
a systematic and rational method to determine the portion
of losses recognised on the group of insurance contracts
covered by the group of reinsurance contracts held where
some contracts in the underlying group are not covered by
the group of reinsurance contracts held.

The loss-recovery component adjusts the carrying amount
of the asset for remaining coverage.

(iii) Insurance contracts — subsequent measurement

The Group measures the carrying amount of the liability for
remaining coverage at the end of each reporting period as
the liability for remaining coverage at the beginning of the
period:

e plus premiums received in the period

e minus insurance acquisition cash flows

e plus any amounts relating to the amortisation of the
insurance acquisition cash flows recognised as an
insurance service expenses in the reporting period for

the group of contracts

e plus any adjustment to the financing component,
where applicable

e minus the amount recognised as insurance revenue for
the services provided in the period

® minus any investment component paid or transferred to
the liability for incurred claims

No investment component has been recognised during the
year (2023: Nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(q) Insurance contracts (continued)

(iii) Insurance contracts - subsequent measurement
(continued)

The Group estimates the liability for incurred claims as
the fulfilment cash flows related to incurred claims. The
fulfilment cash flows incorporate, in an unbiased way,
all reasonable and supportable information available
without undue cost or effort about the amount, timing
and uncertainty of those future cash flows, they reflect
current estimates from the perspective of the Group, and
include an explicit adjustment for non-financial risk (the risk
adjustment). The Group does not adjust the future cash
flows for the time value of money and the effect of financial
risk for the measurement of liability for incurred claims that
are expected to be paid within one year of being incurred.

Where, during the coverage period, facts and circumstances
indicate that a group of insurance contracts is onerous, the
Group recognises a loss in profit or loss for the net outflow,
resulting in the carrying amount of the liability for the group
being equal to the fulfilment cash flows. A loss component
is established by the Group for the liability for remaining
coverage for such onerous group depicting the losses
recognised.

(iv) Reinsurance contracts held — subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of reinsurance contracts
held follows the same principles as those for insurance
contracts issued and has been adapted to reflect the
specific features of reinsurance contracts held.

Where the Group has established a loss-recovery
component, the Group subsequently reduces the loss
recovery component to zero in line with reductions in the
onerous group of underlying insurance contracts in order to
reflect that the loss-recovery component shall not exceed
the portion of the carrying amount of the loss component
of the onerous group of underlying insurance contracts that
the entity expects to recover from the group of reinsurance
contracts held.

(r) Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and income recognition

(s) WA KRR

HKFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
("HKFRS 15") establishes a comprehensive framework for
determining when to recognise revenue and how much
revenue to recognise through a 5-step approach: (i) identify the

HRMEREEDFE L [FP
BRI WA E B B oG LR
F1E DAMARBELSR - BLE
EHERAR AR LB 2HIE

contract(s) with a customer; (i) identify separate performance 28 (WVERIEEAY : (ihRIEaY
obligations in the contract; (iii) determine the transaction R ERBHET: (INEBEERXRS

price; (iv) allocate the transaction price to the performance
obligations; and (v) recognise revenue when a performance
obligation is satisfied. The core principle is that a company
should recognise revenue when control of a good or service
transfers to a customer.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the goods
or service is transferred to the customer. Depending on the
terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
control of the goods or service may be transferred over time or
at a point in time.

Control of the goods or service is transferred over time if the
Group's performance:

e provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

e creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

e does not create an asset with an alternative use to the
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or service transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.

Incremental costs incurred to obtain a contract, if recoverable,
are capitalised as contract assets and subsequently amortised
when the related revenue is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)
(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and income recognition (continued)

(s) WA WK (H)

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation of a construction contract is measured based on
one of the following methods that best depict the Group’s
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

e direct measurements of the value transferred by the Group
to the customer; or

e the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation relative to the total expected efforts
or inputs.

Income from sale of properties is recognised when the legal
assignment is completed or the property is accepted by the
customer, which is the point in time when the customer has the
ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially
all of the remaining benefits of the property.

Income from sale of goods such as information technology
equipment, motor vehicles, food and beverage, kitchen
cabinets and other construction related stock are recognised
when goods are delivered and title to the goods has passed
to the customers. Revenue is arrived at after deduction of any
sales return, discount and relevant local tax.

Income from rendering of services such as provision of
maintenance and property management, warehouse and
logistics services and hotel and senior housing operations are
recognised over time when services are rendered. Receipt in
advance of provision of services are accounted for as contract
liabilities.

Premiums for direct insurance business and reinsurance
are recognised on the basis of the passage of time, with
the exception that if the expected pattern of the release of
risk during the coverage period differs significantly from the
passage of time, then the recognition is made on the basis of
the expected timing of incurred insurance service expenses.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, with reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to its net carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(s) Revenue and income recognition (continued)

(t)

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
Group's rights to receive payment have been established.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the terms of the respective leases.

Financing components

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the
period between the transfer of the promised goods or services
to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one
year, except for retention receivables which may not be fully
settled within twelve months after the end of the reporting
period. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Leases
The Group as lessor

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded
as receivables at the amount of the Group's net investment
in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the
Group's net investment outstanding in respect of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant
leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease,
at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-
use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to
all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee at the date
when the leased asset is available for use by the Group, except
for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease term of
twelve months or less) and leases of low value assets (defined
as leases with a lease asset of US$5,000 or below, equivalent
to approximately HK$39,000). For short-term leases and low
value leases, the Group recognises the lease payments as an
operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative
of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)

(CONTINUED)

(t) Leases (continued) (t) HE(E)
The Group as lessee (continued) KEBERARBA(H)
Lease liabilities HEHBE

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments. The lease payments
are discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease.
If this rate cannot be determined, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following
lease payments:

e fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate;

e amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

e payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying
amount to reflect the lease payments made.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
costs. The finance costs are charged to profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(t) Leases (continued)

(t) HE(H)

The Group as lessee (continued) KEBEARBA(E)
Right-of-use assets ERREE

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at cost comprising
the following:

e the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

® any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

e any initial direct costs; and
e restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. They are
depreciated over the remaining lease term on a straight-line
basis. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of
the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “Property, plant and
equipment”.

Lease modifications

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part
of the original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease
modifications.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

Hz=-%

THFE=A=t+—RIFE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(u) Employee benefits

(v)

(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of the
reporting period. Employee entitlements to sick leave and
maternity leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii) Bonus plans

Provision for bonus plans is recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of
the obligation can be made.

(iii) Long service payment

The Group's net defined benefit obligation in respect
of long service payments to its employees upon the
termination of their employment or retirement when the
employee fulfils certain circumstances under the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57) is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned in return for
their services in the current and prior periods.

The obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit
method, discounted to present value and reduced by
entitlements accrued under the Group's retirement plans
that are attributable to contributions made by the Group.
The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on high
quality corporate bonds which have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related liability.

(iv) Defined contribution plans

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans
are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in
profit or loss or capitalised over the period of the borrowings
using effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least twelve months after the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(v) Borrowings and borrowing costs (continued)

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to
get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

(w) Taxation

Taxation represents the sum of the tax currently payable and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
period. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in profit
or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
profit or loss items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable
temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, and interests
in associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 2 EASHBEKRER(E)
(CONTINUED)

(w) Taxation (continued) (w) B8 (4])

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient future taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Deferred tax liabilities or deferred tax assets arising from
investment properties located in Hong Kong and Singapore are
determined based on the presumption that the carrying amount
of such investment properties will be recovered through sale
with the corresponding tax rate applied.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12,
“Income Taxes", requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

2 BEAETBERES(HE)

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(x) Foreign currencies (x) shis

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in its
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates) at the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of
each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates prevailing on the date when the fair value has determined.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms
part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation,
which are recognised in equity in the consolidated financial
statements. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the
exchange components of that gain or loss are also recognised
directly in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Company at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated
at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income as a separate component
of equity, the exchange fluctuation reserve. Such exchange
differences are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which the foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange differences so arising are
recognised in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(y) Impairment of non-financial assets

(2)

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair
value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. For the purposes
of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (CGUs). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each reporting
period.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Segment assets mainly consist of non-current assets and
current assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances
and cash, deferred tax assets and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, bank and
other borrowings, deferred tax liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

2 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

(aa) Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relate to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with
no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’'s major financial instruments include investments
at FVPL and FVOCI, investments at amortised cost, derivative
financial instruments, debtors and receivables, creditors and
payables, amounts due from/to related companies and non-
controlling interests, bank balances and bank and other borrowings
and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes to the consolidated financial
statements. The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
The management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and
effective manner.

3.1 Financial risk factors
(a) Market risk
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bills payable,
investment at amortised cost, amount due from a
joint venture, amount due from/(to) non-controlling
interests, bank and other borrowings and bank deposits
at floating rates. Majority of the Group’s bank and
other borrowings carry interests at floating rates and
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
management monitors interest rate exposure and
hedges significant interest rate exposure by using
financial instruments such as interest rate swap
contracts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-_Z_NE=A=+—HBUILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, if interest rates had been
increased/decreased by one percentage point and all
other variables were held constant, the post-tax loss of
the Group, would increase/decrease by HK$24,659,000
(2023: post-tax profit decrease/increase by
HK$19,289,000), resulting mainly from the change in
the borrowing costs of bank and other borrowings and
interest income of bank deposits with floating interest
rates.

The estimates of future cash flows in the net insurance
contract liabilities are discounted to present value by
reference to risk-free interest rates adjusted to reflect
an illiquidity premium. The Group is therefore exposed
to potential underwriting result volatility as a result of
interest rate movements. In practice, over the longer
term, an increase or decrease in interest rates is
partially offset by a corresponding increase or decrease
in inflation.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate
risks resulting from the holding of debt securities
carrying at fixed interest rates which the fair value of
the future cash flows of the financial instruments will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BXREREEEERBK(E)
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3.1 BtisE B B & (48)
(a) WiEER(E)
(ii) S EE

(a) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed
to foreign currency risk arising from various currency
exposures. Foreign currency risk arises when
the Group's recognised assets and liabilities are
denominated in currencies that are not the entities’
functional currency.

The Group’s financial assets that are exposed to
foreign currency risk mainly comprise of investments
in debt and equity securities, accounts receivable
balances arising from sales to overseas customers,
bank balances and cash and amounts due from related
companies and group companies (on entity level).
The Group's financial liabilities that are exposed to
foreign currency risk mainly comprised of accounts
payable balances arising from purchases from overseas
suppliers and amounts due to group companies (on
entity level). It is the Group's policies to ensure that
the net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by
buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates where
necessary to address short-term imbalances. The
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
hedges significant foreign currency exposure by using
financial instruments such as foreign currency forward
contracts.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 MR

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

mEEERRIE(ER)

3.1 Bt B B & (4K)

(a)

Financial instruments under foreign currencies (other
than the functional currencies of the Group’s entities)
that are exposed to foreign exchange risk are mainly
denominated in Australian dollar, British Pound,
Canadian dollar, Euro, Hong Kong dollar, Japanese
Yen, Macau Pataca, Renminbi, Singapore dollar, Swiss
Franc, United States dollar (“US dollar”) and Vietnam
Dong. The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign
currency denominated financial assets and financial

liabilities at the end of the year are as follows:

Australian dollar
British Pound
Canadian dollar

Euro

Hong Kong dollar
Japanese Yen
Macau Pataca

Renminbi

Singapore dollar

Swiss Franc
US dollar

Vietnam Dong

Others

RIT
R
MEARTT
BRZE
B

HIE
RPTHE
AR
T
I KRB
ey
HEE
Hitp

Assets
BE

2024 2023
—ENF e
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
10,849 16,072
23,159 25,609
173,422 173,280
13,184 14,776
13,081 13,081
8,306 9,681
3 8
143,700 156,497
50,850 59,224
4,913 7,826
2,664,597 2,388,711
54,244 50,198
86 85

™ 5 E B (48)

(ii) SMNE/E Bz (&)
T e S BEE 2\ B 2 S 5 B
BIA(MBRRAEED
EZYEEEH) T BB
T RE - NEATT B
& &% - BB B
% ARE - FIET
Bt ARD - T[T ))
NBmEREN - AEE

LASNES B B8 2 BA TS B EE
M BaERFRZER
BT :
Liabilities
=L
2024 2023
TECMF e
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(8,488) (6,347)
(470) -
- (689)
(486) (1,382)
(831,616) (491,532)
(168) (372)
(367) (9,866)

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to
every percentage point increase and decrease in the
functional currency of corresponding group entity
against the above foreign currency. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their
translation at the end of the reporting period for every
percentage point increase in foreign currency rates.
Positive numbers below indicate a decrease in post-
tax loss/an increase in post-tax profit and increase in
investment revaluation reserve where the above foreign
currency strengthens every percentage point against
the functional currency of corresponding group entity.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TRHAVNAKEZHESHE
ERINGEEBHIA LINEZ
BEMEBRD—EB D Z
BRE - HRESFTRABTE
NNERBR 2 M AEEE
BMHEEB  YERHEHR
HEXZFEM—EaIHZ
BMETIARE - LT IESER
TRIA ESMNE IR AR R B
Xz ER e E—EA
7R Z BT IR B R R
D BRI M 0 R AR A
EfhFEIEM -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

3

Decrease in post-tax loss/increase HEEERD
in post-tax profit ke-inlbpill

Increase in investment revaluation B EEEEEN

reserve

(iii) Price risk
The Group is exposed to quoted debt and equity
securities price risk because investments held by the
Group are classified on the consolidated statement of
financial position either as investments at FVOCI or
investments at FVPL.

If the prices of the respective quoted debt and
equity instruments of the Group had been increased/
decreased by one percentage point and all other
variables held constant:

— the post-tax loss of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 would decrease/increase by
HK$6,676,000 (2023: post-tax profit increase/
decrease by HK$4,996,000) as a result of the
changes in fair values of investments at FVPL;

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Price risk (continued)

— the investment revaluation reserve of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2024 would increase/
decrease by HK$529,000 (2023: HK$489,000) as a
result of the changes in fair values of investments
at FVOCI.

(b) Credit risk

The Group's holdings of investments at FVOCI,
investments at FVPL, investments at amortised costs,
derivative financial instruments, debtors, contract
assets and other receivables, amounts due from related
companies and non-controlling interests and bank balances
which are subject to expected credit loss model, expose
the Group to credit risk of counterparties. The Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at the
end of the reporting period in relation to each class of
recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position after deducting any loss allowance.

Debtors of the Group may be affected by the unfavourable
economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation which
could in turn impact their ability to repay the amounts
owed. Deteriorating operating conditions for debtors may
also have an impact on management'’s cash flow forecasts
and assessment of the impairment of receivables. To
the extent that information is available, management has
properly reflected revised estimates of expected future
cash flows in their impairment assessments.

The Group has established different credit policies for
customers in each of its core businesses. The average
credit period granted to trade debtors is 0-90 days.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

Bank balances and cash are also subject to the impairment
requirements of HKFRS 9 but the identified impairment loss
was immaterial.

(i) Trade debtors and contract assets

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all trade debtors and
contract assets.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade debtors
and contract assets have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past
due. The Group used expected loss rates based
on the ageing for classes with different credit risk
characteristics and exposures. The expected credit
loss rates are estimated based on the historical
credit losses experienced over the expected life of
the debtors and are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors
affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 March 2024
and 2023 was determined as follows for trade debtors
based on the days past due:

Up to
60 days
60K A
HK$°000
BET T
31 March 2024 —E-MEFE
=A=+-—H
Gross carrying amount  BEE{H42%8 644,035
Loss allowance s ia (114)
Expected loss rate TE HR e 1R = 0.02%

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

3 MREMEERZERBK(E)

3.1 BtisE B B & (48)
(b) FERR(HE)
RITHEELRRENFTERES
e R M R E IR 2 RE
Bk BEE BB RERE
WAEK e

(1)

61-90
days

61-90 X

HK$'000
BT

12,942
(361)
2.79%

EZREWERAREEE

BB SRERR LA
MEEMS - A%EER
FRMBHRE LA EIR
ZEERETE  ERE
R EREBRRETE
BHIEEER -

RETEEMEEER B
FRBEFRAHWEED
RIB RS SRR H M
AN E - NEEFR
A EHEREREA
BETREERRE LR
ARSI 2 SR 2 ARk
MARE - BEEEBEE
ToiR R e W AR K 2 TR A
RAZBEEEEEER
mftEr - WFLFEAR
REER P &5 RIFIA

ENZERERBEREZ 2R
B M EBRIEIEZEH -

REBZEE LB FHEW
BRRmE R_T_0F
R—B_=f=A=+—
BREAMESEIEZE
BREETNT

Over
90 days Total

HBiEI0KX e
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T T T

116,679 773,656
(58,678) (59,153)
50.29%

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BXEREEEERBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BIRRKEZE(E)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERAMR(E)
(i) Trade debtors and contract assets (continued) () BDREYEEZ A B E
(%)
Up to 61-90 Over
60 days days 90 days Total
60K A 61-90X  #iBI0XK e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BA¥TT B¥TrT B¥Tr BB TR
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(Fe&E5) (re&E351) (Fe&E351) (&)
31 March 2023 —E-=
=ZH=t+—H
Gross carrying amount BRE(E4E%E 401,016 7,115 61,605 469,736
Loss allowance E R (307) (279) (42,806) (43,392)
Expected loss rate TEHAEE X 0.08% 3.92% 69.48%
Trade debtors are written off when there is no wRE A IR A Yk | =
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that TER; - BT E 5 EWER
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, F o B EAEBEIEH A W E
amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a RBEZEEAE(ERg
repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make B)EBAKRGEEAESR
contractual payments for a period of greater than 90- I BAETE - ARKREE
365 days past due. Y HA B0 E 365K H)
BRRFK -
No contract asset was considered impaired as at 31 RZEZNER-FT==
March 2024 and 2023 as the expected credit loss for F=A=+—RH BAEE
respective balances are considered as minimal. MIEHNEERSRERE
EHREARENTERES
ERRR AR -
(i) Other debtors, amounts due from associates, joint (i) B AR - JEYHE: &

ventures, non-controlling interests and bank balances

The loss allowance for other debtors, amounts due
from associates, joint ventures, non-controlling
interests and bank balances as a result of applying the
expected credit risk model was sufficiently provided
for.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RF - AEDE - FBR
IR R R TAE T
AT R AR RS
B AR AR AR~
BAF . ABRE - R
BRI SR R R T 457 2
FERED RN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)

(c)

(iii) Debt investments carried at amortised cost

All of the Group's debt investments at amortised
cost are considered to have low credit risk, and
the loss allowance recognised during the year was
therefore limited to twelve months expected losses.
Management consider “low credit risk” for debt
investments when they have a low risk of default
and the issuers have strong capability to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term.

(iv) Financial guarantees

The Group has assessed the credit risk arising from
guarantees given to financial institutions for credit
facilities granted to certain property buyers and
associates taking into consideration the realisable value
of the underlying projects/assets. The Group does not
expect any significant credit risk arising from these
guarantees.

The Group does not have any significant exposure to any
individual debtors or counterparties.

Liquidity risk

The Group aims to maintain prudent liquidity risk
management and flexibility in funding by keeping sufficient
cash and cash equivalents, readily realisable marketable
securities and to have committed short term and medium
term credit lines available.

The Directors believe that the Group has obtained sufficient
committed and uncommitted general credit facilities from
banks for working capital purposes.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

3

MEERERERRRBE(E)

3.1 MEEREE(H)

(¢) Liquidity risk (continued) (c) E&FRBRAM(E)
The Group's liquidity position and compliance with loan ARNAERETYERAE
covenants are monitored closely by the management of BrzrRHEEMRANETE
the Company. The Group provided guarantees to banks for B IEL o NEE A —FE
an associate, and in connection with mortgage facilities of BME NI RMERERYE
certain buyers of properties developed by the Group (note METEROZRBIGZRER
42). The Group does not anticipate material outflow of TIREER(FIFE42) - KE
resources, arising from the guarantees. BB~ B ERTHIR
BIRAERM -
The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity TREAIAREBRBEEBR
for its financial liabilities at the end of the reporting period. MEaEzELEHBR -
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted RS TH AR B AR £ B Al R A
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date BEXIM2EREEBZHE
on which the Group can be required to pay. The table BEZAMBRESRER
includes both interest and principal cash flows. o ZRBBEREMNERAS
ZHEERE °

170

Less than

1 year or
repayable on
demand

PR-FIE
BEXME

2024

Amounts due to joint
ventures

Amounts due to non-
controlling interests

Creditors and payables

Derivative financial
instruments (gross
settled)

- outflow
— inflow

Bank and other
borrowings

Lease liabilities

2023

Amounts due to joint
ventures

Amounts due to non-
controlling interests

Creditors and payables
(restated)

Bank and other
borrowings

Lease liabilities

ZECmE
ERAELE
R

JEfI SRR &
i

BT REN
WA

TEMBIA
(efER)

—
—iRA
RITREMER

HERR

—ECC=E
EaEhE

JEfsER R R

&R R
JEf 508
(#8%31)
RITREMIER

HEAR
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HK$'000
ERTR

1-2 years

—EWE
HK$'000

BB

2-5 years

MELEF
HK$'000
ARTT

Total

More than undiscounted

5 years

BRLF
HK$'000
BRTT

cash flows

RERAE

REAR
HK$'000
BRI

Carrying
amounts

BEE
HK$'000

it R

17,665 - - - 17,665 17,665
348,508 84,476 140,906 8,557 582,447 529,426
754,984 215,697 - - 970,681 970,681

42,287 - - - 42,287 42,287
(41,862) - - - (41,862) (41,862)

1,263,615 1,118,979 2,198,583 594,575 5,175,752 4,470,905
22,025 20,156 31,846 13,258 87,285 82,262
9,676 = = = 9,576 9,676
259,998 243,990 4,426 9,599 518,013 513,672
796,261 196,670 = = 992,931 992,931
962,873 1,030,637 2,005,988 674,266 4,673,764 3,881,128

20,892 20,237 42,805 24,718 108,652 96,221




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR AR IR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BXREREEEERBGK(E)
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

3.1 M Ak E R (8
(c) ERBER(H)

TERBEAEEBEENT
RERREVEAMBAE
MBEBRREOAERE

The following table summarises the maturity profile of
portfolios of insurance contracts issued that are liabilities
and portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that are
liabilities of the Group based on the estimates of the EER A 2 51 B RS % 4 B (B
present value of the future cash flows expected to be paid SRR 6 7 2 T E 1 B B 4k
out in the periods presented. 33 o

Total
Less than 1-2 2-5 More than discounted
1 year years years 5 years cash flows

ERARE

PR-F —EWE WMELFE HBIF RELHR
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$°000
BETR B¥TR B¥TR  BRTx  BETx

2024 —E-oE
Insurance and R M BR R
reinsurance AHaE
contracts liabilities 284,550 257,852 316,549 18,106 877,057
2023 —EC-=HF
Insurance and REE M BRI
reinsurance aHakE
contracts liabilities (#&E75))
(restated) 184,016 191,258 303,715 17,649 696,638

3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
while maximising the returns to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances.

The Group regularly and closely reviews and manages its capital
structure to provide cost efficient funding to the Group and
make adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes of
economic conditions or corporate needs.

The Group monitors the capital on the basis of net debt to
equity ratio, which is expressed as a percentage of net debt
(comprises total debt less bank balances and cash) over total
equity. Total debt represents bank and other borrowings.

3.2 EXEKRERE

AEBEEREAZ BRARER
SESEREZR  RANER
RIZBER MR SR
DS INEEE

AEEEHL TR RERE
ARG  URARERERA
MRS Be  BRABERR
EFS ERST Vot BN
3 -

AEBERFEGRES LR 2R
HERER  ZREELFEE (S
RREGRRTEFERES)HR
BEZADL - BEBHIFRITR
HAER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 A
7 g |

B R AR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024

Hz=-%

THFE=A=t+—RIFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.2 Capital risk management

3.3

The net debt to equity ratio of the Group is as follows:

3

Total debt (note 34) wE(HE34)

Bank balances and cash (note 31) RITEFRES
(PFH7£E31)

Net debt SFES

Total equity HarER

Net debt to equity ratio TR BT B AR b

Pursuant to the Hong Kong Insurance Ordinance (Cap. 41),
all authorised insurance companies are required to maintain
an excess of assets over liabilities of not less than a required
solvency margin. For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
the Group's relevant subsidiaries complied with the solvency
margin requirements as set out by the relevant authorities in
Hong Kong.

Fair value estimation

The table below analyses the Group's financial instruments
carried at fair values by level of inputs to valuation techniques
to measure fair values. Such inputs are categorised into three
levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities (level 1).

e |nputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

e |Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

MEERERERRRBE(E)

3.2 EXEKRER

AREB O FEF AR RINT

2024 2023
—E-ME =%
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
(Restated)

=20

4,470,905 3,881,128
(2,472,257) (2,502,637)
1,998,648 1,378,491
10,342,336 11,033,762
19.3% 12.5%

3.3

RIBBBRBREGR (F41E) -
FreEERERBR AT BRESE
ERHBBEZEETLRBREZ
EBENEESL BE_Z_-_NER
—E-_=ZF=ZA=+—BItHF
B AEEHEBENBEARETE
BIEEREEG BN EESR

E o

DAREME
TRERARAEARBZHER
ERRBABBNER SR

SEZAAREIRZMBITA -
ERBABEBELDOBERARAAER
BRZTH=ERER

s ABMHREEXBBEEET
B2 HECRBEE) (F—K) -

s AHMEEXBEBEZIHAZET
BRERFE RN ZHRE - 1R
B (AER) LM (B e
BRI BR(FE_R) -

e FHEBEEXBEZH AZE
W FEK 5 AT B 2R 2 T 45 B
(BT ER 2 A B8R ) (5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BKEREEEERBEK(E)
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AAEMAF(E)
The following table presents the Group's financial assets and TEREIR-ZZ_MER=-Z
financial liabilities that are measured at fair values as at 31 —=F=ZA=+—B%2AhE
March 2024 and 2023: BIASEVBEERMBAE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ B F=R HE

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000
BT A¥TR BRIz ABA¥Tx

2024 —EE
Financial assets B EE
Investments at FVPL BARBEHNABR
BEZRE
- debt securities —EBES 544,660 105,973 804,602 1,455,235
— equity securities —RAFEH 187,032 - 69,535 256,567
Investments at FVOCI BARBEHAEM
PHEWHRIEZ
K&
- equity securities — R E 5 52,908 - 1,243 54,151
784,600 105,973 875,380 1,765,953
Financial liability g S=ki=
Derivative financial PTEMBIA
instruments - (425) - (425)

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BXEREEEERBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 DAEMGE(E)
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— EM| FE= 4azE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BEFIT BETT
2023 —Eg-=
Financial assets B EE
Investments at FVPL BARBEIAEBR
BRI ZIRE
- debt securities — BB S 388,564 32,843 888,589 1,309,996
- equity securities — A FEFH 173,250 - 75,007 248,257
Investments at FVOCI BARBEHIAEM
PHEWHRIE
®E
- equity securities —RAE 48,892 - 1,312 50,204
Derivative financial PTHEMBIA
instruments - 796 - 796
610,706 33,639 964,908 1,609,253

The Group uses quoted market prices for financial assets
included in level 1. The quoted price used is the current bid
price that is most representative of the fair value.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in
an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives)
are determined by using valuation techniques. These valuation
techniques maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an
instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

e Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments;

e The fair value of interest rate swap contracts is calculated
as the present value of the estimated future cash flows
based on observable yield curves;

e The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is
determined using forward exchange rates at the end of the
reporting period with the resulting value discounted back to
present value;

e For unlisted securities or financial assets without an active
market, the Group establishes the fair value by using
valuation techniques including the use of recent arm’s
length transactions, reference to other instruments that
are substantially the same, reference to net asset value
of investee and discounted cash flow analysis, making
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity-specific inputs; and

e Debt securities classified as financial assets at FVPL
included a debt instrument with fair value of approximately
HK$775 million (2023: HK$820 million) which relates to
the financing of the development project of a church
and a senior housing facility in Hong Kong. The fair value
was derived by an independent external valuer based on
discounted cash flow method. The estimated cash flows
used in the assessment are based on assumptions, such
as estimated net cash proceeds generated from the senior
housing facility, estimated development cost and discount
rate. The assumptions used in the fair value assessment
determination involve estimates and judgements, and any
deviation from the estimates may result in increase or
decrease in fair value. For example, any increase in the
discount rate, any increase in the development costs or any
decrease in the estimated net cash proceeds, with other
variables remain constant, if adopted, would result in a
lower fair value.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILEFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BRREREEEERBGKR(E)

(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AREMF (&)
There were no transfers of financial instruments between HE_ZEZ_NER_FE_==
levels in the hierarchy for the years ended 31 March 2024 and B=+—HIEE  &EHANAA
2028. EXRBHAGET KT AER -
The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value TREIE=FALEZE %E’jﬁj
hierarchy of financial instruments for the years ended 31 March BIEBEEE-_Z_NMEKR=
2024 and 2023: :Eﬁiﬁli-#-Elﬂ:ifEZ@
B :
Debt Equity
securities securities Total
BB RAE 25 B
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T BT T
At 1 April 2023 RZE_=%F
mAE—H 888,589 76,319 964,908
Additions NE 77,696 - 77,696
Receipt for capital returns Uz [8] & AX (28,344) - (28,344)
Fair value loss recognised in REMEEBZRIER
other comprehensive income ZAREEE - (12) (12)
Fair value loss recognised in RIBERFER
profit or loss NAEEE (114,959) (5,863) (120,822)
Disposal HeE (16,149) - (16,149)
Exchange realignment P 5 (2,231) 334 (1,897)
At 31 March 2024 it
=H=9F 804,602 70,778 875,380
At 1 April 2022 RZFZZF
MmA—H 692,396 80,843 773,239
Additions NE 202,782 6,280 209,062
Receipt for capital returns L qEIE=:N (29,355) - (29,355)
Fair value gain recognised in REMEE RS ER
other comprehensive income Z A ERE = 4,271 4,271
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised REBZHFERZ ARE
in profit or loss Yezs,/ (fE548) 27,504 (8,983) 18,5621
Disposal e - (4,291) (4,291)
Exchange realignment PE & % (4,738) (1,801) (6,539)
At 31 March 2023 R-—F_=F
=FR=r—1E 888,589 76,319 964,908
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_NF=A=+—HILFE

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 3 BkREkRERERBFRERBUR(E)
(CONTINUED)

3.4 Insurance risk

3.4 REEEK

The risk under any one insurance contract is the possibility that
the insured event occurs and the uncertainty of the amount of
the resulting claim. By the very nature of an insurance contract,
this risk is random and therefore unpredictable.

For a portfolio of insurance contracts where the theory of
probability is applied to pricing and provisioning, the principal
risk that the Group faces under its insurance contracts is that
the actual claims and benefit payments exceed the carrying
amount of the insurance liabilities. This could occur because
the frequency or severity of claims and benefits are greater
than originally estimated. Insurance events are random, and
the actual number and amount of claims and benefits will vary
from year to year from the level established using statistical
techniques.

Experience shows that the larger the portfolio of similar
insurance contracts, the smaller the relative variability about
the expected outcome will be. In addition, a more diversified
portfolio is less likely to be affected by a change in any subset
of the portfolio. The Group has developed its insurance
underwriting strategy to diversify the type of insurance risks
accepted and within each of these categories to achieve a
sufficiently large population of risks to reduce the variability of
the expected outcome.

Factors that aggravate insurance risk include lack of risk
diversification in terms of type and amount of risk, geographical
location and type of industry covered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

4

Est

imates and judgements are continually evaluated and based

on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circ

umstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual results. The estimates and

ass

umptions that have a significant risk of causing a material

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the

(a)

next financial year are discussed below:

Fair values of investment properties

The valuations of investment properties held directly by the
Group are made on the basis of the “Market Value” adopted
by the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors (“HKIS") and/or
the International Valuation Standards Council (“IVSC") and/
or the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS").
They are performed in accordance with the HKIS Valuation
Standards on Properties published by the HKIS and/or the
International Valuation Standards published by the IVSC and/or
the RICS Valuation — Global Standards published by the RICS.
The valuations are reviewed annually by qualified valuers by
considering the information from a variety of sources including
(i) recent market transaction prices in an active market for
properties of different nature, condition or location, adjusted to
reflect those differences; (ii) recent market transaction prices
of similar properties in less active market, with adjustments to
reflect any changes in economic conditions since the date of
the transactions that occurred at those prices; and (iii) rental
income derived from existing tenancies with due provision
for reversionary income potential based on market conditions
existing at the end of the reporting period.

These methodologies are based upon estimates of future
results and a set of assumptions specific to each property
to reflect its tenancy and cash flow profile. The fair value of
each investment property reflects, among other things, rental
income from current leases and assumptions about rental
income from future leases in light of current market conditions
including open market rents, appropriate capitalisation rates
and reversionary income potential. For the year ended 31 March
2024, capitalisation rate in the range of 2.5% to 7.75% (2023:
2.5% to 13.25%) were used in the valuation. The fair value
also reflects on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be
expected in respect of the property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Fair values of investment properties (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, if the market values of investment
properties had been 10% (2023: 10%) higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the carrying values of the Group's
investment properties would have been HK$494,310,000
(2023: HK$476,525,000) higher/lower respectively.

Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment have been
determined based on the higher of their fair values less costs of
disposal and value-in-use, taking into account the latest market
conditions and past experience.

Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group tests whether goodwill has suffered any impairment
in accordance with accounting policies stated in note 2(y) to the
consolidated financial statements. The recoverable amounts
of CGUs or groups of CGUs have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations or their fair values less costs of
disposal, whichever are higher. Where discounted cash flow
forecast is used to estimate the recoverable amount, it requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from CGUs or groups of CGUs and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows or estimated transaction price, which applicable,
are less than expected, a material impairment loss may arise.
Details are set out in notes 16 and 39 to the consolidated
financial statements for details.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(d) Fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL and

(e)

derivative financial instruments

The fair values of unlisted investments at FVOCI and FVPL
and derivative financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market are determined by using valuation techniques
as detailed in note 3.3. The Group uses its judgement to
select a variety of methods and make assumptions that are
mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period, including the purchase price paid by the
Group, the investees'’ financial position and results, risk profile,
prospects, including trend and other factors. Any change in
any of the key assumptions used would result in increase or
decrease in fair values.

Net realisable values of properties under development and
properties for sale

The Group writes down properties under development and
properties for sale to net realisable value based on assessment
of the realisability of properties under development and
properties for sale which takes into account cost to completion
and cost to sell based on past experience and net sales value
based on prevailing market conditions. If there is an increase
in cost to completion or cost to sell or a decrease in net sales
value, the net realisable value will decrease which may result in
writing down properties under development and properties for
sale to net realisable value. Write-downs are recorded where
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the balances
may not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires
the use of judgement and estimates. Where the expectation
is different from the original estimate, the carrying value
of properties under development and properties for sale is
adjusted in the period in which such estimate is changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(f)

(g)

Insurance contracts

The Group's insurance contract liabilities mainly comprise
liability provision for remaining coverage and for outstanding
incurred claims. Insurance contracts are onerous when the
liability for remaining coverage is insufficient to pay future
claims and other insurance service expenses attributable to
the contracts. If there are facts and circumstances that may
indicate the existence of possible onerous contracts, the
onerous contract losses are measured based on the extent to
which the fulfilment cash flows (sum of present value of future
cash flows and a risk adjustment) attributable to the group of
contracts exceed the liability for remaining coverage for those
portfolios. The Group determines provision for incurred claims
based on historical information, actuarial analysis, financing
modelling and other analytical techniques. The estimated
insurance contract liabilities are affected by assumptions
including pattern of claims incidence, changes in legal
environment and social and economic trends, risk adjustment
factor as well as discount rate, etc. Differences resulting
from reassessment of insurance liabilities are recognised in
subsequent consolidated financial statements. The Group
continually reviews the estimates and makes adjustments
as necessary, but actual results could differ from what is
envisioned when these estimates are made.

Construction contracts

Revenue from construction works is recognised over time,
and is dependent on management’'s estimation of the total
outcome of the construction contracts, as well as the work
done to date. The Group reviews and revises the estimates
of contract value, contract costs, variation orders and contract
claims prepared for each construction contract as the contract
progresses. Revenue from construction works is measured
in accordance with progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligations. Budgeted construction costs,
including but not limited to subcontracting costs, material
costs and labour costs, are prepared by the management on
the basis of correspondence between the Group and its major
contractors, suppliers or vendors involved and the experience
of the management. In order to keep the budget accurate and
up-to-date, the management conducts periodic reviews of the
management budgets by comparing the budgeted amounts
to the actual amounts incurred. A considerable amount of
judgement is required in estimating the contract value, contract
costs, variation works and contract claims which may have an
impact in terms of progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations and recognition of profit.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(h) Income taxes

(i)

As at 31 March 2024, deferred tax asset of HK$63,072,000
(2023: HK$80,697,000) in relation to unused tax losses had
been recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position. The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future taxable profits or taxable
temporary differences will be available in the future. In cases
where the actual taxable profits generated are more or less
than expected, additional deferred tax assets or reversal of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such an addition or a
reversal takes place.

Also, the Group as well as associates and joint ventures are
subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions, mainly in
Australia, Hong Kong, Mainland China, Macau, Singapore and
the United States of America (“USA"). Significant judgement is
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Control over investees accounted for as subsidiaries

Certain investees are considered to be subsidiaries of the
Company despite the equity interests therein are not more than
50% of the relevant investees. Based on the contractual power
pursuant to the relevant shareholders’ agreement between the
Group and the other shareholder, the Group has the majority
voting power in the board of directors in the respective
investees, by which the relevant activities that significantly
affect the return of the investees are determined, and hence
has control over these investees. Accordingly, those investees
are accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

(i)

(k)

Consolidation of senior housing business in the USA

The Group's senior housing business in the USA is operated
by different professional senior housing operators. Significant
judgement is required in determining whether Group is a
principal and similarly, whether the operator is an agent in this
business. Management considered the Group has exposure to
the risks and return associated with rendering of services and
therefore regarded the Group as the principal. Accordingly, the
financial results and operations of this business is consolidated
in the Group’s financial statements.

Determination of lease term and discount rate for lease
liabilities

In determining the lease term, management considers all
facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to
exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination
option. Extension options (or periods after termination options)
are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably
certain to be extended (or not terminated).

In determining the lease term, the following factors are
normally the most relevant:

e if there are significant penalties to terminate (or not
extend), the Group is typically reasonably certain to extend
(or not terminate);

e if any leasehold improvements are expected to have
a significant remaining value, the Group is typically
reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate);

e otherwise, the Group considers other factors including
historical lease durations and the costs and business
disruption required to replace the leased asset.

In determining the discount rate, the Group is required to
exercise considerable judgement in relation to determining the
discount rate taking into account the nature and location of the
underlying assets, and the terms and conditions of the leases at
the commencement date.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The operating segments are determined based on the reports
reviewed by the Directors, the chief operating decision-maker, that
are used to make strategic decisions. The Directors consider the
business from a product/service perspective.

Principal activities of the segments are as follows:

Construction and engineering: Construction and engineering work
for aluminium windows and curtain walls, building construction,
building supplies, civil engineering, electrical and mechanical
engineering, environmental engineering, and lifts and escalators.

Property investment: Properties rental business.

Property development and operations: Property development and
management, cold storage and logistics and hotel operations.

Healthcare investment: Senior housing business and medical office
building investment.

Car dealership: Retailing, trading and servicing of motor vehicles.

Insurance and investment: General insurance business (except
aircraft, aircraft liabilities and credit insurance) and investment in
securities.

Others: Sale and servicing of information technology equipment
and business machines, food trading, food and beverage and freight
forwarding services.

In FY2024, the new segment of insurance and investment has
been established as a separate reportable segment, due to
its contribution to the Group's financial results exceeding the
quantitative threshold stipulated in HKFRS 8 “Operating Segment”.
Insurance and investment was included in others segment in last
year's consolidated financial statements.

The comparative figures for “insurance and investment” segment
and “others” segment have been restated to conform with current
year presentation.

Segment revenue is measured in a manner consistent with that
in the consolidated income statement, except that it also includes
the Group's share of revenue of associates and joint ventures on
a proportionate consolidated basis. The sales from associates and
joint ventures to the Group and sales between individual associates
and joint ventures are not eliminated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TSR R

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The Directors assess the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of segment results. This measurement
includes the Group's share of results of associates and joint
ventures on a proportionate consolidated basis. Unallocated
corporate expenses, unallocated finance income and costs and
taxation are not included in segment results.

Segment assets mainly consist of current assets and non-current
assets as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial
position except prepaid tax, unallocated bank balances and cash,
deferred tax assets and other unallocated assets.

Segment liabilities mainly consist of current liabilities and non-
current liabilities as disclosed in the consolidated statement of
financial position except current income tax liabilities, bank and
other borrowings and deferred tax liabilities.

(a) Revenue and results

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

2RER(E)
ESRESHBEE A BTGER
DI RE o Wt B OEAEBAE
BERERE SR ERILPIREEE
ZEE o RDMEEXE  ROEH
B AR ERERAL T RERS 8
ES R

DEBEETIZERGEAMBRNRA
BEREIRBDEENMERDEE R
NHE AOERTEFRRE &
ERIBEEREMARDECEEFRI

DEABETREREEAPHINNKA
BREZRBABNRERDEE  HE
HIEHAasE  RITREMERRE
FEFRIARA BRI

(a) BAREE

Property
Construction development Insurance
and  Property and Healthcare Car and
engineering investment operations investment dealership investment Others []¢]
BER NERR  RESE RER
BRIE N¥RE REE kg RERR k& A ag
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
B8Tn  B%Tn  B¥Tn RNt RMTr  AMTr  A%Tn  B%Tn
For the year ended 31 March ~ HZ=B=I%
2024 ZAZT-ALEE
REVENUE WA
Total revenue BRA 4,093,682 193,338 667,903 831,295 1,552,983 560,585 425,674 8,325,460
Inter-segment revenue (note) or A ONGES) (52,544) (1,740)  (45,022) - - (22578) (7,369)  (129,253)
Group revenue £EHA 4041138 191598 622,881 831,295 1552083 533,007 418305 8,196,207
Share of revenue of associates  FEFSATRAE
and joint ventures tERA 1,389,449 - 37629 125023 413372 - 174,008 2,139,481
Proportionate revenue from BUERE-RAELE
ajoint venture eliminated IR AIA (816) - - - - - - (816)
Segment revenue SERA 5,429,111 191,598 660,510 956,318 1,966,355 538,007 592,313 10,334,872
Revenue from contracts with ~ ZBF&HZUA
customers:
-recognised atapointintime  —AX-EHEA 21,120 - 193,368 2968 1,499,733 774 380,187 2,098,150
- recognised over time - BEEED 4,019,983 - 421788 822,404 18,619 - 36,597 5,319,391
Revenue from other sources  EMREEEZMA 35 191,598 1,125 5,923 34631 537,233 1521 778,666
Group revenue EEHA 4,041,138 191,598 622,881 831,295 1,552,983 538,007 418,305 8,196,207
HIEBREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEER(E)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WMAREE(E)

Property
Construction development Insurance
and  Property and Healthcare Car and
engineering investment operations investment dealership investment Total

BEL W3R RESE RER
BHIE WERE k&R k& hERE k& At #E
HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BhTn  A®Tn  BMTn  EBTR BETn  ERTn BETn EWTx

RESULTS S|
Segment profit/(loss) before ~ NRFHBERANAE

finance costs, net A/ (58 306,634 109,002  (103511) (329,387)  (22,064) 114225  (45,654) 29,245
Finance income HHRA 6,172 2,789 12,009 4,544 2,515 38,630 1907 68,566
Finance costs B%ER (1.909)  (26,194) - (41438) (9,429) - (3.407)  (82377)

Segment profit/{loss) after finance MG B HRERENNE

costs, net i/ (B8 310,897 85597  (91502)  (366,281)  (28978) 152,855  (47,154) 15434
Included in segment AEEN/ (BB)EE:

profit/(loss) are:
Share of results of associates  Fr{TEASATEE 188,240 - - = = - (18501) 169,739
Share of results of joint ventures  FrisASMELE 594 - (7,747)  (42,368) 394 - - (49127)
Depreciation and amortisation, — TERES 1k

net of amounts allocated to ABANTR

contract work ] (12,351) (1,091) (68,888) (68,451) (25,797) (68) (15,349)  (191,995)
Provision recognised for properties CEASENERES

for sale to net realisable value ~ TEBEE - - (2799 - = = - (99)
Provision recognised for properties ZEAREDNERE

under development - - (190,500) - - - - (190,500
Impairment loss on property, % BEREEL

plant and equipment HEER = = = (1.915)  (7.784) - (18449 (28148
Impairment loss on goodwill HEZRERR - - - (89,661) = = - (89,661)
(Decreaselfincrease in fair value ~ RENEZ AL

of investment properties, net  (4)/1 > #8 - (32016) 27,399 (2349  (3,20) - 13,259 3,023

Unrealised loss on investments ~ 1&/A 7 &5 A8z
at fair value through profit or RERENAE

. B 95 ; . - (122402 - 23 - (730)
Provision frecognised)fwritten 2 (%),/ &M

back for inventories to net hFEkfEzng

realisable value, net e 3E (34) - = = 4,834 - (1,143) 3,657
Provision [recognised)fwritten 2 (%) /REE5R

back for trade and Atz

other debtors, net B 58 (31,601) - 251 (8,022) - = (86) (39,458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2BEER(E)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WMARFEE(E)
Property
Construction development Insurance
and  Property and  Healthcare Car and
engineering investment  operations investment  dealership  investment Others Total
BER nxER  REER RER

BRIE  DERE keg RE  RERE k& it g
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT BT A%Tn BBt RETn BT BT BT
(Restated)  [(Restated) ~ (Restated)

(g&5)) (4=3) (@)

For the year ended 31 March ~ HZ-E==%

2023 ZR=t-RALEE
REVENUE B
Total revenue EELION 3176133 188221 609910 797323 1410008 554,203 536,003 7271821
Inter-segment revenue (note) AR RRA B 33.434) (1883 (46,124) - - (50,394) (5,684)  (137,519)
Group revenue SEWA 3142699 186338 563786 797323 1,410,008 503809 530,339 7134302

Share of revenue of associates  FrEBAATIRAE

and joint ventures PERA 1,655,883 - 24233 122,841 398,218 - 123897 2,325,072
Proportionate revenue from BHHEKA-HAELE

ajoint venture eliminated &A1l 0N (2,020) = - - - - - (2,020)
Segment revenue ELON 4,796,562 186,338 588,019 920,164 1,808,226 503,809 654,236 9,457,354
Revenue from contracts with ~ EF&&ZHA

customers:

-recognised atapointintime  —AX-BHHEA 21766 - 133981 3465  1367,032 620 489,494 2,016,358

- recognised over time -E-BERRT 3,120,898 - 425,079 793,858 14,99% - 39445 4,394,274
Revenue from other sources ~ EMRREEZMA 3% 186,338 4726 - 27,982 503,189 1400 723670
Group revenue FEBA 3,142,699 186,338 563,786 797323 1,410,008 503,809 530,339 7,134,302

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2BEER(E)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WMARFEE(E)
Property
Construction development Insurance
and  Property and  Healthcare Car and
engineering investment  operations investment  dealership  investment Others Total
BER nxER  REER R R

BRIE  DERE keg RE  RERE e ) i
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT BT A%Tn  ABTn  RETn BT BT BT
(Restated) ~ (Restated) ~ (Restated)

(gz5)) (4=3) (@)

RESULTS b+ |
Segment profit/(loss) before ~ NBFABERANIE

finance costs, net &/ (58 37246 230168 127719 (111.952) (56,033 72,789 (5,525) 584,412
Finance income HHBIMA 2,613 1,562 9,556 3.907 3,709 20,420 1087 42,854
Finance costs B%ER (1882 (15,203) - (52540 (10414) - (2454)  (82,500)

Segment profit/(loss| after finance M FEEEREN I
costs, net BH/(B8) 321,977 216,627 137,275 (160,592) (62,738) 93,209 (6,892) 544,766

Included in segment profit/(loss) 2E%H/(FE)EE

are;
Share of results of associates  FiABAARIEE 189,663 - 2 - - - (1580 173,859
Share of results of joint ventures ~ FEAE R EEE 353 - (19193)  (30,503) (12) - - (49,355)
Depreciation and amortisation, — HER&HE - 1%
net of amounts allocated to AEEANTEY
contract work 6 (11,273) (1,029) (64,721) (78,169) (37,907) (179) (18,576)  (211,854)
Impairment loss on properties  SENEZAEEE
for sale - = (23,294) - = = - (23,294)
Impairment loss on property, N BRERXEL
plant and equipment HESE - - - (9.604) (19,380 - - (28984)
Increase in fair value of investment RE#Z 7 A%
properties, net B 58 - 99,460 1518 - 1,140 - 1761 103,879
Unrealised gain/lloss) on BAREFINERER L
investments at fair value RENKER
through profit or loss, net W%/ (BE) 38 - - - 28730 - (44,639) - (15,908)
Provision recognised for EEARERHEZIER
inventories to net realisable FEFE
value, net (13) - = - (8,828) = (578) (9.419)
Provision recognised for trade ~ ERAZ B REMEK
and other debtors, net B BE FE (1,841) - (7,256)  (16,490) - - [477)  (26,064)
Provision written back for BEFENE AR
properties for sale - - 30,000 - - = = 30,000
Note: ML -
Inter-segment revenue is charged at prices determined by the Directors DEZERAZRZEBRBESKE
with reference to market prices. MSERET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEER(E)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WMAREE(E)
Total segment revenue is reconciled to the Group’s revenue in BOBPABREFEREGE W=
the consolidated income statement as follows: RAZWAHERWNOT ¢
2024 2023
“ENEF —F==
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Restated)
(&ET)
Total segment revenue 4 S FEIR A 10,334,872 9,457,354
Add: Proportionate revenue from imn: BEERKE —HEeEhE L
a joint venture eliminated B A 816 2,020
Less: Share of revenue of associates Ji @ FThBEE A Al E S
and joint ventures WA
Maintenance and other REREMRS
services 736,860 734,590
Construction and installation BRENTELSY
contracts 652,589 921,293
Sales of motor vehicles and REREMHE
others 413,372 398,218
Food and beverage B 174,008 123,897
Leasing of properties MERE 126,547 122,841
Hotel operations G JE 8 29,524 20,594
Sales of properties MEEE 6,581 3,639
2,139,481 2,325,072
Total revenue in the consolidated REF AWK 2 BIRA
income statement (note 6) (K5%6) 8,196,207 7,134,302
HItEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER(E)
(a) Revenue and results (continued) (a) WMAREE(E)
Reconciliation of segment profit to (loss)/profit before taxation DR BB T AT (E518) 5 A
is provided as follows: ZHEERIT
2024 2023
—EImF —FB=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BB T
(Restated)
(r8 &%)
Segment profit 258 5 15,434 544,766
Unallocated corporate expenses APEDESH (63,121) (563,215)
Unallocated finance income R BCEA WA 21,140 9,600
Unallocated finance costs A EER (134,705) (54,712)
(Loss)/profit before taxation BT (EE) 5 A (161,252) 446,439
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

'_L|
i

B BHRRMEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities

At 31 March 2024

ASSETS
Segment assets

Included in segment assets are:
Interests in associates

Interests in joint ventures
Amounts due from associates
Amounts due from joint ventures

Additions to non-current assets
(note)

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities

Included in segment liabilities are:

Amounts due to joint ventures

RZBZmE
ZR=t-8
&g

Dﬂk
>
i
NG
i
Bl

FW% ARER
EYAEhEES

REFRIEE
(Pst)

Construction
and
engineering
BER
BHIR
HK$'000

BRI

Property
investment

LES S
HK§'000
BBTR

Property
development
and
operations

WEBRR

!
HK§ ‘000
BT

5

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HE_Z-_NF=A=+—HILFE

(&)

(b) EEREE

Healthcare
investment

e

R&
HKS'000
BBTR

Car
dealership

RERE
HK§ ‘000
BT

Insurance
and
investment
RER
K&
HK$'000
BETR

Others

A
HKS'000
BRTR

Total

3
HKS'000
BBTR

2680519 5260688 4592888 3,340,199 918437 2408145 510,606 19,711,482
14,397 = = - = = - 1M397
14,788 - 264697 606,889 74,628 - - 961,002
20,107 - - - - - 10,800 30,907

- - 1358% - - - - 1358%

80,897 4317 40,059 80,274 24,156 163 4,665 235,131
2,253,196 96,255 347,469 387,771 433769 1,330,790 112,027 4,961,277
- - 17512 - 153 - - 17,665
HIEREERRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(b) Assets and liabilities (continued)

5 SEER A
(b) EEREE(E)

Property
Construction development Insurance
and  Property and  Healthcare Car and
engineering  investment  operations  investment  dealership  investment QOthers Total
RER MEERR  RiEER RE R
BRIR W3R 2E k& RERE & Aft ik
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
ABTn  AETn  A%Tm  R%fr  B%Tn  BETR EETR ¥R
(Restated)  (Restated)  (Restated)
(E=p)  (g=3) (M=)
At 31 March 2023 ot Jmt2
ZR=1-8
ASSETS BE
Segment assets PREE 2,402,500 4741165 5521709 3,330,123 1,159,985  2,089490 494,283 19,739,255

Included in segment assets are: ~ HREAEALE :

Interests in associates BENE R 716,609 = - = - = 3934 720,543
Interests in joint ventures AEME RS 14,198 - 300,701 690,373 78,364 - - 1,083,636
Amount due from an associate  EM—FABE D AR 19,015 - - - - - - 19,015
Amounts due from joint ventures  EA SR EERH 4 - 109,645 - - - - 109,649
Additions to non-current assets  FEIERBAE

note) (R&E) 18126 10442 441567 55963 26,306 126 54455 606985
LIABILITIES 8k
Segment liabilities VL 2,124,243 99,526 376,333 388,040 434,390 1,134,869 117,644 4,675,045
Included in segment liabilties are:  HEEERSE :
Amounts due to joint ventures  JERFASREER = = 9,612 = 64 = = 9,676

Note:

Non-current assets represent non-current assets other than financial
instruments, interests in associates, interests in joint ventures,
deferred tax assets, amounts due from non-controlling interests and
reinsurance contract assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE B S R ER B 5
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE
5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2BEER(E)
(b) EEREE (&)
PREERARHREEEREA

(b) Assets and liabilities (continued)

Reconciliation of segment assets and liabilities to total assets &
and liabilities is provided as follows: ZHEERIT

2024 2023
—E-mE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
(Restated)
(&E5)
Segment assets DEEE 19,711,482 19,739,255
Prepaid tax A FRIE 23,473 26,802
Unallocated bank balances and cash APDERITEENIES 548,956 280,596
Deferred tax assets BERIEEE 62,503 63,607
Other unallocated assets HEih AP B EE 18,141 18,929
Total assets BEE 20,364,555 20,129,189
Segment liabilities NIEAE 4,961,277 4,675,045
Current income tax liabilities EHMEH AR 110,691 101,085
Bank and other borrowings HRITREMEK 4,470,905 3,881,128
Deferred tax liabilities BEFIEEE 479,346 438,169
Total liabilities BWEE 10,022,219 9,095,427

(c) Geographical information

(c) HHEER

The Group's operations in construction and engineering
businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland
China, Macau and Australia. Property investment businesses
are mainly carried out in Hong Kong, Mainland China, Canada,
Singapore and the United Kingdom. Property development and
operations businesses are mainly carried out in Hong Kong,
Mainland China and Canada. Healthcare investment businesses
are carried out in Hong Kong and the USA. Car dealership
businesses are carried out in Mainland China and Canada.
Insurance and investment businesses are mainly carried out in
Hong Kong. Other businesses are mainly carried out in Hong
Kong, the USA, Mainland China and Thailand.

AEBEEAPERIEXHER
EEE - PEAM - RPIRRN
BF -MEREXBEIEES
B RERM - EX - F K
REBENF MEERNREER
BEEEERL TEAMBERNE
REF - FRREEBEREXHBER
BREBEE - REREXHE
BRI R NERKEE - R &
BREXBGETEERBEF - Eft
EBAETBEERE  XB 1 E
M & 2R BELF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER(E)
(c) Geographical information (continued) (c) HWEER (&)

The associates’ and joint ventures' operations in construction BENGRAELEIEERE
and engineering businesses are mainly carried out in Hong MIBEKEETZEERLE  FEA
Kong, Mainland China, Singapore and Macau. Property Ho o ¥ 0 KROBPIEE o M
development and operations businesses are mainly carried BREEEXBETEEFAERT
out in Hong Kong and Mainland China. Healthcare investment N B - (REEEIEREESE
businesses are carried out in the USA. Car dealership EEHEE - REREEBETH
businesses are carried out in Mainland China. Other businesses Wi B - B EBRAEEES
are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and Australia. 7B MOBIMEE ©

Segment revenue by geographical areas

RABRED ZARUA
Company Associates Company  Associates
and  and joint 2024 and  andjoint 2023
subsidiaries  ventures Total subsidiaries  ventures Total
AAER BEAAR —B-mE ARER BERAR C3CZF
WEAE  AELE Az WEAA  AEMX %
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARt ERTn  ABTn BT BETn  AETr %
(Restated) (Restated)
(& 55) (& &51)
Hong Kong BE 4343680  734,445' 5,078,125 50 4128053  665505° 4,793,558 51
Mainland China HEM 1,431,331 1,000,394 2,431,725 24 1338847 1188966 2,527,813 21
USA E3 948,386 125023 1,073,409 10 935972 122841 1,068813 11
Macau b 927,456 17,086 944,542 9 252227 47119 276,946 3
Canada JIEYN 403,703 - 403,703 4 370,770 - 370,770 4
Singapore b 14035 237338 251373 2 12,838 292,329 305,167 3
Australia il 54,591 2916 78507 1 18542 28243 46,785 0
Thailand R 44,602 - 44,602 0 48,831 - 48831 1
United Kingdom ik 28,423 - 28,423 0 28222 - 28222 0
Vietnam B - 463 463 0 - 449 449 0
8,196,207 2,138,665 10,334,872 100 7134302 2323052 9,457,354 100
#  The proportionate revenue from a joint venture is eliminated. # wE—EEEDE IR HIUA
EAEE -
One customer is accounted for HK$870.3 million or 10.6% of HE-_Z-_WNWFE=A=+—H81t
the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 March FE —ZBPEAEFBAKA
2024 (2023: Nil). HHE8.703 8 L3 10.6% (—F
Z=FE\E) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER(E)
(c) Geographical information (continued) (c) HHEER (&)
The following is an analysis of the carrying amounts of non- UTATBEREVHETAE  BEQ
current assets, excluding financial instruments, interests in AloiEm AEREIER R
associates, interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets, EFIEEE - BUWIEIERERRR
amounts due from non-controlling interests and reinsurance HEBRBEHNEE 2IZHE S
contract assets analysed by geographical areas: DZIEMBEEREED :

Non-current assets

FEREEE
2024 2023
—E-_UFE =%
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Restated)
(s&E7)
Hong Kong BB 3,565,607 3,629,806
Mainland China R A B 2,115,987 2,019,032
USA ESe 1,599,175 1,673,429
Singapore N3 487,200 493,535
United Kingdom B 474,240 618,552
Canada N 302,830 234,999
Macau JEPY 40,397 41,882
Thailand ZEEH 6,587 6,966
Australia SELN 2,247 2,768
8,594,270 8,720,969
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILEFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER(E)

(d) Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers (d) EXFENEBENEERAR
The Group has recognised the following assets and liabilities AREERRUNTEREFEHER
related to contracts with customers: WEERBIE :

2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Contract assets ABHEE
— construction and engineering —EERERTE 271,171 193,070
Contract liabilities aHaE
— construction and engineering — R N T2 186,352 367,164
— property development and —WEER N EE
operations 10,759 8,384
- healthcare investment —(RIEERIEE 5,309 7,990
— car dealership —qBERE 7,771 9,645
- others —Hfb 13,196 14,361
223,387 407,544
Contract assets have increased as the Group has performed BHEERNEARTEENE
more construction and engineering works ahead of the certified }5 K/ sk 15 5 BA 8 B0 3R 55 3 A
progress by customers and/or their consultants. HAITR S EE R TIE -
Contract liabilities have decreased mainly from construction AR A F EHE P UEA T8 R 5K
and engineering due to less prepayment received from ERDREEE EKMERETRE
customers and increase in overall completed progress of N MEZREEERK
construction projects in current year. WMIECEHNBEERD -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EER(E)
(e) Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities (e) MENEBZEEARA
The following table shows the amount of the revenue THREH N A HEHARNE BRI
recognised in the current reporting period relates to contract ANBEFYELHBEHREHEENS
liabilities balance at the beginning of the year and the amount BELEARNBTFHEBITHNELNSE
relates to performance obligations that were satisfied in EHEERNSEE -

previous period:

2024 2023
—E_MEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T T T

Revenue recognised that was STAFVEHEaERE L
included in the contract liabilities B RERU A
balance at the beginning of the

year
— construction and engineering —BERERTE 305,925 13,331
— property development and — V) EIERE N EE
operations 8,384 8,987
— healthcare investment —RIFERIZE 6,152 5,532
— car dealership —ABERE 9,645 20,052
- others —Efb 14,361 13,712
344,467 61,614
Revenue recognised from RERBEBRERET
performance obligations satisfied/  ZBHBITHELSEEZ
partially satisfied in previous period B #EZRULA
- construction and engineering —RE R TR 1,287 4,793

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B R AR M

For the y
Hz=-%

5 SE
(f)

(g)

ear ended 31 March 2024
—MFE=ZA=+—HILFE

GMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Unsatisfied performance obligations

The following table shows the amount unsatisfied performance
obligations resulting from construction and engineering for
contracts with an original expected duration of one year or
more:

5

BN —F AR

Expected to be recognised within
one year
Expected to be recognised after TEEAR —F 2R

one year

For all other contracts with an original expected duration of one
year or less or where the Group has a right to consideration
from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly
with the value to the customer of the Group’s performance
completed to date, as permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

Assets recognised from costs to fulfil a contract

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there is no asset recognised
from costs to fulfil a contract.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL

REPORT 2024

DEER (&)
(f)

HARBETHENESE
TREIRERIR B —FHIH
UNEMaNPRERKWTIZE
AR ABITRAOETNHSHE

2024 2023
—E-UE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
4,665,418 3,105,559
5,397,099 7,133,926
10,062,517 10,239,485

(g)

REHIHE R —FHUATHAN
SEARNEPESAAKER
BEPESERHMBERNEERRERY
EHRREBZMAEEMELD @ RIE
BEMBHRELEANE 165 - 2k
EZBERTREHNXZERA
TEREE -

BERENMESEREABRAEE
R-E-_WNFER T -_=F=H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

6 REVENUE
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Restated)
(&&&E3)
Revenue represents amounts WASERE AT FIEZ
received and receivable from: B K FE W FRIE
Construction and installation BENETREH
contracts 3,886,381 2,980,732
Sales of information technology BARIERE - RBENEM
equipment, motor vehicles and ZIHE
others 1,668,583 1,549,244
Senior housing and rehabilitation wE S REREE
operations 825,372 797,323
Insurance contracts and insurance R & 4 RIRB & 42
brokerage 482,265 459,468
Maintenance and property RERMEEIERS
management services 450,499 476,882
Warehouse, logistics and freight BE - MRk EERERE
forwarding services 363,516 430,188
Leasing of properties MERES 211,905 199,340
Sales of properties LEX LS 163,925 101,709
Dividend and interest income from K E1%E&E Z IR E &K H E WA
investments 61,668 44,341
Hotel operations Y 8 52,270 52,385
Leasing of vehicles and equipment JRENEREHE 25,748 23,072
Food and beverage B8R 4,075 19,618
Total revenue (note 5) B (Fi5E5) 8,196,207 7,134,302
HiEBREEFRAR

2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

7 OTHER INCOME

Sales and marketing services income

from an associate (note 45)

Management fee income from an

associate and joint ventures
(note 45)

Service fee income from associates

(note 45)
Government grants
Compensation income
Handling fee income
Syndicated insurance income

Secondment fee income from an

associate (note 45)
Others

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

RKE—EBE AR ZHE R
Ti5#EERFS WA (B 5E45)
RE—HBE R REELEY

EIBBIA (FIFE45)

REHE QAR Z RS BUA
(FzE45)

B8 Bh

AEKA

FEBWA

R R B A

RE—HEEERARZ
fERABUA (Hi7E45)

Htb

H A

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T EEET I
39,486 37,812
24,228 22,835
503 449
7,494 48,154
= 2,575
4,467 3,429
6,960 1,786
1,806 1,749
7.839 5,406
92,783 124,195




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE TR M

OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET

Loss on investments at fair value
through profit or loss, net

(Loss)/gain on derivative financial
instruments

Increase in fair value of investment
properties, net (note 14)

Gain on transfer of properties for
sale to investment properties

Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment, net

Loss on disposal of a senior housing
business (note 38(b))

Loss on disposal of assets
held-for-sale

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment (note 15)

Impairment loss on properties
for sale

Impairment loss on goodwill
(note 16)

Provision for loss of interest in
a joint venture (note 19)

Provision recognised for trade and
other debtors, net

Provision recognised for properties
under development (note 24)

Provision written back for
properties for sale

Exchange loss, net

BAREIIABREREZ
KREBE B8

PTEMBITAZ (B5E), s

WEMEZ ARERN  FE
(MI5E14)

FEDRMRERANE Y W

HEME - BE KRz W -

HEE
hE—RLEREXBE2ER

(M47E38(b))
HERHFLEBEZEER

ME - BE k&R 2R EEER
(MisE15)
FEMEZREER

BEZEERSR(MEI6)

R—REE & EAERS
EERE(HE19)
EHRES R EMERERERZ
BiE - 38
ERRERTYEY
B (FsE24)
B O FEWE T BE

PE S EIE  FER

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

Hitt(B18) Wi - FHE

2024 2023
—EF-ME S
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(148,304) (14,456)
(1,221) 843
3,023 103,879
11,575 -
1,389 4,230

S (18,337)

- (146)
(28,148) (28,984)
- (23,294)
(89,661) -
(21,800) -
(39,458) (26,064)
(190,500) -
- 30,000

(3,958) (2,440)
(507,063) 25,231

HEEREEERAT

2024 3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

9 FINANCE COSTS, NET 9 BKER FE

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=

HK$’'000 HK$'000

BT T EEET I

Interest expenses on lease liabilities, FHE A& - R1THEX - IFIEARER

bank overdrafts, non-controlling MERIT R HAMERZFE H
interests and bank and other
borrowings 263,141 170,857
Less: Amounts capitalised W BIEERRMEL
to properties under B SR ()
development (note) (46,059) (33,645)
217,082 137,212
Less: Interest income from bank B REIRITER » AL EE -
deposits, promissory notes, —fEE AR - —HEeE
an associate, a joint venture TER—IEERERHFE
and a non-controlling interest PN (89,706) (52,454)
127,376 84,758
Note: ek -
The capitalisation rates applied to funds borrowed and used for the FERARRERERIEBIEMERRZES
development of properties were between 5.52% and 5.91% per annum MERNEFEREE52%E5.91% (T ==
(2023: 3.34% per annum). F: FRAE3.34%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TSR R

10 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

10 BRBLAT(EE) T

(Loss)/profit before taxation has been BFigT(EE), HA2HEE,

(GFA)TFIER -

arrived at after charging/(crediting)
the following:

Cost of construction contracts BERAS AP
Cost of inventories sold GFEHEKAR
Cost of properties sold LES R =D ®IN

Gross rental income of
HK$211,905,000 (2023:
HK$199,340,000) from properties
less direct operating expenses
(note a)

Net insurance result e
— insurance service result —RBR RS 4E

— insurance revenue —iRE AR TS U A

— insurance service expenses —(RERBRTE S
(note 33(a)) (B=£33(a))

- net (income)/expenses from —B¥ENBRBRENZ
reinsurance contracts held (WA),/ X F5E
(note 33(b)) (BF5E33(b))

- finance expenses/(income) from  —BRBEREELHZ
insurance contracts issued M H(WA)
(note 33(a)) (K7E33(a))

- finance (income)/expenses from —EEHNBREBRELN 2
reinsurance contracts held s (BA)
(note 33(b)) (Ft3E33(b))

Staff costs (note b) B TR (FiEb)
Less: Amounts allocated to contract & : DEZALH LR
work G-

WEBR S BUWAB211,905,0007T
—T - =4 : ##199,340,000
TO)RE LSS (HisEa)

2024 2023
—E-E —EC-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
(Restated)
(=5
3,670,850 2,832,221
1,471,508 1,395,916
133,233 54,710
(180,970) (166,516)
(481,491) (458,847)
414,695 399,868
(32,103) 30,992
(98,899) (27,987)
22,536 (9,493)
(1,337) 1,551
(77,700) (35,929)
1,521,048 1,482,037
(311,855) (293,442)
1,209,193 1,188,595
HiEBREEFRAR

2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BB RME

=
iy

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEZ

TWE=ZA=+—HIFE

10 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (note 15)

Less: Amounts allocated to contract
work

Short-term lease payments in
respect of leasing of (note 29(c))

— premises (note c)

— equipment

Auditors’ remuneration

— audit services (Company’s
auditor and its affiliates)

— audit services (other auditors)

— non-audit services (Company's
auditor and its affiliates)

— non-audit services (other
auditors)

— under-provision in prior years

Amortisation of other intangible
assets (note 17)

Less: Amounts allocated to contract
work

Provision (written back)/recognised
for inventories to net realisable
value, net

Provision recognised for properties
for sale to net realisable value

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

M - BB R EZITE (KE15)

W PEEENTIRCERE

HELNTHEBZ
REEEZ A (MisE29(c)
—EF(MfsEc)

— &

ZE BN 2
— ZBURTE (R B AZ2RED &
HEE R R])
— R BURT (R A i BEm )
— IR BURAS (R R BT &
NG
— IR BURAS (HL b A% 6T

- BEFERBTE

Hib @& E i (HE17)
B PEEENTIECEHE

E(BE), THERFEREEIER

HE FE

EERGENERBEIERFE

10 BRELAT(EE),BF (&)
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Restated)
(&E7)
198,909 211,749
(4,393) (7,781)
194,516 203,968
6,039 5,706
2,861 2,755
8,900 8,461
8,913 7,582
8,996 10,025
446 687
3,018 3,899
412 393
21,785 22,586
2,594 9,215
(50) (68)
2,544 9,147
(3,657) 9,419
27,991 -




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

10 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

Included in rental income is the Group's share of an amount of
HK$6,693,000 (2023: HK$5,875,000) less outgoings of HK$1,052,000
(2023: HK$1,025,000) from a joint operation. Included in rental income
is a gross amount of HK$195,753,000 (2023: HK$184,397,000)
derived from investment properties less direct operating expenses of
HK$26,943,000 (2023: HK$28,861,000).

Details of Directors’ emoluments included in staff costs are disclosed in
note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

Included in staff costs are amounts of HK$873,000 (2023: HK$833,000)
in respect of termination benefits made to staff and HK$37,400,000
(2023: HK$35,860,000) in respect of contributions to defined
contribution retirement benefit schemes.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no contingent rental
was included in short-term lease payments in respect of leasing of
premises.

11 TAXATION

Current tax REEFEHIA

Hong Kong BB

Mainland China A [ A 3t

Macau BT

Overseas SN

Over-provision in prior years BEFEBEEE
Deferred tax EETR IR

Origination and reversal of RN ER Y EE ROE

temporary differences (note 37) (FF5E37)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits. Taxation on Mainland
China, Macau and overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation
prevailing in the countries or location in which the Group operates.

Details of deferred taxation are disclosed in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_NF=A=+—HILFE

10 BRBLAT(EE) EF ()

P& -

(a) MEBWABREAEBN —HELEK
& Pk U ER 2 F £ 78 6,693,000 7T
(ZZ - =% : ##5,8750007T)
B S B 51,052,000 (=B = =
£ B #1,025,0007T) c E WA
BIERAREMEZ AR IRABE
195,753,000 L ( — T =4 : B
184,397,000 70 ) Bl B & & & X 18
106,943,000 ( Z BB - =4 : B
28,861,0007T) °

HEF

(o) EXEMESERBEEEINAR -
BRI BMRMTA0HHKE -

BEIXABRERE TEHZEERL
1B AME873,000C(Z T =4 : &
ﬁi’f833 0007T ) & 5 7€ R KB F &t
2 F B 37,400,000 ( —E - =
£ @ B#35,860,0007T) ©

c) BHE-_ZT_MWER_FT_=ZF=H
—+—HILFE BEEFZEHA
EERTEEIRES -

11 g
2024 2023
—EMEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Restated)
(&=E5)
64,092 54,748
14,724 18,142
20,805 7,822
11,006 14,569
(1,116) (2,622)
109,511 92,659
52,001 61,125
161,512 153,784

BAFGE T E R a IR
R165% (T =% :16.5% )5t & »
R A D~ BT K8 NG FI R B TR
Emﬁﬁﬁﬁmmﬂm$%lmﬁﬁ
EATERR S 2 BITHEAE

RETIE 2 B A B SRR MY o
R E -

QU

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

11 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit before
taxation per the consolidated income statement as follows:

11 HIE(E)

RalkamRNRBAT (B1E) 5 7 8

(Loss)/profit before taxation
Adjusted for:
Share of results of associates
Share of results of joint ventures

Tax at the domestic income tax rate
of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)

Effect of different tax rates on
subsidiaries operating in other
jurisdictions

Changes in applicable tax rates

Tax effect of non-deductible
expenses

Tax effect of non-taxable income

Tax effect of tax losses not
recognised

Tax effect of deductible temporary
difference not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax
losses and deductible temporary
difference not previously
recognised

Over-provision in prior years
Land appreciation tax deductible for
calculation of income tax purpose

Mainland China land appreciation tax

Others

Taxation for the year

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BB AT (E518), s
A

BIKEE S UNCIE S
PriE &2 hXEFA

BAHFTS T E16.5%
(ZE=-=%:16.5%)
FHE 2 FE

EEMEIEAEEREE Y
NSRS RN E S
a7

i R R

AR H 2 B &

BARRBA 2 RIAF &
ATHANEERZHATE

ATHERAIIMREFEEZR L
MBARE
BABERTERZHH
JE5 18 Ko RJ AR By 1
ERIBATE

BEFEBERE
FLET BT SHE 2 A HIR
THRER

B A b+ R (E T
Hith
FEME

AFEERHIEZEHRAOT ¢

2024 2023
—E-ME B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Restated)

(g£E7))

(161,252) 446,439
(169,739) (173,859)
49,127 49,355
(281,864) 321,935
(46,508) 53,119
(7,280) (8,567)
745 (328)
110,332 915,562
(42,924) (44,025)
114,232 90,661
39,564 25,264
(3,720) (21,095)
(1,604) (3,335)
(249) (2,392)

- 9,567
(1,076) (637)
161,512 153,784




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

11 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

In December 2021, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and
Development released the Pillar Two model rules (the Global Anti-
Base Erosion Proposal, or “GloBE") for a new global minimum tax
reform applicable to multinational enterprise groups with annual
revenues of at least EUR750 million. They are required to calculate
their GloBE effective tax rate for each jurisdiction where they
operate and will be liable to pay a top-up tax for the difference
between their GIoBE effective tax rate per jurisdiction and the 15%
minimum rate (income tax arising from such tax laws is hereafter
referred to as “Pillar Two income taxes”).

The Group is within the scope of the GIoBE. While Hong Kong is
in the process of seeking consultation on the implementation of
the global minimum tax and domestic minimum top-up tax, it is
expected that the new regime will come into effect for the Group's
financial year beginning on 1 April 2025. For certain jurisdictions
in which the Group operates, including Australia, Canada and the
United Kingdom, the Pillar Two legislation has been enacted or
substantively enacted and will be effective for the Group's financial
year beginning on 1 April 2024. Since the Pillar Two legislation
was not effective for the reporting year, the Group has no related
current tax exposure.

The Group has also applied the temporary mandatory exception
from recognizing and disclosing information about deferred tax
assets and liabilities related to the Pillar Two income taxes, as
provided in the Amendments to HKAS 12, “International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules”, issued in July 2023.

Due to the complexities in applying the legislation and calculating
GloBE income, the quantitative impact of the enacted or
substantively enacted legislation is not yet reasonably estimable.
The Group would continue to analyse and assess the impact
brought by the GloBE.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

1" HE(E)

R-ZTE-_—F+—-F EELAEER
RABEHHBANFRAZLDT.50E
Bt BEEC X EBMNHT 2 REER
KWE 7B T HRAEAR (BRI
ERe1R RN [GIoBE]) - EFB:E
HEBMAEMNSHIEEERMGIOBE
EURHE  UHEARSEHREEER
RIGIOBEB B K 15% X EF K 2
M EREANE T (ZETHEEEN
FIBHRTITXEBARE_FEMBE
i) e

REENGIOBEMEBER - BEEE
ERBEERFER X MEARERH
RMETHN  BHHHEHRNAE
BE_T_RFMA—BRBHMK
FEEY - RAKEZENETHE
EER(EEEMN  MERRER)M
FRXHEEARCEMKEL LD
B YRR AEEE _—F M40
A—BRENMREREER - ARF
“XEERNBEFERARER - &
AEE Y EERRTHERR ©

BRER-_Z_=F+ARHBNETLES
PRI 125 (BRI A) - [BIBR B
HE-F_IERAUNEEIRE - &
SENCERERRNEES -
PIEREBNEEHREERAES
) ey 5 61 1 (5 SMB R o

H#IT ALK B GIoBER EME
FEME - EREMNEE L BEMEER
ZEEXEBHRESEBME - AEE
141 5 I T GIoBERS R E -

HiEBREEFRAR
2024 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

12 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 BR(EE), ER

The (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/
profit attributable to shareholders of the Company by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

R (EER), B TREAR T KRR
FE(E(ER), afBRUBE—_S =N
FR-_EBE-_=F=A=1+—HItFE
BETETERZ NEFLHEETE -

2024 2023
—EEF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T PEHET T
(Restated)
(&&&E5)
(Loss)/profit attributable to AR TR REN (BE),/ & F
shareholders of the Company (370,390) 257,568
2024 2023
—EE —E-=%F
Weighted average number of BETERRZ
ordinary shares in issue 8 (FAR)
("000 shares) 301,928 301,928
Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings FRRERN S (ER) B
per share (HK$) () (1.23) 0.85

There were no potential diluted ordinary shares in existence for the

BHE_ZT_NEFR_T_=F=H
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. °

=T RLEFEREEER ST AR

13 DIVIDENDS 13 RE
2024 2023
—¥_F —F_=

HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T EEET I

Interim dividend of HK$0.06 (2023: &)k ERR% B &R 5 1£0.067T
HK$0.10) per share paid —E =4 : B¥0.107T) 18,116 30,193

Final dividend of HK$0.14 (2023: R A HA BB 0.147T
HK$0.28) per share proposed (ZZTE=—=% : #&¥0.287T) 42,270 84,540
60,386 114,733

EERKABREGRABE0147T
A HB#42,270,0007T - HBEEFE
BEMZRERBFARS FEREH
% FAEE - @BEREE_Z
—EE=A=T—-BLLEEIERZE
A2 DK o

Final dividend of HK$0.14 per share totalling HK$42,270,000 has
been proposed by the Directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting. The
amount will be reflected as an appropriation of retained profits for
the year ending 31 March 2025.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

14 REYHE

At beginning of the year F9)

Exchange realignment ME 5, B

Additions NE

Transfer from properties for sales HEBEEHFEME

Transfer from property, plant and HEEYE  BEKRERE
equipment (note 15) (BF3E15)

Transfer to property, plant and HEBSYE  RERERE
equipment (note 15) (PfFEE15)

Increase in fair value, net (note 8)

NREEN - FEE (M)

At end of the year FR
Notes:
(@) The fair value of the Group's investment properties in Hong Kong,

(b)

(c)

Mainland China and overseas as at 31 March 2024 had been arrived
at on the basis of valuation carried out on that date mainly by CHFT
Advisory and Appraisal Limited and Colliers International (Hong Kong)
Limited, which are independent firms of qualified valuers having
appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of properties
in the relevant locations. The valuation, which conforms to the HKIS
Valuation Standards on Properties published by the HKIS and/or the
International Valuation Standards published by the IVSC and/or the RICS
Valuation — Global Standards published by the RICS, was arrived at with
reference to market evidence of transaction prices of similar properties
or calculated on the net income allowing for reversionary potential. For
all investment properties, their current use equates to the highest and
best use.

Investment properties in Hong Kong with a total carrying value of
HK$80,667,000 (2023: HK$77,667,000) represented the Group's share
of interest in a joint operation.

Charges were created on the investment properties with a total
carrying value of HK$601,329,000 (2023: HK$771,712,000) for the
purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T EEET I
4,765,251 4,749,247
(71,923) (149,314)
2,585 85
64,310 =
179,850 63,634
= (2,280)
3,023 103,879
4,943,096 4,765,251

P EE -

(a)

REBURES - FEAMREINZ
WEMER_—_T-_ME=A=+—H
ZRARBENREBEETERESKATG
ERAREENERDEBE(FEE)
ERAR (W AEBIL A ERTEAIT -
THREBEBEEETDEGEZA
BERRER)RZANETZEERE
EMBHL - ZEEDHETEBRZA
BeMBEhc B NEMEeYE R
BEEANE SBEBREEEEESHE
2 BB EEER KR E R A
EffE2eEhz EREFIEMES
HE-REIZETEL2BMH AU
MEZRSHEFE  SIRERAFET
g W RERELEN - AR
EMEmMS HEAABRERERS
MEERS -

NREBEBZEREDEZEBRES
#80,667,0007C( — BB - =4 : #IK
77,667,0007C) BAKETE—FEE

B S -

BR T 48 {5 78 601,329,000 (= &
— =4 : B%771,712,0007T) 2’ E
MEEEER - ERARTASERT
EEZER -

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14 REYE(E)
BieE - (48)

Notes: (continued)

REWMEZHE

(d) Valuation of investment properties (d)

TREINE=ZR DA BERENKEY
¥EHE—_Z_WER-_T-_=-F-A1
=t+t—HIFEZEH:

The following table presents the changes in level 3 fair value hierarchy
of investment properties for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023:

Commercial properties Residential properties Industrial properties Total
GRS freng IEN% a3t
Mainland Mainland
Hong Kong China Overseas  Hong Kong China  Hong Kong Overseas
Eis hER B B RERS & B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TR BETn BETR BETR BETR EBTR TR BETR
At 1 April 2023 R-ZE-=%MmA-H 414,617 127,331 689,345 42,040 1,234,111 1,658,039 599,102 4,765,251
Exchange realignment 35 = (8,880) 11,633 - (65,743) - (8,933) (71,923)
Reclassification EFipE] - = 11,678 = - = (11,678) =
Additions HE - - - - - 2,585 - 2,585
Transfer from properties for sales ERAEENE - 64,310 - - - - - 64,310
Transfer from property, plant and BRENE BELRE
equipment (note 15) (Fs#15) - 179,850 - = - = = 179,850
(Decreaselfincrease in fair value, DAY /g 58
net note 8) (Mi28) (42,820) (6,876) (120,641) (4,720) 82,261 44,969 50,850 3,023
At 31 March 2024 R-E-RmF=A=+-H 3N, 191 355,741 592,015 37,320 1,251,289 1,705,593 629,341 4,943,096
At 1 April 2022 R-2-_%MmA-A 436,017 136,498 743,774 43,890 1,225,185 1,599,697 564,186 4,749,247
Exchange realignment EREE - (11,008) (45,602) - 98,805) - 6,101 (149,314)
Additions AE - - - - - 85 - 85
Transfer from property, plant and BRANE BRELRE
equipment (note 15) (R315) - - 32,928 - - 30,706 - 63,634
Transfer to property, plant and 2R3N BERAE
equipment (note 15) (Hi3k15) - - - - - (2,280) - 2,280)
(Decreaselfincrease in fair value, MEHD)/E 38
net (note 8) (Hiite) (21,400) 1847 (41,755 (1,850) 108,391 29,831 28,815 103,879
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%=f=1-H 414,617 127,337 689,345 42,040 1,234,771 1,658,039 599,102 4,765,251

AEE B = EH MBI G5
W& A OMEfEZ B - BB
HEEANGREEABRE - SRERE
ABELEREA (BAEEGHRF
RS BB — B0 B E R T — IR
ERERERT®

The Group includes a team that reviews the valuations performed by
the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes and reports
directly to the senior management. Discussions of valuation processes
and results are held between the senior management and valuers at
least once every six months, in line with the Group’s interim and annual
reporting dates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

14 REWE(E)
GEREC)

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(d) Valuation of investment properties (continued) (d) wEWMEZHEE)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group:

e verifies all major inputs to the independent valuation report;

e assesses property valuation movements when compared to the
prior year valuation reports; and

e holds discussions with the independent valuers.

Fair values of commercial, residential and industrial properties in
Hong Kong, Mainland China and overseas are derived using the direct
comparison method and income capitalisation method, as appropriate.
Direct comparison method is based on comparing the property to
be valued directly with other comparable properties, which have
recently transacted. However, given the heterogeneous nature of
real estate properties, appropriate adjustments are usually required
to allow for any qualitative differences that may affect the price
likely to be achieved by the property under consideration. Income
capitalisation method is based on the capitalisation of the net income
and reversionary income potential by adopting appropriate capitalisation
rates, which are derived from analysis of sale transactions and valuers’
interpretation of prevailing investor requirements or expectations.
The prevailing market rents adopted in the valuation have reference
to recent lettings, within the subject properties and other comparable
properties.

There were no changes to the valuation techniques during the year,
except that direct comparison method was used for valuation of a
commercial property in Canada in prior year and income capitalisation
method was used during the year, given insufficient market data were
available; and vice versa for a commercial property in Mainland China
due to the increased availability of comparable market data.

Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values
Prevailing market rents are estimated based on recent lettings

for investment properties, within the subject properties and other
comparable properties. The lower the rents, the lower the fair values.

REREHR - NEH

e REUHBUMERENAAEEK
HABUE

o FHMEMEMESRLFEMERS
LB TEES &

o BB ETAAMETTER o

8 - mERMEBNIER - FER
TEMEZ DAERBERLBUER
W BRI EFESH (WER) -
HERELBEDENEREEZDFESR
ROBR G2 EMA HELBYMEER
BEHLE - A EREHEYER S
BIEME - BEAREMAETELE
ERTOMEMEZERNERER
EHEE AR - WaEEARNDETDER
BRRAEE ZERMMEE - BRAE
BRBABENTURERE  TE
REXRTHEBEHER S 2 0 T AT
AN B R IRE & 2 2kl B2 nig
BmSH - EHETRAZRITHS
B IR S %W R E AR 8]
WMEEHHBBEATEE -

BREFEH —EMERBEDEN
HERAERLEE  FRARTSH
BrIRmEAKREERMEE  MAER
BA—EEEMERR - BRA
s misEiRgm - mEMTEEL
BRI FARNGEELEZ L -

EFEREFHZEXTAEEHA
21z

BOmBSESDERRENE R
EAEENDEREGAIELEEMEAR
ZEL B R AR - B2 sE
ARnE-E -

HiEBREEFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

14

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)
(d) Valuation of investment properties (continued)

Significant unobservable inputs used to determine fair values (continued)

Prevailing market rents used in the income capitalisation method:

14 REYE(E)

feE - (&)

(d)

Residential properties FEWHE
— Mainland China (per square metre —HhEAM(ZAFFEHK
(“sg. m."”) per month) (TFEFAKID)
Commercial properties [EEX/ES
— Mainland China (per sg. m. per — AR
month) (BAGEFK)
- Overseas (per square feet (“sq. ft.") —ENEBRAEFAR
per month) ([FHFRI)

Capitalisation rates are estimated by valuers based on the risk profile of
the investment properties being valued. The higher the rates, the lower
the fair values.

Capitalisation rates used in the income capitalisation method:

Residential properties EEWE
— Mainland China — AR
Commercial properties EHEZ/ES
— Mainland China —HE A
- Overseas —goh

Comparing price per sq. ft. or per sg. m. with other recently transacted
comparable properties formed the inputs under direct comparison
method, which is in average of approximately amounted to HK$6,900
per sq. ft., HK$17,900 per sq. m., HK$9,900 per sq. ft., HK$34,400 per
sg. m. and HK$4,500 per sq. ft. (2023: HK$7,900 per sq. ft., HK$19,900
per sq. m., HK$11,300 per sq. ft., HK$37,200 per sg. m. and HK$4,900
per sqg. ft.) for commercial properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China,
residential properties in Hong Kong and Mainland China, and industrial
properties in Hong Kong respectively as at 31 March 2024.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

3.98% to 7.75%

2024
—2omEF

KEMEZHEGE)

BEERAEFHZEXT A EEEA
Bz ()

W BAMEIERARITHSES -

2024 2023
HK$183 to HK$178 to
HK$1,031 HK$1,045
HBE183TE BT8R
7#1,031T FEH51,0457T
HK$15 HK$16 to
HK$38

HBE157T BEI6TLE

FE 38T

HK$38 to HK$40 to
HK$309 HK$47
BEEIBTE AT E
B H3097T BEEATTT

B Rl EEER A EZ R
BWEZABIRAAE o RS
DR ERE -

W B AL EMREARMEE :

2023
—E-=4F

2.5% to 6.5%
2.5%%6.5%

2.5% t0 6.5%
2.5%%6.5%

7% to 7.25%
7%%27.25%

7% to 13.25%
7%%13.25%
4.9% to 5%

3.98%%7.75% 4.9%%5%

HHHMAI L RMENTFEAREKET
KR ZEREKEELEA
THHAZRE R-_ZET-_MWE=A
Z+—HEBRPBRANHEEDE
EALFRAMEEMERBEBTE
MEZBREGESROABEFERR
7B #6,9007T ~ BF H KB 17,900
T BFHRBHE Q0T - HFF K
7 #34,4007T R & F 5 R A 4,500
TT(ZEZ=F : §FFRBE7,900
T BF A KBEE19,900T - BF
FHREE11,3007T - FFHAKBE
37,2007t R & F HFRE4,9007T) °
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost or valuation
At 31 March 2022
Exchange realignment
Additions
Disposals

Disposal of a senior housing busingss
(note 38(bl

Transfer from investment properties note 14)
Transfer to investment properties (note 14)
Lease modification

Lease expiration/termination

Change in fair value

At 31 March 2023

Exchange realignment

Additions

Disposals

Transfer to investment properties note 14)
Lease madification

Lease expiration/termination

Change in fair value

At 31 March 2024

LN
N-E--F=f=1-H
3L
i
il
hE-BREhEEH

(HisE38(o))
BRERENE ()
BRERENZ ()
i)

REER /K1

MEEE

[ o
B AR

g

i3

ERERENR (i)
Reg
BERR/HL

L

NE-ME=A=1-H

Cold
storage
warehouse

RERE
HK$ 000
RETT

Hotel
properties

HK$ 000
RETT

Other
properties

Rghz
HK$ 000

E8TR

Plant,
machinery
and
equipment

LI
L
HK$'000
RETT

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

15 M%  BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures, office
equipment,
motor
vehicles and
vessel

Bil-%8-
HAZRE
RERAH

HK$/000
BT

Right-of-use
assets

ERRE
HK$ 000

ERTR

£8
HK$'000
RETT

62,149 144,056 1,763,123 124,299 566,183 2,09 416 4,754,226
- (9,341) (13.979) (6,722) (5,813) (45,403) (81,258)

= = 20,734 19,246 119,033 24,566 183,579

& - (1,019 (14.452) (4364) - (19,828)

N - (134,865) - (9,026) (46) (143926

- = 40 = = 1870 2,280

- - (85,692) - = (170 (85,762

- S - - - (1914 (1,914

= = = = = (84.217) (84.217)

- = 31230 = = = 31,230
62,149 134,715 1,580,062 122,31 666,024 1,989,102 4,554,413
- (674) (11,780) (3,975) (4.878) (22,008) (43,315)

= - 25,611 16,434 1414 3,700 120,519

- - - (22.251) (6,371) - (28,622)

- - (44,042) - - (197,766) (241,808)

- - - - - (462) (462)

- - - - - (3,599) (3,599)

- - - - - 18,586 18,586
62,149 134,04 1,549,901 12579 129489 1,787,553 4,375,712
HIEREERRAF

2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEZT

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

“HE=A=+—HILFE

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

At 31 March 2022

Exchange realignment
Charged for the year (note 10)
Disposals

Disposal of a senior housing busingss
(note 38(o)]

Transfer to investment properties (note 14)
Impairment loss (note 8] note I
Lease expiration/termination

At 31 March 2023

Exchange realignment

Charged for the year [note 10)

Disposals

Transfer to investment properties note 14)
Impairment loss (note 8) (note c)

Lease expiration/termination

At 31 March 2024

Carrying value

At 31 March 2024

At 31 March 2023

EiERAE
W-E-E=A=1-H
3
e (Rl
il
hE-BEEhaEh

(Ri3k38(0))
ERTRENE ()
HEBE () (i)
REER/ AL

S e
Eifg
B3Rl

HHE

ERZRENE (M)
HEEE(HS) (i)
REER/ft

N-E-mE=R=1-H

BEE
N-E-mE=A=1-H

it el o
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Cold
storage
warehouse

RERE
HKS 000
ARTR

Hotel
properties

LR
HK$ 000
RRTR

15 W% - BERREGE)

Other
properties

Righz
HK$'000

ERTR

Plant,
machinery
and
equipment

LIS
L
HK$'000

RRTR

Furniture,
fixtures, office
equipment,
motor
vehicles and
vessel

Bi-%E
BAERE
RERAH
HKS'000
BB

Right-of-use
assets

ERRE
HK$'000

ERTR

]
HKS'000
LA

37,062 67,703 364,071 71,605 367,076 463,112 1371219
- (4109) (5,916) (3,698) (3,681) (6,09) (26,270)
3238 1,508 5,018 10,979 61,768 79,238 211,749
- = - (5,754) (3434 = (9,188)

. = (16,413) 5 (7,166) (23) (23,602)

- - (22,07) - - o1) (22128)

= = 16,533 3022 1241 8188 28984

- = & - - (33.281) (33,281)
40,290 65,102 391,216 82,254 415,934 509,687 1,504,483
- (336) (4,365) (2,252) (2,5%) (5,548) (15,100)
3,238 1,39 47400 11,555 10,006 65,314 198,909
- - - (12,756) (5,390) - (18,146)

- - (23,880) - = (38,078) (61,958)

> - 3,162 i) 13473 11,485 26,148

- - - - - (4.211) (4.21)
43,528 66,162 413,533 18,829 491,424 538,583 1,632,099
18,621 67,879 1,136,368 33,750 238,065 1,248,970 2,743,693
21,859 69,613 1,188,836 N7 250,090 1479415 3,049,930




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The carrying value of properties comprise:

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

15 W% - BERREE)

Freehold land and buildings thereon
Leased and leasehold land and
buildings thereon

Charges were created on the property, plant and equipment with a total
carrying value of HK$358,112,000 (2023: HK$1,109,541,000) for the
purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group, of which
balances of HK$27,210,000 (2023: HK$103,480,000) were subject to
floating charges.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$28.1 million (2023: HK$29.0
million) was recognised.

Of which, approximately HK$1.9 million impairment loss was
recognised for healthcare investment business in Hong Kong in order
to reflect the management’s latest assessment of the outlook of the
rehabilitation centre based on its past performance. The estimated
recoverable amount was HK$3.0 million. In 2023, approximately HK$9.6
million impairment loss was recognised for the healthcare investment
business in the USA in order to reflect the independent valuation of the
relevant property upon transfer to investment property in the USA with
a fair value as at transfer date of HK$17.3 million.

In respect of the food and beverage businesses in Hong Kong,
impairment loss on property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$18.4 million was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2024
in order to reflect the management’s latest business decision to
cease one of the Group’s own restaurant operations. The estimated
recoverable amount was nil.

Also, approximately HK$7.8 million (2023: HK$19.4 million) impairment
loss was recognised for car dealership business in Mainland China in
order to reflect management'’s latest assessment of the CGUs based
on future outlook of the business. The estimated recoverable amount
was HK$10.3 million (2023: HK$17.4 million).

The impairment loss recognised for the year represented the difference
between the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment of the
CGUs and their estimated recoverable amounts.

KA LW RENE E 28T
HMENMEELHRERE EZET

BiaE -

(a) VEZEMERRE:
2024 2023
—E-MEF T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
1,029,515 1,060,768
1,442,323 1,698,957
2,471,838 2,759,725

(b) BRTE 48188 ¥ 358,112,000t (=&

— =4 : #%1,109,541,0007T) 2 ¥
¥ BERIBCDIEER EEET
AEBMBTEEZER  EPEHS
#27,210,000C (== : B
103,480,0007T ) Jy B F YR -

HE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HLHF
r EEEWU%% ﬁ%& %E’j/}jfﬁ
BEAOBE28108T(ZTE_=%F:
B2 900& TT) °

Heh - 4881908 TR REEETY
MBEEBNRBEEREERER - A
RREEERIZBARBMEERS
DR TSR BRI o %;Jr‘Juﬁz
@45 ABKI008T - N8

F . iﬁﬁ%%960%ﬁﬂﬁm&1§ﬂam¢z
TEMREEBREEBRER UK
%*a%ﬁ%l%%%%%%i&ﬁ%¥
BHBYGE EREBEAHENAAR
EAEE1, 7308 T °

REBNEHEEME  BE=-Z
—ME=ZA=+T—HLEFECHER
¥ BEEEEAREBEBLNBER
1,8408 7T - u&%AﬁFmrﬁ%%
&m'ﬂ¢$%lﬁ$ HBEEEE
R EEEE - Bt kRSB AT -

HoN - 4B T0EB L (T =4 :
BEE1,9408 L) REBEE TR A
iﬁlﬂ']miﬁﬁ%i%ﬁﬁm ’ L}\&E%EJI'E
EBIREXB ARSI CELEN
R S&FTE o Bt EEABE
1,030B L (=T == : B%1,740
B °

FARRNBEBBERERCELEN
B2 -~ R R ek A0 BRI (B 82 EL
RIS R 2 MRIZEEE ©

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

16 GOODWILL

At beginning of the year
Exchange realignment
Impairment loss (note 8)

Disposal of a senior housing
business (note 38(b))

At end of the year

F4

[ 5 A%

BB EE (FTFES)

HE—THLER & ER
(Ff5E38(b))

FR

Details of the impairment assessment of goodwill are disclosed in
note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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16 BHE
2024 2023
—E-F —E-=4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T ok S e
605,419 634,564
(1,927) 1,278
(89,661) =
- (30,423)
513,831 605,419

AR ZREMGEFERERGRAMH

HAMEEI9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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17 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost
At 31 March 2022

Exchange realignment
Additions

At 31 March 2023

Exchange realignment
Additions

At 31 March 2024

Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
At 31 March 2022

Exchange realignment
Charged for the year (note 10)

At 31 March 2023

Exchange realignment
Charged for the year (note 10)

At 31 March 2024

Carrying value
At 31 March 2024

At 31 March 2023

KA
RZIZZZ

ZR=t-H
& 5 5
hE

WZZ_=%
=A=t-A
5 A
RE

RZZ-WE
=A=t+-H

R RHERAE

i S
ZA=1-H
fE 5
FEBH(FE0)

WZZ-=%
=R=t+-H
R AR
FEEHE(H10)

RZEZWE
=A=t+-H

REE
RZZZEE
=A=t+-H

W-Z-=%
=f==F

Roads,
drainage
and
waterworks
licence
T
RHERKE
IRER
HK$'000

BB

Cold
storage
and public
bonded
warehouse
licences
RERER
NS H
BR
HK$'000

BRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

17 EttEREE

Computer

software

Lease-in- and
place system Others

EREHR
ARER EYD Rt £y
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BRI ARTR BRI

26,534 3,000 102,132 13,338 13,968 168,972
= = 261 (26) (274) (39)
= = = 1,947 = 1,947
26,534 3,000 102,393 15,259 13,694 160,880
- - (391) (53) 86 (358)
- - - 2,631 - 2,631
26,534 3,000 102,002 17,837 13,780 163,153
26,534 3,000 94,188 3,876 4,419 132,017
- = 251 (11) (259) (19)
= = 7,343 1,726 146 9,215
26,534 3,000 101,782 5,591 4,306 141,213
- - (391) (18) 87 (322)
- - 611 1,952 31 2,594
26,534 3,000 102,002 1,525 4,424 143,485
- - - 10,312 9,356 19,668
= = 611 9,668 9,388 19,667
HIEREERRAF

2024 3R
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eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEZ

17

18

“HFE=ZA=1+—HLLFE

OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Other intangible assets (other than roads, drainage and waterworks
licence (“Licence”)) are amortised on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of following estimated useful lives or licence period:

Cold storage and public bonded 10 years
warehouse licences
Lease-in-place 3 years

Shorter of 5-10 years or
remaining subscription period

Computer software and system

The Directors are of the opinion that the upkeep of the Licence is at
minimal cost and the Group would renew the Licence continuously.
The Licence is considered by the management of the Group as
having an indefinite useful life and will not be amortised until its
useful life is determined to be finite upon reassessment of its
useful life annually by the management of the Group. The amount
was fully impaired in prior year.

The lease-in-place of senior housing business was purchased as
part of business combination. The lease-in-place is considered by
the management of the Group as having finite lives of 3 years. The
lease-in-place will be tested for impairment whenever there is an
indication that it may be impaired.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17

18

Non-current: FEMED -
Interests in associates, including ik NN - el
goodwill BEDGE
Amount due from an associate FEU— & R EIBR K
(note b) (P 5Eb)
Current: D -
Amounts due from associates JE U & R B BR R
(note b) (Bt5ED)

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

H B EE (&)

Hib @A & E (BB - R KRBT
R ([HERR ) IM) THABE AREIZ T 51
fAEr Al A MR R E 2,
REEEITH

REBRERAR TF
R R

BEHEE =F

BRI MRS hETHFHHRT

FIBIEI(ABE

ERE)

BEERA BEERREBALE 8K
SETESKERTEHERN - AREE
BEERSERAGERIERS
BT ER#EE  EEEAREEE
B AR ERFREFEHNTER
HEERIERFHRBERAL - £BC
RBEFEBBURE

?%F%%WZETEEET’EE%W
BH—HMOMBA - KAEEE

%E%T%ﬂifzfﬁ‘liﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁi,ﬁm%_
FoREMEMNERRRATE
BB ERETTRERH -
BERRz2ER
2024 2023
— i i ——
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
705,597 698,943
35,800 21,600
741,397 720,543
30,907 19,015
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year are analysed as follows:

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

The movements in the Group’s interests in associates during the

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

18 B AT 2R ()
NEBRFERNFEBHENT 2 ERE
BT

2024 2023
—EME =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
At beginning of the year F1 698,943 655,346
Exchange realignment PE 5, 328 (5,155) (10,881)
Share of results PG 34 169,739 173,859
Share of other comprehensive FiEEMmEES T
expenses (5,812) (2,632)
Dividends & & (152,118) (116,749)
At end of the year FR 705,597 698,943
Notes: 5T -
(a) Particulars regarding the principal associates as at 31 March 2024 were (a) RZE-_NWF=A=+—HSEZEH
set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial statements. ERRZER D EHRERE B K W
48 °
(b) Amount due from an associate under non-current assets of (b) FERBEEE T ZER —HEBEA

HK$35,800,000 (2023: HK$21,600,000) is considered equity in nature
and denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

A1 BR FUE 535,800,000 (Z B = =
£ #121,600,0007C) W AR A B #E
HHE RIABEE -

Amounts due from associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand, except for the balances of HK$25,000,000 and
HK$21,600,000 (2023: HK$21,600,000) which bear interest at 5% and
5.41% per annum respectively (2023: 5.41% per annum).

EE AN RN ABEKF - 2ER
AR ERKEE - A 25,000,0007T
N5 #21,600,000T( - FE - =4 :
7 #21,600,0007T ) Z EEERERON 5%
ERADHIEEFES% N5.41% (=F
—ZF  BFEGL%)ETE .

BN E EIA T U 2 R RIRKZ R
EEEREAARERE RAEEE -

The carrying amounts of amounts due from associates under current
assets approximate their fair values and are denominated in Hong Kong
dollar.

HEEREEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

18 BH&E QR 2B ()
s - ()

(c) Chevalier (HK) Limited and its subsidiaries (together, “CHK Group”), (c) EX(FEB)BRATREMBAR (S
Toshiba Elevator (China) Co., Ltd. (“TCE"”) and Toshiba Elevator BIEITHEBEE])  RZEH(PRH)
(Shenyang) Co., Ltd. (“STE") which have a similar risk profile, are BREAB(TREEH(FER)|)MEE
engaged in similar business activities and related to each other which, BHROBEHR)BRAR(IREEHOE
in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out below ) 1) BECIRE B AR » EEUE
is the summarised financial information for CHK Group, TCE and STE. HWEBMKEEAERE  EER
CHK Group, TCE and STE are engaged in the manufacturing, marketing, B HAEEMSEERKN - LTHE7T
installation, repair and maintenance of the lift and escalator business HEHAFEBAEBR  REBH(PEH)RER
and are accounted for using equity method. SEHOEG) 2HEEREE - H4

EHEE REZBEH(FEIRRZE

OB ) I EAEE R BHRSERE

B TR EERREER - UE

#=ANAR ©

Summarised statement of financial position

2024 2023
—EmE —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current assets FRBEE 237,803 310,394
Current TE
Assets BE 3,201,368 3,765,031
Liabilities =k (1,701,648) (2,292,727)
Net current assets MENEEFEAE 1,499,720 1,472,304
Non-current liabilities kRBEE (43,022) (47,121)
Net assets EEZE 1,694,501 1,735,577
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 2HEBBRUE
2023
=5
HK$'000
BETIT
Revenue WA 4,385,519 5,577,643
Profit before taxation R F5 BT g 419,054 433,621
Taxation expense HIEMAX (111,306) (110,571)
Profit for the year FERF 307,748 323,050
Other comprehensive expenses for FEHMEES H
the year (12,610) (3,859)
Total comprehensive income for FE2HAKZHARE
the year 295,138 319,191
The Group's share of total comprehensive AEEEEE 2 EURLEE
income for the year 182,061 187,772
Dividends received from an associate Bk — R & A Rl A 152,118 116,749

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)
(c) (continued)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income (continued)

The information above reflects the aggregated amounts as presented
in the financial statements of the associates, adjusted for differences
in accounting policies between the Group and the associates. The
information above is the amount before inter-company eliminations.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the
carrying amount of the interests in associates is provided as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

18 BfE N Rz ()
iR - ()

(c)

Net assets at beginning of the year FHZEERE

Exchange realignment ME X8

Profit attributable to shareholders 3% B8 R 1k i A

Other comprehensive expenses R ML EMh 2 E S
attributable to shareholders

Dividends &5

Net assets at end of the year FRZEEFE

Interests in associates* el l/NET s

Goodwill, net of impairment loss 2 - HRRREEE

At end of the year FR

# As at 31 March 2024, the interests held by the Group in CHK
Group, TCE and STE as associates were 49%, 20% and 20%
respectively (2023: 49%, 20% and 20% respectively)

(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's associates
that are not individually material is set out below:

(%)

EHRHERBEE ()

ERER RREERBRMBERERAZ
SRR - D AKEEBENRE
ABRETRMELEE - EAERTY
RABEEHEA 2 S8 -

BB ENBE 2 HIR

P25 E R 2 Mg e N R 2 &
mREE SEREIINT

2024 2023
—E-mF —EZ=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
1,735,577 1,709,062
(25,769) (54,413)
307,748 323,050
(12,610) (3,859)
(310,445) (238,263)
1,694,501 1,735,577
726,703 701,915
14,694 14,694
741,397 716,609

(d)

The Group's share of total comprehensive ZAEBEF{GEE S H4ELE
expenses

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group's  ZN&EE {1 EEEL A A
interests in these associates e BREAE

t RZE-_WFE=ZA=+—H" &
EEDRBEELEBER K
ZEB(PE)REEEH(ERS)
(HBBERTF)249% * 20%
R20%(ZZ =% : HRlEH
49% ~ 20% [ 20% ) S ©

BRI T E A2 AR B %D AL 5
ARBEMT :

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

(18,134) (16,545)
- 3,934
HimBEEARAR

2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024

HEZ

TWE=ZA=+—HIFE

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Non-current: FEmE -
Interests in joint ventures, BEhHE LD
including goodwill BEEE
Amount due from a joint venture U —RAaZEERK
(note b) (P 5ED)
Current: E
Amounts due from joint ventures JEUL & & ERK
(note b) (P 5Eb)
Amounts due to joint ventures A EDERK
(note b) (D)

The movements in the Group's interests in joint ventures during the
year are analysed as follows:

At beginning of the year F9)

Exchange realignment P 5, B

Share of results FTiG %4
Provision for loss (note 8) EsiE e (M EES)
Dividends % 2

At end of the year FR

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Particulars regarding the principal joint ventures as at 31 March 2024
were set out in note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

Amount due from a joint venture under non-current assets of
HK$264,130,000 (2023: HK$264,118,000) is considered equity in nature
and is denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

Amounts due from joint ventures under current assets are unsecured,
repayable on demand or expected to be recovered within a year and
bear interest rate at one-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") plus 1.3% per annum (2023: one-month HIBOR plus
1.3% per annum) except for the balance of HK$24,174,000 (2023:
HK$4,486,000) is interest-free.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

19 ¥R
2024 2023
—EMF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T PEHET T
696,872 819,518
264,130 264,118
961,002 1,083,636
135,894 109,649
(17,665) (9,576)
AEEBRFRAMLEECEIERE
B2 oMW
2024 2023
—EMF —EZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
819,518 929,235
(13,131) (20,849)
(49,127) (49,355)
(21,800) -
(38,588) (39,513)
696,872 819,518
[{hg=s
(a) E’\\ T EF= —B&EXES
*E\%Zﬁﬂﬁ A4 & B 75 3R 3R B
u$49 °
(b) 3E//|b§ﬂ§§lg—|—2ﬁ§”& FEJ/\%/JE¥

fF 78 8 264,130,000 7T ( —
£ #¥0264,118, oooﬁ%&%ﬁﬁ%%
HEY - WABEE -

RBEERT 2BE S ZELERRES

IR -

FAKRE - IR~

IRIRZSREIB R IAHHR —
18 B &EBRITRIE

Tﬁ%(f%i’ﬁﬁﬁ@%?ﬁ%J ) I R

R13% (=

Z=F K-

EAE®E

fﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁgﬂﬂiﬂ$1 3%)F B
Jﬁiiﬁé%iﬁzmm 000 T (=& =
: B#4,486,0007T) AR B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

(c)

(continued)

Amounts due to joint ventures under current liabilities are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures under
current assets/(liabilities) approximate their fair values.

The net carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) joint ventures are
denominated in the following currencies:

19

Hong Kong dollar
Renminbi

B
ARE

Seavest Core Fund |, LLC and its subsidiaries (together, “Seavest
Group”), that invest in the three medical office buildings in the USA
which, in the opinion of the Directors, are material to the Group. Set out
below is the summarised financial information for Seavest Group and
accounted for using equity method.

Summarised consolidated statement of financial position

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

RS (R)
GERNC)
(o) (4)

RBABET 2ENAZEEERRS
BER - RBRAREREE -

RBEE/(ABE)BETZEE (&
MEEEERRZREEREAAE
B e

U () A S ERRFEZER
EETIATIEE BB

2024 2023
—E-ME — =
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BB T T
395,777 369,284
(13,418) (5,093)

Non-current assets ERBEE
Current assets REBEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBFEEY
Other current assets HEtmshaE
Current liability REBAE
Other current liabilities HEtrEaE
Net current (liabilities)/assets RE(EBE) EEZFE
Non-current liabilities kRBERE

Financial liabilities (excluding creditors,

accruals and provisions)
Other non-current liabilities

Net assets

BB amE(TaEREN
B RIRE R REE)

HiEmEaE

BERE

(c) Seavest Core Fund |, LLC K H [t &
ANE (518 [ SeavestE=@E | ) B ELI R
EFENZREBMRAETANE  BEER
BEUAEEMEBEKN - L THT
SeavestEE MK ERME - WF
AREEEAR -

REMBRRRYE

2023

—E=F

HK$'000

BT

1,560,662 1,682,412
17,872 32,670
9,122 9,203
26,994 41,873
(820,927) (12,347)
(793,933) 29,526
(39,238) (864,078)
(86,774) (109,483)
(126,012) (973,561)

640,717 738,377
HiEBREEFRAR

2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% 3R 2% MY A

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

(continued)

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

Summarised consolidated statement of comprehensive income

19

Revenue
Interest expense

Loss before taxation
Taxation credit

Loss and total comprehensive expenses

for the year

The Group's share of total comprehensive
expenses for the year

Dividends received from a joint venture

YA
PSS

B 154 B S 1R
HIEE R

FEBREIREHARE

AEEMEFEEHE
X H#EER

BEl—Ha2rRZRE

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the
consolidated financial statements of a joint venture, adjusted for
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint
venture. The information above is the amount before inter-company

eliminations.

Reconciliation of summarised financial information

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented to the
carrying amount of the interest in a joint venture is provided as follows:

Net assets at beginning of the year

Exchange realignment
Loss attributable to shareholders

Dividends

Net assets at end of the year

Interest in a joint venture

At end of the year

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

FHZEERE

PE

PR EIEE R

[ s)
FRZEERE
—EAERE 2 EE

FXR

XS (E)
MIsE : (88)
(c) (£&)
FEZEREREE
2024 2023
—E-E —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT
131,603 129,306
(39,944) (39,672)
(76,664) (54,435)
22,319 14,504
(54,345) (39,931)
(42,368) (30,503)
38,584 36,473
NEERRE—EEEDELRENE

BERNZINEHE  DRHAREES
EEESFTHRETRMEHDE -
MER TN AR R HATHN SR o

MBERBE 2 H R

E2FMBERBERS B 2 E
@ AREEZ SEREFIAT

2024 2023
—EMF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
738,377 814,720
(2,701) 1,980
(54,345) (39,931)
(40,614) (38,392)
640,717 738,377
606,889 690,375
606,889 690,375
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19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(d) The aggregate summarised financial information of Group's joint
ventures that are not individually material is set out below:

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

19 ¥ B (E)
sE - (8D

The Group's share of total comprehensive A& E {52 HE5E
expenses

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s ~ ANEBE LIt EA &
interests in these joint ventures T EERREARE

20 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

o EEFEAZ AEEA AT
BEREENT -
2024 2023
=2=RF —T-=%
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
(5 (18,852)
89,983 e

20 FEUR(FEAY) FFIERAER AR

Non-current: IERE :
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEURIEIEARAEZSBE TR
interests (note a) (Kt3Ea)

&1~ SRR i 2 AR K

Amounts due to non-controlling

interests (note b) (F3EDb)
Current: me
Amounts due from non-controlling  FEURIEIZ IR HEZSBRE X
interests (note c) (BizEe)

FE A5 FEHE B 2 AR X
(B 7Ed)

Amounts due to non-controlling
interests (note d)

Notes:

(a)  Amounts due from non-controlling interests under non-current assets
are unsecured, interest-free and not repayable within one year from the
end of the reporting period, except for the balance of HK$10,625,000
(2023: HK$11,442,000) which bears floating interest rate at one-month
HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum (2023: one-month HIBOR plus 3.6% per
annum).

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T ST T
10,625 42,222
(270,193) (254,225)
35,610 32,771
(259,233) (259,347)

fi g -

(a) FEMEBEEETEUWIEIERERRE
BAEER 2ERBARKZEH
KB —FEANEBE  WESKBE
10,625,000 ( =T = = 4F : B
11,442,00070) L — @ A BB RITR
EFBMER K3 6% (T -_=4F:
—ERBBRITAZEREIMEF =X
3.6%) 2 )FE)FEKET BRI ©

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILEFE

20 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Amounts due to non-controlling interests under non-current liabilities
are unsecured balances of HK$169,000,000 (2023: HK$169,000,000)
and HK$10,836,000 (2023: HK$11,814,000) which bear fixed interest
rate at 10% per annum (2023: 10% per annum) and floating interest
rate at one-month HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum (2023: one-month
HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum) respectively. They are not repayable
within one year from the end of the reporting period.

() Amounts due from non-controlling interests under current assets are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, except for the
balance of HK$1,047,000 (2023: HK$979,000) which bears floating
interest rate at one-month HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum (2023: one-
month HIBOR plus 3.6% per annum).

(d) Amounts due to non-controlling interests under current liabilities are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand, except for the
balance of HK$1,060,000 (2023: HK$979,000) which bears floating
interest rate at one-month HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum (2023: one-
month HIBOR plus 2.1% per annum).

(e) The carrying amounts of amounts due from/(to) non-controlling
interests approximate their fair values.

(f)  The net carrying amounts of amounts due to non-controlling interests
are denominated in the following currencies:

20 EEEA)Z/(EEN)#EH%E&T&E—E%&
|
fifsE « (40)

(b) 3E//|L§7]EEIIETJE1<JL3H HXTE@.EE
BT 45 8275 169,000,000 (=
T~ =4 : ##169,000,0007T) & &
10,836, ooofu(:;::ﬁ DB
11,814,0007z) * 9 BIIZ E & F F| &
10%(ZZT==%F : FHE10%)K%—
BABABRITREEFREMNFENE2.1%
(ZZ==%F : —ARABBRITEZERF
BMFEFZE21%) 2 FEFIEFTE o
ZEFEHBARRERRES; —FR
B -

(c) MBEEENRUGEIEIRERERA
AR - RERARENRERER ﬁ
2B %1,047,000L( ZFE =4 :
#979,0007T ) % — 1@ A %ﬁéfﬁﬁﬂ
EREMENEKI6%( T =4
— @A EF BRI H%%}%E\buiﬂ%
3.6%) 2 FBFIEET BRI -

(d) REBABHETEMIFIERERERS
EIA - RERBRERERE  ELE
FEH 1,060,000 T( =T ==4F : &
#979,0007T ) & — @ A BB EITHE
E¥WREMENK21%(ZT =4 :
— & A BFBRITREREMNFF X
2.1%) 2 FBFIEETE -

(e) FEUR/(FEMT)FEHE R ZE AR A A AR ED
BEHEAQAAERE -

(f) R IEEE HxTEmﬁE FORER RREE )

Hong Kong dollar ko
Renminbi AR
Us dollar ESi

226 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TSR e

2024 2023

= =k —B-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T AETT
(258,734) (241,949)
(224,208) (196,381)
(249) (249)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

21 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER 21 BEAREBEIAREMEE KSR

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME BoRE
2024 2023
—EZMF —F_=
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
Listed investment: EmigE
— equity security listed overseas — B T Z IR TE F
(note) (F=E) 52,908 48,892
Unlisted investments: ELETRE -
— equity securities —RAFEH 1,243 1,312
54,151 50,204
The carrying values of investments at FVOCI are denominated in BEAnBEIAEMEENGERE 2K
the following currencies: B2 EREEBETATYE BEA
2024 2023
ke e 3 —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Vietnam Dong AR 52,908 48,892
Renminbi AR H#E 1,243 1,312
54,151 50,204
Note: Mz :
The fair value of the listed investment of the Group is determined based on ZK%@fFﬁ&;ﬁZ@ﬁEBEﬁEETC%Fﬁ
the quoted market bid prices available on the relevant exchange. e mBBENBERE

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R 227
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

22 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Listed investments: EmigE -

— debt securities —BEBES

— equity securities listed in — BB LT BRAES

Hong Kong

— equity securities listed overseas ~ — /@4 EH 2 RAE S
Unlisted investments: FELEMIRE :

— debt securities —BERES

— equity securities — RN 55

Analysed for reporting purposes as: FLERE AR A ¢
Non-current assets IERBEE
Current assets mENEEE

The fair values of the listed investments of the Group are
determined based on the quoted market bid prices available on the
relevant exchanges and the unlisted investments of the Group are
determined based on financial models or with reference to quoted
prices from relevant financial institutions.

Floating charge was created on investments at fair value through
profit or loss with total carrying value of HK$21,119,000 (2023:
HK$38,836,000) for the purpose of securing banking facilities
granted to the Group.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

22 MARBEIANEREEB2RE

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT

544,660 388,564
163,561 149,707
23,471 23,543
731,692 561,814
910,577 921,432
69,533 75,007
980,110 996,439
1,711,802 1,558,253
871,908 943,012
839,894 615,241
1,711,802 1,658,253

AEEZ EFTREZAARETIIZAR
RPAMBZTHEEABERE - MA
SEZIFEMREZRABETIRME
BABE  X2EXREEBVBHRE
ZHRIE -

B 42 75 % 21,119,000t (= &
— =4 : 5¥38,836,0007T) Z KA
REIIABHERE ZREDIEZHIE
1 EARTAEERITEEZER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

22 INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 2 BAREBEINERZREZRE

(CONTINUED) (#&)
The carrying amounts of investments at FVPL are denominated in BARBIIABREEZREZER
the following currencies: BTV TS S A -
2023
—E-ME —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
British Pound EgE 13,190 18,447
Euro E¢7:3 7,285 8,171
Hong Kong dollar B 878,759 972,718
Renminbi AR 21,119 38,836
Swiss Franc F 1SR BB 4,726 7,639
US dollar = 785,737 511,486
Vietnam Dong IR 986 956
1,711,802 1,558,253
23 INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST 23 RBEHBRAEIERZKRE
2024 2023
—EF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Listed corporate bonds EmaaEs 71,473 87,509
Unlisted corporate bonds LT ARIES 33,923 39,997
Unlisted and secured debt FEMEERFEBHERE
investment 125,000 125,000
Unlisted and unsecured debt M RERBERRE
investments 283,333 -
513,729 252,506
Analysed for reporting purposes as: FtIRERE ST A :
Non-current assets EREEE 209,492 214,113
Current assets mENEE 304,237 38,393
513,729 252,506

HEEREEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

23 INVESTMENTS AT AMORTISED COST (CONTINUED)

The carrying values of investments at amortised cost are

denominated in the following currencies:

23 BEHEHEARIIRZRE ()
1M S PR AR DI AR 2 40 A 2 R B T A
TR & RN

US dollar
Hong Kong dollar

Note:

The fair values below are determined by reference to the published price

quotations in relevant market.

e
B

2024 2023
—E-F —E-=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
100,368 112,495
413,361 140,011
513,729 252,506

Listed corporate bonds
Unlisted corporate bonds

FHRARES
JELEMABIES

24 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

At beginning of the year
Exchange realignment
Additions

Provision recognised (note 8)

At end of the year

Analysed for reporting purposes as:

Non-current assets
Current assets

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

1

BE SR

NE

B R (i 5E8)

FR

AImERBINA

FREEE
mBEE

2023
—E-MEF —T-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
60,898 76,308
31,095 37,848
91,993 114,156

20 BEDYE
2024 2023
—E-_MEF —ECo=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
2,096,508 1,696,485
(27,762) (36,911)
226,294 436,934
(190,500) =
2,104,540 2,096,508
187,274 197,465
1,917,266 1,899,043
2,104,540 2,096,508
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24 PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the balances are related to property
development projects in Changchun, Mainland China and Hong
Kong.

The borrowing costs capitalised to properties under development is
disclosed in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant project is expected
to complete beyond normal operating cycle. The amount of
properties under development classified as current assets expected
to be recovered after one year is HK$1,917,266,000 (2023:
HK$1,409,354,000). The remaining balance is expected to be
recovered within one year.

25 OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS

24

Deposits paid for a property BEN—IEMEERIERE 2

development project (note) Fiiike (M)
Non-current receivables FET Eh FE UL FRIE
Non-current deposits paid and IEREBEMNFELIEE &

prepayments TE FIE
Others Hh

Charges were created on the other non-current assets with total
carrying value of HK$33,453,000 (2023: HK$11,785,000) for the
purpose of securing banking facilities granted to the Group, of
which nil (2023: HK$329,000) was subject to a floating charge.

Note:

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the balances represent deposits paid for a
property development project in Changchun, Mainland China.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

BREPYE(E)
RZEZWERZFTEZ=F=H
=+—H ZEHRERBRAMEET
LEBNHERRIEEARS -

BRTPVEENEZBARRAREE
BT SRR MY SE OB FER

BRPAMEDDEATEIEE  BRIE
EREE 2RI MBI EBHEEEL
EHEBTEK  c "BEARBDEEZRE
RYEBHER —FRKE B AES
#1,917,266,000C( Z T - =F : &

#51,409,354,0007T) ° fREEFAHIR —
FRUgE o

25 HitERBEE
2024 2023
—EMF —Eo=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
(Restated)
(&&E3)
19,159 20,223
29,329 24,902
118,471 29,097
19,789 9,015
186,748 83,237

R [ 44 {8 78 % 33,453,000 L ( = &
— =4 : B%11,785,0007T ) Z Efth
ERBEECIERT  EARTAE
ERTEEZER  HPUE(ZET
— =4 : B%329,0007T) BREBNIK
o

BiaE -
R -_mMER-_BE-_=F=A=+—

B ZEsRTEAMRET A EE
REB 2ENFLERE -

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

26 INVENTORIES

Raw materials R A
Finished goods R

R

Consumables

The costs of inventories sold, used and written down recognised
as expenses and included in cost of sales amounted to
HK$1,523,546,000 during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
HK$1,480,000,000).

Floating charges were created on the inventories with total carrying
value of HK$182,650,000 (2023: HK$265,221,000) for the purpose
of securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

27 PROPERTIES FOR SALE

26 78
2024 2023
—®_NF ——
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT
7,077 10,193
211,842 286,006
3,653 1,642
222,572 297,841

Unamortised prepaid land leases REHEMN T HEE
— Hong Kong — B
— Mainland China — R E A
Development costs BRKA

Properties for sale included the Group's share of a joint operation
with carrying value of HK$18,129,000 (2023: HK$18,129,000) as at
31 March 2024.

The cost of properties sold and included in cost of sales (before
provision recognised/written back for properties for sale to net
realisable value) amounted to HK$133,233,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024 (2023: HK$54,710,000).
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HE-_Z-_NW&F=A=+—HI1F
[ BERAEIHIWINABEERRZ
EE ERREMRTEERAN B
1,5623,5646,000c (=T = =4 : B
1,480,000,0007T) °

8 M 42 {8 /8 % 182,650,000 L (= &
— =4 #10265,221,0007T) 21FE
EEFBHER - EARTASEEIRT
EEZER-

1 FEUME

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT
15,882 15,882
82,309 111,617
671,828 880,532
770,019 1,008,031

R-ZE-_WME=F=+—H F&9Y
XBREKEEAS 18,129,000
“E - =4 : #18,129,0007T) 2
ZIK;%FME—F'%%:%&%%%E o

BE-_Z-_MWMF=A=+—HI#F
E - BEIINABEERRZMEKK
(IBEER, BOSEMERER
RIS IRHERT) &7 #133,233,000T
T =% : £¥54,710,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND 28 BWIRR - &NEE - ENF

PREPAYMENTS HiEE RFBEMNFIE
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—E-UE B —E-=

=ZA=+—H =ls] MA—H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT T

(Restated) (Restated)

(&EH) (& =5)

Trade debtors =) 773,656 469,736 529,958

Less: Provision for impairment B OE B RS (59,153) (43,392) (30,158)

Trade debtors, net B SRR - FEE 714,503 426,344 499,800

Retention receivables JiE U AR B R T8 409,676 336,227 301,398

Contract assets BHEE 271,171 193,070 179,035
Other debtors, deposits paid and  HEWKEEZ - ENFLH

prepayments e MIENFIE 668,328 776,767 687,127

Less: Provision for impairment R RIEE S (66,836) (35,117) (33,145)
Other debtors, deposits paid and  HEWKEEZ - ENFLH

prepayments, net e RIEMNFRIE - F8E 601,492 741,650 653,982

1,996,842 1,697,291 1,634,215

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R 233



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group has established different credit policies for customers in
each of its core businesses. The average credit period granted to
trade debtors is 0-90 days.

The ageing analysis of trade debtors, net of impairment provision, is
presented based on the invoice date as follows:

28 BUIRS - ANEE  BNE

HRE R FENKRE(F)
AEECHZERZOER TP
TRAZEERK -G TEIBEBALZ
FHEERR0-90K -

BHREEFNGRERBERERA
M2 ZREDHTAOT

31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—E_-_EF B = —_ET——
=A=1+—H0 == MmA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT BT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&E=5) (&&&E5)
Up to 60 days &% 60K 626,915 388,410 465,482
61 — 90 days 61-90K 24,792 17,109 19,197
Over 90 days #90H 62,796 20,825 15,121
714,503 426,344 499,800

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected credit loss
allowance for trade debtors. The movement in the impairment
provision for trade debtors during the year is as follows:

At beginning of the year F19
Exchange realignment b B
Provision recognised BEREE
Provision written back [RAEIEE S

Uncollectable amounts written off i34~ aJ kB~ £ %8

At end of the year FR
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AEERAEBY TS BOR
PR T A B A R - SR
5 FE U B 3005 F3 2 S0 TE 05 B 18
1B - PG PO 5 MR B 32 £
Z8BMT :

2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=4&
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Restated)

(F&E%))

43,392 30,158
(148) 68
29,668 17,768
(2,191) (503)
(11,568) (4,099)
59,153 43,392




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BHRERMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

28 EWHRN  SHNEE BEfNF
Hize RENREE)

KRB P U 2 A E T AT
M B AL

28 DEBTORS, CONTRACT ASSETS, DEPOSITS PAID AND
PREPAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’'s trade debtors are
denominated in the following currencies:

31 March 31 March 1 April

2024 2023 2022

—E-UE —EC=F —EC-CF

=ZA=1+—H0 =yEatal=! MmA—A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT T

(Restated) (Restated)

(& E5) (& E3))

Australian dollar SRIT 39,341 15,079 3,274
Canadian dollar MERTT 26,911 23,010 13,957
Hong Kong dollar s 489,963 273,627 349,805
Macau Pataca sk 35,692 123 103
Renminbi AR 73,316 56,009 75,961
US dollar ET 42,185 49,890 51,222
Others Hib 7,095 8,706 5,478
714,503 426,344 499,800

The carrying amounts of retention receivables and other debtors as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar, Macau Pataca and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of debtors and receivables as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 approximated their fair values.

Retention receivables amounted to HK$51,273,000 (2023:
HK$96,362,000) are expected to be settled within twelve months
after the end of the reporting period.

Included in debtors, contract assets, deposits paid and
prepayments was the Group’s share of assets of HK$369,150,000
(2023: HK$132,160,000) in relation to joint operations.

Floating charges were created on the debtors, contract assets,
deposits paid and prepayments with total carrying value of
HK$64,826,000 (2023: HK$138,004,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group.

RZEBEZNFEFR T === A
=+—H BRERBREREMER
BERZEMEEZEE B K
ARB BB -

RZTE-_NEER-_FT_=ZF=ZAHA
=+—H ' BRERRERGIE R
mMEEEQARERE °

JfE IR B8 3R 1B /B 51,273,000 T ( =
T =4 : 196,362,000t ) 7B HA
RIEEAREZ+ B RNEE -

JEWERSR - BHEE - ENfTFHES
FENRERSEASEREBAGEL
ERTECEE BB 369,150,000
T(ZZFE =4 : #¥ 132,160,000
JT) °

05 T 42 (B 75 ¥ 64,826,000 L (= &
— =4 : 5138,004,0007T ) Z fEU
B ANEE BENFLESRE
NRIBEEZSHET - EERTAE
ERITEEZER -

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

29 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES 29 FRAEEERHEEEE
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EARKEE

2024 2023

—E-ME —To=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Leasehold land THE T 1,197,106 1,403,168
Buildings BF 49,658 75,415
Equipment B 2,206 832
1,248,970 1,479,415
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended HRMEEEFREE  #HEZ
31 March 2024 amounted to HK$3,700,000 (2023: E-_ME=/A=+—HIFEEZ
HK$24,566,000), due to new leases of buildings and NEFRAEEERBTS,700,000
equipment. TL(ZE =4 : #%24,566,000

JL) °
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAE

2024 2023

—EMF ZE=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T ST T

Non-current IERED 63,157 78,026
Current mEh 19,105 18,195
82,262 96,221
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

29 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 29 FHESENHESE(E)
(¢) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement (c) REUWBRERAZEE

2024 2023
—E-E B
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FAEEE T E (Mi:15)

(note 15) 65,314 79,238
Less: Amounts allocated to B oREANTIREZER
contract work (987) (5,709)
64,327 73,529
Interest expense on lease HEBGBMHF BT
liabilities 3,790 4,103
Less: Amounts allocated to B OREANTIREZERE
contract work (42) (354)
3,748 3,749

Expense relating to short-term EHEEBREEN T (HEE10)
leases (note 10) 8,900 8,461

Expense relating to variable lease BT ATHE & ER A&
payments not included in lease HENFKEHZ H

liabilities - 106
The total cash outflow for lease liabilities during the year REBEE-_ZT-_WF=A=+—H
ended 31 March 2024 amounted to HK$19,941,000 (2023: H5E HEaBzHRent &
HK$29,338,000). B AE19,941,0000( =2 ==

£ : #1#29,338,0007T) °

(d) The Group’s leasing activities (d) AEBEZ2HEEH
The Group leases various offices, warehouses, retail stores, TEBHEEZERAE - BE -
equipment and vehicles. Rental contracts are typically made for TEEWH RBRAE-HES
fixed periods of 2 years to 10 years. H—RIEMFEE+F2ETEHR
RIS ©

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

30 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

30 TAEMBITA

2024 2023
—E_MEF —F-=
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial (liabilities)/assets in PTEMGITAZHB(BR) BE
respect of derivative financial
instruments
— foreign currency forward — IR ERONE & A (BT EE)
contracts (note) (425) 796
Analysed for reporting purposes as: FLEREABERON A ¢
Current assets mENEEE = 796
Current liabilities nENEaE (425) =
(425) 796

METERSBEHRRZAAES
B - TETRZARETREAL
RTAZWSARERYE T RE M
B TETAZEREFENATIE

The derivatives are measured at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Their fair values are determined with reference
to fair values of comparable instruments in the market or quoted
prices from counterparties. The net carrying amounts of derivatives

are denominated in the following currencies: WREN
2024 2023
—B-MEF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Euro (B (403) 707
US dollar EViv - 67
Japanese Yen H (22) 22
(425) 796

Note: BIEE

AEEATENINEISHAEHE MR X &
Ml RBINESY r HBEERSHERS
BEHE41,773,000c (2T == F « B
69,570,0007T) - WEEHNER TN
FNA=Z+HE-_T_MMFRA+LHH
BR(ZE_=F R _E_=ZFNA+=
BE-_Z=-_=FRA+/\B)EIH -

Foreign currency forward contracts of the Group with a total notional
amount up to HK$41,773,000 (2023: HK$69,570,000) were entered to
swap various foreign currencies to other cross currencies. These contracts
matured within the period from 30 April 2024 to 17 May 2024 (2023: from 13
April 2023 to 18 May 2023).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TSR R

31 BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held, short-term bank
deposits with original maturity more than three months, short-term
bank deposits with original maturity up to three months and cash
placed with financial institutions. The carrying amounts of these
assets approximate their fair values.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

N RVITEFERRS
PORGERESBERERS  R=
EAEIM Y GHRITER  R=(E
ASANEIR Y EHETERREA
PSHE RS WESEEYERE
HEQARERE °

2024 2023
—E_MF TR
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT I

Cash and unpledged bank deposits R4 RERE=18A s ARNZ| 2
with original maturity up to three IR TIF R

months

Unpledged bank deposits with R={8 A28 S IRIT
original maturity more than three T
months

Pledged bank deposits BIRBIBITERK

2,352,781 2,007,183
95,540 489,752
23,936 5,702

2,472,257 2,502,637

HIEREERRAF

2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

31 BANK BALANCES AND CASH (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of bank balances and cash are denominated

in the following currencies:

Australian dollar JRIT
British Pound REE
Canadian dollar I N
Euro (S
Hong Kong dollar ok
Macau Pataca RIS
Renminbi ARE
Singapore dollar Fransg T
Thai Baht B3

US dollar ETT
Others HAth

Charges were created on the Group’s bank balances of
HK$141,714,000 (2023: HK$135,901,000) for the purpose of
securing banking facilities granted to the Group, of which balances
of HK$117,778,000 (2023: HK$130,199,000) were subject to
floating charges to secure the banking facilities granted to the

Group as at 31 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, the effective interest rates on fixed bank
deposits of the Group were 4.6% (2023: 3.8%) per annum; and
these deposits had an average maturity of 81 days (2023: 159

days).

As at 31 March 2024, bank balances and cash of HK$247,364,000
(2023: HK$361,065,000) were held in Mainland China and are
subject to local exchange control regulations, under which the
balances could not be exported freely out of Mainland China. The
repatriation of funds out of Mainland China is possibly conducted by

way of dividends or other means as complied to the regulations.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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N RITEERBES(E)

RITEFELRRE 2REETIATIE
W REA

2024 2023
—E_UE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
14,583 7,157
37,424 22,502
48,504 61,903
1,246 5,899
1,722,565 1,756,872
9,676 51,851
246,343 376,025
3,405 1,928
36,781 37,971
345,498 172,413
6,232 8,116
2,472,257 2,502,637

S #141,714,000 0 (=T = = F :
& ¥ 135,901,000 7T ) 2 AN & B8R 17
HEHREEER  EARTAKERTT
EEZER HbPR-_Z-_NEFE=A
=+—HEERZSHERNEHEE
117,778,000 c( ZE =4 : /B
130,199,0007T) ' fEAIR T AL BIR
TEEZER-

R-ZE-_WNE=ZF=+—H ' A&H
ZEHRRITHE R ERFFEE4.6%
(ZEBE-=% :38%) ' EEFRZ
FHEHEASIRK(ZZE_=4F : 159
K)o

R-_Z-_WME=RA=+—H8 %48
RABRREZRITEFERRSEE
247,364,000 L (Z B - =4 : B
361,065,0007T ) 78 & 1& & b SN &
BE - B WEEEFETBSAHAER
FEAL - B EBRE S EME
TFTHREZ A AABEFBEAM o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R mAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

32 BANERMR  BEAEE BHRE

32 CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED,

CONTRACT LIABILITIES, ACCRUALS AND PROVISIONS AEE  EHEE - FAIREH
REE

31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022

—E-mE —F-= —F-=
=ZA=+—H ekl MmA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
(Restated) (Restated)
(&=7) (&&E5)
Trade creditors and bills payable & 5 BT AR R ERT ZE 367,003 381,111 337,711
Retention payables FERHMREE 5K1E 295,952 277,108 234,873
Deposits received BFE AL S 80,275 80,051 79,319
Contract liabilities SHBE 223,387 407,544 274,028
Accrued contract costs TEIRA LI A 1,250,066 1,032,530 1,110,794

Other creditors, accruals and HMEMNERER - BIREA

provisions R 845,317 790,227 736,611
3,062,000 2,968,571 2,773,336

The ageing analysis of trade creditors and bills payable is presented

based on the invoice date as follows: SRR DT ¢
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
—E-MEF e —E-—
=H=+—H =A=+—H MH—H
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT ST T
(Restated) (Restated)
(©ZE5) (&&E3)
Up to 60 days &=%60K 329,632 341,125 266,958
61 — 90 days 61-90K 12,342 13,468 28,863
Over 90 days #90K 25,029 26,518 41,890
367,003 381,111 337,711
HiEBREEFRAR

BIRNERNENEBREERAH

2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

32 CREDITORS, BILLS PAYABLE, DEPOSITS RECEIVED,

CONTRACT LIABILITIES, ACCRUALS AND PROVISIONS
(CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade creditors and bills
payable are denominated in the following currencies:

32 BANERMR  BAEE BHE

AZE - GHNEE - BARER
K 5 (&)

N 55 [ X 55 17 AR K X B A SR 4 2 T
EIETY A T 51 S B AT -

31 March 31 March 1 April

2024 2023 2022

—E-mEF —E=F —E_—F

=ZA=1+—H == MmA—HA

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BETT BT

(Restated) (Restated)

(78 &E751) (FeE%))

Hong Kong dollar T 229,346 225,244 224,150
Macau Pataca SELPY 33,788 39,881 11,659
Renminbi AR 70,050 60,010 65,489
US dollar = 25,191 36,152 29,431
Others Hh 8,628 19,824 6,982
367,003 381,111 337,711

The carrying amounts of retention payables and other creditors as
at 31 March 2024 and 2023 were mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollar, Macau Pataca and Renminbi.

The carrying amounts of creditors and payables as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 approximated their fair values.

Retention payables amounted to HK$80,255,000 (2023:
HK$80,438,000) are expected to be settled within twelve months
after the end of the reporting period.

Included in creditors, bills payable, deposits received, contract
liabilities, accruals and provisions are the Group's share of liabilities
of HK$547,028,000 (2023: HK$344,482,000) in relation to joint
operations.
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RZEBEZNFERZFT=Z=F= A
=+—H BEFREBFREBEREMES
R ZEmMEETBEE B R
AR BB -

RZE-_MEER_ZETE_=F=8
=t+—HB  ENERREMNRIEAZE
HEEEALERE °

F& 1< £R B X IR /5 78 %5 80,255,000 7T
—ZT =4 : 8%¥80,438,0007T) &
HRHmEBRRE T —EARNEE -

EMER  BNZEE - BEREFEAR
& ANEE BREBEAMKEEES
BAEBRAEKEGZARBREY
547,028,000 L (=T == F : B
344,482,0007T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TSR R

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES

The breakdown of groups of insurance contracts issued in a liability
position and reinsurance contracts held in an asset position is set
out in the table below:

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

B REKBRESONEERSR

&

ERENFRBRAENERNNEERAN
EBANBRREOARNNEERA
FHNTEK:

Liabilities: afE:

Total insurance contracts issued ERENRB S D4R
Assets: BE

Total reinsurance contracts held BEENBRERE AR
Net liabilities aEFH

2024 2023

—E-ME Sl =

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

(Restated)

(L&)

(1,269,499) (1,087,105)

110,236 43,373

(1,159,263) (1,043,732)
HiEBREEFRAR

2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILEFE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Insurance contract liabilities

Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts
issued showing the liability for remaining coverage and the
liability for incurred claims

The table below analyses the movement in the net insurance
contract liabilities, showing separately the liabilities for
remaining coverage and incurred claims:

3B REEBREASANEERE

& (&)

(a) REEEHNEE
EERRBREANFTEEREE
HFE(BERARIPETEERE
ERENESE)
TROMFREEHEEE
E{/E'J|J%Eﬁ§\/1_’\5ﬁi‘],ﬁﬁﬁf£&5§§$
REMEE :

2024
“ECNE

Liabilities for Liabilities for
remaining coverage incurred claims

REMEEER EREREER

Exclude
loss

Estimates
of the
present
value
Loss of future Risk

component component cash flows adjustment Total

FEEBH
HK$'000
BRI

Net insurance contract liabilities R=T==FMA—H

1 April 2023 (restated) MFRBANAE
(f=5) 390,462
Insurance revenue (note (i) RE BRI (FHsE(iv)) (504,069)

Incurred claims and other BEREREREMTH

expenses =
Insurance acquisition cash RRERRERE

flows (note (i) (FFEEG) 55,719
Change that related to SBFREAENE

past service =
Losses on onerous contracts  [ES1EA AR EE R

ARBERE
BERBH RENGT  ERER At
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
A®Tr  B®Trn  EETR BRTx

43 630,139 66,461 1,087,105
— — — (504,069)
- 405,591 37,289 442,880
- - - 55,719

— (94,297) (27,104) (121,401)

and reversals of those losses  ZZEH = 37,497 - - 37,497
Insurance services expenses R RIS (FftsE10)

(note 10) 55,719 37,497 311,294 10,185 414,695
Insurance service result REBRIEEE (M)

(note (iv] (448,350) 37497 311,294 10,185 (89,374)
Insurance finance expenses  (REE BT

(note 10) (note (i) (FIzE10) (FIEE (i) - - 22,536 - 22,536
Total changes in the NN CnE L0

consolidated income wE (V)

statement (note (iv)) (448,350) 37,497 333,830 10,185 (66,838)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE IR R M
For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE
3B rERBREBEANEERSA
&(&)

(a) REEENEE ()

CERRBREANFEERAE

FE(ERARIPEARERD SR
ERENEE) (B

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts
issued showing the liability for remaining coverage and the
liability for incurred claims (continued)

2024
“E-MF
Liabilities for
incurred claims

ERERMER

Estimates
of the
present
value

of future
cash flows

ARRERE
RENMGT
HK$'000
BT

Liabilities for
remaining coverage

AUHRAERE

Exclude
loss
component

Risk
adjustment

Loss

component Total

FBHRBH
HK$'000
BT

ERHH
HK$'000
BETR

ERAR
HK$'000
BETR

£
HK$'000
BET R

Insurance acquisition cash
flows asset and other
pre-recognition cash flows
derecognised and
other changes

Cash flows

Premium received (note (iii)
Claims and expenses paid
Acquisition costs paid

Total cash flows

RBERRERERE
AR AR LERERRRY
FHARTRER

]

RERE

REGUS G
EXfRERXH
EXNHERKA

REREBE

Net insurance contract liabilities R=—Z=—F=FA

at 31 March 2024

=t+—BaFRRE
ahaf

(8,607) - 434 - (8,173)

477,342 - - - 471,342

— — (163,632) — (163,632)

(56,305) - - - (56,305)

421,037 - (163,632) - 257,405

354,542 37,540 800,771 76,646 1,269,499
HIEREERRAF

2024 3R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mE B ERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a) Insurance contract liabilities (continued)

Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts
issued showing the liability for remaining coverage and the

3B AREBRBEANEERS
& (&)
(a) RERE %R M ()

CEBRRBEVNFEERNER
FE(ERARIPEARERD R

liability for incurred claims (continued) EZENERE)(E)
2023
Liabilities for Liabilities for
remaining coverage incurred claims
RIMEAEE BREREAR
Estimates
of the
present value
Exclude loss Loss of future Risk
component  component  cash flows  adjustment Total
-  A%BenE ) .
FEEHH EREHG  RENMG 2 fe 5 Bt

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARTT  ARTT BBtz A%t ARTR

Net insurance contract liabilities R=T==FMA—H

at 1 April 2022 (restated) MERBRENEE
(f=5) 281,875 74 410,710 42,401 735,060

Insurance revenue (note (iv))  RERERFEUCA (HFE(iv)) (509,273) = = = (509,273)
Incurred claims and other BRERERE AN

expenses - - 362,923 37,212 400,135
Insurance acquisition cash RBETRSRE

flows (note (i) (PR ZEG) 54,379 - - - 54,379
Change that related to SR REARNE

past service - = (41,463) (13,152) (54,615)
Losses on onerous contracts  E 1A A& E1E k&M

and reversals of those losses  ZZEE - (31) = - (31)
Insurance services expenses  {RIBIRIE S H (Mi3E10)

(note 10) 54,379 (31) 321,460 24,060 399,868
Insurance service result RERBRTS & (B (iv)

(note (iv)) (454,894) (31) 321,460 24,060 (109,405)
Insurance finance income REBRET BB

(note 10) (note (ii)) (FEE10) (FIzEG) - - (9,493) = (9,493)
Total changes in the REEAREXRME S

consolidated income @ (HiE(v)

statement (note (iv)) (454,894) (31) 311,967 24,060 (118,898)
Insurance acquisition cash RBEETREREEE

flows asset and other DA R 348 LERER A

pre-recognition cash flows FRARENER

derecognised and Hin# )

other changes 10,407 = (5) - 10,402
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND 33 REERBREBESANEEREA

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) & (&)
(a) Insurance contract liabilities (continued) (a) RBREHNEE(E)
Roll-forward of net asset or liability for insurance contracts EERRBREANFEEREE
issued showing the liability for remaining coverage and the HE(BERAIPEFEERDR
liability for incurred claims (continued) ERENERS)(E)
2023
“E-=F
Liabilities for Liabilities for
remaining coverage incurred claims
REBMETAR EREREAR
Estimates
of the
present value
Exclude loss Loss of future Risk
component  component  cash flows  adjustment Total
o  FIRgRE ) ‘
FERBH EREHG  RENME [Ef BB st

HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
ARTT  ARTT  BRTR  B%Tn  ARTR

Cash flows Beng

Premium received (note (i) B UREURE (i3 (i) 618,589 = = = 618,589
Claims and expenses paid BEXMRERT L - - (92,533) - (92,533)
Acquisition costs paid B3 BB AR (65,515) = = = (65,515)
Total cash flows RenERs 553,074 - (92,533) - 460,541

Net insurance contract liabilites R=ZE-=%=f
at 31 March 2023 (restated) =t+—BAFRR
AHEEKES) 390,462 43 630,139 66,461 1,087,105

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(a) Insurance contract liabilities (continued)
Note:

(i) Insurance acquisition cash flows were allocated on a straight-
line basis during the coverage period of the respective group of
contracts.

(i)  The Group has made an accounting policy choice for the product
line to not disaggregate insurance finance expenses/(income)
between profit or loss.

(iii)  Any refunds of premiums have been included in this line.
(iv) Inter-company insurance revenue of HK$22,5678,000 (2023:

HK$50,425,000) has been included in these lines.

Insurance contract liabilities are analysed for reporting
purposes as:

3B AREBRBEANEERS
& (&)
(a) REEEWAREGE)
GEX

(i FBREIRSRTENEBS A
R EEHEREREEDR

(i) AEEERERSRED SR
RER UM BRBMB X
H(A) RS 2 TS
Ll

(i) AIHE BIEERARERIK

(iv) ELIAE BEA R ERBRRE YK
A 822,578,000 (—E ==
£ : ##550,425,0007T) °

RRAEDAERREREIN S

Non-current portion IER BB (D

Current portion mENEB

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2024 2023
“E-NE —ET-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

(Restated)

(&E7)

904,789 781,842

364,710 305,263

1,269,499 1,087,105




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e R mAR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND 33 REERBREBESANEEREA

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) & (&)

(b) Reinsurance contract assets (b) BREEEHNEE
Roll-forward of net asset or liability for reinsurance EENBREEYNZEEESEA
contracts held showing the assets for remaining coverage BEE(BETIAIPETEERD
and the amounts recoverable on incurred claims BEREVEBENSE)
The table below analyses the movement in the net reinsurance TERAOMFERRENEESE
contract assets, showing separately the assets for remaining g EEBETRIBETEE
coverage and the amount recoverable for incurred claims: FEBAERERNT#HOESEE :

2024
—EomE
Assets for Amount recoverable
remaining coverage on incurred claims
RIHEREE BRERENTROSH

Estimates
Exclude of the

loss- Loss- present value
recovery recovery of future Risk
component  component cash flows  adjustment Total
FEERE *RBLTE .
B BRED¥G  RENME RRAE by
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI AR BRI BRI BRI

Net reinsurance contract assets at 1 —Z—=%1A—HK

1 April 2023 (restated) FARBANEE
(&&5) (1,145) - 41,041 3,477 43,373
Reinsurance expenses BRERESH (45,638) - - = (45,638)
Recovery of incurred claims and ~ BEIEHEARERHM

other expenses i - - 55,307 5,456 60,763
Changes that relate to past service EBEREEENED - - (9,465) (813) (10,278)
Recovery of losses on onerous BoBRERRNNEBER

underlying contracts and EOZEREHE

reversals of those recoveries (BzE()

(note (i) - 27,256 - - 27,256
Reinsurance recoveries BRREDE - 27,256 45,842 4,643 71,141
Insurance service result (note 10)  (RERBREEE(MzE10) (45,638) 21,256 45,842 4,643 32,103
Reinsurance finance income BREFBERA

(note 10 (note (ii) (PIzET0) (PFEG) - - 1,337 - 1,337
Total changes in the consolidated ~ RGAKERNEELE

income statement (45,638) 27,256 47,179 4,643 33,440
Other pre-recognition cash flows 4 |-BREFHER

derecognised and other changes ~ H&REREMEH 3,123 - = = 3,123
Cash flows Beneg
Premium paid BEXfNRE 35,636 - - - 35,636
Amounts received ElEBEEE - - (5,336) = (5,336)
Total cash flows RemEnE 35,636 - (5,336) = 30,300

Net reinsurance contract assets at EA_E_EE H + E
31 March 2024 MEFBRBANEE (8,024) 27,256 82,884 8,120 110,236

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILEFE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND 3B REERBREBEANEEREA

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) &(&E)

(b) Reinsurance contract assets (continued) (b) BRIEEHNEE (&)
Roll-forward of net asset or liability for reinsurance EENBRESYZEEESREA
contracts held showing the assets for remaining coverage BEE(ERAIBEEEERDS
and the amounts recoverable on incurred claims (continued) BRAEZEWBONSEE)(E)

2023
“F-ZF
Assets for Amount recoverable
remaining coverage on incurred claims
REBMEAEE BRERENTENSE
Estimates
Exclude of the
loss- Loss-  present value
recovery recovery of future Risk
component component cash flows adjustment Total
3FE§T§%@ N ARBERE i ‘
By EEELDHR BERGET RRAE a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI AR BRI AR AR

Net reinsurance contract assets at R-ZE-—FMA—HH)

1 April 2022 (restated) FARBANEE
) 2,258 - 31,588 2,59 36,442
Reinsurance expenses BRBRREL (44,289) - - - (44,289)

Recovery of incurred claims and ~ BEIZEAREREMEH

other expenses - - 24,558 2,616 27,174
Changes that relate to past service  E3A# REE A E - - (12,142) (1,735) (13,877)
Reinsurance recoveries BRRERZE - - 12,416 881 13,297
Insurance service result (note 10)  RIEFRBEE (H10) (44,289) - 12,416 881 (30,992)
Reinsurance finance expenses BREMBL L

(note 10} (note (ii) (PzE10) (B i) = - (1,551) - (1,551)

Total changes in the consolidated ~ MRANERHNEEEE
income statement (44,289) - 10,865 881 (32,543)

Other pre-recognition cash flows &R |- K EHER

derecognised and other changes fﬁﬁmugﬁﬁﬁ’%‘a 5,074 = = = 5,074
Cash flows Beneg
Premium paid BEXNRE 35,812 - - = 35,812
Amounts received BliBmeE - - (1,412) - (1,412)
Total cash flows Behens 36,812 - (1,412) - 34,400
Net reinsurance contract assets at W-Z-=4=f=1—H
31 March 2023 (restated) MEBRBANEE
(mE5) (1,145) = 41,041 3477 43,373
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR R AR M AL

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND 33 REERBREBESANEEREA
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) & (&)

(b) BREGVEE(E)

(b) Reinsurance contract assets (continued)

Roll-forward of net asset or liability for reinsurance
contracts held showing the assets for remaining coverage
and the amounts recoverable on incurred claims (continued)

Note:

(i) A loss-recovery component was set up upon the initial recognition
of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts.

(i)  The Group applies a consistent accounting policy to reinsurance
contracts held and recognises net insurance finance income/
(expenses) in profit or loss only.

Reinsurance contract assets are analysed for reporting
purposes as:

BRENBRERENZFEERA
BEB(ETRIAMREEERDS
BERKTRENSH) (8)
GEX

(i) MBEREBRRE HERA
RIS & RR L 51RO B

(i) NEERFENBRRAOER
—EEE K 0 WENERE
RBERBIBRA () -

BREEHNEERRERESN
=3

2024 2023
—E-ME —ECo=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Restated)
(& E5))
Non-current portion JEMEN LD 41,804 43,373
Current portion mENEBD 68,432 =
110,236 43,373
(c) Claims development tables (c) REBRER

The following tables show the estimates of cumulative incurred
claims, including both claims notified and IBNR for each
successive accident year at each reporting date, together with
cumulative payments to date.

As required by HKFRS 17, in setting claims provisions, the
Group gives consideration to the probability and magnitude of
future experience being more adverse than assumed which
is reflected in the risk adjustment. In general, the uncertainty
associated with the ultimate cost of settling claims is the
greatest when the claim is at an early stage of development.
As claims develop, the ultimate cost of claims becomes more
certain.

The Group has not disclosed previously unpublished
information about claims development that occurred earlier
than five years before the end of the annual reporting period in
which it first applies HKFRS 17.

REREAHNRACRLERE
ZEFH(BREBMALREELEBAR
HBHRE) ARES R

=+
e

BREEMBEREEFTRMA
BE  RRUREBBEER - KK
EERARERBRBRERTH
MATREERFZERE - YRER
AEPRR - —KME - BES
RIEMREKAE BT HEE M
RERERNF B RREBRES&K
= BERERR  RENRK
7N B E R B o

AEBEYEFEENERNERSR
B S R 175 A F R R
EHRAERMAFANREER
BRRMBERRMER -

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_WF=A=+—HIFE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND 3B REBERBRBEANEERE

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) & (&)
(c) Claims development tables (continued) (c) REZREXR(E)
Accident year claims development table — gross as at 2024: BEINEERERRER—MN_Z
ZIUFRARTE ¢
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
ZE2CTF T4 ZE-C-F ZZ--f bk k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT A%t BELREE ST
Estimate of cumulative CRESE
claims
- year 1 —-$—F 88,282 185,592 270,524 380,533 436,754
- year 2 —-F-F 75,295 141,161 235,446 368,299 -
-year 3 —-F=F 67,673 129,933 201,769 - -
- year 4 —EnmF 58,915 91,525 = = -
-year 5 —-ERE 50,175 = = - -
Cumulative gross claims — ZitEAR(E 50,175 o11l,525 201,769 368,299 436,754 1,148,522
Cumulative payments to 124581 255
date (39,999) (63,922) (98,496) (73,616) (12,401)  (288,434)
10,176 27,603 103,273 294,683 424,353 860,088
Cumulative gross claims ~ 2EBZXE
— prior accident years —BABINEE 2,115
Gross undiscounted BRAREBRBARIE
liabilities for incurred =R
claims 862,203
Effect of discounting jiigNsa) -7 (61,792)
Risk adjustment [ i 2 76,645
Other incurred insurance  E.fth 2 %A H) R 7 E
expenses 361
Total gross liabilities for ~ BE4AREHEEE
incurred claims

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

877,417



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

3B RERBRESANEERSE

33 INSURANCE AND REINSURANCE CONTRACT ASSETS AND

2024 3R

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) &E(E)
(c) Claims development tables (continued) (c) REZEXR(E)
Accident year claims development table — net as at 2024: EINFEREXRER—MN_Z
TP R FEE ¢
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total
ZZoTF T4 ZT-C-F ZZ--f ek k)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT BT A%Tr BELREE ST
Estimate of cumulative ERESE
claims
- vyear 1 —F—F 82,062 177,211 254,108 353,814 378,762
- year 2 —-F-F 65,677 137,236 229,151 353,643 -
-year 3 —-F=F 55,146 123,082 194,093 - -
- year 4 - $EnmF 50,573 88,023 = = -
-year5 -$£1F 40,245 = - - -
Cumulative net claims 2 FERE 40,245 88,023 194,093 353,643 378,762 1,054,766
Cumulative payments to 124581 255
date (37,765) (63,306) (95,524) (72,216) (11,902)  (280,713)
2,480 24,717 98,569 281,427 366,860 774,053
Cumulative net claims ZEPFRE
- prior accident years ~ —BABINEE 2,114
Net undiscounted liabilities 2%+ & {EH))% ABE
for incurred claims =L 776,167
Effect of discounting AT E (56,962)
Risk adjustment [ 2 68,525
Other incurred insurance  E.fth 2 %4 H) R 7 &
expenses (1,317)
Total net liabilities for ERERENEFAR
incurred claims 786,413
ETEREEERAT 953
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

34 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 34 SRITREMER

Bank and other borrowings are repayable 817 R E (S (EEHAM T ¢

as follows:
Within one year or repayable on demand —&E R BIRER(EE
More than 1 year but not exceeding —F A HETBBRE
2 years
More than 2 years but not exceeding REA FETBBRF
5 years
Exceeding 5 years HBimAF
Less: Amount due within one year or B ERBEEANEELR
repayable on demand disclosed —FREIEEREK
under current liabilities BEZTH
Represented by: 255
Secured BHEH
Unsecured it

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had secured bank loans for certain
USA senior housing businesses with a carrying amount of HK$478
million (2023: HK$859 million), of which HK$478 million (2023:
HK$794 million) was without recourse to the Group other than the
borrowing subsidiaries. These loans are subjected to covenant
clauses.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

2024 2023
—E-EF —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AT

1,044,471 900,334
954,759 847,219
2,061,654 1,675,781
410,021 457,794
4,470,905 3,881,128
(1,044,471) (900,334)
3,426,434 2,980,794
942,317 1,521,691
3,528,588 2,359,437
4,470,905 3,881,128

R-ZE-_WFE=A=+—H  Xx&EE
ERETERLZEREEERZER
HIRITER - REEABE478(E T
TR =F  B%859E) EAF
kL 78BIL (D E =4 : BK7.94
B ERANERE (BB RRIBRIN)
BENEN  ZEEREEBTHHEK
Ko



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

TSR R

34 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The carrying value of the bank and other borrowings approximate
their fair values as majority of the borrowings carried interest at
floating rate. The bank and other borrowings are denominated in the
following currencies:

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

34 SRITREAERR ()

B K EB15 (8 K TD AR BRI R A8 -
RITRAMERZERABERLARE
& © RITREMERTIAT I &
REAT

British Pound HEE
Canadian dollar mExxT
Hong Kong dollar i
Renminbi AR
US dollar =

The effective interest rates per annum of the bank and other
borrowings as at 31 March were as follows:

British Pound S
Canadian dollar MEXRTT
Hong Kong dollar T
Renminbi AR
US dollar eV

2024 2023

—E_UE —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

289,465 383,966

27,058 7,108

3,601,207 2,438,099

75,296 192,684

477,879 859,271

4,470,905 3,881,128
R=ZA=+—H ' FIkEMERZ

ERFFEOT

2024 2023

kGl -3 T =F

6.9% 5.9%

6.5% 6.0%

5.9% 4.4%

4.1% 4.2%

3.8% 5.3%

Bank and other borrowings of HK$942,317,000 (2023:
HK$1,521,691,000) were secured by charges on the assets of
the Group as set out in notes 14, 15, 22, 25, 26, 28 and 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ER1T M E Ath 8 B # 942,317,000 7T

—E =4 : #%1521,691,000
TO) VAR EBEEFER - RREH
W ERMFE14 - 15 22 ~ 25~ 26
28K 31NH 5 -

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV BHRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_WF=A=+—HIFE

35 SHARE CAPITAL 35 R
Number
of shares Share capital
RO E [
HK$'000
PE T IT
Ordinary shares of HK$1.25 each SREESE1.267T 2 TRk
Authorised: EER A
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and R-ZTE-__FP@MA—H -
31 March 2024 —EC=FZA=+—HK
—E-_NMFE=HA=1+—H 540,000,000 675,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRBER
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and = —E!
31 March 2024 TR =F=-A=+—H~K
—E_WMFE=HA=1+—H 301,928,440 377,411
36 RESERVES 36 @
Attributable to shareholders of the Company
EAARRER
Other
Capital  Investment assets  Exchange
Share  Capital redemption revaluation revaluation fluctuation  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reseve  reserve  profits
., EARE REEf HHEE  HERR .,
RiVEE  EAGE e B EfiRE TERE REEN g
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AETn BETn  A%Tn  BETn  AMTn  B¥Tn  BMTn A%t
(note)
(H3)
Restated at 1 April 2023 R-ZE-ZEmA-AEE] 704,087 377,940 8,785 30997 257574 120,005 8,550,074 10,049,462
Loss for the year EEEE - - - - - - (370,390)  (370,390)
Change in fair value of investments at E’Mﬁ@' M2 ERERE ZREN
fair value through other comprehensive income DMEEH - - - 4,061 - - - 4,061
Exchange difference on translation of operations ~ HEENHELT  BEATARALAEL
of overseas subsidiaries, associates and joint ERAMEENERAEE
ventures - - - - - (179,914) - (179,914)
Fair value surplus of property, plant and equipment 912 BE RAREATRENEE
upon transfer to investment properties NMERS - - - - 13,940 - - 13,940
Transfer 4] - 2,519 - (56) - - (2,523) -
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year FE2FENE/(SiH) &% - 2,519 - 4005 13940  (179.914) (372,913)  (532,303)
Dividends paid ERRE - - - - - - (102,656)  (102,656)
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary from [ —FERRE XUk —EHB A TEMER
anon-controlling interest - (7,325) - - - - - (7,325)
At 31 March 2024 W-8-MmE=f=+-A 704,087 373,194 8,785 35,002 271514 (59,909) 8,074,505 9,407,178
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

36 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 36 fEE (&)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company
ARIREES

Other

Capital  Investment assets  Hedging  Exchange
Share Capital redemption revaluation revaluation revaluation fluctuation  Retained
premium  reserve  reserve  reServe  reserve  [eserve  Tesenve profits Total

HABE  REER  AbEE  WAER  HERS
Rita® AxEE 1 BE  EfER BE  IRE  REEN aE
HK§'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AT BT BBt #ETR  BETn  BETn BETr ARt #ETr

(note)
(i3]
At 1April 2022, as previously reported  W=BZZFMA-FA REHRR/ 704087 377940 8785 64686 226,979 65 415171 8414251 10,211,964
Impact of initial adoption of HKFRS 17 BRIEREEA S TESEN
fnote 2(alfv) ye(Hxaiv) - = - 2 - - L T
Restated at 1 April 2022 RZZ-FMA-R (&) 704,087 377,940 8785 64686 226979 65 415171 8,431,833 10,229,546
Profit for the year (restated) EEEH (BET)) - - - = = = - 257568 257,568
Change in fair value of investments at BOAESI NG ZANEREL
fair value through other comprehensive RENALERY
income - - - (37,148) - - - - (37,148
Exchange difference on translation of BERNHBAR  BEQAR
operations of overseas subsidiaries, AERELEHRMEELINE
associates and joint ventures HBER - - - - - - (29,166) - (295,166)
Fair value surplus of property, plant and % BERAGEERZREVER
equipment upon transfer to investment PANIN LS
properties - - - - 30,59 - - - 30,59
Fair value adjustments on the derivative EEARSREHRITEHNBIA
financial instruments designated as cash N4 ERE
flow hedge - - - - = (65) = = (65)
Release of reserve upon disposal of equity  HERAL BHIALMR AKZRE
investment at fair value through other ERERBERE
comprehensive income - - - 3,459 - = = (3,459) -
Total comprehensive (expenses)/income for  EE2E (X 1H) /Wi fest
the year [restated) (48 E3)) - - - (33689 305% 65) (95166 254109  (44216)
Dividends paid BfiRe - = = = = = - (135,868) (135,868
Restated at 31 March 2023 R-B-=E=fA=+-REE] 704,087 377,940 8,785 30997 257,574 - 120,005 8,550,074 10,049,462
Note: fisE -
The balance arose mainly from various Group reorganisations in the past T ERABELEAEFEEHLASIE -
including redomicile of the Company, spin-offs and privatisation of group BERNAREMM EBCEZHLHFLILE
entities. {t o

HEEREEERAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
k=l E e S

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

37 DEFERRED TAXATION

The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and prior

37 EZERIE
TXHBPARESEERBARSE
EHAZTERTEHREAR (AE)

258

reporting years:

Accelerated Amortisation

BB

tax of intangible  Revaluation Tax

depreciation assets of properties losses Others Total

MEHERE BYEEEH EfiNE HERE Heth ag

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BB BB BB BB BB BB

At 1 April 2023 [restated) RZEZ=FMA—-R(LE5) 39,574 92,711 341,967 (80,697) (18,993) 374,562

Exchange realignment EHAE (15) (340) (14,369) 219 79 (14,366)
Charged/(credited) to consolidated A MBRNIEL /(GEA)

income statement (note 11) (FsE11) 2,975 (11,389) 43,348 17,346 (279) 52,001
Charged to reserves NEEERIR - - 4,646 - - 4,646
At 31 March 2024 R-E-mE=A=1+-A 42,534 80,982 375,592 (63,072) (19,193) 416,343
At 1 April 2022 (restated) RZEZZEMA-R(LE7) 39,831 84,398 337,084 (102,613) (20,746) 337,954
Exchange realignment et 186 226 (24,822) (173) (532) (25,115)
(Credited)/charged to consolidated ~ REEAKERA(A) /%

income statement (restated) (=50 (1)

(note 11 (443) 8,087 29,107 22,089 2,285 61,125
Charged to reserves INEEERR - - 598 - - 598
At 31 March 2023 (restated) \_E-_=F=fA=1-H

(=5 39,574 92,71 341,967 (80,697) (18,993) 374,562
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

37 DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

For the purposes of consolidated statement of financial position
presentation, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

Deferred tax assets ELEFR B E E
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had unused tax losses of
HK$3,913,434,000 (2023: HK$3,405,622,000) available for
offset against future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets
had been recognised in respect of HK$260,388,000 (2023:
HK$339,923,000) of such losses. No deferred tax assets had
been recognised in respect of the remaining HK$3,653,046,000
(2023: HK$3,065,699,000) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses were losses
of HK$135,272,000, HK$170,430,000 and HK$23,570,000
(2023: HK$105,122,000, HK$126,553,000 and HK$14,745,000)
of subsidiaries in Mainland China, the USA and Canada that will
gradually expire up to December 2028, March 2038 and March 2044
(2023: December 2027, March 2038 and March 2043) respectively;
the remaining tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2024, deferred tax liabilities of HK$164,844,000
(2023: HK$167,198,000) had not been recognised for the
withholding tax that would be payable on the unappropriated
earnings of certain subsidiaries. Such amounts were expected to be
reinvested.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had unrecognised deductible
temporary differences of HK$435,136,000 (2023: HK$254,407,000).
No deferred tax asset had been recognised in relation to such
deductible temporary differences as it is not probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences can be utilised.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

37 IERERE (&)

BREASKEMBRRARZEI AR
ETECEHBEEEREBEBELEER
i - EI R ME AR 2 BEFRELE &
DITR =

2024 2023
—EomE —E-=f&
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
(Restated)

(s E7))

(62,503) (63,607)
479,346 438,169
416,843 374,562

—=EF -0 =
XA ZHE )Es i
3,913,434,000 0 ( — T —
75 ¥ 3,405,622,00 ) '

5 S 2R 2 B R B ﬂ H gk
260,388,000 L (—Z T - =4 : H
339,923,000 ) 2 BB B E R
BBELEHEEE - ARG HENE
Bl MW ERBR T Z2HIEBEBEBE
3,653,046,000 L ( T = =F : &
¥ 3,065,699,000 7T ) HE 52 IE 1§ 18
BE - ﬂﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁmﬁlﬁﬁéﬁa@%qﬂlm
o EERNEANERRZEES
#135,272,0007T * & #170,430,000
JC N 7% # 23,670,000 T (=& = =
£ . 7 % 105,122,000 7T~ B &
126,553,000 7T & /& ¥ 14,745,000
7T) c HERES E\JE_E_J\¢+_
A ZZE=ZN\F=ZAR_ZENmF=
A(ZZE_=: T _t&+=-8 -

—EZ\FZAKR_ZTEWN=F=A)

mes N 2 BB B G ER AL -

N-ZZE-_WE=A=+—H ' KB
ETHEBRRARDIKEF M g
HZ%EE?Dﬁﬁ%@‘ﬁkﬁlﬁﬁﬁ}%?ﬁ%
164,844,000 c (T = =4F : B
167,198,000 T) - FEEAIL EFRIEES A
EBRRE -

RZE-_WNE=A=+—H  x&EE
CJARBRAMBEEHZEABK
435,136,000 c( — T =% : B
254,407,0007T) ° FEFTTE R KA £ B
2 RO IABERERR 2T
MREREE=8 WU AEREBEZ
AR EREERE A RTEHRBEE

HiEBREEFRAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILEFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 mMEBEERERKE

(a) Cash generated from operations (a) REEEZES
2024 2023
“E-NE —Eo=E
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BT
(Restated)
27
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRI (E18) A (161,252) 446,439
Adjustments for: FE
Share of results of associates TR /NG E (169,739) (173,859)
Share of results of joint ventures Fiit e & bR 49,127 49,355
Interest income FEUWA (89,706) (62,454)
Interest expenses on bank overdrafts, WRITBEL - R AR
non-controlling interests and bank HRIT R H A {8 3R
and other borrowings MBS H 213,334 133,463
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEEENF ST H 3,748 3,749
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BERRBEITE
equipment 194,516 203,968
Amortisation of other intangible assets HiEp EE#E 2,544 9,147
Increase in fair value of investment WEMEZ DR EEN
properties, net EH (3,023) (103,879)
Gain on transfer of properties for FEMEERTREME
sale to investment properties pdl & (11,575) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BER&E2 W
plant and equipment, net SFE (1,389) (4,230)
Loss on disposal of a senior housing HE—BRER XK 2 BB
business (note 38(b)) (Ht338(b)) - 18,337
Loss on disposal of assets held-for-sale  HE&ZEHEEEZER - 146
Loss on investments at fair value BARBEIABREEZ
through profit or loss, net K& ZEE  FE 148,304 14,456
Loss/(gain) on derivative financial fTHESRI AV ER/(WE
instruments 1,221 (843)
Provision (written back)/recognised for %é@ )/ EREERER
inventories to net realisable value, net A& HINRE - FEEE (3,657) 9,419
Provision recognised for trade and EEEW%J%&EMFEWEEMZ
other debtors, net ﬁé{ﬁ pect-c] 39,458 26,064
Provision for loss of interest in a R—EEERENER L
joint venture Ei'ﬂélﬁéﬁ 21,800 =
Impairment loss on goodwill ‘e RERR 89,661 -
Provision recognised for properties EHRERTYE 2 BE
under development 190,500 -
Provision written back for properties BOSEMEBE
for sale - (30,000)
Provision recognised for properties ERRGENERBEETER
for sale to net realisable value FE 27,991 -
Impairment loss on properties for sale HEME ZREER - 23,294
Impairment loss on property, ME - BERZEZ
plant and equipment WIEEE 28,148 28,984
Operating cash flows before BEESEEAI
movements in working capital RERERE 570,011 601,556
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 38 MEBEERERMT(E)
(CONTINUED)

(a) Cash generated from operations (continued) (a) REEEZHRS(HE)
2024 2023
—ET-mE ZE=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(Restated)
(F &%)
Changes in working capital LIEESEH
(Increase)/decrease in amounts due JEUZSFIEAZREZRBR N (38 n),~
from non-controlling interests N (3,651) 5
Decrease/(increase) in investments 324 35K 2N 51|88 2
at amortised cost wERL, () 25,199 (147,082)
Increase in investments at fair value RAREFIABZRERZRE
through profit or loss by (305,866) (343,259)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &4/ (#140) 68,170 (23,208)
Decrease in properties for sale FEMERD 133,233 42,509
Increase in properties under R YEEEN
development (225,723) (436,934)
Increase in debtors, contract FEWRRSR - GHEE - B
assets, deposits paid and FHiEE RTENRIEE N
prepayments (445,195) (52,717)
Increase in amounts due to non- & SEHE IR AR 25 BR % 1
controlling interests 16,118 14,989
Increase in creditors, bills payable, [FEMEEF - BNZEE - 2U
deposits received, contract GEAE:  AH8E - BiR
liabilities, accruals and provisions & F§ } #4532 A0 81,360 216,266
Increase in insurance contract REE A BELN
liabilities 182,394 352,045
Decrease in assets held-for-sale BIEHEBERD - 2,771
Increase in reinsurance contract BREAHEEL N
assets (66,863) (6,931)
Other non-cash items HitIFREHA 973 (6,077)
Total changes in working capital BIEESEERE (539,851) (387,623)
Cash generated from operations KEZEZIRSG 30,160 213,933
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 38 MEEERERMT(E)

FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Disposal of a senior housing business (b) HE—EHZERSER
On 21 November 2022, the Group has entered into an R—_E-—_—&F=+—HA=-+—H -
agreement with an independent third party to dispose of a AREBEBIE=HEI— D%
senior housing property located in Michigan, USA, and its & UAHE —BAUREBZE&K
related business for a total consideration of (i) US$17.9 million RINMLZZe & EREEREZE
(equivalent to approximately HK$140 million), subject to closing % BREA,7908 =T (M
adjustment, and (ii) a contingent consideration that is capped BRAE 40187T) © AIEH &
and limited to a maximum amount of US$3 million (equivalent SRR M) ER&xS A3008
to approximately HK$23.5 million). The transaction was EL(EERAER2,35087T)H
completed on 1 March 2023. HARE - ZRHER =T ==
F=ZF—HZEMK °

2023

—EC-=F

HK$'000

BT T

Cash consideration RERE 140,336
Less: professional fees and other expenses W BFEEARAEME S (7,547)
132,795

Property, plant and equipment (note 15) W% - BB K&k (FEE15) (120,324)
Goodwill (note 16) & (fsE16) (30,423)
Deposits paid BEfNFHES (385)
Total assets disposed BHEZREE (151,132)
Loss on disposal (note 8) HEEIH 2 BE(HES) (18,337)

Net cash inflow arising from the disposal: HESHEAMNBRESRAFRE

Cash consideration received BUERERE 140,336
Less: professional fees and other expenses W BEEAREME (7,541)

132,795
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

38 RERERERME(E)

38 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities/(assets) arising from financing (c) REFTBFIELERE (LE)
activities Z ¥R

Bank Pledged
and other bank Lease
borrowings deposits liabilities
RITR g

HitfE & RITER HEAE

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

BT T BT T BT T

At 1 April 2023 RZEZ=%FmA—A 3,881,128 (5,702) 96,221
Cash flows Bang 587,414 (18,116) (16,151)
Exchange realignment [E 5 = (4,536) (118) (3,310)
New lease arrangements HHETH - - 5,286
Others Eith 6,899 - 216
At 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_MFE=A=+—H 4,470,905 (23,936) 82,262
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZFmA—A 4,019,900 (143,201) 109,234
Cash flows HemeE (93,327) 137,499 (25,280)
Exchange realignment [E N AR (39,880) - (6,952)
New lease arrangements HEZH = = 21,066
Others Hith (5,565) - (1,847)
At 31 March 2023 RZFZ=F=A=1—H 3,881,128 (5,702) 96,221
HtEREEERAT

2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

39 BmEZRERNHR

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in
business combinations are allocated at acquisition to the CGUs
or groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit. The respective
carrying amounts as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 had been allocated

BETRENR  REBEHEAZ
FEDRKERSEETEHRITEZR
SELEBENKIBSEESEMAR - B
TR NFER_E_ZFZA=1+—

as follows: B SEZEEESESEOT
2024 2023
—E_UE =E==4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Cost 2%
Property development and operations IR N EE
— cold storage and public bonded —RERERAZRREA
warehouse (note a) (FffzFa) 66,027 66,027
Healthcare investment (note b) RIEEENE (HrEb) 540,254 542,310
Others Hith 8,738 8,747
615,019 617,084
Accumulated impairment loss REItREEE
Property development and operations MR N EE
- cold storage and public bonded —REBEERABRREE
warehouse (note a) (FffzEa) 1,461 1,461
Healthcare investment (note b) RIZEREE (H3Eb) 99,727 10,204
101,188 11,665
Net book value (note 16) ARMEFE (FHEE16) 513,831 605,419

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more
frequently if there are indications that they might be impaired.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired require estimations of
the higher of the value-in-use or fair value less costs of disposal.
Where discounted cash flow forecast is used to estimate
recoverable amount, it requires the entity to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from CGUs or groups of CGUs and
suitable discount rates in order to calculate present value.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Cold storage and public bonded warehouse business

Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on past practices
and expectations of future changes in the market. Management
determined budgeted growth rates and gross margins based on past
performance and market expectation. The discount rates reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant CGUs.

Goodwill, after impairment, of approximately HK$65 million (2023:
HK$65 million) is allocated to the Group's cold storage and public
bonded warehouse business. The estimated recoverable amount is
determined based on value-in-use approach. The calculation uses post-
tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a one-year period. Cash flows beyond the period
are extrapolated using a 2% (2023: 2%) terminal growth rate per annum
and a 10% (2023: 10%) discount rate per annum.

Healthcare investment

Goodwill, before current year impairment, of approximately HK$530
million (2023: HK$532 million) is allocated to the Group's senior housing
business. Out of these balances, the estimated recoverable amounts of
the group of CGUs in relation to the goodwill of approximately HK$501
million (2023: HK$505 million) are determined based on value-in-use
approach, while that in relation to the goodwill of approximately HK$29
million (2023: HK$27 million) are determined based on its fair value less
costs of disposal.

The value-in-use calculation uses pre-tax cash flow projections based
on financial budgets approved by management covering three to five-
year period. Cash flows beyond the period are extrapolated using a
3% (2023: 3%) terminal growth rate per annum. As the recovery from
COVID-19 in terms of the occupancy rate in the Group's active senior
housing operation portfolio group of CGUs in North Carolina, USA was
slower than expected, management adjusted the key assumptions in
the value-in-use calculation, including a reduction of average annual
revenue growth rate to 5.1% to 13.2% (2023: 5% to 17%), and an
increase in the pre-tax discount rate per annum to 12.1% to 13.9%
(2023: 10.1% to 12.2%). As a result, an impairment loss on goodwill
amounted to approximately HK$85 million (2023: Nil) was recognised
for the year ended 31 March 2024.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

39 BB ZRERE(E)
GEE

(a)

(b)

RREERABRBAER
EERERRA 2 RIBEBEED
MBS ARREE ZBYME - BE
BREAEARANMSEYNETRE
BERRENE - BEIR KRR AR
ReELBUMPR 2 HERR -

BERBELNBEELNEL(ZT
= B¥65008 L) A REAR
EEARBRERARRBAELR -
st A U [ & 58 T % 5 FR R (B (B A S
o BREFRREEEEIZY
—FHUBEE KBRS RETRE
Al o MBHRZESRERESF2%
(ZEZ=F 2% )BIRIEREKXI10%
ZEC=F 0% ) MIRERBEE o

REEERE
MBRAFEERENZEELB5.30
Br(ZZE=_=F : B¥532187T)
WHREAKRBEZZERSER - 1
ZEESHT  EREEENESESE
BAARZ AT IRE S5 AL B
5018 T (T =4 : B¥5.05(E
T NRFEATEEEET  mMEABE
B hET ] IR e £ EEL) B 2,9008 T
(ZE==% : B%27008 ) A%
AABEHNKRBEERAETE °

BRGEATEEFEFERREEEE
Rz =R FHMEEE 2 RFAT
RenERA - BRAPR2BEERE
BIEEE3%(ZE-=4F : 3% )&%
WRERHEE - HR2019FBHRRE
RREBEZEHZBAEBNERIL R
BRMMNEERLEREEERGE
ABMARINAEREERE - ME
BEEARGCATEEFENETER
®BEBEAFERAEREAK
E51%Z2132% (=T == : 5%
F17%) REGRHAIBBEFERAS D
121%Z13.9% (T == :10.1%
£12.2%) ° Bt - #5¥8,500& 7T
(ZZE=—=F : ®)NBERERED
RBE_T_ME=-A=+—HLE
Eﬁ&%}m ©

HiEBREEFRAR
2024 1

265



266

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

39 IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

(b) Healthcare investment (continued)

For illustration purposes, in relation to the goodwill assessed under
value-in-use approach, with all other variables and assumptions held
constant, a hypothetical 5% decrease in the projected annual revenue
and 1% increase in discount rate would cause the carrying amount of
goodwill to reduce further by approximately 30% and 35% respectively.
The sensitivity and estimates used in preparing discounted cash flow
projection including those used in the value-in-use calculations do not
necessarily change in isolation. Actual results in the future may differ

materially from the sensitivity analysis.

While for the recoverable amount of the CGU estimated based on
fair value less costs of disposal, the fair value was derived by level
3 valuation techniques with reference to the estimated fair value of
the underlying assets. An impairment loss on goodwill amounted to
approximately HK$5 million (2023: Nil) was recognised for the year

ended 31 March 2024.

The senior housing business operate in a heavily regulated environment
which are subject to numerous laws and regulations of federal, state,
and local government. These laws and regulations relate to, among
other things, such as government healthcare programme participation
requirements, regulations regarding reimbursement for patient services
and related billing, fraud and abuse. Violation of certain laws and
regulations could result in the expulsion from government healthcare
programme. Management was not aware of any actions or potential

actions against the Group as at 31 March 2024.
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e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors’ emoluments

0 EEZREEZEN R ER
(a) EEHE
ENEENESMESNT

Emoluments paid and payable to the Directors are as follows:

Salaries Retirement
Directors’ and other scheme
Fee benefits contribution Total
ek BGHE
EEZHe Hth3g Al 2R M
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BETT BETT BT T
2024 —E-MF
Executive Directors HITES
Kuok Hoi Sang Eilpeyasy

(Chairman and Managing (EE*ES

Director) YA 4K ) = 20,660 897 21,557
Tam Kwok Wing BE L

(Deputy Managing Director) (AESRKIE) — 14,990 618 15,608
Ho Chung Leung (EERES - 4,480 285 4,765
Ma Chi Wing Bhe = 7,150 435 7,585
Lily Chow B F#] - 2,580 194 2,774
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* BB = (fizta)

(note a) 184 - - 184
Poon Chung Kwong* ERL 450 - - 450
Irons Sze* e sR 400 - - 400
Sun Leland Li Hsun* B gt 400 - - 400
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar B4 E 450 - - 450
Kwan Angelina Agnes? ZE(hEEd )

(note b) 267 - - 267

2,151 49,860 2,429 54,440
Notes: B -

(a) Retired on 28 August 2023.

(b) Appointed on 28 August 2023.

(a)

RZFEZ=FNA=Z+N\HBHR

£

(b)

RZBE-_=ZFNA=F+N\BEZ

£
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

0 EEZREEZENEERS(E)

(a) EEME (D)

Salaries Retirement
Directors’ and other scheme
Fee benefits contribution Total
Fek RIRGHE
E=Me H b 1@ A Z R Rk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
2023 —EB-=HF
Executive Directors HITES
Kuok Hoi Sang e
(Chairman and Managing (EERES
Director) Raerg) = 20,200 863 21,063
Tam Kwok Wing B
(Deputy Managing Director) (RIESBLE) - 14,670 594 15,264
Ho Chung Leung Al SRR - 4,340 275 4,615
Ma Chi Wing BEE - 8,270 418 8,688
Lily Chow IBESIEA] - 2,480 186 2,666
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Yang Chuen Liang, Charles* BE = 450 - - 450
Poon Chung Kwong* BRI 400 - - 400
Irons Sze* R 350 - - 350
Sun Leland Li Hsun* R B 350 - - 350
Chow Vee Tsung, Oscar JE#EE 450 - - 450
2,000 49,960 2,336 54,296
Independent Non-Executive Director i BNIEMITES
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

0 EEZREEZENRES(E)

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

(b) EEMS

The five highest paid individuals include three (2023: three)
Directors, details of whose emoluments are set out above. The
total emoluments paid to the remaining two (2023: two) highest
paid individuals is as follows:

hEGEeFMALEE=R(=F
—=FZR)EF GEZME
FREEHINME - T HHEM
FZ(ZE=F: MA) &= M

AT ZRFMMT -
2024 2023
—E-E —E-=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥4 - 285 R EMEF] 9,983 7,645
Performance-based bonus BRI ZIEAT - 4,065
Contributions to retirement scheme RAREHE 2 B3k 36 18
10,019 11,728

The emoluments of the remaining two (2023: two) highest paid
individuals fall within the following band.

HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 754,500,001 TE

HepEMA(ZE_=F : MA)&
SEHEMALZMES A THNAR

2024 2023
—E-ME —EC-=fF

7B #£5,000,0007T 1 1
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 15,000,001 TR
7B #5,500,0007T 1 =

HK$6,500,001 — HK$7,000,000 76,500,001 7TE

Y& #7,000,0007T

The above emoluments paid and payable to Directors and
employee also represent only benefits paid to the Group’s key
management during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a Director or any entities connected with
a Director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

tamEEREEENRENZ
Me KRB E_T_WFER_
T_=F=ZA=+—HLEER
MAEETFEEREX N2 HE—
&H) o

EERXE  REIEHNHZE
R
ARBELEMRFEBREF
REMREDATE  MEZNK
EARARRETEHENDE
REPEERRBEBEAE AR
BARAKEEBRNEARS
RHHEH -

HEEREEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE-_Z_NE=A=+—HBUILFE

41 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

(a) ORSO and MPF schemes

The Group has established various retirement benefit schemes
for the benefit of its staff in Hong Kong and overseas.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in both defined
contribution schemes which are ORSO schemes registered
under the ORSO and MPF schemes established under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance in December
2000. The assets of the schemes are held separately from
those of the Group and in funds under the control of trustees.
The ORSO schemes are funded by monthly contributions from
both employees and the Group at rates ranging from 5% to
7.5% of the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length
of service with the Group. For members of the MPF schemes,
the Group contributes 5% of the relevant payroll costs per
employee, at a maximum of HK$1,500 per month during the
year ended 31 March 2024, to the mandatory contribution of
the MPF schemes.

Where there are employees who leave the ORSO schemes
prior to vesting fully in the contributions, the contributions
payable by the Group are reduced by the amount of forfeited
contributions. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were
no forfeited contributions, which arose upon employees
leaving the ORSO schemes and which would be available to
reduce the contributions payable in future years. No forfeited
contributions utilised in this manner during the year ended 31
March 2024 (2023: Nil). As at 31 March 2024, contributions
of HK$3,843,000 (2023: HK$3,540,000) due in respect of the
reporting period were paid over to various schemes in April
2024.

The Group also participates in the employee pension schemes
in countries or locations where the Group operates. The Group
is required to make defined contributions at rates calculated as
a certain percentage or sum of the monthly payroll.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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M BEREER
(a) AEEHBRBESHE

REBREBNBIMEER 2@ F
R Z RN E -

RES  AEEL2ERERTEH®
KAt S B R RET ENE B R
Mz AEEFTEERR_ZEZTZTF
+ - AR(aslERELEE
BIYJILZ BELF S - ZEF
BIZEETRHERAZFNZES
BE HALEEEES>HAERE -
RAESTE  BERAEEST
BiEEBIRH 25% £7.5% A&
HE BT RENRAEBZEE
ME - AEBEAARESFE ZK
8 REBEEFTM 5% (BE
—E-NE=A=+—HItFE
N&E A &% B8%1,50070) 58
BEE T EI1E L oR H R o

WEERHEIEZHEBAIRLA
BE:TE  BRRERATIEAR
SEIBREMNERZA - KRZE
TER_E-_=F=A=+—
B TEAEEREATESE
i A B SR 2R 4 S HR 3 2
ERRER - 2T _UE=
B=+—HB - FE A&
ABAZELRBBER(=ZE==
FE) R_ZT-_WMF=A
=+— B HBEHEEMZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR

41 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b) Long service payment liabilities

Hong Kong employees that have been employed continuously
for at least five years are entitled to LSPs in accordance
with the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Cap.57) under
certain circumstances. These circumstances include where
an employee is dismissed for reasons other than serious
misconduct or redundancy, that employee resigns at the age
of 65 or above, or the employment contract is of fixed term
and expires without renewal. The amount of LSP payable is
determined with reference to two-third of the employee’s last
full month’s salary (capped at HK$22,500) and the years of
service, reduced by the amount of any accrued benefits derived
from the Group's contributions to MPF scheme and ORSO
scheme, with an overall cap of HK$390,000 per employee.
Currently, the Group does not have any separate funding
arrangement in place to meet its LSP liabilities.

The Group has accounted for the offsetting mechanism and its
abolition as disclosed in note 2(a)(iii).

The present value of LSP liabilities and its movements are as
follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

N BEREEAN(E)
(b) RERI B

BRIBEZBEFEKRN(ETE) -
ERESE=LAFNEEESR
RETERATERES KBRS
+ e ZEBRABIERERBREX
Bk sk A T 38 T DA S0 B9 32 BB T R
& - EE 655 A ERERE S IE
BENBETFHRERTHE
Yo ENERARBEEELELRE
BEEEBE—BAEAHFEHN =5
2 - (LR ABE225007T) &R
BEBRERNERMEESTE
M ABET BB ITERER
R EAcEMmMET BEBLER
BE%EEB B 390,000t - B
Bl AEBMAHTTERERE
BT RMEERBRGSET -

gt EE2(a) (i) T EE - ANEEE
LRSI R EBURETT 25 R
I8 o

EHRBEREZHRERLE
LA

2024

—E-MEF

HK$°000

BYTT

At 1 April 2023 NZE=—=FMH—H 12,219
Expenses recognised in profit and loss: R RERA L

Current service cost & BRAS A A 3,462

Past service cost BERBEAA (1,891)

Interest cost FIE KA 253

Benefits paid B X R A (1,913)

At 31 March 2024 RZZE-_MNF=A=+—H 12,130

EHREEETHFHENT1E
6.8%F °

The duration of the LSP liabilities is between 1 to 6.8 years.

HEEREEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z_NF=A=+—HIEEE

41 POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

(b) Long service payment liabilities (continued)

The above expenses are recognised in the following line items
in the consolidated income statement:

N BREREN(E)

(b) REAREEEE (&)
FllT e W am R A T IE
B R

2024
—EMEF

HK$'000
BET T

Cost of sales

Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses

HERA
SHE KA A
TR

Significant actuarial assumptions and sensitivity analysis are as

follows:

1,352
(318)
790

1,824

BEXREBREGRESITOT

2024
—B_NEF

Discount rate
Future salary increases

BLIE &
RRF SR

3.4% to 4%
2.8% to 4.3%

Expected investment return on MPF RTES 2EHEF A TE IR & Bl 3R
accrued benefits

Expected investment return on ORSO

4% to 4.5%
BRI AT B 15 BI REH R FI Y

accrued benefits

IR B B3R

5.5%

The below analysis shows how the LSP liabilities would LATOER e HEXEERE
have increased/decreased as a result of 0.25% change in the HIH025% /28  RERBS
significant actuarial assumptions: = Ras LBy (W R
Increase in Decrease in
Change in assumption assumption
assumption 2024 2024
R =% 18 CE
R 2 B —E-IEF —E-E
Discount rate BhIE K 0.25% Decrease by Increase by
1.2% 1.2%
TBE1.2% EA12%
Future salary increases AR FE 1L IE 0.25% Increase by Decrease by
0.2% 0.2%
£FH0.2% TF£0.2%

The above sensitivity analysis is based on the assumption
that changes in actuarial assumptions are not correlated and
therefore it does not take into account the correlations between
the actuarial assumptions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

42 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42 FRERE
The Group had contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees issued AEBERACOBHBAERIMELE ZERZ
for utilised borrowings in relation to: HABBHNTEEER :
2024 2023
—ET-mE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Banking facilities granted to an associate G in1): kN1
RITEE 565 1,132
Guarantees given to banks and housing BTYRTREELAES
provident fund management centres EEPLRRT
for mortgage facilities granted to certain ATUHEERC
buyers of properties ZIBEERER 19,267 214,964
19,832 216,096
In respect of a completed engineering contract, the Group R—EETKNIEELOME ' &%
has contingent liabilities arising from the claims lodged by a EERE-— 2508t —EREE2EN
subcontractor for an unprovided amount of approximately HK$27 BE2,700B L (=T =% : B
million (2023: HK$27 million). The ultimate outflow, if any, to settle 27008 ) IREHREMELSKRE
this possible obligation is subject to the final outcome of the legal & BEEFAEZIEEANREIL
proceedings and is uncertain. (B )R EEFLNREERM
TE v MEMAREEHTE °
43 COMMITMENTS 43 EiE
The Group had commitments as follows: REE 2 AENT :
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=HF
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T PEHET T
Contracted but not provided for in the M TFIBEEEALE
consolidated financial statements in REGZAMBHRENR
respect of FTHR 2 IR
— property development projects —WEEREIBER 23,848 210,323
- property, plant and equipment —E - WENERE 12,196 42,910
— investment properties —REME 18,929 =
— investment at amortised cost — IR AR IR E 123,389 -
178,362 253,233
HiEBREEFRAR

2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

43 COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group's share of commitments of its joint ventures was as
follows

BERAT A HERFR
(MH5E)

Contracted but not provided for (note)

Note:

Commitments in relation to a joint venture’s commitments as at 31 March
2024

On 28 March 2024, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a joint venture agreement with an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Wang On Properties Limited in relation to the formation of a
joint venture for the implementation of a property development project in
Hong Kong. On the same date, the joint venture entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Wang On
Properties Limited in respect of the acquisition of a project company and its
holding company for an aggregate initial consideration of HK$797,080,516,
which is subject to adjustments pursuant to the terms of the sale and
purchase agreement entered. Completion of the agreements are conditional
upon, among other conditions, the approval by the shareholders of Wang
On Group Limited and Wang On Properties Limited having been obtained
and compliance of all applicable requirements under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. For
details of the transaction, please refer to the announcement made by the
Company on 28 March 2024.

As at 31 March 2024, there are commitments to provide funding for the
joint venture's commitments, if called, for up to HK$930,073,000, of which
include share of commitments of the joint venture in the sale and purchase
agreement of HK$378,613,000.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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43 FEE (&)

AEBEFMEEAEREZAENT ¢

2024 2023

— i i ——
HK$000 HK$'000
BT T BT IT
378,613 7,528

GEX

R-CFE-WMFE=F=1+—FHE—F& &P
HEREFH AR

R-Z-_ME=A=-+/\B ' A2 7 2ZH
E2EBRENBRANEZHMEARA
RZHEEZEHEEWNBARGIYE &
& AREBRITYERERB MK —
MAEELE KRB ZAELEHRERR
WEBRARZEEZEBREBH B R A
AIVEERE  ARSRKE—HEBEER
AIREERAR YRR ERBAEBEE
797,080,56167C * AIBIRET M B B %
IEFRETT AR - BT SIEER G -
HBOEESALEEERARMERH
EARATKRENILEARTAEEBHA
RBAERARER ETHRNGA AR
ZR - BARSHBRLHARANE
“NE=ZA=-+N\BTIEZAE -

R-ZE—NME=A=+—BGFERERTE
KREEPECRERMESZAF €
k= A5 1930,073,0007T * EHEIE
BEEErERBEERHRP 2 RESE
378,613,0007T °
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44 LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

Lease commitments for short-term and low value asset leases
which were due within one year amounted to HK$1,223,000 (2023:
HK$929,000).

The Group as lessor

As at 31 March 2024, investment properties and properties for
sale with carrying values of HK$4,302,619,000 and HK$21,863,000
(2023: HK$4,288,743,000 and HK$34,755,000) respectively
were rented out under operating leases. These properties have
committed tenants up to seventeen years.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group
in future periods as follows:

Within 1 year —&FR

iR — FERFEA
BEMFE=FNA
HB=FEMNFERN
HBIBPN B A F A
e

After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 3 years
After 3 years but within 4 years
After 4 years but within 5 years
After b years

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

44 FHERIE

REBEREEA
R—FAIMNERREEBEEEMR
EHEEAEREY1,223,0007T(=
T =4 : #%929,0007T) °

REBESHEA

RZZE-_MFE=A=+—A8 "

e HﬁﬂZ&é%%&ﬁ%%%Zﬁﬁ
EED B BB E4,302,619,0007T &8
#21,863,000/L (=T ==F : BK
4,288,743,000 7T & /& ¥ 34,755,000
gL) o WEMEERRAERER T
FRAA -

AEERRE BPHBRE TR &
BEHE MR ARHARE Y 2 REHIR A
BB

2024 2023
—E_-MEF —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T T I
179,715 169,506
51,472 56,646
25,375 24,183
22,106 11,858
21,565 10,078
104,529 72,626
404,762 344,897
H+EBERARAT

2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MNMF=A=+—HILFE

45 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the material transactions entered into during the year

45 BABLRRS
RERERBHIEERIZFIFNT ¢

with related parties are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-ME —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Contract income from a joint venture RE—HEELEL
=X Ol ON 1,631 4,041
Contract fee to an associate v Al ) LN g
EHER (15,910) (14,561)
Management fee income from an associate KB —E# <4 QT2
(note 7) EEBWA(MET) 19,800 19,800
Management fee income from joint KEEELEY
ventures (note 7) EEBEWA(FIFET) 4,428 3,035
Maintenance fee to an associate A )l l/N=T o
REEA (7,740) (8,740)
Management fee to an associate BT —EBERFZ
EEEH (349) (343)
Building management fee income E—MEE AR 2
from an associate BFEEBEIA 845 708
Rental income from an associate e[S AR Z
MU A 22,795 22,053
Rental expenses to an associate LT —HBEARZ
ez (137) (143)
Sales and marketing services income =Rl N4
from an associate (note 7) HERMIGHRE
RR A WA (HI5E7) 39,486 37,812
Secondment fee income from an associate K E —REEE AT 2
(note 7) BFABEUWA (FFET) 1,806 1,749
Service fee income from associates REEE AT Z
(note 7) AR 7% & U A (BT 7E7) 503 449
Interest income from an associate e[S R Z
FLEWA 2,309 1,172
Interest income from a joint venture TE—BEENEY
FLEWA 6,559 3,616
Insurance premium from an associate e —fEEENFZ
RpE 6,171 6,370

LR S DEAEEBE S ARART
Z AT -

The above transactions were entered at terms mutually agreed
between all parties involved.

RERES(BRENMERAELAEEEE
EIEERE) 2 HME NG I TRE
BiEE40 ©

The emoluments of the Directors, who are also considered to be
key management of the Group, during the year is set out in note 40
to the consolidated financial statements.
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46 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
Company statement of financial position
As at 31 March 2024

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

46 ARTRFBRARREEEER

DAMBARR T

R-ZE-_NF=A=+—H

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries
Interests in associates
Other intangible assets

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Amounts due from associates

Investments at fair value through
profit or loss

Investments at amortised cost
Debtors, deposits paid and prepayments

Derivative financial instruments
Prepaid tax
Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Creditors, deposits received and accruals

Bank borrowings

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

FARBEE

M AR 2

B N E 2z KES
HthEmEE
BAREFABZE
BRI ZIRE

R ATYBR 2 1 E

RBEE

e Ui B B X B BR 7K
JRE Ui 8 X RIBR K
RAREY AR
BRI IRE

BB R AR 2 RE
JEUBRRR « EfFEH
me MIENRE
PTEEMIA

B RIIE
RITEFEES

RBAE
NNl

FERTBRR - 2 UWdF A
RENFERER

RITIER

RBEEFE

HEERRBAEE

2024 2023
—E_F —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BET I
2,607,870 2,684,946
89,594 89,594
599 599
75,789 84,176
83,692 89,113
2,857,544 2,948,428
5,710,635 6,215,357
20,107 19,015
55,187 70,789
21,703 38,393
3,064 1,995

= 67

5,725 5,601
548,164 278,150
6,364,585 6,629,367
2,654,736 2,690,389
33,185 14,464
887,081 250,000
3,575,002 2,954,853
2,789,583 3,674,514
5,647,127 6,622,942
HIEREEERAR

2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_WF=A=+—ALEE

46 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES 46 7= B B AR R I 4B 2 Bk

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (#48)
Company statement of financial position (continued) DA AR R (E)
As at 31 March 2024 R-E-_WMF=A=+—H
2024 2023
—EB-MmE —E=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Capital and reserves BAR#E
Share capital R& 72X 377.411 377,411
Reserves (note a) f# s (Mfata) 2,628,210 4,161,094
Total equity R 3,005,621 4,538,505
Non-current liability FRBERE
Bank borrowings RITIEX 2,641,506 2,084,437
Total equity and non-current liability HEGRIERBAE 5,647,127 6,622,942
Approved by the Board of Directors on 26 June 2024 and signed on REEZ@N _ZE_NEXA -+, H
its behalf by: ok WHTINESREEE :
KUOK Hoi Sang HO Chung Leung
R4 R
Director Director
= E3
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46 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_WNF=A=+—HILFE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (48)
Company statement of financial position (continued) AR AR & (&)
Notes: B aE -

(a) Reserves movement of the Company

(a) ARBFEED

46 AATRMBRRKRBEEE DR

Capital
Share Contributed redemption Retained
premium surplus reserve profits Total
B3R E BABES BEXBERE RE &R PR
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BET T BT T BETT
(note b)
(B EED)
At 1 April 2023 i —,
mA—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 3,352,158 4,161,094
Loss and total FEBER
comprehensive expenses PES BB
for the year - - - (1,430,228) (1,430,228)
Dividends paid BEA’RE - = - (102,656) (102,656)
At 31 March 2024 R=ZZ-F
=A=+—H 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,819,274 2,628,210
At 1 April 2022 R —F
mA—HA 704,087 96,050 8,799 1,951,236 2,760,172
Profit and total FERMR
comprehensive income 2HEWN =B
for the year - - - 1,536,790 1,536,790
Dividends paid BEfBRE = = = (135,868) (135,868)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%F
=A=t+—8H 704,087 96,050 8,799 3,352,158 4,161,094
(b) Contributed surplus represents the difference between the value of (b) BMABBIRKABBHBEAT ZE

EFERKBRMETARARDZ
HERZEZE REAERE—NN\—
FREVE(EBAREL) » ARAEZ
BABBRTIAHEDIKTIRER - A
WA BB ABTAIIRERIEH DK -
BERARAEEXNEHAE =X
GEHASREEEESELERESR
& BT SAEM BRI S RE
HAIK ©

net assets of subsidiaries acquired and the nominal amount of the
Company's shares issued for their acquisition. Under the Companies
Act 1981 (as amended from time to time) of Bermuda, the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution to shareholders.
However, no dividend shall be paid or distribution made out of
contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due or the realisable value of its assets
would thereby become less than its liabilities.

HEEREEERAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

47 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Group as at 31 March
2024 are as follows.

47 EEHME LT
HE_ZT_MWE=/=+—H
BEEEZHEBARGFBNOT -

NS

Place or country Effective percentage of

280

Name of company

ARER

of incorporation
or registration/
operation

NE VA

Class of

shares held

Frishdt
£l

Issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital
BRTRAR
R/ E Rk

Number of
shares

R&%E

issued share capital/

registered capital held by

the Company

AARRAERARE/

ARRRZERED

Directly
B i
%

Indirectly

Principal activities

Ample Skill Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 10,000 - 100 Property development
ERERAT Bk tE 10,0007 NELR
Ample Trade Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 1 - 100 Property development
BERRAT Bk i BT NEER
Chance Up Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 1 - 100 Provision of services and finance for
& L BRI a development project of a church
and a senior citizen care facility
A R-ArEh &k
YREARHRHRAE
Changchun New Star Universe Sheng ~ Mainland China ~ N/A RMBA675,000,000 N/A - 100 Property development
Chi Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.  HEIfs Byl ARE675,000,0007C oyl NEER
REMEFEZRENE
REAREMAR
Chevalier (Aluminium Enginegring) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 Supply and installation of aluminium
Hong Kong Limited & La BRI windows and curtain walls
HE(RIR)EARRAA HERZ SRR kAT
Chevalier (Aluminium Engineering) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 100 - 100 Design and supply of aluminium
Limited B g BE1007 building materials and curtain
Ht+(BIR)ARAA walls
Fat R AR
Chevalier Automabiles Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 Sale and servicing of automobiles
nex LB 101M8AT NEHEREERE
Chevalier AOC Freight Express Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,500,000 1,500,000 - 45 Investment holding and logistics
Holdings Limited (note g) & LA 771,500,000 services

ETXGRELRERAA(Hig)

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REBRRMARE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

47 FEHE LT ()

47 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/

operation

Rush/

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital held by
the Company
ARAREERARE/

Issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital

BRITRER

Class of
shares held

Frishkit

Number of
shares

Name of company

Principal activities

ARER

EXHUTAR

il

Ra /R

R&%E

AMRRZERAA

Directly
B
%

TERE

Indirectly
i

Chevalier (Building Supplies & Hong Kong Ordinary HK$20,000,100 20,000,100 - 100 Supply and installation of building
Engineering) Limited & LA 75 %20,000,1007 materials and equipment
HT(BMIR)ERAA HERTRRENHRRE
Chevalier (Chengdu) Investment Mainland China ~ N/A RMB250,000,000 N/A - 100 Investment holding and provision of
Management Limited (note ¢ ERkH, TEA AR 250,000,0007C NEA management service
HE(RB)REERERAA (Wikc) REBRREHER RS
Chevalier Chrysler Inc. Canada Common CAD101 200 - 100 Sale and servicing of automobiles

nex L& 101MEAT NEHEREERE
Chevalier Cold Storage and Logistics Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 75 Operation of a cold storage
Limited B LR BEIT warehouse and logistics business
ELREMERAA BECREERMNEH
Chevalier (Construction) Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$60,500,000 60,500,000 - 100 Building construction and
Limited & LA 7 #60,500,0007T maintenance
HE(RE)ERAA BTRERRE
Chevalier Construction (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$409,990,000 40,999,000 - 100 Building construction
Limited g iR 77409,990,0007C ETrs
HIRE(FR)ARAA
Chevalier (Corporate Management) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 2 - 100 Provision of corporate management
Limited Bk i it services
ET(h5ER)ERAT RECFERRHS
Chevalier Development (S) Pte Ltd Singapore Ordinary $$2,500,000 2,500,000 - 100 Property investment

R g 2,500,000 0% T VESED
Chevalier (E & M Contracting) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$94,200,000 94,200,000 - 100 Installation of electrical and
ET(BETR)ERAA Bk L@ %1%94,200,0007 mechanical equipment and

provision of project management
service

ey BRI

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

47 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

47 FEHE LT ()

Place or country Effective percentage of

282

Name of company

ARER

of incorporation

or registration/
operation
RsER/

Class of
shares held
iE0
g5

Issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital
BRTRAR
/A

Number of
shares

R&%E

issued share capital/

registered capital held by
the Company
ARAREERARE/
AR ERA AL

Directly
B
%

Indirectly
3

Principal activities

TERE

Chevalier (Envirotech) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$256,780,000 256,780,000 - 100 Environmental engineering
T (BERINARAT &k L8 7%%256,780,0007C BRIE
Chevalier (Hammersmith Broadway) United Kingdom ~ Ordinary GBP100 100 - 100 Property investment
Limited #f i3t AH1007T VEDE
Chevalier (Insurance Brokers) Limited ~Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000 1,000,000 100 - Insurance brokerage
T (RBER)ERAT (3 i 71,000,000 fRE B
Chevalier Insurance Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$300,000,000 300,000,000 100 - Insurance underwriting
HTRBERAR &k L 7%%300,000,0007C %%
Chevalier International (USA) Inc. USA Common US$5,586,734 100,000 - 100 Grocery trading
£ 3t 5,586,734 T ERE
Chevalier iTech Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2 2 - 100 Trading and servicing of computers
HTRBTRARAR & LB BRI and business machines
ERREXBEESREE
Chevalier iTech Thai Limited (note d) Thailand Ordinary BAHT18,980,000 189,800 - 100 Trading of computers and business
78 i 18,980,000%% machings
Preference BAHTI 020,000 10,200 - 100 SRREREZES
5 1,020,000%%
Chevalier (KS) Limited United Kingdom ~ Ordinary GBP100 100 - 100 Property investment
A gt 1007 VEE
Chevalier (Macau) Limited Macau Ordinary MOP100,000 4 - 100 Building construction and
EL(RF)BRAA i 3t APT100,0007 installation of air- conditioning
systems, aluminium windows and
curtain walls
BFREEZRLRAS
RERERE
Chevalier (Network Solutions) Limited ~ Hong Kong QOrdinary HKS$2 2 - 100 Network systems and solution
T (BHHR)ERAT Bk LB BT services

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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TSR R

47 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Name of company

La4R

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation
RuZih/
EXBUIAR

Chevalier Network Solutions Thai Limited  Thailand

Chevalier Pacific Limited

AL EARLA

Chevalier Property Development Limited
HIMERERAR

Chevalier Property Management Limited

ELEENXEEARAH

CPC Construction Hong Kong Limited
[note b)
ETEREARRAA(Hitb)

Chevalier Tower Property Inc.

Full Ascent Development Limited

BRERARAT

Goldyork Investment Limited

ThRRERRAA

Keysford 1 Limited

Kwai Hei Investments No.1T Limited

3]

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
B4

Canada

mex

Hong Kong
B4

Hong Kong
(3

Hong Kong
Bk

Hong Kong
o

Class of
shares held
iEcv
55

Ordinary

Ordinary
L
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Deferred

Common

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
e

Ordinary

Issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital
ERTRER
%/ ERRE

BAHT15,000,000
15,000,000%45

HK$200,000,000
7%200,000,0007

HK$360,000,000
#%7%360,000,0007

HK$100
AE100T

HK$415,284,200

#5415,284 2007

HK$25,936,200
7 %95,936,2007T

CAD100
100/12 AT

HK$2
A%

HK$100
AR1007

HK$100,000
7100,0007

HK$1
AR

Number of
shares

R&%A

150,000

200,000,000

360,000,000

100

4,152,842

259,362

100

100

100,000

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

47 FEHE LT ()

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital held by
the Company

AARKAEBRARE/
ARRRZEREA

Directly
EE
%

49

Principal activities
IEER

Indirectly
A

100 Trading of telecommunication
equipment
ENREES

100 Property development
NEER

100 Property development and
investment

NERRREE

100 Property management and security
services

NEEERRZRE

100 Investment holding and general
construction business

RERRR-RRERE

100 Property development & operation
NRERREE

75 Property investment

UESIE

51 Property investment

ESIES

100 Property development
ESE

75 Property investment

VES &

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

47 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 47 FENBE AT (&)

Place or country Effective percentage of
of incorporation Issued and paid issued share capital/
or registration/  Class of up share capital/ registered capital held by
operation shares held  registered capital Number of the Company
Name of company RYSHER/  FERG BETRAR shares RAFBHERTRA/  Principal activities

ARER LESE TR %/ ERRE kh#R EfEAzERESE  TEXRH
Directly  Indirectly
B A
%

Lac Kar Investment Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,600,000 3,600,000 - 100 Property investment

IMEXERAT 3 3t 713,600,0007C VES ¢

Macleh (Chevalier) Limited Canada Common CAD10,100 10,100 - 100 Investment holding of property
JIEN LR 10,100M& AT investment and hotel operation

NEREREEEELRALR

NV4 Cheyenne, LLC USA N/A US$4,256,000 N/A - 100 Operation of senior housing
%8 AR 4,256,000 T AR Bezzhs
NC4 Albemarle, LLC USA N/A US$10,041,476 N/A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
] ) li 10,041,476%7 0yl BETERE
NC4 Kingsbridge, LLC USA N/A US$6,056,405 N/A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
el 0 i 6,056, 40557 0 i BeEhs
NC4 Magcreek, LLC USA N/A US$3,464,273 N/A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
3 iR 346427350 iR Begths
NC4 Magnolia, LLC USA N/A US$4,464,085 N/A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
*H 0l 4,464,085% 0 0l e
NC4 Wellington, LLC USA N/A US$3,674,901 N/A - 98.6 Operation of senior housing
Sl 0yl 3674 901% T TR aerzhs
Profit Galaxy Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 1 - 60 Provision of services and finance for
BRERAR Bk LA BRI a development project of a church

and a senior citizen care facility
F-ARER-HREhERHEL
YRERRERBRAE

284 CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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TSR R

47 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Name of company

ARER

LEETHEERARAR (Hikc)

Shanghai Chonmain Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd. note a)

LEREHESRARAA (Hita)

Shine Wealthy Limited
REERAT

Tai Tung Industrial Equipment Limited
NGAR B

Winfield Development Limited
AAEERERAR

BB (H#) R AERARAR (Hite)

)R SRR (i)

REEGER S HEREARLA
(Kfitf)

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation
ALdER/

Mainland China
HER

Mainland China
HE M

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
(2

Hong Kong

Mainland China
HER

Mainland China
HEM

Mainland China
HERH

Issued and paid
up share capital/
shares held  registered capital
fik ki BEARAR
£l R/ ERRA

Class of

N/A 1$$350,000
ol 350,000%7
N/A 15$3,000,000
iR 3,000,00057
Ordinary HK$1
LA BEAT
Ordinary HK$30,000,000
L 730,000,000
Ordinary HK$2
LA R
N/A RMB320,000,000
Mg AKH320,000,0007T
N/A RMB15,000,000
iR AE%15,000,0007C
N/A RMB30,000,000
NER AE30,000,0007

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BEZ

TZNF=A=+—RHLFE

47 FEHE LT ()

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital held by
the Company
ARRREERIRA/
Az ERE A

Number of
shares

RB%E

Directly
B& [}
%

Indirectly

N/A = 100
Oyl
NA = 80
Rar
1 = 100
30,000,000 = 875
2 = 100
N/A = 40
Oyl
N/A - 40
A
N/A = 40
0yl

Principal activities

TERE

Property management and provision
of property management
consultation

NFEERRRNZEERD

Property investment

VESIES

Property investment

ESIE

Logistics services

il

Property investment

VES &

Investment holding

RERR

Trading of motor vehicles and
provision of maintenance
services

NERARRLRERE

Trading of motor vehicles and
provision of maintenance
services

nERARERRERE

HEEREEERAR
2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE_Z-_NE=A=1+—HILEE

47 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

47 FEHE LT ()

Effective percentage of
issued share capital/
registered capital held by
the Company
ARAREERARE/
AR ERA AL
Directly  Indirectly

Bk i
%

Place or country
of incorporation
or registration/
operation shares held
Rugim/  FERG
EXBAIER  E

Issued and paid
up share capital/
registered capital
BRTRAR

I /A

Class of
Number of
shares

R&%E

Principal activities

TERE

Name of company

ARER

RAEGEN B EREERAT Mainland China ~ N/A RMB10,000,000 N/A = 40  Trading of motor vehicles and
(B3H) e NER AK10,000,0007T NER provision of maintenance
services
REESRRHERERE
RBRGER T EHEREERLA Mainland China ~ N/A RMB10,000,000 N/A - 40 Trading of motor vehicles and
(F&) HE M MNag ARH10,000,0007 MNag provision of maintenance
services
HEESRRHRERE
AR ER  E R EREERAT Mainland China ~ N/A RMB15,000,000 N/A = 40" Trading of motor vehicles and
(B3k) HER, NER AK15,000,0007 NER provision of maintenance
services
REBARRHERERE
Notes: MisE -
(a) Established in Mainland China as sino-foreign owned equity joint (a) RABERMKZRINGERE -
ventures.
(b) All deferred shares are non-voting and practically have no rights to (b) FTEELERMEEREE  mMER L

286

(c)

(d)

(e)

(9)

participate in any distribution upon winding up.
Established in Mainland China as wholly-foreign owned enterprises.

Preference shares are 10% non-cumulative and every four preference
shares of this company carry one vote.

The Directors considered that the Group has majority voting power in

this company’s board of directors by which can direct relevant activities
and therefore has control over this company.

They are subsidiaries of &5 (R E) IR EE B BR QA

The Group indirectly holds equity interest in this subsidiary through
non-wholly owned subsidiaries.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

TMERAE R RBRRESENDIK -

RABERMKZ Z IMNEBERE -

g

BERBIERF10% - MAZAAZ
MR BERTE —RIRRE
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& RutHZAREAZEGIE
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48 PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES 48

Details of the principal associates of the Group as at 31 March 2024
are as follows.

Effective
percentage
of issued share
capital/
registered
Place or country of capital
incorporation or Class of held by the
Name of associate registration/operation  shares held Company
N2 ]
BRITRE
B ST, AR 2
BeEnTER EXHRAER il 4 Rl ERBAL
%
Cafe Deco Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands/ Ordinary 25.28
Hong Kong Lim
HEBRBREE/BA
Chevalier (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 49
HE+(FB)BRAH B i
RCEB(RE)ERAR  Mainland China N/A 20
B A NER
Toshiba Elevator Mainland China N/A 20
(Shenyang) Co., Ltd. R E A NER

REEH(BH)BRRA

Note:

The Group’s entitlement to share of profit or loss in these associates is in
proportion to its ownership interest.

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-_Z-_N&E=A=+—HILEE

FEBRERNT

BHE_ZT-_MWE=/=+—H ' K&
BFXrEHMENTHBENT -

Principal

activities

Investment holding

REER

Marketing, installation
and maintenance of
lifts, escalators and
security devices

EiH - RRRRE
FHREH « BB R
REKE

Manufacturing, sales,

installation, repair and

maintenance of lifts
and escalators

SE - HE  wE
HERREARER

Manufacturing, sales,

Measurement
method

Equity
g

Equity
R

Equity
i

Equity

installation, repair and %%

maintenance of lifts
and escalators

8 HE - RE
BIERREABRHER

BEE

REBIR B w2 L BIRT B PR IG %
EHE N T Z A -

HIEREERRAF

2024 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE_Z-_WF=A=+—HILEFE

49 PRINCIPAL JOINT VENTURES

49 FESELE

288

Details of the principal joint ventures of the Group as at 31 March

2024 are as follows.

BE_Z_NHEF=A=+—B &%

BrEqaehXFBEaT -

Effective
percentage
of issued share
capital/
registered
Place or country of capital
Name of incorporation or Class of held by the Principal Measurement
joint venture registration/operation shares held Company activities method
FARRE
BERITRE
BRI ERRAZ
=X i B E R PR 40 2 5l EREAL STEAE
%
Lam Woo & Company Hong Kong Ordinary 50 Civil engineering Equity
Limited (note a) B Tim N T
BaREERA
(PFifiEa)
Rosy Value Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 50 Property Equity
(note a) B A development and  #£25
EEARRA(HzFa) investment
MEEERIE
Seavest Core Fund |, USA N/A 95 Medical office Equity
LLC (note b) e TEH building T
investment
BRNAEABIE
REEGEBLHAE  Mainland China N/A 21.33  Trading of motor Equity
HERBARRDA B i TEA vehicles and Tz
(BfzEa) provision of
maintenance
services
REE S RREHRE
AR 7%
Notes: Fd 3

(a) The Group's entitlement to share of profit or loss in these joint ventures
is in proportion to its ownership interest.

,HEIE Bz L PIst EE A
EZHNZEE

(b) The Directors considered that the Group does not have unilateral by EERAE K& l%ﬂi{:}%ﬁizﬁﬁ
control governing the financial and operating activities over this joint T& Ko %8 18 sE B D 4 B8 5 [E I I E o
venture. Profit sharing arrangement is in accordance with relevant oL HE I ERBERZENE

agreement.

CHEVALIER INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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